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This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” contains forward-looking statements within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that are subject to risks and uncertainties. Y ou can identify forward-looking statements by words such as “believe,” “ expect,”
“anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” “am,” “will,” “may,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “likely,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential,” “continue” or other similar expressions. We discuss certain factors
that affect our business and operations and that may cause our actual results to differ materially from these forward-looking statements under “ Risk Factors” and “ Cautionary Note Regarding
Forward-L ooking Statements.” Y ou are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date on which they are made. We undertake no
obligation to update publicly or revise any forward-looking statements.

Thisreport includes trademarks, such as American Express®, which are protected under applicable intellectual property laws and are the property of American Express Company or its
subsidiaries. This report also contains trademarks, service marks, copyrights and trade names of other companies, which are the property of their respective owners. Solely for convenience, our
trademarks and trade names referred to in this report may appear without the ® or ™ symbols, but such references are not intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not assert, to the fullest
extent under applicable law, our rights or the right of the applicable licensor to these trademarks and trade names.

Throughout this report the terms “ American Express,” “we,” “our” or “us,” refer to American Express Company and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis, unless stated or the context implies
otherwise. Refer to the “MD&A — Glossary of Selected Terminology” for the definitions of other key terms used in this report.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS
INTRODUCTION

Overview

American Express isaglobally integrated payments company that provides customers with access to products, insights and experiences that enrich lives and build business success. Our
principal products and services are charge and credit card products and travel-rel ated services offered to consumers and businesses around the world.

We were founded in 1850 as ajoint stock association and were incorporated in 1965 as a New Y ork corporation. American Express Company and its principal operating subsidiary, American
Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. (TRS), are bank holding companies under the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended (the BHC Act), subject to supervision and
examination by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the Federal Reserve).

Our headquarters are located in lower Manhattan, New Y ork, New Y ork. We also have offices in other locations throughout the world.

We principally engage in businesses comprising three reportabl e operating segments: Global Consumer Services Group (GCSG), Global Commercial Services (GCS) and Global Merchant &
Network Services (GMNS). Corporate functions and certain other businesses are included in Corporate & Other.

Productsand Services

Our range of products and services includes:
o Charge card, credit card and other payment and financing products
o Merchant acquisition and processing, servicing and settlement, and point-of-sale marketing and information products and services for merchants
o Network services
o Other fee services, including fraud prevention services and the design and operation of customer loyalty programs
«  Expense management products and services
o Travel-related services

Our various products and services are sold globally to diverse customer groups through various channels, including mobile and online applications, third-party vendors and business partners,
direct mail, telephone, in-house sales teams and direct response advertising.” Business travel-related services are offered through our non-consolidated joint venture, American Express Global
Business Travel (the GBT JV).

Our general-purpose card network, card-issuing and merchant-acquiring and processing businesses are global in scope. We are aworld leader in providing charge and credit cards to consumers,
small businesses, mid-sized companies and large corporations. These cards include cards issued by American Express as well as cards issued by third-party banks and other institutions that are
accepted by merchants on the American Express network. American Express® cards permit Card Members to charge purchases of goods and services at the millions of merchants around the
world that accept cards bearing our logo.

Our business as awhol e has not experienced significant seasonal fluctuations, although card billed business tends to be moderately higher in the fourth quarter than in other quarters. Asa
result, the amount of Card Member |oans and receivables outstanding tend to be moderately higher during that quarter. The average discount rate also tends to be slightly lower during the fourth
quarter dueto ahigher level of retail-related billed business volumes.

" The use of the term “partner” or “partnering” does not mean or imply aformal legal partnership, and is not meant in any way to alter the terms of American Express’ relationship with any third
parties.
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The American Express Brand

Our brand and its attributes—trust, security and service—are key assets. We invest heavily in managing, marketing, promoting and protecting our brand, including through the delivery of our
products and services in amanner consistent with our brand promise. Our brand has consistently been rated one of the most valuable brands in the world. In 2018, we launched a new worldwide
brand platform with one common message across consumer and business segments. Additionally, we place significant importance on trademarks, service marks and patents, and seek to secure
our intellectual property rights around the world.

Our Integrated Network and Spend-Centric Model

Wherever we manage both the card-issuing activities of the business and the acquiring relationship with merchants, thereis a“closed loop” in that we have direct access to information at both
ends of the card transaction, which distinguishes our integrated network from the bankcard networks. We maintain direct rel ationships with both our Card Members (as a card issuer) and
merchants (as an acquirer), and we handle all key aspects of those relationships. Through contractual relationships, we also obtain data from third-party card issuers, merchant acquirers and
processors with whom we do business. Our integrated network allows us to analyze information on Card Member spending and build algorithms and other analytical tools that we use to
underwrite risk, reduce fraud and provide targeted marketing and other information services for merchants and special offers and servicesto Card Members, all while respecting Card Member
preferences and protecting Card Member and merchant datain compliance with applicable policies and legal requirements.

Our “spend-centric” business model focuses on generating revenues primarily by driving spending on our cards and secondarily by finance charges and fees. Spending on our cards, whichis
higher on average on a per-card basis versus our competitors, offers superior value to merchantsin the form of loyal customers and larger transactions. Because of the revenues generated from
having high-spending Card Members, we are able to invest in attractive rewards and other benefits for Card Members, aswell as targeted marketing and other programs and investments for
merchants. This createsincentives for Card Members to spend more on their cards and positively differentiates American Express cards.

We believe our integrated network and spend-centric model give us the ability to provide differentiated value to Card Members, merchants and business partners.

BUSINESS OPERATIONS

Global Consumer Services Group

We offer awide range of charge cards and revolving credit cards to consumers around the world. GCSG also offers services that complement our core business, including Card Member features
and benefits, deposit products, travel services and non-card financing products such as installment lending.

Our global proprietary card business offers a broad set of card products, rewards and services to acquire and retain high-spending, engaged and creditworthy Card Members. Core elements of
our strategy are:

« Designing innovative products and features that appeal to our target customer base and meet their spending and borrowing needs

¢ Using incentivesto drive spending on our various card products and engender loyal Card Members, including our Membership Rewards® program, cash-back reward features and
participation in loyalty programs sponsored by our cobrand and other partners

¢ Providing exceptional customer care, digital and mobile services and an array of benefits and experiences across card products to address travel and other needs and increase Card
Member engagement

« Developing awide range of partner relationships, including with other corporations and institutions that sponsor certain of our cards under cobrand arrangements and provide
benefits and services to our Card Members

Our charge cards are designed primarily as a method of payment with Card Members generally paying the full amount billed each month. Charges are approved based on avariety of factors,
including a Card Member's current spending patterns, payment history, credit record and financial resources. Some charge card accounts have features that allow Card Membersto revolve
certain charges. Revolving credit card products provide Card Members with the flexibility to pay their bill in full each month or carry amonthly balance on their cards to finance the purchase of
goods or services. Some revolving credit cards also alow eligible Card Members to set up monthly payments for certain purchases or purchase amounts over afixed period of time. Certain of our
cards are issued under cobrand arrangements with business partners, such as Delta Air Lines, our largest cobrand partner, as well as many others globally. We al so partner with Deltato offer
benefitsto Card Member participantsin our Membership Rewards program and provide travel-rel ated benefits and services, including airport lounge access for certain American Express Card
Members.
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Global Commercial Services

We offer awide range of card and payment programs, expense management tools, consulting services, business financing and cross-border payments solutions to small businesses, mid-size
companies and large corporations around the world. We have a suite of business-to-business payment solutions to help companies manage their spending and realize other potential benefits,
including cost savings, process control and efficiency, and improved cash flow management. We offer local currency corporate cards and other expense management productsin approximately
95 countries and territories, and have global U.S. dollar and euro corporate cards available in approximately 110 countries and territories. We also provide products and services, including charge
cards, revolving credit cards and non-card payment and financing solutions, to small and mid-sized businesses in the United States and internationally.

Core elements of our strategy to become the leading payments and working capital provider to small and mid-sized business customers and aleader in business-to-business payments for large
and global enterprisesinclude:

o  Expanding our leadership in our core card business by evolving our card value propositions, launching cobrand products and further differentiating our corporate card and accounts
payable expense management solutions
¢ Designing innovative products and features, including financing and supplier payment solutions for our business customers

Global Merchant & Network Services

We operate a global payments network that processes and settles card transactions, acquires merchants and provides fraud-prevention tools, marketing solutions, data analytics and other
programs and services to merchants that |everage the capabilities of our integrated network. GMNS builds and manages rel ationships with millions of merchants around the world that choose to
accept American Express cards and signs new merchants to accept our cards, agreeing on the discount rate (a fee charged to the merchant for accepting our cards) and handling servicing for
these merchants. We also build and maintain relationships with merchant acquirers, aggregators and processors to manage aspects of our merchant services business. For example, through our
OptBlue® merchant-acquiring program, third-party processors contract directly with small merchants for card acceptance and determine merchant pricing.

We continue to grow merchant acceptance of American Express cards around the world. We made progress towards our goal of having American Express cards accepted at virtually all merchant
locations that accept both Visaand Mastercard in the United States, adding more than a million new merchant locations in the United Statesin 2018. We are also focused on increasing merchant
coverage strategically in countries outside the United States, with double-digit growth in merchant locations internationally in 2018. We estimate that our international merchant network asa
whole could accommodate more than 80 percent of general-purpose card spending, based on comparing spending on all networks' general-purpose credit and charge cards at merchants outside
the United States that accept American Express cards with total general-purpose credit and charge card spending at all merchants outside the United States.

GMNS also establishes and maintains rel ationships with third-party banks and other institutionsin approximately 130 countries and territories, licensing the American Express brand and
extending the reach of our global network. Under independent operator arrangements, partners are licensed to issue local currency cardsin their countries and serve as the merchant acquirer and

processor for local merchants. Under network card license arrangements, partners are licensed to issue American Express-branded cards primarily in countries where we have a proprietary card-
issuing and/or merchant-acquiring business.

GMNS also manages loyalty coalition programs, such as the Payback® program in Germany, India, Mexico, Italy, Poland and Austria. Our loyalty coalition programs enable consumersto earn
rewards points and use them to save on purchases from avariety of participating merchants through multi-category rewards platforms. Merchantsin these programs generally fund the consumer
offersand are responsible to us for the cost of rewards points; we earn revenue from operating the loyalty platform and by providing marketing support.
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COMPETITION

We compete in the global paymentsindustry with charge, credit and debit card networks, issuers and acquirers, paper-based transactions (e.g., cash and checks), bank transfer models (e.g., wire
transfers and Automated Clearing House, or ACH), aswell as evolving and growing alternative payment and financing providers. As the paymentsindustry continues to evolve, we face
increasing competition from non-traditional players that leverage new technol ogies, business models and customer relationships to create payment or financing solutions.

Asacard issuer, we compete with financial institutions that i ssue general-purpose charge and revolving credit cards and debit cards. We al so encounter competition from businesses that issue
their own private label cards, operate their own mobile wallets or extend credit to their customers. We face intense competition for cobrand rel ationships, as both card issuer and network
competitors have targeted key business partners with attractive value propositions.

Our global card network competes in the global paymentsindustry with other card networks, including, among others, China UnionPay, Visa, Mastercard, JCB, Discover and Diners Club
International (which isowned by Discover). We are the fourth largest general -purpose card network globally based on purchase volume, behind China UnionPay, Visaand Mastercard. In
addition to such networks, arange of companies globally, including merchant acquirers, processors and web- and mobile-based payment platforms (e.g., Alipay, PayPal and Venmo), aswell as
regional payment networks (such as the National Payments Corporation of India), carry out some activities similar to those performed by our GMNS business.

The principal competitive factors that affect the card-issuing, merchant and network businesses include:

o Thefeatures, value and quality of the products and services, including customer care, rewards programs, partnerships, benefits and digital and mobile services, and the costs
associated with providing such features and services

¢ Reputation and brand recognition
¢ Thenumber, spending characteristics and credit performance of customers
o Thequantity, diversity and quality of the establishments where the cards can be used

¢ The attractiveness of the value proposition to card issuers, merchant acquirers, cardholders, corporate clients and merchants (including the relative cost of using or accepting the
products and services, and capabilities such as fraud prevention and data anal ytics)

e Thenumber and quality of other payment cards and other forms of payment available to customers

e The success of marketing and promotional campaigns

e Thespeed of innovation and investment in systems, technol ogies, and product and service offerings

« Thenature and quality of expense management tools, el ectronic payment methods and data capture and reporting capabilities, particularly for business customers
e Thesecurity of cardholder and merchant information

Another aspect of competition is the dynamic and rapid growth of alternative payment mechanisms, systems and products, which include aggregators (e.g., PayPal, Square and Amazon),
marketplace lenders, wireless payment technologies (including using mobile telephone networks to carry out transactions), financial technology companies, electronic wallet and push payment
providers (including handset manufacturers, telecommunication providers, retailers, banks and technology companies), prepaid systems, digital currencies, gift cards, blockchain and similar
distributed ledger technologies, and systems linked to payment cards or that provide payment solutions. Partnerships have been formed by various competitors to integrate more financial
servicesinto their product offerings and competitors are attempting to replicate our closed-loop functionality, such as the merchant-processing platform ChaseNet. New payments competitors
continue to emerge in response to evolving technologies, consumer habits and merchant needs.

In addition to the discussion in this section, see “ Our operating results may suffer because of substantial and increasingly intense competition worldwide in the paymentsindustry” in “ Risk
Factors” for further discussion of the potential impact of competition on our business, and “Our business is subject to comprehensive gover nment regulation and supervision, which could
adver sely affect our results of operations and financial condition” and “Ongoing legal proceedings regarding provisionsin our merchant contracts could have a material adver se effect on
our business and result in additional litigation and/or arbitrations, substantial monetary damages and damage to our reputation and brand” in “Risk Factors’ for a discussion of the
potential impact on our ability to compete effectively due to government regulations or if ongoing legal proceedings limit our ability to prevent merchants from engaging in various actions to
discriminate against our card products.
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SUPERVISION AND REGULATION

Overview

We are subject to extensive government regulation and supervision in jurisdictions around the world, and the costs of compliance are substantial. In recent years, the financial servicesindustry
has been subject to rigorous scrutiny, high regulatory expectations, and a stringent and unpredictable enforcement environment. Governmental authorities have focused, and we believe will
continue to focus, considerabl e attention on reviewing compliance by financial services firmswith laws and regulations. Reviews to assess compliance with laws and regul ations by governmental
authorities, aswell as our own internal reviews, have resulted in, and are likely to continue to result in, changes to our practices, products and procedures, restitution to our customers and
increased costs related to regulatory oversight, supervision and examination. We have also been subject to regulatory actions and may continue to be the subject of such actions, including
governmental inquiries, investigations, enforcement proceedings and the imposition of fines or civil money penalties, in the event of noncompliance or alleged noncompliance with laws or
regulations. In addition, legislators and regulators in various countries in which we operate have focused on the operation of card networks, including through antitrust actions, legislation and
regulations to change certain practices or pricing of card issuers, merchant acquirers and payment networks, and, in some cases, to establish broad and ongoing regulatory oversight regimes for
payment systems.

See “Risk Factors—L egal, Regulatory and Compliance Risks” for adiscussion of the potential impact |egislative and regulatory changes may have on our results of operations and financial
condition.

Banking Regulation

Federal and state banking laws, regulations and policies extensively regulate the Company (which, for purposes of this section, refers to American Express Company as a bank holding company),
TRSand our U.S. bank subsidiary, American Express National Bank (AENB). Both the Company and TRS are subject to comprehensive consolidated supervision, regulation and examination by
the Federal Reserve and AENB is likewise supervised, regulated and examined by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC). The Company and its subsidiaries are al so subject to the
rulemaking, enforcement and examination authority of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB). Banking regulators have broad examination and enforcement power, including the power
to impose substantial fines, limit dividends and other capital distributions, restrict operations and acquisitions and require divestitures. Many aspects of our business also are subject to rigorous
regulation by other U.S. federal and state regulatory agencies and by non-U.S. government agencies and regulatory bodies.

In November 2018, the Federal Reserve adopted a new rating system for large financial institutions, such as the Company, which isintended to align with the Federal Reserve's existing
supervisory program for large financial institutions and which includes component ratings for capital planning, liquidity risk management, and governance and controls. In August 2017 and
January 2018, the Federal Reserve proposed related guidance for the governance and controls component.

Activities

The BHC Act generally limits bank holding companies to activities that are considered to be banking activities and certain closely related activities. As noted above, each of the Company and
TRSisabank holding company and each has elected to become afinancial holding company, which is authorized to engage in a broader range of financial and related activities. In order to remain
eligible for financial holding company status, we must meet certain eligibility requirements. Those requirements include that each of the Company and AENB must be “well capitalized” and “well
managed,” and AENB must have received at least a“ satisfactory” rating on its most recent assessment under the Community Reinvestment Act of 1977 (the CRA). The Company and TRS
engage in various activities permissible only for financial holding companies, including, in particular, providing travel agency services, acting as afinder and engaging in certain insurance
underwriting and agency services. If the Company failsto meet eligibility requirements for financial holding company status, it islikely to be barred from engaging in new types of financial
activities or making certain types of acquisitions or investments in reliance on its status as a financial holding company, and ultimately could be required to either discontinue the broader range
of activities permitted to financial holding companies or divest AENB. In addition, the Company and its subsidiaries are prohibited by law from engaging in practices that the relevant regulatory
authority deems unsafe or unsound (which such authorities generally interpret broadly).

Acquisitions and Investments

Applicable federal and state laws place limitations on the ability of personsto invest in or acquire control of uswithout providing notice to or obtaining the approval of one or more of our
regulators. In addition, we are subject to banking laws and regulations that limit our investments and acquisitions and, in some cases, subject them to the prior review and approval of our
regulators, including the Federal Reserve and the OCC. Federal banking regulators have broad discretion in evaluating proposed acquisitions and investments that are subject to their prior review
or approval.
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Financial Regulatory Reform

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act (Dodd-Frank) and the Federal Reserve'simplementing regul ations impose heightened prudential requirements on bank holding
companies with at least $50 billion in total consolidated assets, such as the Company, that are more stringent than those applicable to smaller bank holding companies. The Economic Growth,
Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act (EGRRCPA), enacted in May 2018, preserves the fundamental elements of the post-Dodd-Frank regulatory framework, but, among other things,
revises certain aspects of the U.S. financial regulatory regimefor bank holding companies with less than $250 billion in total consolidated assets, such as the Company.

Under Dodd-Frank, federal banking regulators were required to apply enhanced prudential standards to bank holding companies, such as the Company, with total consolidated assets of $50
billion or more. Following the enactment of EGRRCPA, effective November 2019, federal banking regulators will no longer be required to apply most Dodd-Frank enhanced prudential standards to
bank holding companies, such as the Company, with total consolidated assets of $100 billion but less than $250 billion. For example, holding company resol ution planning and company-run
stress testing would no longer be mandatory and supervisory stress testing (which is currently conducted annually) would be conducted on a “periodic” basis. Depository institutions, such as
AENB, with total consolidated assets between $100 billion and $250 billion will aso not be required to conduct annual company-run stress tests effective November 2019. Much of the Dodd-
Frank enhanced prudential standards were implemented by the federal banking regulators through regulations. EGRRCPA, however, does not itself amend those regulations, which will require
action by the federal banking regulators. Additionally, EGRRCPA permits the Federal Reserve, by order or rule, to apply enhanced prudential standards to bank holding companies, such asthe
Company, with total consolidated assets of $100 billion or more. Lastly, there are several regulations not directly affected by EGRRCPA but that federal banking regulators may modify to conform
to the new higher asset thresholds, such as the Comprehensive Capital Analysis and Review (CCAR) process.

In October 2018, the Federal Reserve released two proposal's, onejointly with the OCC and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) and one on its own, that would tailor the applicable
capital and liquidity requirements and prudential standards for large U.S. banking organizations, such as the Company, based on their size and other risk-based indicators, consistent with
EGRRCPA (the Talloring Proposals). The Tailoring Proposals are not yet final and may be modified prior to their final adoption by the Federal Reserve, the OCC and the FDIC.

The Tailoring Proposals would assign each U.S. bank holding company with $100 billion or more in total consolidated assets, as well asits bank subsidiaries, to one of four categories based on
itssize and fiverisk-based indicators: (i) cross-jurisdictional activity, (ii) weighted short-term wholesale funding, (iii) non-bank assets, (iv) off-balance sheet exposure, and (v) statusasaU.S.
global systemically important banking organization. The Federal Reserve indicated which firmswould fall into each of the four categories based on data for the second quarter of 2018, with the
Company in “Category I1V.” Firms subject to Category |V standards would generally be subject to the same capital and liquidity requirements as firms with under $100 billion in total consolidated
assets, but would also be required to monitor and report certain risk-based indicators. Asaresult, under the Tailoring Proposals, Category 1V firms such as the Company would (i) no longer be
subject to the advanced approaches capital requirements, (ii) no longer be subject to the supplementary leverageratio, (iii) no longer be subject to the countercyclical capital buffer, (iv) no longer
be subject to company-run stress testing requirements, (v) become subject to supervisory stress testing on an every-other-year basis rather than an annual basis; and (vi) no longer be subject to
theliquidity coverage ratio or the proposed net stable funding ratio minimum reguirements.

The ultimate impact from EGRRCPA and the related regulatory changesiis subject to the final implementing regul ations adopted by federal banking regulators, which may differ from the proposals
described herein.

Stress Testing and Capital Planning

Under the Federal Reserve's regulations, the Company is currently subject to annual supervisory and semiannual company-run stress testing requirements that are designed to eval uate whether
abank holding company has sufficient capital on atotal consolidated basis to absorb losses and support operations under adverse economic conditions. Under the Tailoring Proposal's, Category
1V firms, such as the Company, would no longer be subject to company-run stress testing requirements, but would remain subject to the quantitative review of their capital plans under CCAR,
which the Federal Reserve hasindicated it plansto conduct on an every-other-year, instead of annual, basis for Category |V firms. In connection with the release of the Tailoring Proposals, the
Federal Reserve also indicated that it expects to revise its guidance on capital planning to align with the proposed categories of standards set forth in the Tailoring Proposals. We continue to
evaluate the impact of the Tailoring Proposals and forthcoming related proposals on the Company and its capital planning process.

Theresults of the Company’s stress testing are incorporated into our annual capital plan, which must cover a*“planning horizon” of at least nine quarters and which we are required to submit to
the Federal Reservefor review under its CCAR process. As part of CCAR, the Federal Reserve evaluates whether the Company has sufficient capital to continue operations under various
scenarios of economic and financial market stress (devel oped by both the Company and the Federal Reserve), including after taking into account planned capital distributions, such as dividend
payments and common stock repurchases. Sufficient capital for these purposesis|likely to require usto maintain capital ratios appreciably above applicable minimum requirements and buffers.
The scenarios are designed to stress our risks and vulnerabilities and assess our pro-forma capital position and ratios under hypothetical stress environments.

We are required to submit our capital plans and stress testing results to the Federal Reserve on or before April 5 of each year in which they are required. The Federal Reserve is expected to
publish the decisions for al the bank holding companies participating in CCAR, including the reasons for any objection to capital plans, by June 30th of each year. In addition, the Federal
Reserve will publish separately the results of its supervisory stress test under the supervisory severely adverse scenarios. The information to be released will include, among other things, the
Federal Reserve's projection of company-specific information, including post-stress capital ratio information over the planning horizon.

We may be required to revise and resubmit our capital plan asrequired by the Federal Reserve following certain events, such as asignificant acquisition. In addition to other limitations, our
ability to make any capital distributions (including dividends and share repurchases) is contingent on the Federal Reserve’s non-objection to our capital plan.

On February 5, 2019, the Federal Reserve announced that certain firms with total consolidated assets between $100 billion and $250 billion, such as the Company, would not be subject to
supervisory stress testing, company-run stress testing or CCAR for the 2019 cycle. The Federal Reserve stated that permitted capital distributions for the 2019 cycle for such firmswould be
largely based on the results of the 2018 supervisory stress tests. We remain subject to the requirement to devel op and maintain an annual capital plan.
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Dividends and Other Capital Distributions

The Company and TRS, aswell as AENB and the Company’s insurance and other regulated subsidiaries, are limited in their ability to pay dividends by statutes, regul ations and supervisory
policy.

Dividend payments by the Company to shareholders are subject to the oversight of the Federal Reserve. See “ Stress Testing and Capital Planning.” Even if the Federal Reserve has not objected
to adistribution, the Company may still not make a distribution without Federal Reserve approval if, among other things, the Company would not meet a minimum regulatory capital ratio after
giving effect to the capital distribution, changes in facts would require resubmission of our capital plan or the Company’s earnings are materially underperforming its projectionsin the capital
plan.

In general, federal laws and regulations prohibit, without first obtaining the OCC's approval, AENB from making dividend distributionsto TRS, if such distributions are not paid out of available
recent earnings or would cause AENB to fail to meet capital adequacy standards. In addition to specific limitations on the dividends AENB can pay to TRS, federal banking regulators have
authority to prohibit or limit the payment of adividend if, in the banking regulator’s opinion, payment of adividend would constitute an unsafe or unsound practice in light of the financial
condition of theinstitution.

Capital, Leverage and Liquidity Regulation
Capital Rules

The Company and AENB are required to comply with the applicable capital adequacy rules established by federal banking regulators. These rules are intended to ensure that bank holding
companies and depository institutions (collectively, banking organizations) have adeguate capital given their level of assets and off-balance sheet obligations. The federal banking regulators’
current capital rules, which, subject to phase-in provisions, generally became applicable to the Company and AENB'’s predecessor institutionsin 2014 (the Capital Rules), largely implement the
Basel Committee on Banking Supervision’s (the Basel Committee) framework for strengthening international capital regulation, known as Basel I11. The minimum capital and buffer requirements
under the Capital Rules have been fully phased in as of January 1, 2019. For additional information regarding our capital ratios, see“ Consolidated Capital Resources and Liquidity” under
“MD&A.”

Under the Capital Rules, banking organizations are required to maintain minimum ratios for Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1), Tier 1 capital (that is, CET1 plus additional Tier 1 capital) and Total
capital (that is, Tier 1 capital plus Tier 2 capital) to risk-weighted assets. Since 2014, we have reported our capital adequacy ratios on aparallel basis to federal banking regulators using both risk-
weighted assets cal culated under the Basel 111 standardized approach, as adjusted for certain items, and the requirements for an advanced approaches institution. During this parallel period,
federal banking regulators assess our compliance with the advanced approaches requirements. The parallel period will continue until we receive regulatory notification to exit parallel reporting, at
which point we will begin publicly reporting regulatory risk-based capital ratios cal culated under both the advanced approaches and the standardized approach under the Capital Rules, and will
be required to use the lower of these ratios in order to determine whether we are in compliance with minimum capital and buffer requirements for the Company and AENB. Depending on how the
advanced approaches are ultimately implemented for our asset types, our capital ratios cal culated under the advanced approaches may be lower than under the standardized approach. The
standardized approach is currently the applicable measurement used in CCAR.

In December 2017, the Basel Committee published standards that, among other things, revise the standardized approach for credit risk (including by recalibrating risk weights and introducing
additional capital requirements for certain “unconditionally cancellable commitments” such as unused credit card lines of credit) and provide a new standardized calculation for operational risk
capital requirements. If adopted in the United States as issued by the Basel Committee and applicable to us, the new standards could result in higher capital requirementsfor us.

The Company and AENB must each maintain CET1, Tier 1 capital and Total capital ratios of at least 4.5 percent, 6.0 percent and 8.0 percent, respectively. The Capital Rules alsoimplement a2.5
percent capital conservation buffer composed entirely of CET1, on top of these minimum risk-weighted asset ratios. As aresult, the minimum ratios are effectively 7.0 percent, 8.5 percent and 10.5
percent for the CET1, Tier 1 capital and Total capital ratios, respectively, as of January 1, 2019. The required minimum capital ratios for the Company may be further increased by a countercyclical
capital buffer composed entirely of CET1 up to 2.5 percent, which may be assessed when federal banking regulators determine that such a buffer is necessary to protect the banking system from
disorderly downturns associated with excessively expansionary periods. Subject to adjustment by the Federal Reserve, the current countercyclical capital buffer is zero percent. Assuming the
maximum countercyclical capital buffer wasin place, the Company’s effective minimum CET1, Tier 1 capital and Total capital ratios could be 9.5 percent, 11.0 percent and 13.0 percent,
respectively.
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Banking institutions whose ratio of CET1, Tier 1 Capital or Total capital to risk-weighted assets is above the minimum but below the capital conservation buffer (or below the combined capital
conservation buffer and countercyclical capital buffer, when the latter is applied) will face constraints on discretionary distributions such as dividends, repurchases and redemptions of capital
securities, and executive compensation based on the amount of the shortfall and the institution's "eligible retained income" (that is, four quarter trailing net income, net of distributions and tax
effects not reflected in net income).

As noted above, Category 1V firms, such as the Company, would no longer be subject to the countercyclical capital buffer requirements under the Tailoring Proposals.

The Federal Reserve proposed arulein April 2018 that would, among other things, replace the static 2.5 percent capital conservation buffer with a stress capital buffer requirement for bank
holding companies subject to the CCAR process. The stress capital buffer would reflect stressed losses in the supervisory severely adverse scenario of the Federal Reserve’'s CCAR stress tests
and would also include four quarters of planned common stock dividends. The proposal also included a stress leverage buffer requirement, similar to the stress capital buffer, which would apply
totheTier 1 leverageratio. The proposal would require bank holding companies to reduce their planned capital distributionsif those distributions would not be consistent with the applicable
capital buffer constraints based on the bank holding companies’ own baseline scenario projections. The Federal Reserve hasindicated that it intends to propose revisions to the stress buffer
requirements that would be applicable to Category IV firms, such as the Company, to align with the proposed two-year supervisory stress-testing cycle for Category 1V bank holding companies.

Leverage Requirements

We are also required to comply with minimum leverage ratio requirements. The leverageratio isthe ratio of abanking organization’s Tier 1 capital to its average total consolidated assets (as
defined for regulatory purposes). All banking organizations are required to maintain aleverage ratio of at least 4.0 percent.

The Capital Rules also establish a supplementary leverage ratio (SLR) requirement for advanced approaches banking organizations such as the Company. The SLRistheratio of Tier 1 capital to
an expanded concept of leverage exposure that includes both on-balance sheet and certain off-balance sheet exposures. The Capital Rules require aminimum SLR of 3.0 percent.

As noted above, Category 1V firms, such asthe Company, would no longer be subject to the SLR requirement under the Tailoring Proposals.

Liquidity Regulation

The Federal Reserve's enhanced prudential standards rule includes heightened liquidity and overall risk management requirements. The rule requires the maintenance of aliquidity buffer,
consisting of highly liquid assets, that is sufficient to meet projected net outflows for 30 days over arange of liquidity stress scenarios.

In addition, the Company and AENB are currently subject to aliquidity coverage ratio (L CR) requirement, which is provided for in the Basel |11 liquidity framework and is designed to ensure that a
banking entity maintains an adequate level of unencumbered high-quality liquid assets that can be converted into cash to meet itsliquidity needs for a 30-day time horizon under an acute
liquidity stress scenario specified by supervisors. The LCR measures the ratio of afirm’s high-quality liquid assets to its projected net outflows. The Company and AENB are required to calculate
the LCR each business day, maintain a minimum ratio of 100 percent and disclose certain LCR cal culation data and other information on aquarterly basis.

A second standard provided for in the Basel 111 liquidity framework, referred to as the net stable funding ratio (NSFR), requires a minimum amount of longer-term funding based on the assets and
activities of banking entities. The LCR and NSFR requirements may cause banking entities generally to increase their holdings of cash, U.S. Treasury securities and other sovereign debt asa
proportion of total assets and/or increase the proportion of longer-term debt. Federal banking regulatorsissued a proposed rule in May 2016 that would implement the NSFR for advanced
approaches banking organizations, such as the Company. A final rule has not yet been issued and timing for implementation of the NSFR requirementsis uncertain. If implemented as proposed,
the rule would require that “available stable funding” be no less than “required stable funding” for the Company and AENB, as each such measure is cal culated under therule.

As noted above, Category IV firms, such as the Company and AENB, would no longer be subject to the LCR requirement or the proposed NSFR requirements under the Tailoring Proposals.
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Prompt Corrective Action

The Federal Deposit Insurance Act (FDIA) requires, among other things, that federal banking regulators take prompt corrective action in respect of depository institutionsinsured by the FDIC
(such as AENB) that do not meet minimum capital requirements. The FDIA establishes five capital categoriesfor FDIC-insured banks: well capitalized, adequately capitalized, undercapitalized,
significantly undercapitalized and critically undercapitalized. The FDIA imposes progressively more restrictive constraints on operations, management and capital distributions, depending on the
capital category in which an institution is classified. In order to be considered “well capitalized,” AENB must maintain CET1, Tier 1 capital, Total capital and Tier 1 leverage ratios of 6.5 percent,
8.0 percent, 10.0 percent and 5.0 percent, respectively.

Under the FDIA, AENB could be prohibited from accepting brokered deposits (i.e., deposits raised through third-party brokerage networks) or offering interest rates on any deposits significantly
higher than the prevailing rate in its normal market area or nationally (depending upon where the deposits are solicited), unless (1) it iswell capitalized or (2) it is adequately capitalized and
receives awaiver from the FDIC. A significant amount of our outstanding U.S. retail deposits are considered brokered deposits for bank regulatory purposes. If afederal regulator determines that
we are in an unsafe or unsound condition or that we are engaging in unsafe or unsound banking practices, the regulator may reclassify our capital category or otherwise place restrictions on our
ability to accept or solicit brokered deposits.

Resolution Planning

The Company isrequired to prepare and provide to regulators a plan for its rapid and orderly resolution under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the event of material distress or failure. Thisresolution
planning requirement may, as a practical matter, present additional constraints on our structure, operations and business strategy, and on transactions and business arrangements between our
bank and non-bank subsidiaries, because we must consider the impact of these matters on our ability to prepare and submit aresolution plan that demonstrates that we may be resolved under the
Bankruptcy Code in arapid and orderly manner. If the Federal Reserve and the FDIC determine that the Company’s plan is not credible and wefail to cure the deficiencies, we may be subject to
more stringent capital, leverage or liquidity requirements; may be subject to more restrictions on our growth, activities or operations; or may ultimately be required to divest certain assets or
operations to facilitate an orderly resolution. The Federal Reserve has indicated it expects to release a proposal to amend, with the FDIC, their joint resolution plan rule to address the applicability
of resolution plan requirements for U.S. bank holding companies with between $100 billion and $250 hillion in total consolidated assets, such asthe Company.

Separately, AENB isrequired to prepare and provide a separate resol ution plan to the FDIC that would enable the FDIC, asreceiver, to effectively resolve AENB under the FDIA in the event of
failure. The resolution planning requirement applicable to AENB is not affected by EGRRCPA.

Orderly Liquidation Authority

The Company could become subject to the Orderly Liquidation Authority (OLA), aresolution regime under which the Treasury Secretary may appoint the FDIC asreceiver to liquidate a

systemically important financial company, if the Company isin danger of default and is determined to present a systemic risk to U.S. financial stability. Asunder the FDIC resolution model, under

the OLA, the FDIC has broad power asreceiver. Substantial differences exist, however, between the OLA and the FDIC resolution model for depository institutions, including the right of the

FDIC under the OLA to disregard the strict priority of creditor claimsin limited circumstances, the use of an administrative claims procedure to determine creditor claims (as opposed to the judicial

goceg]ure used in bankruptcy proceedings), and the right of the FDIC to transfer claimsto a“bridge” entity. The OLA is separate from the Company’s resol ution plan discussed in “Resolution
anning.”

The FDIC has developed a strategy under OLA, referred to as the “single point of entry” or “ SPOE” strategy, under which the FDIC would resolve afailed financial holding company by
transferring its assets (including shares of its operating subsidiaries) and, potentially, very limited liabilities to a“bridge” holding company; utilize the resources of the failed financial holding
company to recapitalize the operating subsidiaries; and satisfy the claims of unsecured creditors of the failed financial holding company and other claimantsin the receivership by delivering
securities of one or more new financial companies that would emerge from the bridge holding company. Under this strategy, management of the failed financial holding company would be
replaced and its shareholders and creditors would bear the |osses resulting from the failure.
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FDIC Powersupon Insolvency of AENB

If the FDIC is appointed the conservator or receiver of AENB, the FDIC has the power: (1) to transfer any of AENB’s assets and liabilities to a new obligor without the approval of AENB’s
creditors; (2) to enforce the terms of AENB’s contracts pursuant to their terms; or (3) to repudiate or disaffirm any contract or lease to which AENB is aparty, the performance of whichis
determined by the FDIC to be burdensome and the disaffirmation or repudiation of which is determined by the FDIC to promote the orderly administration of AENB. In addition, the claims of
holders of U.S. deposit liabilities and certain claims for administrative expenses of the FDIC against AENB would be afforded priority over other general unsecured claims against AENB,

including claims of debt holders and depositorsin non-U.S. offices, in the liquidation or other resolution of AENB. As aresult, whether or not the FDIC ever sought to repudiate any debt
obligations of AENB, the debt holders and depositorsin non-U.S. offices would be treated differently from, and could receive substantially less, if anything, than the depositorsin the U.S. offices
of AENB.

Other Banking Regulations
Source of Strength

The Company is required to act as a source of financial and managerial strength toits U.S. bank subsidiary, AENB, and may be required to commit capital and financial resources to support
AENB. Such support may be required at times when, absent this requirement, the Company otherwise might determine not to provide it. Capital 1oans by the Company to AENB are subordinate in
right of payment to deposits and to certain other indebtedness of AENB. In the event of the Company’s bankruptcy, any commitment by the Company to afederal banking regulator to maintain
the capital of AENB will be assumed by the bankruptcy trustee and entitled to a priority of payment.

Transactions Between AENB and its Affiliates
Certain transactions (including loans and credit extensions from AENB) between AENB and its affiliates (including the Company, TRS and their other subsidiaries) are subject to quantitative and

qualitative limitations, collateral requirements and other restrictionsimposed by statute and regulation. Transactions subject to these restrictions are generally required to be made on an arm'’s-
length basis.

FDIC Deposit Insurance and Insurance Assessments

AENB accepts deposits that are insured by the FDIC up to the applicable limits. Under the FDIA, the FDIC may terminate the insurance of an institution’s deposits upon afinding that the
institution has engaged in unsafe or unsound practices; isin an unsafe or unsound condition to continue operations; or has violated any applicable law, regulation, rule, order or condition
imposed by the FDIC. We do not know of any practice, condition or violation that might lead to termination of deposit insurance at AENB. The FDIC's deposit insurance fund is funded by
assessments on insured depository institutions, including AENB, which are subject to adjustment by the FDIC.

Community Reinvestment Act

AENB is subject to the CRA, which imposes affirmative, ongoing obligations on depository institutions to meet the credit needs of their local communities, including low- and moderate-income
neighborhoods, consistent with the safe and sound operation of the institution.

Other Enhanced Prudential Standards

The Federal Reserve has not yet finalized prudential requirements, mandated by Dodd-Frank, regarding early remediation requirements for large bank holding companies experiencing financial
distress.

Consumer Financial Products Regulation

In the United States, our marketing, sale and servicing of consumer financial products and our compliance with certain federal consumer financial laws are supervised and examined by the CFPB,
which has broad rulemaking and enforcement authority over providers of credit, savings and payment services and products, and authority to prevent “unfair, deceptive or abusive” acts or
practices. In addition, anumber of U.S. states have significant consumer credit protection, disclosure and other laws (in certain cases more stringent than U.S. federal laws). U.S. federal law also
regulates abusive debt collection practices, which, along with bankruptcy and debtor relief laws, can affect our ability to collect amounts owed to us or subject us to regulatory scrutiny.

We are also regulated in the United States under the “money transmitter” or “sale of check” lawsin effect in most states. In addition, we are required by the laws of many states to comply with

unclaimed and abandoned property laws, under which we must pay to states the face amount of any Travelers Cheque or prepaid card that is uncashed or unredeemed after a period of time
depending on the type of product.
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In countries outside the United States, we have seen an increase in regulatory focus in relation to anumber of key areas impacting our card-issuing businesses, particularly consumer protection
(such asin the European Union (EU), the United Kingdom and Canada) and responsible lending (such asin Australia, Mexico, New Zealand and Singapore). Regulators in a number of countries
are shifting their focus from just ensuring compliance with local rules and regulations toward paying greater attention to the product design and operation with afocus on customers and
outcomes. Regulators' expectations of firmsin relation to their compliance, risk and control frameworks continue to increase and regul ators are placing significant emphasis on afirm’s systems
and controlsrelating to the identification and resol ution of issues.

Payments Regulation

Legislators and regulatorsin various countries in which we operate have focused on the operation of card networks, including through antitrust actions, legislation and regul ations to change
certain practices or pricing of card issuers, merchant acquirers and payment networks, and, in some cases, to establish broad and ongoing regulatory oversight regimes for payment systems.

The EU, Australia and other jurisdictions have focused on the fees merchants pay to accept cards, including the way bankcard network members collectively set the “interchange” (that is, the fee
paid by the bankcard merchant acquirer to the card issuer in “four party” networkslike Visaand Mastercard), aswell as the rules, contract terms and practices governing merchant card
acceptance. For example, in December 2018, the European Commission announced that it is taking comments on separate proposals by Visaand Mastercard to cap inter-regional multilateral
interchange fees.

Regulation and other governmental actions relating to merchant pricing or terms of merchant rules and contracts could affect al networks directly or indirectly, as well as adversely impact
consumers and merchants. Among other things, regulation of bankcard fees has negatively impacted and may continue to negatively impact the discount revenue we earn, including as aresult of
downward pressure on our discount rate from decreases in competitor pricing in connection with caps on interchange fees. In some cases, regulations also extend to certain aspects of our
business and we have largely exited our network businesses in the EU and Australiaas aresult of regulation in those jurisdictions, for example.

In various countries, such as certain Member Statesin the EU and Australia, merchants are permitted by law to surcharge card purchases. In addition, the laws of a number of statesin the United
States that prohibit surcharging have been challenged in litigation brought by merchant groups and some such laws have been overturned. Surcharging is an adverse customer experience and
could have a material adverse effect on usif it becomes widespread, particularly whereit only or disproportionately impacts our business. In addition, other steering practices that are permitted
by regulation in some countries could also have amaterial adverse effect on usif they become widespread.

In Canada, regulators have prompted the major international card networks to make voluntary commitments on pricing, specifically interchange fee levels; as American Express does not operate
with interchange feesin Canada, our commitments extend to maintaining current pricing practices and complying with certain other practices.

In some countries governments have established regulatory regimes that require international card networks to belocally licensed and/or to localize aspects of their operations. For example, card
network operators in India must obtain authorization from the Reserve Bank of India, which has broad power under the Payment and Settlement Systems Act, 2007 to regul ate the membership and
operations of card networks. In Russia, card network operators must be authorized by the central bank, and regulation requires networks to place security deposits with the central bank, process
all local transactions using government-owned infrastructure and ensure that local transaction data remains within the country. The development and enforcement of these and other similar laws,
regulations and policies may adversely affect our ability to compete effectively in those countries and maintain and extend our global network.

Governments in some countries also provide resources or protection to select domestic payment card networks. In November 2018, we received preparatory approval from the People’s Bank of
Chinato begin building a network to process domestic currency transactions through ajoint venture in mainland China. Once the network has been established, we can apply for a business
operating license. There can be no assurance that we will receive such alicense, or, if we do, that we will be able to successfully compete in Chinawith domestic payment card networks and
alternative payment providers.

Privacy, Data Protection, Information and Cyber Security

Regulatory and legislative activity in the areas of privacy, data protection and information and cyber security continues to increase worldwide. We have established and continue to maintain
policies that provide aframework for compliance with applicable privacy, data protection and information and cyber security laws, meet evolving customer expectations and support and enable
business innovation and growth.

Our regulators are increasingly focused on ensuring that our privacy, data protection and information and cyber security-related policies and practices are adequate to inform customers of our

data collection, use, sharing and/or security practices, to provide them with choices, if required, about how we use and share their information, and to appropriately safeguard their personal
information and account access.
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In the United States, certain of our businesses are subject to the privacy, disclosure and safeguarding provisions of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act (GLBA) and itsimplementing regulations and
guidance. Among other things, the GLBA imposes certain limitations on our ability to share consumers' nonpublic personal information with nonaffiliated third parties and requires us to develop,
implement and maintain a written comprehensive information security program containing safeguards that are appropriate to the size and complexity of our business, the nature and scope of our
activities and the sensitivity of customer information that we process. Effective January 2020, the California Consumer Privacy Act will require usto offer expanded privacy rightsto California
residents who are not covered by GLBA. Various regulators, U.S. states and territories are considering similar requirements or have adopted laws, rules and regulations pertaining to privacy
and/or information and cyber security that may be more stringent and/or expansive than federal requirements.

We are also subject to certain privacy, data protection and information and cyber security lawsin other countries in which we operate (including countriesin the EU, Australia, Canada, Japan,
Hong Kong, India, Mexico and Singapore), some of which are more stringent and/or expansive than those in the United States. Some countries have also instituted laws requiring in-country data
processing and/or in-country storage of the personal data of its citizens. Compliance with such laws could result in higher technology, administrative and other costs for us and could limit our
ability to optimize the use of our closed-loop data. Data breach notification laws or regulatory activities to encourage breach notification are al so becoming more prevalent in jurisdictions outside
the United States in which we operate.

In Europe, the EU General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) went into effect in May 2018 with significant fines for non-compliance (up to 4 percent of total annual worldwide revenue). It created
additional legal and compliance obligations on companies that process personal data of individualsin the EU, irrespective of the geographical location of the company. We have made changes to
our privacy practices to comply with these requirements, and continue to rely on our binding corporate rules as the primary method for lawfully transferring data from our European affiliates to
our affiliatesin the United States and el sewhere globally. The GDPR includes, among other things, a requirement for prompt notice of data breaches, in certain circumstances, to affected
individuals and supervisory authorities.

In addition, the European Directive 2002/58/EC (the ePrivacy Directive) will continue to set out requirements for the processing of personal data and the protection of privacy in the electronic
communi cations sector until the approval of the forthcoming ePrivacy Regulation. The ePrivacy Directive places restrictions on, among other things, the sending of unsolicited marketing
communications, aswell as on the collection and use of data about internet users.

In 2015, the European Central Bank and the European Banking Authority enacted secondary |egislation focused on security breaches, strong customer authentication and information security-
related policies. Likewise, anetwork and information security directive has been implemented into national laws by Member States in the European Union. The Revised Payment Services
Directive (PSD2) also contains regulatory requirements on strong customer authentication, open access to customer data and payment capabilities, and measures to prevent security incidents.

Anti-Money Laundering, Sanctions and Anti-Corruption Compliance

We are subject to significant supervision and regulation, and an increasingly stringent enforcement environment, with respect to compliance with anti-money laundering (AML), sanctions and
anti-corruption laws and regulations in the United States and in other jurisdictionsin which we operate. Failure to maintain and implement adequate programs and policies and procedures for
AML, sanctions and anti-corruption compliance could have serious financial, legal and reputational consequences.

Anti-Money Laundering

American Express s subject to asignificant number of AML laws and regulations as aresult of being afinancial company headquartered in the United States, as well as having aglobal presence.
In the United States, the majority of AML requirements are derived from the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act and the accompanying regulations issued by the U.S. Department
of the Treasury (collectively referred to asthe Bank Secrecy Act), as amended by the USA PATRIOT Act of 2001 (the Patriot Act). In Europe, AML requirements are largely the result of countries
transposing the 4th EU Anti-Money Laundering Directive (and preceding EU Anti-Money Laundering Directives) into local |aws and regulations. Numerous other countries, such as Argentina,
Australia, Canada, India, Mexico, New Zealand and Russia, have also enacted or proposed new or enhanced AML legislation and regulations applicable to American Express.

Among other things, these laws and regulations require us to establish AML programs that meet certain standards, including, in some instances, expanded reporting, particularly in the area of

suspicious transactions, and enhanced information gathering and recordkeeping requirements. Any errors, failures or delaysin complying with federal, state or foreign AML and counter-terrorist
financing laws could result in significant criminal and civil lawsuits, penalties and forfeiture of significant assets or other enforcement actions.
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Office of Foreign Assets Control Regulation

The United States has imposed economic sanctions that affect transactions with designated foreign countries, nationals and others. The United States prohibits U.S. persons from engaging with
individuals and entitiesidentified as “ Specially Designated Nationals,” such as terrorists and narcotics traffickers. These prohibitions are administered by the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s
Office of Foreign Assets Control (OFAC) and are typically known asthe OFAC rules. The OFAC rules prohibit U.S. persons from engaging in financial transactions with or relating to the
prohibited individual, entity or country, require the blocking of assets in which the individual, entity or country has an interest, and prohibit transfers of property subject to U.S. jurisdiction
(including property in the possession or control of U.S. persons) to such individual, entity or country. Blocked assets (e.g., property or bank deposits) cannot be paid out, withdrawn, set off or
transferred in any manner without alicense from OFAC. We maintain aglobal sanctions program designed to ensure compliance with OFAC requirements. Failure to comply with such
requirements could subject us to serious legal and reputational consequences, including criminal penalties.

Pursuant to Section 219 of the Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012, which added Section 13(r) to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), an
issuer isrequired to disclosein its annual or quarterly reports, as applicable, whether it or any of its affiliates knowingly engaged in certain activities, transactions or dealings relating to Iran or
with individuals or entities designated pursuant to certain Executive Orders. Disclosureis generally required even where the activities, transactions or dealings were conducted outside the United
States by non-U.S. affiliates in compliance with applicable law, and whether or not the activities are sanctionable under U.S. law.

American Express Global Business Travel (GBT) and certain entities that may be considered affiliates of GBT have informed us that during the year ended December 31, 2018, approximately 123
visas were obtained from Iranian embassies and consul ates around the world in connection with certain travel arrangements on behalf of clients and reservations were booked at two hotels that
may be owned, directly or indirectly, or may otherwise be affiliated with, the Government of Iran. GBT had negligible gross revenues and net profits attributabl e to these transactions and intends
to continue to engage in these activities on alimited basis so long as such activities are permitted under U.S. law.

Anti-Corruption

We are subject to complex international and U.S. anti-corruption laws and regulations, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the FCPA), the UK Bribery Act and other laws that
prohibit the making or offering of improper payments. The FCPA makesit illegal to corruptly offer or provide anything of value to foreign government officials, political parties or political party
officialsfor the purpose of obtaining or retaining business or an improper advantage. The FCPA also requires usto strictly comply with certain accounting and internal controls standards. In
recent years, enforcement of the FCPA has become more intense. The UK Bribery Act also prohibits commercial bribery and the receipt of abribe, and makesit a corporate offense to fail to
prevent bribery by an associated person, in addition to prohibiting improper payments to foreign government officials. Failure of the Company, our subsidiaries, employees, contractors or agents
to comply with the FCPA, the UK Bribery Act and other laws can expose us and/or individual employees to investigation, prosecution and potentially severe criminal and civil penalties.

Compensation Practices

Our compensation practices are subject to oversight by the Federal Reserve. The federal banking regulators’ guidance on sound incentive compensation practices sets forth three key principles
for incentive compensation arrangements that are designed to help ensure that incentive compensation plans do not encourage imprudent risk-taking and are consistent with the safety and
soundness of banking organizations. The three principles provide that a banking organization’s incentive compensation arrangements should (1) provide incentives that appropriately balance
risk and financial resultsin amanner that does not encourage employees to expose their organizations to imprudent risks, (2) be compatible with effective internal controls and risk management,
and (3) be supported by strong corporate governance, including active and effective oversight by the organization’s board of directors. Any deficienciesin our compensation practices that are
identified by the Federal Reserve or other banking regulatorsin connection with its review of our compensation practices may be incorporated into our supervisory ratings, which can affect our
ability to make acquisitions or perform other actions. Enforcement actions may be taken against usif our incentive compensation arrangements or related risk-management control or governance
processes are determined to pose arisk to our safety and soundness and we have not taken prompt and effective measures to correct the deficiencies.

In May 2016, the federal banking regulators, the SEC, the Federal Housing Finance Agency and the National Credit Union Administration re-proposed arule, originally proposed in 2011, on
incentive-based compensation practices. The re-proposed rule would apply deferral, downward adjustment and forfeiture, and clawback requirements to incentive-based compensation
arrangements granted to senior executive officers and significant risk-takers of covered institutions, with specific requirements varying based on the asset size of the covered institution and the
category of employee. If these or other regulations are adopted in aform similar to what has been proposed, they will impose limitations on the manner in which we may structure compensation
for our employees, which could adversely affect our ability to hire, retain and motivate key employees.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Set forth below, in alphabetical order, isalist of our executive officers as of February 13, 2019, including each executive officer’s principal occupation and employment during the past five years
and reflecting recent organizational changes. None of our executive officers has any family relationship with any other executive officer, and none of our executive officers became an officer
pursuant to any arrangement or understanding with any other person. Each executive officer has been elected to serve until the next annual election of officers or until his or her successor is
elected and qualified. Each officer's age is indicated by the number in parentheses next to his or her name.

DOUGLASE. BUCKMINSTER — Group President, Global Consumer Services Group
Mr. Buckminster (58) has been Group President, Global Consumer Services Group since February 2018. Prior thereto, he had been President, Global Consumer Services Group since October 2015
and President, Global Network and International Card Services since February 2012.

JEFFREY C. CAMPBELL — Chief Financial Officer
Mr. Campbell (58) has been Chief Financial Officer since August 2013.

PAUL D. FABARA — President, Global Services Group
Mr. Fabara (53) has been President, Global Services Group since February 2018. Prior thereto, he had been Chief Risk Officer and President, Global Risk, Banking & Compliance since February
2016 and President, Global Banking Group since February 2013. He also served as President, Global Network Business from September 2014 to October 2015.

MARC D. GORDON — Chief Information Officer
Mr. Gordon (58) has been Chief Information Officer since September 2012.
ANNA MARRS — President, Global Commercia Services

Ms. Marrs (45) has been President, Global Commercial Services since September 2018. Ms. Marrs joined American Express from Standard Chartered Bank, where she served as Regional CEO,
ASEAN and South Asiasince November 2016 and CEO, Commercial and Private Banking since October 2015. She joined Standard Chartered Bank as Group Head, Strategy and Corporate
Development in January 2012.

MICHAEL J O'NEILL — Chief Corporate Affairs Officer
Mr. O'Neill (65) has been Chief Corporate Affairs Officer since September 2014. Prior thereto, he had been Senior Vice President, Corporate Affairs and Communications since March 1991.
DENISE PICKETT — Chief Risk Officer and President, Global Risk, Banking & Compliance

Ms. Pickett (53) has been Chief Risk Officer and President, Global Risk, Banking & Compliance since February 2018. Prior thereto, she had been President, U.S. Consumer Services since October
2015. She also served as President, American Express OPEN from February 2014 to October 2015 and Executive Vice President and Chief Executive Officer, U.S. Loyalty from January 2013 to
February 2014.

ELIZABETH RUTLEDGE — Chief Marketing Officer
Ms. Rutledge (57) has been Chief Marketing Officer since February 2018. Prior thereto, she had been Executive Vice President, Global Advertising & Mediasince February 2016 and Executive
Vice President, Card Products & Benefits since May 2013.

LAUREEN E. SEEGER — Chief Legal Officer
Ms. Seeger (57) has been Chief Legal Officer since July 2014. Ms. Seeger joined American Express from McK esson Corporation, where she served as Executive Vice President, General Counsel
and Chief Compliance Officer from March 2006 until June 2014.

STEPHEN J. SQUERI — Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Squeri (59) has been Chairman and Chief Executive Officer since February 2018. Prior thereto, he had been Vice Chairman since July 2015. Prior thereto, he had been Group President, Global
Corporate Services since November 2011.

ANRE WILLIAMS — Group President, Global Merchant and Network Services

Mr. Williams (53) has been Group President, Global Merchant and Network Services since February 2018. Prior thereto, he had been President of Global Merchant Services and Loyalty since
October 2015 and President, Global Merchant Services since November 2011.

14




Table of Contents

EMPLOYEES

We had approximately 59,000 employees as of December 31, 2018.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

We maintain an Investor Relations website at http://ir.americanexpress.com. We make available free of charge, on or through this website, our annual, quarterly and current reports and any
amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable following the time they are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). To access
these materials, click on the“SEC Filings” link under the caption “ Financial Information” on our Investor Relations homepage.

Y ou can also access our Investor Relations website through our main website at www.americanexpress.com by clicking on the “Investor Relations” link, which islocated at the bottom of our
homepage. Information contained on our Investor Relations website, our main website and other websites referred to in thisreport is not incorporated by reference into this report or any other
report filed with or furnished to the SEC. We have included such website addresses only as inactive textual references and do not intend them to be active links.

Y ou can find certain statistical disclosures required of bank holding companies starting on page A-1, which are incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

This section highlights specific risks that could affect us and our businesses. Y ou should carefully consider each of the following risks and all of the other information set forth in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Based on the information currently known to us, we believe the following information identifies the most significant risk factors affecting us. However, the risks and
uncertainties we face are not limited to those described below. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently believe to be immaterial may also adversely affect
our business.

If any of the following risks and uncertainties develop into actual events or if the circumstances described in the risks and uncertainties occur or continue to occur, these events or circumstances
could have amaterial adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. These events could also have a negative effect on the trading price of our securities.

Strategic, Business and Competitive Risks

Difficult conditionsin the business and economic environment, aswell as political conditionsin the United States and el sewhere, may materially adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

Our results of operations are materially affected by economic, market, political and social conditionsin the United States and abroad. We offer abroad array of products and servicesto
consumers, small businesses and commercial clients and thus are very dependent upon the level of consumer and business activity and the demand for payment and financing products. Slow
economic growth, volatile or deteriorating economic conditions or shiftsin broader consumer and business trends could change customer behaviors, including spending on our cards, the ability
and willingness of Card Membersto borrow and pay amounts owed to us, and demand for fee-based products and services. Political conditions, prolonged or recurring government shutdowns,
regional hostilities, social upheaval, fiscal and monetary policies, trade concerns and tariffs could also negatively affect consumer and business spending, including travel patterns and business
investment, and demand for credit.

Factors such as consumer spending and confidence, unemployment rates, business investment, government spending, trade relationships with other countries, interest rates, taxes, energy costs,
the volatility and strength of the capital markets, inflation and deflation all affect the economic environment and, ultimately, our profitability. Such factors may also cause our earnings, billings,
loan balances, credit metrics and margins to fluctuate and diverge from expectations of analysts and investors, who may have differing assumptions regarding their impact on our business,
adversely affecting, and/or increasing the volatility of, the trading price of our common shares.
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Travel and entertainment expenditures, which comprised approximately 25 percent of our U.S. billed business during 2018, for example, are sensitive to business and personal discretionary
spending levels and tend to decline during general economic downturns. Likewise, spending by small businesses and corporate clients, which comprised approximately 41 percent of our
worldwide billed business during 2018, depends in part on the economic environment and a favorable climate for continued business investment and new business formation. Increasesin
delinquencies and write-of f rates as aresult of increases in bankruptcies, unemployment rates, changes in customer behaviors or otherwise could also have amaterial adverse effect on our results
of operations. The consequences of negative circumstances impacting us or the environment generally can be sudden and severe.

The exit of the United Kingdom from the European Union could adversely impact our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Our business in the United Kingdom and el sewhere may be negatively impacted by the uncertainty regarding the exit of the United Kingdom from the European Union (commonly referred to as
Brexit), including from a deterioration of consumer and business activity in the United Kingdom and other countries and general uncertainty in the overall business environment in which we
operate. The exit itself could negatively impact the United Kingdom and other economies, which could adversely affect spending on our cards and the ability and willingness of Card Membersto
pay amounts owed to us. We may also experienceincreased volatility in the value of the pound sterling, the euro and other European currencies, which could further strengthen the U.S. dollar,
adversely impacting the results of operations from our international activities. In addition, Brexit could lead to legal uncertainty and potentially divergent national laws and regulationsin the
United Kingdom and the European Union, and we may incur additional costs or need to make operational changes that reduce revenue as we adapt to potentially divergent regulatory
frameworks. Any of these effects of Brexit, among others, could adversely affect our business and financial results. As of December 31, 2018, the United Kingdom constituted approximately 4
percent of our worldwide billed business and the EMEA region as awhole constituted approximately 11 percent. We have made changes to the structure of our business operationsin Europein
anticipation of Brexit, although the financial, trade and legal implications of Brexit are still uncertain and may be more severe than expected given that the final terms upon which the United
Kingdom will exit the EU are still not known and the lack of comparable precedent.

Our operating results may suffer because of substantial and increasingly intense competition worldwide in the payments industry.

The paymentsindustry is highly competitive, and we compete with charge, credit and debit card networks, issuers and acquirers, paper-based transactions (e.g., cash and checks), bank transfer
models (e.g., wire transfers and ACH), as well as evolving and growing alternative, non-traditional payment and financing providers. If we are not able to differentiate ourselves from our
competitors, devel op compelling value propositions for our customers and/or effectively grow in areas such as mobile and online payments and emerging technol ogies, we may not be able to
compete effectively.

We believe Visaand Mastercard are larger than we are in most countries. As aresult, card issuers and acquirers on the Visa and Mastercard networks may be able to benefit from the dominant
position, scale, resources, marketing and pricing of those networks. Our business may also beincreasingly negatively affected if we are unable to increase merchant acceptance and our cards are
not accepted at merchants that accept cards on the Visaand Mastercard networks.

Some of our competitors have developed, or may develop, substantially greater financial and other resources than we have and may offer richer value propositions or awider range of programs
and services than we offer or may use more effective advertising, marketing or cross-selling strategies to acquire and retain more customers, capture a greater share of spending and borrowings,
establish and develop more attractive cobrand card and other partner programs and maintain greater merchant acceptance than we have. We may not be able to compete effectively against these
threats or respond or adapt to changes in consumer spending habits as effectively as our competitors. We expect expenses such as Card Member rewards and Card Member services expenses to
continue to increase as we improve our value propositions for Card Members, including in response to increased competition.

Spending on our cards could continue to be impacted by increasing consumer usage of charge, credit and debit cardsissued on other networks, as well as adoption of alternative payment
systems. To the extent other payment mechanisms, systems and products continue to successfully expand, our discount revenues and our ability to access transaction data through our
integrated network could be negatively impacted. For example, companies that control access to consumer and merchant payment method choices at the point of sale or through digital wallets,
commerce-related experiences, mobile applications or other technol ogies could choose not to accept, suppress use of, or degrade the experience of using our products or could restrict our access
to our customers and transaction data. Such companies could al'so require payments from us to participate in such digital wallets, experiences or applications, impacting our profitability on
transactions.

The competitive value of our closed-loop data may also be diminished as traditional and non-traditional competitors use other, new data sources and technologies to derive similar insights.

Certain regulations, such as PSD2 in Europe and open banking initiatives in variousjurisdictions around the world, could a so diminish the value of our closed-loop data or the demand for our
products and services by disintermediating existing financial services providers.
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To the extent we expand into new business areas and new geographic regions, we may face competitors with more experience and more established relationships with relevant customers,
regulators and industry participants, which could adversely affect our ability to compete. Laws and business practices that favor local competitors, require card transactions to be routed over
domestic networks or prohibit or limit foreign ownership of certain businesses could limit our growth in international regions. We may face additional compliance and regulatory risksto the extent
that we expand into new business areas, and we may need to dedicate more expense, time and resources to comply with regulatory requirements than our competitors, particularly those that are
not regulated financial institutions.

Many of our competitors are subject to different, and in some cases, |ess stringent, legislative and regulatory regimes, and some may have lower cost structures and more agile business models
and systems. More restrictive laws and regul ations that do not apply to all of our competitors can put us at a disadvantage, including prohibiting us from engaging in certain transactions,
regulating our business practices or adversely affecting our cost structure.

We face intense competition for partner relationships, which could result in aloss or renegotiation of these arrangementsthat could have a material adverseimpact on our business and
results of operations.

In the ordinary course of our business we enter into different types of contractual arrangements with business partnersin avariety of industries. For example, we have partnered with Delta Air
Lines, aswell as many others globally, to offer cobranded cards for consumers and small businesses, and through our Membership Rewards program we have partnered with businesses in many
industries, including the airline industry, to offer benefitsto Card Member participants. Competition for relationships with key business partnersis very intense and there can be no assurance we

will be able to grow or maintain these partner relationships or that they will remain as profitable. Establishing and retaining attractive cobrand card partnershipsis particularly competitive among
card issuers and networks as these partnerships typically appeal to high-spending loyal customers. All of our cobrand portfoliosin the aggregate accounted for approximately 17 percent of our

}NOI’| dwi d;a billed tt))usi ness for the year ended December 31, 2018. Card Member loans related to our cobrand portfolios accounted for approximately 36 percent of our worldwide Card Member
oans as of December 31, 2018.

We have partnered with Delta Air Lines across many aspects of our business. We issue cards under cobrand arrangements with Delta and the Delta cobrand portfolio, our largest cobrand
portfolio, accounted for approximately 8 percent of our worldwide billed business for the year ended December 31, 2018 and approximately 21 percent of worldwide Card Member loans as of
December 31, 2018. The Delta cobrand portfolio generates fee revenue and interest income from Card Members and discount revenue from Delta and other merchants for spending on Delta
cobrand cards. Our relationships with, and revenues related to, Delta are significant and extend beyond cobrand accounts. Deltais akey participant in our Membership Rewards program,
provides travel-related benefits and services, including airport lounge access for certain American Express Card Members, accepts American Express cards as a merchant and is a corporate
payments customer.

Cobrand arrangements are entered into for afixed period, generally ranging from five to eight years, and will terminate in accordance with their terms, including at the end of the fixed period
unless extended or renewed at the option of the parties, or upon early termination as aresult of an event of default or otherwise. We work with our cobrand partners on an ongoing basis to
demonstrate the value we deliver and evolve our relationships for the benefit of both parties. We face the risk that we could lose partner relationships, even after we have invested significant
resourcesin the relationships. We may also choose to not renew certain cobrand rel ationships. The volume of billed business could decline and Card Member attrition could increase, in each
case, significantly as aresult of the termination of one or more cobrand partnership relationships. In addition, some of our cobrand arrangements provide that, upon expiration or termination, the
cobrand partner may purchase or designate a third party to purchase the loans generated with respect to its program, which could result in the loss of the card accounts and a significant decline
in our Card Member loans outstanding.

We regularly seek to extend or renew cobrand arrangementsin advance of the end of the contract term and face the risk that existing relationships will be renegotiated with less favorable terms
for us or that we may be unable to renegotiate on terms that are acceptable to us, as competition for such rel ationships continues to increase. We make payments to our cobrand partners, which
can be significant, based primarily on the amount of Card Member spending and corresponding rewards earned on such spending and, under certain arrangements, on the number of accounts
acquired and retained. The amount we pay to our cobrand partners has increased, particularly in the United States, and may continue to increase as arrangements are renegotiated due to
increasingly intense competition for cobrand partners among card issuers and networks. See " Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations' under "MD& A" for additional
information regarding commitments for payments to certain cobrand partners.

Theloss of exclusivity arrangements with business partners, the loss of the partner relationship altogether (whether by non-renewal at the end of the contract period, such as the end of our

relationship with Costco in the United Statesin 2016, or as the result of amerger, legal or regulatory action or otherwise, such as the withdrawal of American Airlinesin 2014 from our Airport Club

Access program for Centurion® and Platinum Card® Members) or the renegotiation of existing partnerships with terms that are significantly worse for us could have amaterial adverseimpact on

our business and results of operations. See "Our businessis subject to comprehensive gover nment regulation and supervision, which could adversely affect our results of operations and

financial condition" for information on the uncertainty regarding our cobrand and agent relationshipsin the EU. In addition, any publicity associated with the loss of any of our key business

gart_ners could harm our reputation, making it more difficult to attract and retain Card Members and merchants, and could weaken our negotiating position with our remaining and prospective
usiness partners.
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We face continued intense competitive pressure that may impact the prices we charge merchants that accept our cards for payment for goods and services.

Unlike our competitorsin the payments industry that rely on revolving credit balances to drive profits, our business model is more focused on Card Member spending. Discount revenue, which
represents fees generally charged to merchants when Card Members use their cards to purchase goods and services on our network, is primarily driven by billed business volumes and is our
largest single revenue source. In recent years, we experienced some reduction in our average merchant discount rate, including as aresult of rate pressure resulting from regulatory changes
affecting competitor pricing in certain international countries. We also face pressure from competitors that have other sources of income or lower costs that can make their pricing more attractive
to business partners and merchants. Merchants are al so able to negotiate incentives and pricing concessions from us as a condition to accepting our cards or being cobrand partners. As
merchants consolidate and become even larger, we may have to increase the amount of incentives and/or concessions we provide to such merchants, which could materially and adversely affect
our results of operations. Competitive and regulatory pressures on pricing could make it difficult to offset the costs of these incentives. We have also experienced erosion of our average
merchant discount rate as we increase merchant acceptance. We may not be successful in significantly expanding merchant acceptance or offsetting rate erosion with volumes at new merchants.

In addition, the regulatory environment and differentiated payment models and technol ogies from non-traditional playersin the alternative payments space could pose challenges to our
traditional payment model and adversely impact our average merchant discount rate. Some merchants continue to invest in their own payment solutions, such as proprietary-branded mobile
wallets, using both traditional and new technology platforms. If merchants are able to drive broad consumer adoption and usage, it could adversely impact our average merchant discount rate
and billed business volumes.

A continuing priority of oursisto drive greater and differentiated value to our merchants which, if not successful, could negatively impact our discount revenue and financial results. We may not
succeed in maintaining merchant discount rates or offsetting the impact of declining merchant discount rates, which could materially and adversely affect our revenues and profitability, and
therefore our ability to invest in innovation and in value-added services for merchants and Card Members.

Surcharging or steering by merchants could materially adversely affect our business and results of operations.

In certain countries, such as Australiaand certain Member Statesin the EU, merchants are expressly permitted by law to surcharge certain card purchases. In jurisdictions allowing surcharging,
we have seen merchant surcharging on American Express cards in certain merchant categories, and in some cases, either the surchargeis greater than that applied to Visaand Mastercard cards or
Visaand Mastercard cards are not surcharged at all (practices that are known as differential surcharging), even though there are many cards issued on competing networks that have an equal or
greater cost of acceptance for the merchant. In addition, the laws of anumber of statesin the United States that prohibit surcharging have been overturned in litigation brought by merchant
groups.

We also encounter merchants that accept our cards, but tell their customers that they prefer to accept another type of payment or otherwise seek to suppress use of our cards. Our Card Members
value the ability to use their cards where and when they want to, and we, therefore, take steps to meet our Card Members' expectations and to protect the American Express brand by prohibiting
thisform of discrimination, subject to local legal requirements.

If surcharging, steering or other forms of discrimination become widespread, American Express cards and credit and charge cards generally could become less desirable to consumers, which
could result in adecrease in cards-in-force and transaction volumes. The impact could vary depending on such factors as the industry or manner in which asurchargeislevied, how Card
Members are steered to other card products or payment forms at the point of sale, the size and recurrence of the underlying charges, and whether and to what extent these actions are applied to
other forms of payment, including whether it varies depending on the type of card, product, network, acquirer or issuer. Discrimination against American Express cards could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations, particularly to the extent it disproportionately impacts our Card Members or our business.

We may not be successful in our efforts to promote card usage through marketing and promotion, merchant acceptance and Card Member rewards and services, or to effectively control the
costs of such investments, both of which may impact our profitability.

Revenue growth is dependent on increasing consumer and business spending on our cards, growing loan balances and increasing fee revenue. We have been investing in a number of growth
initiatives, including to attract new Card Members, reduce Card Member attrition and capture a greater share of customers’ total spending and borrowings. There can be no assurance that our
investments to acquire Card Members, provide differentiated features and services and increase usage of our cards will continue to be effective. In addition, if we develop new products or offers
that attract customerslooking for short-term incentives rather than incentivize long-term loyalty, Card Member attrition and costs could increase. Increasing spending on our cards also depends
on our continued expansion of merchant acceptance of our cards. If the rate of merchant acceptance growth slows or reversesitself, our business could suffer. Further, expanding our service
offerings, adding customer acquisition channels and forming new partnerships or renewing current partnerships could have higher costs than our current arrangements, and could adversely
impact our average discount rate or dilute our brand.
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Another way weinvest in customer valueis through our Membership Rewards program, as well as other Card Member benefits. Any significant changein, or failure by management to
reasonably estimate, actual redemptions of Membership Rewards points and associated redemption costs could adversely affect our profitability. We rely on third parties, such as Amazon and
Delta, for certain redemption options and may not be able to continue to offer such redemption optionsin the future, which could diminish the value of the program for our Card Members. In
addition, many credit card issuers have instituted rewards and cobrand programs and may introduce programs and services that are similar to or more attractive than ours. Our inability to
continue to differentiate our products and services generally could materially adversely affect us.

We may not be able to cost-effectively manage and expand Card Member benefits, including containing the growth of marketing, promotion, rewards and Card Member services expensesin the
future. If such expenses continue to increase beyond our expectations, we will need to find ways to offset the financial impact by increasing payments volume, increasing other areas of revenues
such as fee-based revenues, or both. We may not succeed in doing so, particularly in the current competitive and regulatory environment.

Our brand and reputation are key assets of our Company, and our business may be affected by how we are perceived in the marketplace.

Our brand and its attributes are key assets, and we believe our continued success depends on our ability to preserve, grow and leverage the value of our brand. Our ability to attract and retain
consumer and small business Card Members and corporate clients is highly dependent upon the external perceptions of our level of service, trustworthiness, business practices, data use and
protection, management, workplace culture, merchant acceptance, financial condition, our response to unexpected events and other subjective qualities. Negative perceptions or publicity
regarding these matters — even if related to seemingly isolated incidents and whether or not factually correct—could erode trust and confidence and damage our reputation among existing and
potential Card Members and corporate clients, which could make it difficult for usto attract new Card Members and customers and maintain existing ones. Negative public opinion could result
from actual or alleged conduct in any number of activities or circumstances, including card practices, regulatory compliance, the use and protection of customer information and conduct by our
employees, and from actions taken by regulators or othersin response thereto. Social media channels can also cause rapid, widespread reputational harm to our brand.

Our brand and reputation may also be harmed by actions taken by third parties that are outside our control. For example, any shortcoming of or controversy related to athird-party vendor,
business partner, merchant acquirer or network partner may be attributed by Card Members and merchants to us, thus damaging our reputation and brand value. The lack of acceptance,
suppression of card usage or surcharging by merchants can also negatively impact perceptions of our brand and our products, lower overall transaction volume and increase the attractiveness of
other payment products or systems. Adverse developments with respect to our industry may also, by association, negatively impact our reputation, or result in greater regulatory or legislative
scrutiny or litigation against us. Furthermore, as a corporation with headquarters and operations located in the United States, a negative perception of the United States arising from its political or
other positions could harm the perception of our company and our brand. Although we monitor developments for areas of potential risk to our reputation and brand, negative perceptions or
publicity could materially and adversely affect our revenues and profitability.

A major information or cyber security incident or an increasein fraudulent activity could lead to reputational damage to our brand and significant legal, regulatory and financial
exposure, and could reduce the use and acceptance of our charge and credit cards.

We and third parties process, transmit, store and provide access to account information in connection with our charge and credit cards and other products, and in the normal course of our
business, we collect, analyze and retain significant volumes of certain types of personally identifiable and other information pertaining to our customers and employees.

Our networks and systems are subject to constant attempts to identify and exploit potential vulnerabilitiesin our operating environment with intent to disrupt our business operations and
capture, destroy, manipulate or expose various types of information relating to corporate trade secrets, customer information, including Card Member, travel and loyalty program data, employee
information and other sensitive business information, including acquisition activity, financial results and intellectual property. There are anumber of motivations for cyber threat actors, including
criminal activities such as fraud, identity theft and ransom, corporate or nation-state espionage, political agendas, public embarrassment with theintent to cause financial or reputational harm,
intent to disrupt information technology systems, and to expose and exploit potential security and privacy vulnerabilities in corporate systems and websites.

Global financial institutions like us have experienced a significant increase in information and cyber security risk in recent years and will likely continue to be the target of increasingly
sophisticated cyberattacks, including computer viruses, malicious or destructive code, ransomware, social engineering attacks (including phishing, impersonation and identity takeover attempts),
hacking, website defacement, denial-of-service attacks and other attacks and similar disruptions from the misconfiguration or unauthorized use of or access to computer systems. For example, we
and other U.S. financial services providers have been the targets of distributed denial-of-service attacks from sophisticated third parties.
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We develop and maintain systems and processes aimed at detecting and preventing information and cyber security incidents and fraudulent activity, which require significant investment,

mai ntenance and ongoing monitoring and updating as technol ogies and regulatory requirements change and as efforts to overcome security measures become more sophisticated. Despite our
efforts, the possibility of information and cyber security incidents, malicious social engineering, fraudulent or other malicious activities and human error or malfeasance cannot be eliminated
entirely and will evolve as new technology is deployed. Risks associated with each of these include theft of funds and other monetary |oss, the disruption of our operations and the unauthorized
disclosure, release, gathering, monitoring, misuse, modification, loss or destruction of confidential, proprietary or other information (including account data information), the effects of which
could be compounded if not detected quickly.

Information or cyber security incidents, fraudulent activity and other actual or perceived failures to maintain confidentiality, integrity, privacy and/or security may lead to regulatory
investigations and intervention (such as mandatory card reissuance), increased litigation (including class action litigation), remediation, fines and response costs, negative assessments of us and
our subsidiaries by banking regulators and rating agencies, reputational and financial damage to our brand, and reduced usage and acceptance of our cards, all of which could have amaterial
adverse impact on our business. The disclosure of sensitive company information could also undermine our competitive advantage and divert management attention and resources.

Successful cyberattacks, data breaches, disruptions or other incidents related to the actual or perceived failures to maintain confidentiality, integrity, privacy and/or security at other large
financial institutions, large retailers, travel and hospitality companies or other market participants, whether or not we are impacted, could lead to ageneral loss of customer confidence that could
negatively affect us, including harming the market perception of the effectiveness of our security measures or harming the reputation of the financial system in general, which could result in
reduced use of our products and services. Such events could also result in legislation and additional regulatory requirements. Although we have insurance for losses related to cyber risks and
attacks and information and cyber security and privacy liability, it may not be sufficient to offset theimpact of a material loss event.

The uninterrupted operation of our information systemsis critical to our success and a significant disruption could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Our information technology systems, including our transaction authorization, clearing and settlement systems, and data centers, may experience service disruptions or degradation because of
technology malfunction, sudden increasesin customer transaction volume, natural disasters, accidents, power outages, internet outages, telecommunications failures, fraud, denial-of-service and
other cyberattacks, terrorism, computer viruses, vulnerabilitiesin hardware or software, physical or electronic break-ins, or similar events. Service disruptions could prevent access to our online
services and account information, compromise or limit access to company or customer data, and impede transaction processing and financial reporting. Any interruption or degradation could
adversely affect the perception of the reliability of our products and services and materially adversely affect our overall business, reputation and results of operations.

Werely on third-party providersfor acquiring customers, technology, platforms and other servicesintegral to the operations of our businesses. These third parties may act in ways that
could harm our business.

Werely on third-party service providers, merchants, customer acquisition channels, processors, aggregators, network partners and other third parties for services that are integral to our
operations and are subject to the risk that activities of such third parties may adversely affect our business. As outsourcing, specialization of functions, third-party digital services and
technology innovation within the payments industry increase (including with respect to mobile technologies, tokenization, big data and cloud storage sol utions), more third parties are involved
in processing card transactions and handling our data. For example, werely on third parties for the timely transmission of accurate information across our global network, card acquisition and
provision of servicesto our customers. If aservice provider or other third party ceases to provide the data quality or communications capacity we expect or services upon which werely, asa
result of natural disaster, operational disruptions or errors, terrorism, information or cyber security incidents, or any other reason, the failure could interrupt or compromise the quality of our
services to customers or impact our ability to grow our business.

The confidentiality, integrity, privacy and/or security of data communicated over third-party networks or platforms or held by, or accessible to, third parties, including merchants that accept our
cards, payment processors, payment intermediaries and our third-party vendors and business partners, could become compromised, which could lead to unauthorized use of our data or
fraudulent transactions on our cards, as well as costs associated with responding to such an incident. For example, in March 2018, we were alerted by Expediathat certain customers who used
Expedia s Orbitz platform may have been victims of acyberattack. The attack involved an Orbitz platform that served as the underlying booking engine for online travel websites, including
Amextravel.com and travel booked through Amex Travel Representatives.

We are also exposed to the risk that a disruption or other event at athird party affecting one of our service providers or partners could impede their ability to provide to us services or dataon
which werely to operate our business. Service providers or other third parties could also cease providing datato usif we are unable to negotiate for data use rights or use our data for purposes
that do not benefit us, which could diminish the competitive value of our closed loop.

The management of multiple vendors increases our operational complexity and decreases our control. A failure to exercise adeguate oversight over service providers, including compliance with

service level agreements or regulatory or legal requirements, could result in regulatory actions, fines, sanctions or economic and reputational harm to us. In addition, we may not be able to
effectively monitor or mitigate operational risks relating to our vendors' service providers.
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We have agreements with business partnersin a variety of industries, including the airline industry, that represent a significant portion of our business. We are exposed to risks associated
with theseindustries, including bankruptcies, liquidations, restructurings, consolidations and alliances of our partners, and the possible obligation to make paymentsto our partners.

We may be obligated to make or accel erate payments to certain business partners such as cobrand partners upon the occurrence of certain triggering events such as a shortfall in certain
performance and revenue levels. If we are not able to effectively manage these triggering events, we could unexpectedly have to make payments to these partners, which could have a negative
effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

Similarly, we are exposed to risk from bankruptcies, liquidations, insolvencies, financial distress, restructurings, consolidations and other similar events that may occur in any industry
representing a significant portion of our billed business, which could negatively impact particular card products and services (and billed business generally) and our financial condition and
results of operations. For example, we could be materially impacted if we were obligated to or elected to reimburse Card Members for products and services purchased from merchants that have
ceased operations or stopped accepting our cards.

We are exposed to credit risk in the airline industry to the extent we protect Card Members against non-delivery of goods and services, such as where we have remitted payment to an airline for a
Card Member purchase of tickets that have not yet been used or “flown.” If we are unable to collect the amount from the airline, we may bear the loss for the amount credited to the Card Member.
Spending at airline merchants accounted for approximately 8 percent of our worldwide billed business for the year ended December 31, 2018.

For additional information relating to the general risksrelated to the airline industry, see “ Risk Management—Institutional Credit Risk—Exposure to the Airline and Travel Industry” under
“MD&A.”

If wearenot able to invest successfully in, and compete at the leading edge of, technological developments acrossall our businesses, our revenue and profitability could be negatively
affected.

Our industry is subject to rapid and significant technological changes. In order to compete in our industry, we need to continue to invest in technology across all areas of our business, including
in transaction processing, data management and analytics, machine learning and artificial intelligence, customer interactions and communications, alternative payment mechanisms, authentication
technol ogies and risk management and compliance systems. Incorporating new technologies into our products and services may require substantial expenditures and take considerable time, and
ultimately may not be successful. We expect that new technologies in the payments industry will continue to emerge, and these new technol ogies may be superior to, or render obsolete, our
existing technology.

The process of developing new products and services, enhancing existing products and services and adapting to technological changes and evolving industry standardsis complex, costly and
uncertain, and any failure by usto anticipate customers' changing needs and emerging technological trends accurately could significantly impede our ability to compete effectively. Consumer
and merchant adoption is akey competitive factor and our competitors may devel op products, platforms or technologies that become more widely adopted than ours. In addition, we may
underestimate the time and expense we must invest in new products and services before they generate material revenues, if at all.

Our ability to develop, acquire or access competitive technologies or business processes on acceptable terms may also be limited by intellectual property rights that third parties, including
competitors and potential competitors, may assert. In addition, our ability to adopt new technologies may be inhibited by the emergence of industry-wide standards, a changing legislative and
regulatory environment, the need for internal product and engineering expertise, resistance to change from Card Members or merchants, or the complexity of our systems.

We may not be successful in realizing the benefits associated with our acquisitions, strategic alliances, joint ventures and investment activity, and our business and reputation could be
negatively impacted.

We have acquired a number of businesses and have made a number of strategic investments, and continue to evaluate potential transactions. These transactions could be material to our financial
condition and results of operations. There is no assurance that we will be able to successfully identify and secure future acquisition candidates on terms and conditions that are acceptable to us,
or successfully complete proposed acquisitions and investments, which could impair our growth. The process of integrating an acquired company, business or technology could create
unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures, result in unanticipated liabilities and harm our business generally. It may take us longer than expected to fully realize the anticipated benefits of
these transactions, and those benefits may ultimately be smaller than anticipated or may not be realized at all, which could adversely affect our business and operating results, including as a
result of write-downs of goodwill and other intangible assets.
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We may also face risks with other types of strategic transactions, such as the sale to InComm of the operations relating to our prepaid reloadable and gift card businessin the United States. The
rel oadabl e operations have experienced disruptionsin the past, impacting the ability of our prepaid customersto load and use their cards. If such operations are interrupted, suspended or
terminated in the future, it could further negatively impact our customers’ experience, result in additional costs, litigation and regulatory action, and harm our business and reputation.

Joint ventures, including our GBT JV, and minority investments inherently involve alesser degree of control over business operations, thereby potentially increasing the financial, legal,
operational and/or compliance risks associated with the joint venture or minority investment. In addition, we may be dependent on joint venture partners, controlling shareholders or management
who may have business interests, strategies or goals that are inconsistent with ours. Business decisions or other actions or omissions of the joint venture partner, controlling shareholders or
management may adversely affect the value of our investment, result in litigation or regulatory action against us and otherwise damage our reputation and brand.

Our businessis subject to the effects of geopolitical events, weather, natural disastersand other conditions.

Geopolitical events, terrorist attacks, natural disasters, severe weather conditions, floods, health pandemics, information or cyber security incidents (including intrusion into or degradation of
systems or technology by cyberattackers) and other catastrophic events can have a negative effect on our business. Because of our proximity to the World Trade Center, our headquarters were
damaged as aresult of the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001. Recent hurricanes and other natural disasters have impacted spending and credit performance in the areas affected. Similar
events or other disasters or catastrophic eventsin the future, and eventsimpacting other sectors of the economy, including the telecommunications and energy sectors, could have a negative
effect on our businesses and infrastructure, including our technology and systems. Card Membersin California, New Y ork, Florida, Texas and Georgia account for asignificant portion of U.S.
Consumer billed business and Card Members loans, and our results of operations could be impacted by events or conditions that disproportionately or specifically affect one or more of those
states.

Because we derive a portion of our revenues from travel-related spending, our businessis sensitive to safety concernsrelated to travel and tourism, limitations on travel and mobility, and health-
related risks. In addition, disruptionsin air travel and other forms of travel can result in the payment of claims under travel interruption insurance policies we offer and, if such disruptionsto travel
are prolonged, they can materially adversely affect overall travel-related spending.

If the conditions described above (or similar ones) result in widespread or lengthy disruptionsto travel, they could have amaterial adverse effect on our results of operations. Card Member
spending may also be negatively impacted in areas affected by natural disasters or other catastrophic events. Theimpact of such events on the overall economy may also adversely affect our
financial condition or results of operations.

Our success is dependent, in part, upon our executive officersand other key personnel, and misconduct by or loss of key personnel could materially adversely affect our business.

Our success depends, in part, on our executive officers and other key personnel. Our senior management team has significant industry experience and would be difficult to replace. Werely upon
our key personnel not only for business success, but also to lead with integrity. To the extent our leaders behave in amanner that does not comport with our company’s values, the
consequences to our brand and reputation could be severe and could negatively affect our financial condition and results of operations.

The market for qualified individualsis highly competitive, and we may not be able to attract and retain qualified personnel or candidates to replace or succeed members of our senior management
team or other key personnel. Changes in immigration and work permit laws and regul ations or the administration or enforcement of such laws or regulations can also impair our ability to attract
and retain qualified personnel, or to employ such personnel in the location(s) of our choice. As further described in “ Supervision and Regul ation—Compensation Practices,” our compensation
practices are subject to review and oversight by the Federal Reserve and the compensation practices of AENB is subject to review and oversight by the OCC. Thisregulatory review and
oversight could further affect our ability to attract and retain our executive officers and other key personnel. The loss of key personnel could materially adversely affect our business.

L egal, Regulatory and Compliance Risks

Ongoing legal proceedings regarding provisionsin our merchant contracts could have a material adverse effect on our businessand result in additional litigation and/or arbitrations,
substantial monetary damages and damage to our reputation and brand.

We are adefendant in anumber of actions, including proposed class actions, filed by merchants that challenge the non-discrimination and honor-all-cards provisionsin our card acceptance
agreements and seek damages. A description of these legal proceedingsis contained in “Legal Proceedings.”

22




Table of Contents

It is possible that the resolution of one or any combination of these merchant claims could have amaterial adverse effect on our business and results of operations, require us to change our
merchant agreementsin away that could expose our cards to increased merchant steering and other forms of discrimination that could impair the Card Member experience, result in additional
litigation and/or arbitrations, impose substantial monetary damages and damage our reputation and brand. Even if we were not required to change our merchant agreements, changesin Visa's
and Mastercard’s policies or practices as aresult of legal proceedings, lawsuit settlements or regulatory actions pending against them could result in changes to our business practices and
materially and adversely impact our profitability.

Our businessis subject to comprehensive government regulation and supervision, which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to comprehensive government regulation and supervision in jurisdictions around the world, which significantly affects our business, and has the potential to restrict the scope of
our existing businesses, increase our costs of doing business, limit our ability to pursue certain business opportunities, require changes to business practices, and affect our relationships with
partners, merchants and Card Members. Regulatory oversight and supervision of our businesses are generally designed to protect consumers and enhance financial stability and are not
designed to protect our security holders.

New laws or regulations, enhanced supervision efforts or changes in the enforcement of existing laws or regulations applicable to our businesses could impact the profitability of our business
activities, limit our ability to pursue business opportunities or adopt new technologies, require us to change certain of our business practices or alter our relationships with partners, merchants
and Card Members, or affect retention of our key personnel. Such changes also may require us to invest significant management attention and resources to make any necessary changes and
could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition. Legislators and regulators around the world are aware of each other’s approaches to the regulation of the payments
industry. Consequently, a development in one country, state or region may influence regulatory approachesin another. To the extent that different regulatory systems impose overlapping or
inconsi stent requirements on the conduct of our business, we face complexity and additional costs in our compliance efforts.

If wefail to satisfy regulatory requirements or maintain our financial holding company status, our financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected, and we may be
restricted in our ability to take certain capital actions (such as declaring dividends or repurchasing outstanding shares) or engage in certain activities or acquisitions. Additionally, our banking
regulators have wide discretion in the examination and the enforcement of applicable banking statutes and regul ations and may restrict our ability to engage in certain activities or acquisitions or
require us to maintain more capital .

In recent years, |legislators and regul ators have focused on the operation of card networks, including interchange fees paid to card issuers in payment networks such as Visaand Mastercard and
the fees merchants are charged to accept cards. Even where we are not directly regulated, regulation of bankcard fees can significantly negatively impact the discount revenue derived from our
business, including as aresult of downward pressure on our discount rate from decreases in competitor pricing in connection with caps on interchange fees. In some cases, regulations

also extend to certain aspects of our business, such as network and cobrand arrangements or terms of card acceptance for merchants, including terms rel ating to non-discrimination and honor-all-
cards. For example, we have largely exited our network businessesin the EU and Australiaas aresult of regulation in those jurisdictions. In addition, there is uncertainty as to when or how
interchange fee caps and other provisions of the EU payments | egislation might apply when we work with cobrand partners and agentsin the EU. In aruling issued on February 7, 2018, the EU
Court of Justice confirmed the validity of the application of the fee caps and other provisionsin circumstances where three-party networks issue cards with a cobrand partner or through an agent,
although the ruling provided only limited guidance as to when or how the provisions might apply in such circumstances. As aresult, there can be no assurance we will be able to maintain our
cobrand and agent relationshipsin their current form in the EU.

We are subject to certain provisions of the Bank Secrecy Act, as amended by the Patriot Act, with regard to maintaining effective AML programs. Similar AML requirements apply under the laws
of most jurisdictions where we operate. | ncreased regulatory focusin this area could result in additional obligations or restrictions with respect to the types of products and services we may offer
to consumers, the countriesin which our cards may be used, and the types of customers and merchants who can obtain or accept our cards. Emerging technologies, such asdigital currencies,
could limit our ability to track the movement of funds. Money laundering, terrorist financing and other illicit activitiesinvolving our cards could result in enforcement action, and our reputation
may suffer due to our customers' association with certain countries, persons or entities or the existence of any such transactions.

Various regul atory agencies and legislatures are al so considering regulations and | egislation covering identity theft, account management guidelines, credit bureau reporting, disclosure rules,
security and marketing that would impact us directly, in part due to increased scrutiny of our underwriting and account management standards. These new requirements may restrict our ability to
issue charge and credit cards or partner with other financial institutions, which could adversely affect our revenue growth.

See “Supervision and Regulation” for more information about certain laws and regulations to which we are subject and their impact on us.
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Litigation and regulatory actions could subject usto significant fines, penalties, judgments and/or requirementsresulting in significantly increased expenses, damage to our reputation
and/or a material adverse effect on our business.

Businessesin the financial services and payments industries have historically been subject to significant legal actions, including class action lawsuits. Many of these actions have included
claimsfor substantial compensatory or punitive damages. While we have historically relied on our arbitration clause in agreements with customersto limit our exposure to class action litigation,
there can be no assurance that we will continue to be successful in enforcing our arbitration clause in the future and claims of the type we previously arbitrated could be subject to the
complexities, risks and costs associated with class action cases. The continued focus of merchants on issues relating to the acceptance of various forms of payment may lead to additional
litigation and other legal actions. Given theinherent uncertaintiesinvolved in litigation, and the very large or indeterminate damages sought in some matters asserted against us, thereis
significant uncertainty asto the ultimate liability we may incur from litigation matters.

We have been subject to regulatory actions and may continue to be subject to such actions, including governmental inquiries, investigations and enforcement proceedings, in the event of
noncompliance or alleged noncompliance with laws or regulations. For example, we have been cooperating with certain governmental authorities that have requested information from, or served
subpoenas on, us seeking information relating to a small, specialized part of our business, known as foreign exchange international payments (FXIP), which offers cross-border payments services
primarily to small and middle market business customersin five countries, including the United States. In particular, we received investigative subpoenas from both the civil and criminal divisions
of the U.S. Department of Justice aswell asinquiries from the Federal Reserve, the OCC, the CFPB, the FDIC and others. FXIP accounts for less than one half of one percent of our total revenue
net of interest expense and is unrelated to our card businesses. Relatedly, we are conducting areview with an outside law firm of FXIP's pricing practices. We do not believe this matter will have
amaterial adverseimpact on our operations or results.

We expect that regulators will continue taking formal enforcement actions against financial institutions in addition to addressing supervisory concerns through non-public supervisory actions or
findings, which could involve restrictions on our activities, among other limitations that could adversely affect our business. In addition, aviolation of law or regulation by another financial
institution islikely to give rise to an investigation by regulators and other governmental agencies of the same or similar practices by us. Further, a single event may give rise to numerous and
overlapping investigations and proceedings. Regulatory action could subject usto significant fines, penalties or other requirements resulting in Card Member reimbursements, increased
expenses, limitations or conditions on our business activities, and damage to our reputation and our brand, which could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to capital adequacy and liquidity rules, and if we fail to meet these rules, our business would be adver sely affected.

Failure to meet current or future capital or liquidity requirements could compromise our competitive position and could result in restrictionsimposed by the Federal Reserve, including limiting our
ability to pay dividends, repurchase our capital stock, invest in our business, expand our business or engage in acquisitions.

Some elements of the capital and liquidity regimes are not yet final and certain devel opments could significantly impact the requirements applicable to financia institutions. For example, the Basel
Committee finalized revisions to the standardized approach for credit risk and operational risk capital requirements. If these revisions are adopted in the United States, we could be required to
hold significantly more capital. Asaresult, the ultimate impact on our long-term capital and liquidity planning and our results of operationsis not certain, although an increase in our capital and
liquid asset levels could lower our return on equity. As part of our required stress testing, we must continue to comply with applicable capital standards as cal culated under the standardized
approach in the severely adverse economic scenario published by the Federal Reserve each year. To satisfy these requirements, it may be necessary for usto hold additional capital in excess of
that required by the Capital Rules.

Compliance with capital adequacy and liquidity rules requires amaterial investment of resources. An inability to meet regulatory expectations regarding our compliance with applicable capital
adequacy and liquidity rules may also negatively impact the assessment of us and our U.S. bank subsidiary by federal banking regulators.

We continue to progress through the parallel run phase of Basel 111 advanced approaches implementation. To the extent that the advanced approaches requirements apply to us, our capital ratios
calculated under the advanced approaches may be lower than under the standardized approach. In such a case, we may need to hold significantly more regulatory capital in order to maintain a
given capital ratio.

For more information on capital adequacy requirements, see “ Stress Testing and Capital Planning” and “ Capital, Leverage and Liquidity Regulation” under “ Supervision and Regulation.”
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We are subject to restrictions that limit our ability to pay dividends and repurchase our capital stock. Our subsidiaries are also subject to restrictions that limit their ability to pay dividends
to us, which may adversely affect our liquidity.

We are limited in our ability to pay dividends and repurchase capital stock by our regulators, who have broad authority to prohibit any action that would be considered an unsafe or unsound
banking practice. For example, we are subject to arequirement to submit capital plans that include, among other things, projected dividend payments and repurchases of capital stock to the
Federal Reserve for review. As part of the capital planning and stress testing process, our proposed capital actions are assessed against our ability to satisfy applicable capital requirementsin the
event of astressed market environment. If the Federal Reserve objectsto our capital plan or if wefail to satisfy applicable capital requirements, our ability to undertake capital actions may be
restricted.

In addition, the Capital Rulesinclude buffersthat can be satisfied only with CET1 capital. If our risk-based capital ratios were to fall below the applicable buffer levels, we would be subject to
certain restrictions on dividends, stock repurchases and other capital distributions, aswell as discretionary bonus payments to executive officers.

Our ability to declare or pay dividends on, or to purchase, redeem or otherwise acquire, shares of our common stock will be prohibited, subject to certain exceptions, in the event that we do not
declare and pay in full dividendsfor the last preceding dividend period of our Series B and Series C preferred stock.

American Express Company relies on dividends from its subsidiaries for liquidity, and federal and state laws, regulations and supervisory policy limit the amount of dividends that our
subsidiaries may pay to the parent company. For example, our U.S. bank subsidiary, AENB, is subject to various statutory and regulatory limitations on its declaration and payment of dividends.
These limitations may hinder our ability to access funds we may need to make payments on our obligations, make dividend payments on outstanding American Express Company capital stock or
otherwise achieve strategic objectives.

Any reduction of, or elimination of, our common stock dividend or share repurchase program would likely adversely affect the market price of our common stock and market perceptions of
American Express. For more information on bank holding company and depository institution dividend restrictions, see “ Dividends and Other Capital Distributions” under “ Supervision and
Regulation,” aswell as*“Consolidated Capital Resources and Liquidity—Share Repurchases and Dividends” under “MD&A” and Note 23 to our “ Consolidated Financial Statements.”

Regulation in the areas of privacy, data protection, account access and information and cyber security could increase our costs and affect or limit our business opportunities and how we
collect and/or use personal information.

Legislators and regulators in the United States and other countriesin which we operate are increasingly adopting or revising privacy, data protection and information and cyber security laws,
including datalocalization, authentication and account access laws. As such laws are interpreted and applied (in some cases, with significant differences or conflicting requirements across
jurisdictions), compliance and technology costswill continue to increase, particularly in the context of ensuring that adequate data protection, data transfer and account access mechanismsarein
place.

Compliance with current or future privacy, data protection, account access and information and cyber security laws could significantly impact our collection, use, sharing, retention and
safeguarding of consumer and/or employee information and could restrict our ability to fully maximize our closed-loop capability or provide certain products and services, which could materially
and adversely affect our profitability.

Our failure to comply with privacy, data protection, account access and information and cyber security laws could result in potentially significant regulatory and/or governmental investigations
and/or actions, litigation, fines, sanctions, ongoing regulatory monitoring, customer attrition, decreases in the use or acceptance of our cards and damage to our reputation and our brand. In
recent years, there has been increasing regulatory enforcement and litigation activity in the areas of privacy, data protection and information and cyber security in the United Statesand in
various countries in which we operate.

For more information on regulatory and legislative activity in this area, see “ Privacy, Data Protection, Information and Cyber Security” under “ Supervision and Regulation.”

We may not be able to effectively manage the operational, conduct and compliance risks to which we are exposed.

We consider operational risk to be the risk of not achieving business objectives due to inadequate or failed processes or information systems, poor data quality, human error or the external
environment (e.g., natural disasters). Operational risk includes, anong others, the risk that error or misconduct could result in amaterial financial misstatement, afailure to monitor athird party’s
compliance with regulatory or legal requirements, or afailure to adequately monitor and control accessto, or use of, datain our systems we grant to third-parties. As processes or organizations
are changed, or new products and services are introduced, we may not fully appreciate or identify new operational risks that may arise from such changes. Through human error, fraud or
malfeasance, conduct risk can result in harm to customers, broader markets and the company and its employees.

Compliance risk arises from the failure to adhere to applicable laws, rules, regulations and internal policies and procedures. Operational, conduct and compliance risks can expose us to
reputational and legal risks aswell asfines, civil money penalties or payment of damages and can lead to diminished business opportunities and diminished ability to expand key operations.
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If we are not able to protect our intellectual property, or successfully defend against any infringement or misappropriation assertions brought against us, our revenue and profitability
could be negatively affected.

Werely on avariety of measures to protect our intellectual property and control access to, and distribution of, our proprietary information. These measures may not prevent infringement of our
intellectual property rights or misappropriation of our proprietary information and aresulting loss of competitive advantage. In addition, competitors or other third parties may allege that our
systems, processes or technologies infringe on their intellectual property rights. Given the complex, rapidly changing and competitive technological and business environments in which we
operate, and the potential risks and uncertainties of intellectual property-related litigation, a future assertion of an infringement or misappropriation claim against us could cause usto lose
significant revenues, incur significant defense, license, royalty or technology development expenses, and/or pay significant monetary damages.

Tax legislative initiatives or assessments by governmental authorities could adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to income and other taxes in the United States and in various foreign jurisdictions. The laws and regulations rel ated to tax matters are extremely complex and subject to varying
interpretations. Although management believes our positions are reasonable, we are subject to audit by the Internal Revenue Servicein the United States and by tax authoritiesin all the
jurisdictions in which we conduct business operations. We are being challenged in anumber of countries regarding our application of value-added taxes (VAT) to certain transactions. While we
believe we comply with all applicable VAT and other tax laws, rules and regulations in the relevant jurisdictions, the tax authorities may determine that we owe additional taxes or apply existing
laws and regulations more broadly, which could result in asignificant increase in liabilities for taxes and interest in excess of accrued liabilities.

New tax legislative initiatives may be proposed from time to time, which may impact our effective tax rate and could adversely affect our tax positions or tax liabilities. New guidance or
modifications to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017 (the Tax Act) could have an adverse effect on our results of operations. In addition, unilateral or multi-jurisdictional actions by various tax
authorities, including an increasein tax audit activity, could have an adverse impact on our tax liabilities.

Changesin accounting principles or standards could adversely affect our reported financial resultsin a particular period, even if there are no underlying changesin the economics of the
business.

We are subject to changesin and interpretations of financial accounting matters, which could change certain of the assumptions or estimates we previously used in preparing our financial
statements, even if we do not change the way in which we transact or conduct our business. A change in accounting guidance can have a significant effect on our reported results, may
retroactively affect previously reported results and could cause fluctuationsin our reported results. For more information on recently issued accounting standards, see Note 1 to our
“Consolidated Financial Statements.”

Credit, Liquidity and Market Risks

Our risk management policies and procedures may not be effective.

Our risk management framework seeks to identify and mitigate risk and appropriately balance risk and return. We have established policies and procedures intended to identify, monitor and
manage the types of risk to which we are subject, including credit risk, market risk, asset liability risk, liquidity risk, operational risk, compliance risk, model risk, strategic and business risk and
reputational risk. See “Risk Management” under “MD&A” for a discussion of the policies and procedures we use to identify, monitor and manage the risks we assume in conducting our
businesses. Although we have devoted significant resources to develop our risk management policies and procedures and expect to continue to do so in the future, these policies and
procedures, aswell as our risk management techniques, such as our hedging strategies, may not be fully effective. There may also berisksthat exist, or develop in the future, that we have not
appropriately anticipated, identified or mitigated. As regulations and markets in which we operate continue to evolve, our risk management framework may not always keep sufficient pace with
those changes. If our risk management framework does not effectively identify or mitigate our risks, we could suffer unexpected losses and could be materially adversely affected.
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Management of our risks in some cases depends upon the use of analytical and/or forecasting models. Although we have a governance framework for model development and independent model
validation, the modeling methodology or key assumptions could be erroneous or the models could be misused. In addition, issues with the quality or effectiveness of our data aggregation and
validation procedures, as well asthe quality and integrity of datainputs, could result in ineffective or inaccurate model outputs and reports. For example, models based on historical data sets
might not be accurate predictors of future outcomes and their ability to appropriately predict future outcomes may degrade over time. If our decisions are based on incorrect or misused models
and assumptions or we fail to manage datainputs effectively and to aggregate or analyze datain an accurate and timely manner, we may face adverse consequences, such as financial loss, poor
business and strategic decision-making, or damage to our reputation. In addition, some decisions our regulators make, including those related to our capital distribution plans, may be adversely
impacted if they perceive the quality of our models to be insufficient.

We may not be able to effectively manage individual or institutional credit risk, or credit trends that can affect spending on card products and the ability of customers and partnersto pay
us, which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operationsand financial condition.

We are exposed to both individual credit risk, principally from consumer and small business Card Member receivables and loans, and institutional credit risk from corporate Card Member
receivables and loans, merchants, network partners, loyalty coalition partners and treasury and investment counterparties. Third parties may default on their obligationsto us due to bankruptcy,
lack of liquidity, operational failure or other reasons. General economic factors, such asthe rate of inflation, unemployment levels and interest rates, may result in greater delinquencies that lead to
greater credit losses. Country, regional and political risks can also contribute to credit risk. A customer’s ability and willingness to repay us can be negatively impacted not only by economic,
market, political and social conditions but also a customer’s other payment obligations.

Our ability to assess creditworthiness may beimpaired if the criteria or models we use to manage our credit risk prove inaccurate in predicting future losses, which could cause our lossesto rise
and have a negative impact on our results of operations. Further, our pricing strategies may not offset the negative impact on profitability caused by increasesin delinquencies and losses; thus
any material increases in delinquencies and losses beyond our current estimates could have amaterial adverseimpact on us.

Rising delinquencies and rising rates of bankruptcy are often precursors of future write-offs and may require usto increase our reserve for loan losses. Higher write-off rates and the resulting
increase in our reserves for loan and receivable losses adversely affect our profitability and the performance of our securitizations, and may increase our cost of funds.

Although we make estimates to provide for credit lossesin our outstanding portfolio of loans and receivables, these estimates may not be accurate. In addition, the information we usein
managing our credit risk may be inaccurate or incomplete. Although we regularly review our credit exposure to specific clients and counterparties and to specific industries, countries and regions
that we believe may present credit concerns, default risk may arise from events or circumstances that are difficult to foresee or detect, such as fraud. In addition, our ability to manage credit risk
may be adversely affected by legal or regulatory changes (such as restrictions on collections or changes in bankruptcy laws, minimum payment regulations and re-age guidance). Increased credit
risk, whether resulting from underestimating the credit losses inherent in our portfolio of loans and receivables, deteriorating economic conditions (particularly in the United States where
approximately 74 percent of our revenues were generated in 2018), increases in the level of loan balances, changesin our mix of business or otherwise, could require us to increase our provisions
for losses and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition.

Continued interest rate increases and changes to reference rates could materially adversely affect our earnings.

If the rate of interest we pay on our borrowings increases more than the rate of interest we earn on our loans, our net interest yield, and consequently our net income, could fall. Our interest
expense was approximately $2.9 billion for the year ended December 31, 2018. A hypothetical 100 basis point increase in market interest rates would have resulted in a decrease to our annual net
interest income of approximately $177 million as of December 31, 2018. We expect the rates we pay on our deposits will increase as benchmark interest ratesincrease. In addition, interest rate
changes may affect customer behavior, such as impacting the loan balances Card Members carry on their credit cards or their ability to make payments as higher interest rates lead to higher
payment requirements, further impacting our results of operations.

Asaresult of recent regulatory and other legal proceedings, actions by regulators or law enforcement agencies may result in changes to the manner in which the London interbank offered rate
(LIBOR) is determined, its discontinuance or the establishment of alternative reference rates. At thistime, it is not possible to predict the effect that these devel opments, any discontinuance,
modification or other reformsto LIBOR or any other reference rate, the establishment of alternative reference rates, or the impact of any such events on contractual mechanisms may have on the
markets, us or our floating rate debt securities. Uncertainty as to the nature of such potential discontinuance, modification, alternative reference rates or other reforms may negatively impact
market liquidity, our access to funding required to operate our business and the trading market for our floating rate debt securities. Furthermore, the use of aternative reference rates or other
reforms could cause the interest payable on our outstanding floating rate debt securities to be materially different, and potentially higher, than expected.

For afurther discussion of our interest rate risk, see “Risk Management — Market Risk Management Process” under “MD&A.”
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Adverse financial market conditions may significantly affect our ability to meet liquidity needs, access to capital and cost of capital.

We need liquidity to pay merchants, operating and other expenses, interest on debt and dividends on capital stock and to repay maturing liabilities. The principal sources of our liquidity are
payments from Card Members, proceeds from the issuance of unsecured medium- and long-term notes and asset securitizations and direct and third-party sourced deposits, cash flows from our
investment portfolio, cash and cash equivalents, securitized borrowings through our secured financing facilities, acommitted bank borrowing facility and the Federal Reserve discount window.

Our ability to obtain financing in the debt capital markets for unsecured term debt and asset securitizations is dependent on market conditions. Disruptions, uncertainty or volatility acrossthe
financial markets, as well as adverse devel opments affecting our competitors and the financial industry generally, could negatively impact market liquidity and limit our access to funding required
to operate our business. Such market conditions may also limit our ability to replace, in atimely manner, maturing liabilities, satisfy regulatory capital requirements and access the funding
necessary to grow our business. In some circumstances, we may incur an unattractive cost to raise capital, which could decrease profitability and significantly reduce financial flexibility.

For afurther discussion of our liquidity and funding needs, see “Consolidated Capital Resources and Liquidity — Funding Programs and Activities” under “MD&A."

Any reduction in our and our subsidiaries credit ratings could increase the cost of our funding from, and restrict our accessto, the capital markets and have a material adverse effect on
our results of operations and financial condition.

Rating agencies regularly evaluate us and our subsidiaries, and their ratings of our and our subsidiaries’ long-term and short-term debt and deposits are based on a number of factors, including
financial strength, aswell as factors not within our control, including conditions affecting the financial servicesindustry generally, and the wider state of the economy. Our and our subsidiaries
ratings could be downgraded at any time and without any notice by any of the rating agencies, which could, among other things, adversely limit our access to the capital markets and adversely
affect the cost and other terms upon which we and our subsidiaries are able to obtain funding.

Adverse currency fluctuations and foreign exchange controls could decrease earnings we receive from our international operations and impact our capital.

During 2018, approximately 26 percent of our total revenues net of interest expense were generated from activities outside the United States. We are exposed to foreign exchange risk from our
international operations, and accordingly the revenue we generate outside the United States is subject to unpredictable fluctuations if the values of other currencies change relative to the U.S.
dollar (including as aresult of Brexit), which could have amaterial adverse effect on our results of operations.

Foreign exchange regulations or capital controls might restrict or prohibit the conversion of other currenciesinto U.S. dollars or our ability to transfer them. Political and economic conditionsin
other countries could also impact the availability of foreign exchange for the payment by the local card issuer of obligations arising out of local Card Members' spending outside such country
and for the payment by Card Memberswho are billed in a currency other than their local currency. Substantial and sudden devaluation of local Card Members' currency can also affect their
ability to make paymentsto the local issuer of the card in connection with spending outside the local country. The occurrence of any of these circumstances could further impact our results of
operations.

Continuing concerns regarding the euro may cause the value of the euro to continue to fluctuate and could lead to the reintroduction of individual currenciesin one or more Eurozone countries,
or, in more extreme circumstances, the possibl e dissolution of the euro currency entirely. The reintroduction of certain individual country currencies, a significant devaluation of the euro or the
complete dissolution of the euro could adversely affect the value of our euro-denominated assets and liabilities.

Potential developments regarding the euro could also have an adverse impact on consumer and business behavior in Europe and globally, which could have amaterial adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.

An inability to accept or maintain deposits due to market demand or regulatory constraints could materially adversely affect our liquidity position and our ability to fund our business.

Our U.S. bank subsidiary, AENB, accepts deposits directly from consumers through American Express Personal Savings, aswell as from individual s through third-party brokerage networks, and
uses the proceeds as a source of funding. As of December 31, 2018, we had approximately $69.1 billionin total U.S. retail deposits, of which asignificant amount had been raised through third-
party brokerage networks. We face strong competition with regard to deposits, and pricing and product changes may adversely affect our ability to attract and retain cost-effective deposit
balances. If we are required to offer higher interest rates to attract or maintain deposits, our funding costs will be adversely impacted.
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Our ability to obtain deposit funding and offer competitive interest rates on deposits is also dependent on AENB’s capital levels. The FDIA’s brokered deposit provisions and related FDIC rules
in certain circumstances prohibit banks from accepting or renewing brokered deposits and apply other restrictions, such asacap on interest rates that can be paid. Additionally, our regulators
can adjust applicable capital requirements at any time and have authority to place limitations on our deposit businesses. An inability to attract or maintain deposits in the future could materially
adversely affect our ability to fund our business.

Thevalue of our assets or liabilities may be adversely impacted by economic, political or market conditions.
Market risk includes thelossin value of portfolios and financial instruments due to adverse changes in market variables, which could negatively impact our financial condition. We held
approximately $4.7 billion of investment securities as of December 31, 2018. In the event that actual default rates of these investment securities were to significantly change from historical patterns

due to economic conditions or otherwise, it could have amaterial adverse impact on the value of our investment portfolio, potentially resulting in impairment charges. Defaults or economic
disruptions, even in countries or territoriesin which we do not have material investment exposure, conduct business or have operations, could adversely affect us.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive officesarein a2.2 million square foot building located in lower Manhattan on land leased from the Battery Park City Authority for aterm expiring in 2069. We have an
approximately 49 percent ownership interest in the building and an affiliate of Brookfield Financial Properties owns the remaining approximately 51 percent interest in the building. We also lease
space in the building from Brookfield' s affiliate.

Other owned or leased principal locations include American Express officesin Sunrise, Florida, Phoenix, Arizona, Salt Lake City, Utah, Mexico City, Mexico, Sydney, Australia, Singapore,
Gurgaon, India, Manila, Philippines, and Brighton, England; the American Express data centers in Phoenix, Arizona and Greensboro, North Carolina; the headquarters for American Express
Services Europe Limited in London, England; and the Amex Bank of Canada and Amex Canada Inc. headquartersin Toronto, Ontario, Canada.

Generally, we lease the premises we occupy in other locations. We believe the facilities we own or occupy suit our needs and are well maintained.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In the ordinary course of business, we are subject to various pending and potential legal actions, arbitration proceedings, claims, investigations, examinations, information gathering requests,
subpoenas, inquiries and matters relating to compliance with laws and regulations (collectively, legal proceedings).

We do not believe we are aparty to, nor are any of our properties the subject of, any legal proceeding that would have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition or
liquidity. However, in light of the uncertainties involved in such matters, including the fact that some pending legal proceedings are at preliminary stages and seek an indeterminate amount of
damages, it is possible that the outcome of legal proceedings could have amaterial impact on our results of operations. In addition, it is possible that significantly increased merchant steering or
other actionsimpairing the Card Member experience as aresult of an adverse resolution in one or any combination of the merchant cases described below could have amaterial adverse effect on
our business. Certain legal proceedingsinvolving us or our subsidiaries are described below. For additional information, see Note 13 to our “Consolidated Financial Statements.”

Antitrust Matters

Individual merchant cases and a putative merchant class action, which were consolidated in 2011 and collectively captioned In re: American Express Anti-Steering Rules Antitrust Litigation (11),
are pending in the Eastern District of New Y ork against us alleging that provisionsin our merchant agreements prohibiting merchants from differentially surcharging our cards or steering a
customer to use another network’s card or another type of general-purpose card (“anti-steering” and “non-discrimination” contractual provisions) violate U.S. antitrust laws. The individual
merchant cases seek damages in unspecified amounts and injunctive relief. Following the Supreme Court decision in Ohio v. American Express Co. in favor of American Express, plaintiffsin both
theindividual merchant cases and the putative merchant class action filed amended complaints. Trial has been scheduled in the individual merchant cases for June 2019.

In July 2004, we were named as a defendant in another putative class action filed in the Southern District of New Y ork and subsequently transferred to the Eastern District of New Y ork, captioned
The Marcus Corporation v. American Express Co., et al., in which the plaintiffs allege an unlawful antitrust tying arrangement between certain of our charge cards and credit cardsin violation of
various state and federal laws. The plaintiffsin this action seek injunctive relief and an unspecified amount of damages.

On March 8, 2016, plaintiffs B& R Supermarket, Inc. d/b/aMilam’s Market and Grove Liquors LLC, on behalf of themselves and others, filed a suit, captioned B& R Supermarket, Inc. d/b/a
Milam's Market, et al. v. Visa Inc., et al., for violations of the Sherman Antitrust Act, the Clayton Antitrust Act, California’s Cartwright Act and unjust enrichment in the United States District
Court for the Northern District of California, against American Express Company, other credit and charge card networks, other issuing banks and EMV Co, LLC. Plaintiffs allege that the
defendants, through EMV Co, conspired to shift liability for fraudulent, faulty and otherwise rejected consumer credit card transactions from themselves to merchants after the implementation of
EMV chip payment terminals. Plaintiffs seek damages and injunctive relief. An amended complaint was filed on July 15, 2016. On September 30, 2016, the court denied our motion to dismiss asto

claims brought by merchants who do not accept American Express cards, and on May 4, 2017, the California court transferred the case to the United States District Court for the Eastern District of
New York.

Corporate Matters

On July 30, 2015, plaintiff Plumbers and Steamfitters Local 137 Pension Fund, on behalf of themselves and other purchasers of American Express stock, filed a suit, captioned Plumbers and
Seamfitters Local 137 Pension Fund v. American Express Co., Kenneth |. Chenault and Jeffrey C. Campbell, in the United States District Court for the Southern District of New Y ork for
violation of federal securitieslaw, alleging that the Company deliberately issued false and misleading statements to, and omitted important information from, the public relating to the financial
importance of the Costco cobrand relationship to the Company, including, but not limited to, the decision to accel erate negotiations to renew the cobrand agreement. The plaintiff sought
damages and injunctive relief. On October 2, 2017, the Court granted defendants’ motion to dismiss the plaintiff’s amended complaint. The plaintiff has appealed the court’s decision.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'SCOMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER

@

PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock trades principally on The New Y ork Stock Exchange under the trading symbol AXP. As of December 31, 2018, we had 21,078 common shareholders of record. Y ou can
find price and dividend information concerning our common stock in Note 27 to our “Consolidated Financial Statements.” For information on dividend restrictions, see “Dividends and
Other Capital Distributions” under “ Supervision and Regulation” and Note 23 to our “ Consolidated Financial Statements.” Y ou can find information on securities authorized for issuance
under our equity compensation plans under the caption “ Executive Compensation — Equity Compensation Plans” to be contained in our definitive 2019 proxy statement for our Annual
Meeting of Shareholders, which is scheduled to be held on May 7, 2019. The information to be found under such caption isincorporated herein by reference. Our definitive 2019 proxy
statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholdersis expected to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) in March 2019 (and, in any event, not later than 120 days
after the close of our most recently completed fiscal year).

Stock Performance Graph

The information contained in this Stock Performance Graph section shall not be deemed to be “ soliciting material” or “filed” or incorporated by referencein future filings with the
SEC, or subject to the liabilities of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by reference into a document filed under the Securities Act
or the Exchange Act.

The following graph compares the cumulative total shareholder return on our common shares with the total return on the S& P 500 Index and the S& P Financial Index for thelast five
years. It shows the growth of a $100 investment on December 31, 2013, including the reinvestment of all dividends.

Cumulative Value of $100 Invested on December 31, 2013

200.00 —@— American Express

—@—S&P 500 Index

150.00 7 =i S&P Financial Index

100.00

50.00 T T T T 1
Dec 2013 Dec 2014 Dec 2015 Dec 2016 Dec 2017 Dec 2018

Year-end Data 2013 ___ 2014 2015 ___ 2016 ___ 2017 ___ 2018
American Express $ 10000 $ 10367 $ 7856 $ 8529 $ 11618 $ 11312
S&P 500 Index $ 10000 $ 11368 $ 11524 $ 12902 $ 15717 $ 15027
S& P Financial Index $ 10000 $ 11518 $ 11338 $ 13917 $ 16998 $  147.82
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(b) Not applicable.

(o) Issuer Purchases of Securities

The table below sets forth the information with respect to purchases of our common stock made by or on behalf of us during the quarter ended December 31, 2018.

Total Number of
Shares Purchased

Maﬁimum Number
of Shares that May

as Part of Publicly Y et Be Purchased
Total Number of  AveragePricePaid ~ Announced Plans  Under the Plans or
Shares Purchased Per Share or Programs®® Programs
October 1-31, 2018
Repurchase program@ 4651950 $ 104.50 4,651,950 72,927,442
Employee transactions® 4 % 110.90 N/A N/A
November 1-30, 2018
Repurchase program® — N/A — 72,927,442
Employee transactions® 40693 $ 101.25 N/A N/A
December 1-31, 2018
Repurchase program@ 2,987,808 $ 101.01 2,987,808 69,939,634
Employee transactions® — N/A N/A N/A
Total
Repurchase program@® 7,639,758 $ 103.14 7,639,758 69,939,634
Employee transactions® 40697 $ 101.25 N/A N/A

(&) On September 26, 2016, the Board of Directors | the
Reserve’s non-objection to our capital plans. This authorization replaced the prior repurchase aut!
Resources and Liquidity” for additional information regarding share repurchases.

(b) Includes: (i) shares surrendered by holders of employee stock options who exercised options (granted under our incentive compensation plans) in satisfaction of the exercise price and/or
tax withholding obligation of such holders and (i1) restricted shares withheld (under the terms Of grants under our incentive compensation Iane?} to offset tax withholding obligations that
occur upon vesting and rel ease of restricted shares. Our incentive compensation plans provide that the value of the shares delivered or attested to, or withheld, be b on the price of our
common stock on'the date the relevant transaction occurs.

(c) Share purchases under publicly announced programs are made pursuant to open market purchases or privately negotiated transactions (including employee benefit plans) as market
conditions warrant and at prices we deem appropriate.

horized the repurchase of up to 150 million shar%s of common stock from time to time, subj egt to market conditions and the Federal
orization and does not have an expiration date. See “MD& A — Consolidated Capital
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

2018 2017 @ 2016 @ 2015 2014
Operating Results ($in Millions)
Total revenues net of interest expense $ 40,338 $ 36878 $ 35438 $ 32818 $ 34,188
Provisions for |osses® 3,352 2,760 2,027 1,988 2,044
Expenses© 28,864 26,693 25,369 22,892 23,153
Pretax income 8,122 7,425 8,042 7,938 8,991
Income tax provision 1,201 4,677 2,667 2,775 3,106
Net income $ 6921 $ 2748 % 5375 % 5163 $ 5,885
Return on average equity® 33.5% 13.2% 25.8% 24.0% 29.1%
Return on average assets” 3.8% 1.6% 3.4% 3.3% 3.8%
Balance Sheet ($in Millions)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 27445 $ 3R9%927 $ 25208 $ 22762 $ 22,288
Card Member loans and receivables HFS — — — 14,992 —
Accounts receivable, net 58,227 56,735 50,123 46,695 47,000
Loans, net 83,396 74,300 65,461 58,799 70,104
Investment securities 4,647 3,159 3,157 3,759 4,431
Total assets 188,602 181,196 158,917 161,184 159,103
Customer deposits 69,960 64,452 53,042 54,997 44,171
Travelers Cheques outstanding and other prepaid products 2,295 2,555 2,774 3,247 3,673
Short-term borrowings 3,100 3,278 5,581 4,812 3,480
Long-term debt 58,423 55,804 46,990 48,061 57,955
Shareholders' equity $ 22,290 18,261 20,523 20,673 20,673
Average shareholders' eguity to average total assetsratio 11.3% 12.5% 13.2% 13.5% 13.1%
Common Share Statistics(e)
Earnings per share:
Net income attributable to common sharehol ders:
Basic $ 793 % 300 $ 563 $ 507 $ 5.58
Diluted 7.91 2.99 5.61 5.05 5.56
Cash dividends declared per common share 1.48 134 122 113 101
Dividend payout ratio@ 18.7% 44.7% 21.7% 22.3% 18.1%
Book value per common share 24.45 19.42 20.95 19.71 2021
Average common shares outstanding (millions):
Basic 856 883 933 999 1,045
Diluted 859 886 935 1,003 1,051
Shares outstanding at period end (millions) 847 859 904 969 1,023
Other Statistics
Number of employees at period end (thousands):
United States 21 20 21 21 22
Outside the United States 38 35 35 A 32
Total 59 55 56 55 54
Number of shareholders of record 21,078 22,262 23572 24,704 25,767

(8 Previously disclosed amounts have been restated in conjunction with the adoption of the new revenue recognition standard. Refer to Note 1 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for

additionalinformation.

(b) Beginning December 1, 2015 throt\ﬁh to the sale compl etion dates, did not reflect
holesale Corporation (Costco) in the United

Corporation (JetBlue) and Costco

(c) Beginning December 1, 2015 through to the sale completion dates, included the valuation allowance adjustment associated with the HFS portfolios.
(d) Return on average equity and return on average assets are cal culated by dividing one-year period of net income by one-year average of total shareholders’ equity or total assets,

respectively.

(e) Our common stock trades principally on The New Y ork Stock Exchange under the trading symbol AXP.
(f) Represents net income, less earnings allocated to participating share awards and dividends on preferred shares.
(g) Calculated on year's dividends declared per common share as a percentage of the year’s net income available per common share.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALY SIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS (MD&A)

EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW
BUSINESSINTRODUCTION

We are aglobal services company with three reportable operating segments: Global Consumer Services Group (GCSG), Global Commercial Services (GCS) and Global Merchant and Network
Services (GMNS). Corporate functions and certain other businesses and operations are included in Corporate & Other.

Thefollowing types of revenue are generated from our various products and services:

« Discount revenue, our largest revenue source, primarily represents the amount we earn on transactions occurring at merchants that have entered into a card acceptance agreement with us, or
aGlobal Network Services (GNS) partner or other third-party merchant acquirer, for facilitating transactions between the merchants and Card Members. The amount of fees charged for
accepting our cards as payment for goods or services, or merchant discount, varies with, among other factors, the industry in which the merchant does business, the merchant’s overall
American Express-related transaction volume, the method of payment, the settlement terms with the merchant, the method of submission of transactions and, in certain instances, the
geographic scope for the related card acceptance agreement between the merchant and us (e.g., domestic or global) and the transaction amount. In some instances, an additional flat
transaction fee is assessed as part of the merchant discount, and additional fees may be charged such as a variable fee for “non-swiped” card transactions or for transactions using cards
issued outside the United States at merchants located in the United States;

Interest on loans, principally represents interest income earned on outstanding bal ances;

Net card fees, represent revenue earned from annual card membership fees, which vary based on the type of card and the number of cards for each account;

Other fees and commissions, primarily represent Card Member delinquency fees, foreign currency conversion fees charged to Card Members, Membership Rewards program fees, loyalty
coalition-related fees, travel commissions and fees, and service fees earned from merchants; and

Other revenue, primarily represents revenues arising from contracts with partners of our Global Network Services (GNS) business (including commissions and signing fees lessissuer rate
payments), cross-border Card Member spending, ancillary merchant-related fees, insurance premiums earned from Card Members, prepaid card and Travelers Cheque-related revenue and
earnings from equity method investments (including the American Express Global Business Travel Joint Venture (the GBT JV)).

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For 2018, we reported net income of $6.9 billion and diluted earnings per share of $7.91. This compared to $2.7 billion of net income and $2.99 diluted earnings per share for 2017, and $5.4 billion of
net income and $5.61 diluted earnings per share for 2016.
2018 results included:
+ $496 million of certain discrete tax benefitsin the fourth quarter.
2017 resultsincluded:
* A $2.6 hillion tax charge related to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the Tax Act) in the fourth quarter.

2016 resultsincluded:
+ A $1.1hillion ($677 million after tax) gain on the sale of Card Member loans and receivables related to our cobrand partnership with Costco in the second quarter;
+ $410 million ($266 million after tax) of net restructuring charges; and
* A $127 million ($79 million after tax) gain on the sale of Card Member loans and receivables related to our cobrand partnership with JetBlue in the first quarter.

NON-GAAP MEASURES

We prepare our Consolidated Financial Statementsin accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). However, certain information included
within this report constitutes non-GAAP financial measures. Our calculations of non-GAAP financial measures may differ from the calculations of similarly titled measures by other companies.
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TAX CUTSAND JOBSACT

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted comprehensive tax | egislation commonly referred to as the Tax Act, which made broad and complex changes to the U.S. federal corporate
income tax rules. Most notably, effective January 1, 2018, the Tax Act reduced the U.S. federal statutory corporate income tax rate from 35 percent to 21 percent, introduced aterritorial tax system
in which future dividends paid from earnings outside the United Statesto a U.S. corporation are not subject to U.S. federal taxation and imposed new U.S. federal corporate income taxes on
certain foreign operations. For 2019, we estimate that our tax rate will be approximately 22 percent, before discrete tax items.

BUSINESSENVIRONMENT

Our results for 2018 reflect strong performance and our focus on, and investment in, our four strategic imperatives — expand our |eadership in the premium consumer space, build on our strong
position in commercial payments, strengthen our global, integrated network and make American Express an essential part of our customers’ digital lives. Billings and revenue growth reflected
momentum across our businesses. We continued to invest in new services and Card Member benefits, new card acquisitions and expanding our merchant network. During the year, we returned a
significant amount of capital to our shareholders through our share buyback program and an increase in our dividend, whileincreasing our capital ratios. Our results also included the benefit of a
lower tax provision due to areduction in the U.S. corporate income tax rate resulting from the Tax Act, along with several discrete tax benefits.

Our worldwide billed business increased 9 percent over the prior year, reflecting strong proprietary billings growth both in the U.S. and internationally, and across customer segments. Proprietary
billings growth was driven by increased spending within our premium consumer base, as well as consistent double digit growth throughout the year from our small and medium enterprise
business customers. GNS billed business declined due to the ongoing and expected impact of changesin the regulatory environment in the EU and Australia; excluding the billings from those
geographies, GNS billed business grew 8 percent year-over-year.

Revenues net of interest expense increased 9 percent, reflecting growth in Card Member spending, net interest income and card fees, partially offset by ayear-over-year declinein the average
discount rate. We continue to be focused on driving discount revenue growth, not the average discount rate. Card fee revenue saw double digit year-over-year growth and reflected increased
engagement from both new and existing customers as aresult of the benefits that we have added to our card products around the world.

Card Member loans grew year-over-year, as we continued to expand our lending rel ationships with existing customers and acquired new Card Members, including the acquisition of the portion of
the Hilton cobrand portfolio that we did not previously own (the acquired Hilton portfolio). Provisions for losses increased, reflecting growth in the loan portfolio and a higher lending write-off
rate. Write-off rates continue to modestly increase due to ongoing seasoning of our loan portfolio.

Spending on customer engagement (the aggregate of rewards, Card Member services and marketing and business devel opment expenses) increased year-over-year across all categories.
Increases in rewards and Card Member services reflected the growth in billings and continued higher levels of investment across many of our premium travel services. Marketing and business
devel opment expense increased due to higher spending on growth initiatives, including new card acquisition, our global brand campaign, continued investmentsin our cobrand partnerships and
higher corporate client incentives. While impacted by several discrete items, operating expenses were flat year-over-year and remained well controlled, which allowed for additional investment in
customer engagement.

We plan to continue making investments in our business to generate and sustain a strong level of revenue growth, which we believe isthe foundation for steady and consistent double-digit EPS
growth. While we continue to see some headwinds from an uncertain economic environment, regulation in countries around the world and intense competition, we remain focused on delivering
differentiated value to our merchants, Card Members and business partners and delivering appropriate returns to our shareholders.

See“ Supervision and Regulation” in“Business” for information on legislative and regulatory changes that could have amaterial adverse effect on our results of operations and financial
condition and “ Risk Factors” for information on the potential impacts of economic, political and competitive conditions and certain litigation and regulatory matters on our business.
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CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Effective January 1, 2018, we adopted new revenue recognition guidance using the full retrospective method, which applies the new standard to each prior reporting period presented, starting
January 1, 2016. The adoption changed the recognition timing and classification of certain revenues and expenses, including changes to the presentation of certain credit and charge card related
costs that were previously netted against discount revenue. The adoption did not have a significant impact on our consolidated financial position, net income, equity or cash flows. Refer to Note
1 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information. In addition, we reclassified certain business development expenses, from Other expenses to Marketing and business
development expenses, which was not directly attributable to the adoption of the new revenue recognition guidance.

During 2018, we changed the methodology used to allocate certain corporate overhead costs and interest income and expense to the operating segments, and made minor changes to the
intercompany settlement process. Prior period amounts have been revised to conform to the current period presentation.

TABLE 1: SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Y ears Ended December 31, Change Change

(Millions, except percentages and per share amounts) 2018 2017 2016 2018 vs. 2017 2017 vs. 2016

Total revenues net of interest expense $ 40338 $ 36878 $ 35438 $ 3460 % $ 1,440 4%
Provisions for losses 3,352 2,760 2,027 592 21 733 36
Expenses 28,864 26,693 25,369 2,171 8 1,324 5
Pretax income 8,122 7,425 8,042 697 9 (617) 8)
Income tax provision 1,201 4,677 2,667 (3,476) (74) 2,010 75
Net income 6,921 2,748 5,375 4,173 # (2,627) (49)
Earnings per common share — diluted® $ 791 $ 299 $ 561 $ 492 #% $ (262 (47%
Return on average equity® 33.5% 13.2% 25.8%

Effective tax rate (ETR) 14.8% 63.0% 33.2%

Adjustmentsto ETR© 6.1% (34.7)%

Adjusted ETR® 20.9% 28.3%

# Denotes a variance greater than 100 percent
@ Earn| ngs per common share — diluted was reduced by the impact of (i) earnings allocated to participating share awards and other items of $54 million, $21 million and $43 million for the year: 8/
- elember 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and (ii) dividends on preferred shares of $80 million, $81 million and $80 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 201
respec ively

b) Return on aver, OE. |sc0m uted by divi in i).one-year period net income ($6.9 billion, $2.7 billion and $5.4 hillion for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively) by (ii) one-year average
()total sharehold %1 &$20 b||||on or 2018 and 8I||I0n or b%th 2017 and 20165 P y)by (i) 4 o

(c) The adjusted ETRs for 2018 and 2017 are non-GAAP measures. The 2018 adjusted ETR excludes a benefit of $496 million relating to changes in the tax method of accounting for certain
expenses, the resolution of certain prior years' tax audits, and afinal adjustment to our 2017 provisional tax charge related to the Tax Act. The 2017 adjusted ETR excludes the $2.6 billion
charge related to the Tax Act. Management believes the adjusted ETRs are useful in evaluating our tax ratesin comparison with the other presented periods. Refer to Note 21 of the
“Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information.

TABLE 2: TOTAL REVENUESNET OF INTEREST EXPENSE SUMMARY

Y ears Ended December 31, Change Change

(Millions, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 2018 vs. 2017 2017 vs. 2016
Discount revenue $ 24721 $ 2280 $ 22377 $ 1,831 8% $ 513 2%
Net card fees 3,441 3,000 2,886 351 11 204 7
Other fees and commissions 3,153 2,990 2,718 163 5 272 10
Other 1,360 1457 1678 (97) (7) (221) (13)
Total non-interest revenues 32,675 30.427 29,659 2,248 7 768 3
Total interest income 10,606 8,563 7,484 2,043 24 1,079 14
Total interest expense 2,943 2112 1,705 831 39 407 24
Net interest income 7,663 6,451 5,779 1,212 19 672 12
Total revenues net of interest expense $ 40338 $ 36878 $ 35438 $ 3,460 9% $ 1440 4%
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TOTAL REVENUESNET OF INTEREST EXPENSE

Discount revenue increased in both periods, primarily due to growth in billed business, partially offset by decreasesin the average discount rate. U.S. billed business increased 10 percent in 2018
compared to 2017 and 1 percent in 2017 compared to 2016. Non-U.S. billed businessincreased 8 percent in 2018 compared to 2017 and 12 percent in 2017 compared to 2016. See Tables 5 and 6 for
more details on billed business performance.

The average discount rate was 2.37 percent, 2.40 percent and 2.43 percent for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Several factors continued to drive the average discount rate decline, including
impacts from decisions we made with respect to certain strategic partners, the impact of regulatory changesin Europe and Australia, and the continued roll out of the OptBlue program, though
the impacts began to moderate in the latter half of the year.

Net card feesincreased in both periods, primarily driven by growth in the Platinum and Delta portfolios, aswell as growth in certain key international countries.

Other fees and commissionsincreased in both periods, primarily driven by growth in foreign exchange conversion revenue and increases in delinquency fees.

Other revenues decreased in both periods. The decrease in 2018 was partly driven by amodification of one of our GNS arrangements, lower breakage related to our prepaid cards and adeclinein
revenues related to the GBT JV. The decreasein 2017 was primarily driven by prior-year revenues related to the Loyalty Edge business, which was sold in the fourth quarter of 2016, and a
contractual payment from a GNS partner also in the prior year.

Interest income increased in both periods, primarily reflecting higher average Card Member loans and higher yields. The growth in average Card Member loansin 2018 was primarily driven by
expanding relationships with existing customers, aswell as the inclusion of the acquired Hilton portfolio. The growth in average Card Member loansin 2017 was primarily driven by amix shift
towards non-cobrand lending products, where Card Members tend to revolve more of their loan balances. Theincreasein yieldsin both periods was primarily driven by a greater percentage of
loans at higher rate buckets, specific pricing actions and increases in benchmark interest rates.

Interest expense increased in both periods, primarily driven by higher interest rates and higher average |long-term debt and, additionally in 2018, by higher average deposits.

TABLE 3: PROVISIONS FOR LOSSES SUMMARY

Y ears Ended December 31, Change Change

(Millions, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 2018 vs. 2017 2017 vs. 2016

Charge card $ 937 $ % $ 6% $ 142 18% $ 9 14%
Card Member loans 2,266 1,868 1,235 398 21 633 51
Other 149 97 9 52 54 1 1
Total provisionsfor |osses $ 3352 $ 2760 $ 2027 3 592 2% $ 733 36%

PROVISIONS FOR LOSSES

Charge card provision for losses increased in both periods, primarily driven by growth in receivables due to increased billed business and higher net write-offs, largely in the corporate and small
business portfolios.

Card Member loans provision for losses increased in both periods, driven by strong loan growth, higher net write-offs and a modest increase in delinquencies. The increases in write-offs and
delinquencies were due in part to the seasoning of recent loan vintages.
Other provision for lossesincreased in 2018 compared to 2017 and was relatively flat in 2017 compared to 2016. The increase in 2018 was primarily due to growth in the non-card lending and

commercial financing portfolios. 2017 compared to 2016 also reflected growth in the non-card lending portfolio, which was offset by improving credit performance in the commercial financing
portfolio.
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TABLE 4: EXPENSES SUMMARY

Y ears Ended December 31, Change Change

(Millions, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 2018 vs. 2017 2017 vs. 2016
Marketing and business devel opment@ $ 6470 $ 5722 $ 6249 $ 748 13% $ (527) 8)%
Card Member rewe_mrds 9,696 8,687 7,819 1,009 12 868 11
Card Member services 1777 1,392 1,100 385 28 292 27
Total marketing, business devel opment, rewards and Card Member services 17,943 15,801 15,168 2142 14 633 4
Salaries and employee benefits 5,250 5,258 5,259 ® = 2) =
Other, net® 5,671 5,634 4,942 37 1 692 14
Total expenses $ 28864 $ 26693 $ 25369 S 2171 8% $ 1324 5%

(a) Effective January 1, 2018, includes reclassification of certain business devel opment expenses from Other expenses to Marketing and business devel opment that are not directly attributable to
the adoption of the new revenue recognition guidance. Prior periods have been conformed to the current period presentation.

EXPENSES

Marketing and business devel opment expense increased in 2018 compared to 2017 and decreased in 2017 compared to 2016. The variances for both periods were primarily driven by lower levels
of spending on growth initiativesin 2017 compared to the preceding and subsequent years. The higher spending on growth initiativesin 2018 included our new global brand campaign, continued
investmentsin partnerships, and increased corporate client incentives driven by higher volumes.

Card Member rewards expense increased in both periods. The increase in 2018 was driven by increasesin Membership Rewards and cash-back reward expenses of $558 million and cobrand
rewards expense of $451 million, both of which were primarily driven by higher spending volumes. Theincreasein 2017 was primarily driven by higher spending volumes and enhancements to
U.S. Consumer and Small Business Platinum rewards during 2017.

The Membership Rewards Ultimate Redemption Rate (URR) for current program participants increased to 96 percent (rounded up) at December 31, 2018, compared to 95 percent (rounded down)
at December 31, 2017 and 2016.

Card Member services expense increased in both periods, primarily driven by higher usage of travel-related benefits and enhanced Platinum card benefits.

Salaries and employee benefits expense was flat for both periods, reflecting increases in incentive compensation, offset by lower restructuring charges compared to the respective prior year.
Other expense increased in both periods. The increasein 2018 was primarily driven by higher technology expenses, aloss in the current year on atransaction involving the operations of our
prepaid reloadable and gift card business, and aforeign exchange loss related to the devaluation of the Argentine peso, which was deemed a highly inflationary currency as of July 1, 2018, all
partially offset by current-year unrealized gains on certain equity investments and chargesin the prior year related to our U.S. loyalty coalition and prepaid businesses. The increase in 2017 was

primarily driven by gainsin 2016 on the sales of the HFS portfolios, which were recognized as an expense reduction, partially offset by lower technology-related costsin 2017 and higher Loyalty
Edge-related costsin 2016.

INCOME TAXES

The effective tax rate for 2018 was 14.8 percent and reflects a benefit of $496 million relating to changesin the tax method of accounting for certain expenses, the resolution of certain prior years'
tax audits and an adjustment to the 2017 provisional tax charge related to the Tax Act. The tax rate for 2018 also reflects the reduction in the U.S. federal statutory rate from 35 percent to 21
percent as aresult of the Tax Act.

The effective tax rate for 2017 was 63.0 percent and reflects the charge of $2.6 billion related to the Tax Act that was accounted for as aprovisional estimate under Staff Accounting Bulletin No.
118. Refer to Note 21 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information.

Thetax ratesin al periodsreflect the level of pretax incomein relation to recurring permanent tax benefits and the geographic mix of business.
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TABLE 5: SELECTED CARD-RELATED STATISTICAL INFORMATION

Change Change
Y ears Ended December 31, 2018 2017 2016 2018 vs. 2017 2017 vs. 2016
Billed business: (billions)
us. $ 7776 $ 7083 $ 700.4 10% 1%
Outsidethe U.S. 406.4 3769 337.1 8 12
Tot_al $ 1,184.0 $ 10852 3 10375 9 B
Proprietary $ 1,002.6 $ 9006 $ 863.8 11% 4%
GNS 181.4 184.6 1737 7)) 6
Total $ 11840 $ 10852 $ 1.037.5 9 5
Cards-in-force: (millions)
us. 53.7 50.0 475 7 5
Outsidethe U.S. 60.3 62.8 624 4 1
Total 114.0 112.8 109.9 1 3
Proprietary 69.1 64.6 613 7 5
GNS 449 482 486 (7) (1)
Total 114.0 112.8 100.9 1 3
Basic cards-in-force: (millions)
us 42.3 394 374 7 5
Outsidethe U.S. 50.3 522 51.7 ) 1
Total 9.6 91.6 89.1 1 8
Average proprietary basic Card Member spending: (dollars)
us. $ 20,840 $ 20317 % 18,808 3 8
Outsidethe U.S. $ 15756 $ 14277 $ 13,073 10 9
Worldwide Average $ 19340 $ 18519 4 8
Card Member loans: (billions)
us $ 72.0 $ 645 $ 58.3 12 11
Outsidethe U.S. 9.9 89 7.0 11 27
Total $ 81.9 $ 34 $ 65.3 12 12
Average discount rate® 2.37% 2.40% 2.43%
Average fee per card (dollars)® $ 51 % 49 44 4% 11%

(a) Effective January 1, 2018, we befgan including billed business related to certain business-to-business pro?éjt_c(t)s in the calculation of the average discount rate to reflect our expanding

business-to-business product offerings. Prior periods have been conformed to the current period presentation
(b) Averagefee per card is computed based on proprietary basic net card fees divided by average proprietary basic cards-in-force.
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TABLE 6: BILLED BUSINESSGROWTH

2018

2017

Percentage Percentage Increase Percentage Percentage Increase
Increase  (Decrease) Assuming No Increase  (Decrease) Assuming No
(Decrease) Changesin FX Rates® (Decrease) Changesin FX Rates'®
Worldwide
Proprietary
Proprietary consumer 12% 12% 1% 1%
Proprietary commercial 11 11 7 7
Total Proprietary 11 11 4 4
GNS )] (@] 6 5
Worldwide Total 9 9 5 4
Airline-related volume (8% of Worldwide Total for both 2018 and 2017) 8 7 3 3
us.
Proprietary
Proprietary consumer 10 (%)
Proprietary commercia 10 6
Total Proprietary 10 2
U.S Total 10 1
T&E-related volume (25% of U.S. Total for both 2018 and 2017) 8 —
Non-T&E-related volume (75% of U.S. Total for both 2018 and 2017) 10 1
Airline-related volume (7% of U.S. Total for both 2018 and 2017) 8 —
OutsidetheU.S.
Proprietary
Proprietary consumer 17 17 13 12
Proprietary commercia 16 16 14 12
Total Proprietary 17 17 14 12
Outsidethe U.S. Total 8 8 12 11
Japan, Asia Pacific & Australia 8 7 13 12
Latin America& Canada 4 11 10 9
Europe, the Middle East & Africa 10% 8% 12% 10%

(& Theforeign currency adjusted information assumes a constant exchange rate between the periods being compared for purposes of curren )
foreign exchange rates used to determine results for the current year apply to the corresponding prior year period against which such resulis are being compared).
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TABLE 7: SELECTED CREDIT-RELATED STATISTICAL INFORMATION

Asof or for the Y ears Ended December 31, Change Change
(Millions, except percentages and wher e indicated) 2018 2017 2016 2018 vs. 2017 2017 vs. 2016
Worldwide Card Member loans

Total loans (billions) $ 819 $ 734 % 65.3 12% 12%

Lossreserves:

Beginning balance $ 1,706 $ 1223  $ 1,028 39 19
Provisions- principal, interest and fees 2,266 1,868 1,235 21 51
Net write-offs— principal |ess recoveries (1,539) (1,181) (930) 30 27
Net write-offs — interest and fees |ess recoveries (304) (227) (175) 34 30
Other @ 5 23 65 (78) (65)

Ending balance $ 2134 $ 1706 $ 1223 25 39

Ending reserves — principal $ 2028 $ 162 $ 1,160 % 40

Ending reserves — interest and fees $ 106 $ 84 3 63 26 33

% of loans 2.6% 2.3% 1.9%

% of past due 182% 177% 161%

Average loans (billions) $ 758 % 667 $ 59.9 14% 11%

Net write-off rate — principal only ® 2.0% 1.8% 1.6%

Net write-off rate — principal, interest and fees ® 2.4% 21% 1.8%

30+ days past due as a % of total ® 1.4% 1.3% 1.2%

Worldwide Card Member receivables

Total receivables (billions) $ 559 $ 540 $ 473 4% 14%

Lossreserves:

Beginning balance $ 521  $ 467 % 462 12 1
Provisions - principal and fees 937 795 696 18 14
Net write-offs - principal and fees lessrecoveries (859) (736) (674) 17 9
Other @ (26) (5) (17) # (71

Ending balance $ 573 $ 51 $ 467 10% 12%

% of receivables 1.0% 1.0% 1.0%

Net write-off rate— principal only ® 1.7% 1.6% 1.5%

Net write-off rate — principal and fees ® 1.8% 1.7% 1.8%

30+ days past due as a % of total ® 1.4% 1.4% 1.4%

Net loss ratio as a % of charge volume — GCP (©) 0.11% 0.10% 0.09%

90+ days past billing as a % of total — GCP © 0.7% 0.9% 0.9%

# Denotes a variance greater than 100 percent

(8 Other includesforeign currency translation adjustments and for 2016, Worldwide Card Member loans include reserves associated with Card Member loans reclassified from HFS to held for
investment. Refer to Changes in Card Member |oans reserve for losses under Note 4 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information.

(b) We present anet write-off rate based on principal losses only
uncollectible interest and/or fees as part of our total provision

past due as a percentage of total for Card Member receivables relate to GCSG and Global Small Businéss Services (GSBS) Card Member receivables.
(c) Global Corporate Payments gGCFR reflects global, large and middle market corporate accounts. For GCP Card Member receivabl
ue.

status rather than d

s past
addition, if welnitiate gollection procedures on an account prior to the accou% becoming
billing. These amounts are shown above as 90+ Days Past

constraints.

d
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TABLE 8 NET INTEREST YIELD ON AVERAGE CARD MEMBER LOANS

Y ears Ended December 31,
(Millions, except percentages and wher e indicated) 2018 2017 2016
Net interest income $ 7,663 $ 6451 $ 5,779
Exclude:
Interest expense not attributable to our Card Member loan portfolio @ 1,456 1,149 954
Interest income not attributable to our Card Member loan portfolio ® (1,010 (637) (405)
Adjusted net interest income © $ 8,109 $ 6963 $ 6,328
Average Card Member loans including HFS loan portfolios (billions) $ 75.8 $ 667 $ 65.8
Net interest income divided by average Card Member loans ) 10.1% 9.7% 8.8%
Net interest yield on average Card Member loans © 10.7% 10.4% 9.6%

(8 Primarily representsinterest expense attributable to maintaining our corporate liquidity pool and funding Card Member receivables.
(b) Primarily represents interest income attributable to Other loans, interest-bearing deposits and the fixed income investment portfolios.

(© Adj %sted net interest income and net interest yield on average Card Member loans are non-GAAP measures, Refer to “ Glossary of Selected Terminol
We believe adjusted net interest income is useful to investors because it represents the interest expense and interest income attributable to our Card

y” for the definitions of these terms.

o]
l\/?ember loan portfolio and isa

component of net interest yield on average Card Member loans, which provides ameasure of profitability of our Card Member |oan portfolio. Net interest yield on average Card Member

loans reflects agéuste_d net’interest income divided b&/ ee:vngrnat\g% Card Member |oans, compult

on an annualized basis, a GAAP measure, includes
representative of net interest yield on average Card Member loans.

/ | on an annualized basis. Net interest
f total interest iIncome and total interest expense that are not attributable to the Card
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BUSINESS SEGMENT RESULTS

We consider acombination of factors when eval uating the composition of our reportable operating segments, including the results reviewed by the chief operating decision maker, economic
characteristics, products and services offered, classes of customers, product distribution channels, geographic considerations (primarily United States versus outside the United States) and
regulatory considerations. Refer to Note 25 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” and Part |, Item 1. “Business” for additional discussion of products and services that comprise each
segment.

Effective for the second quarter of 2018, we realigned our reportabl e operating segments to reflect the organizational changes announced during the first quarter of 2018. Prior periods have been
revised to conform to the new reportabl e operating segments, which are asfollows:

= GCSG, including proprietary consumer cards globally, consumer servicesincluding travel services and non-card financing products, certain international joint ventures and our partnership
agreementsin China;

= GCS, including the proprietary GCP business, GSBS and commercial financing products; and

= GMNS, including the GNS business, the Global Merchant Services business, global loyalty coalition businesses, reloadable prepaid and gift card businesses.

Corporate functions and certain other businesses and operations, including the GBT JV, areincluded in Corporate & Other.

Results of the reportable operating segments generally treat each segment as a stand-al one business. The management reporting process that derives these results all ocates revenue and expense
using various methodol ogies as described below.

TOTAL REVENUESNET OF INTEREST EXPENSE

We allocate discount revenue and certain other revenues among segments using atransfer pricing methodology. Within the GCSG and GCS segments, discount revenue generally reflects the
issuer component of the overall discount revenue generated by each segment’s Card Members; within the GMNS segment, discount revenue generally reflects the network and acquirer
component of the overall discount revenue.

Net card fees and other fees and commissions are directly attributable to the segment in which they are reported.

Interest and fees on loans and certain investment income is directly attributable to the segment in which it is reported. Interest expense represents an allocated funding cost based on a
combination of segment funding requirements and internal funding rates.

PROVISIONSFOR LOSSES
The provisions for losses are directly attributable to the segment in which they are reported.
EXPENSES

Marketing and business devel opment expense is included in each segment based on the actual expensesincurred. Global brand advertising is primarily reflected in Corporate & Other and may be
allocated to the segments based on the actual expense incurred. Rewards and Card Member services expenses are included in each segment based on the actual expenses incurred within the
segment.

Salaries and employee benefits and other operating expenses reflect expenses such as professional services, occupancy and equipment and communications incurred directly within each
segment. In addition, expenses related to support services, such as technology costs, are allocated to each segment primarily based on support service activities directly attributable to the
segment. Certain other overhead expenses are allocated from Corporate & Other to the segments based on the relative levels of revenue and Card Member loans and receivables.

INCOME TAXES

Anincometax provision (benefit) is allocated to each reportable operating segment based on the effective tax rates applicable to the various businesses that comprise the segment. The 2017 $2.6
billion charge related to the Tax Act was allocated in full to Corporate & Other.
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GLOBAL CONSUMER SERVICES GROUP

TABLE 9: GCSG SELECTED INCOME STATEMENT DATA

Y ears Ended December 31, Change Change
(Millions, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 2018 vs. 2017 2017 vs. 2016
Revenues
__Non-interest revenues $ 14675 $ 13378 $ 12903 $§ 1207 0% $ 385 3%
Interest income 8,323 6,789 6,005 1,534 23 784 13
__Interest expense 1,542 1,047 828 495 47 219 26
___Net interest income 6,781 5142 5177 1,039 18 565 11
Total revenues net of interest expense 21,456 19,120 18,170 2,336 12 950 5
Provisionsfor losses 2,430 1,996 1,390 434 2 606 44
i isi 19.026 17,124 16,780 1.902 1 344 2
Marketing, business development, rewards and Card Member services 10,774 9,233 8,714 1,541 17 519 6
alaries and employee benefits and other operating expenses 4,538 4246 3,558 292 7 688 19
15,312 13479 12,272 1833 14 1207 10
Pretax segment income 3,714 3,645 4,508 69 2 (863) (19)
ncome tax provision 637 1,053 1460 (416) (40) (416) (289
Segment income $ 3,077 $ 2592 $ 3039 _$ 485 19% $ (447) (15)%
Effectivetax rate 17.2% 28.9% 32.6%

GCSG primarily issues awide range of proprietary consumer cards globally. GCSG also provides services to consumers, including travel services and non-card financing products, and manages
certain international joint ventures and our partnership agreementsin China.

TOTAL REVENUESNET OF INTEREST EXPENSE

Non-interest revenues increased in 2018 compared to 2017, primarily driven by discount revenue, which increased 10 percent, reflecting an increase in proprietary consumer billed business of 12
percent, partially offset by adeclinein the average discount rate. U.S. proprietary consumer billed businessincreased 10 percent and non-U.S. proprietary consumer billed businessincreased 17
percent. Theincreasesin billed business reflected higher cards-in-force and higher average spend per card.

The increase in non-interest revenues was al so driven by 13 percent growth in net card fees and increased other fees and commissions. Theincreasein net card fees was driven primarily by
growth in the Platinum and Delta portfolios, as well as growth in card fees across certain key international countries. Theincrease in other fees and commissions was primarily driven by increases
in delinquency fees, travel commissions and foreign exchange conversion revenue.

Net interest income increased in 2018 compared to 2017, primarily driven by growth in average Card Member loans and higher yields, partially offset by higher interest expense, primarily driven by
higher cost of funds. The growth in average Card Member loans was primarily driven by expanding relationships with existing customers, as well as the inclusion of the acquired Hilton portfolio.
Theincreaseinyields was primarily driven by agreater percentage of loans at higher rate buckets and specific pricing actions.

Total revenues net of interest expense increased in 2017 compared to 2016, primarily driven by higher discount revenue, reflecting billed business growth. The increase al so reflected higher net
interest income, primarily driven by growth in average Card Member loans and higher yields, partially offset by higher interest expense.

PROVISIONSFOR LOSSES

Provisionsfor losses increased in both periods, primarily driven by increased Card Member loans provision, reflecting strong loan growth and higher write-offs, in part due to the seasoning of
recent loan vintages. Theincrease in 2017 was additionally driven by ashift in mix towards non-cobrand lending products, which tend to have higher write-off rates.

Refer to Table 10 for the charge card and lending write-off rates for 2018, 2017 and 2016.
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EXPENSES

Marketing, business devel opment, rewards and Card Member services expenses increased in 2018 compared to 2017. Card Member rewards expense increased 13 percent, primarily driven by
increased spending volumes. Marketing and business devel opment expense increased 18 percent, primarily due to higher spending on growth initiatives and continued investmentsin
partnerships. Card Member services expense increased 29 percent, primarily driven by higher usage of travel-related benefits and the enhanced Platinum card benefits.

Salaries and employee benefits and other operating expense increased in 2018 compared to 2017, primarily driven by increasesin payroll costs and higher technology and other servicing-related
costs, partially offset by unrealized gains on certain equity investments.

Total expensesincreased in 2017 compared to 2016, primarily reflecting the gains on the sales of the HFS portfoliosin the prior year, which were recognized as an expense reduction in other
expenses, higher Card Member rewards expense resulting from higher spending volumes and increased Card Member services expense resulting from higher usage of travel-related benefits.

Income tax provision decreased in 2018 compared to 2017, primarily reflecting the resolution of certain prior years' tax audits and the reduction in the U.S. federal statutory tax rate as aresult of
the Tax Act.

TABLE 10: GCSG SELECTED STATISTICAL INFORMATION

Asof or for the Y ears Ended December 31, Change Change
(Millions, except per centages and wher e indicated) 2018 2017 2016 2018 vs. 2017 2017 vs. 2016
Proprietary billed business: (billions)
Us. $ 3711 $ 3369 $ 3452 10% (2%
Outsidethe U.S. 140.3 119.8 1059 17 13
Total $ 5114 3 4567 $ 4511 12 1
Proprietary cards-in-force:
Us. 37.7 349 327 8 7
Outsidethe U.S. 16.8 15.8 15.1 6 5
Total 54.5 50.7 47.8 7 6
Proprietary basic cards-in-force
Us. 27.0 25.0 233 8 7
Outsidethe U.S. 11.6 109 104 6 5
Total 38.6 359 337 8 7
Average proprietary basic Card Member spending (dollars)
us. $ 14,161 $ 13950 $ 13,447 2 4
Outsidethe U.S. $ 12348 $ 11225 $ 10,386 10 8
Average $ 13613 $ 13115 $ 12577 4 4
Total segment assets (billions)@ $ 1507 $ 1235 3 1140 22 8
Card Member loans:
Total loans (billions)
us $ 599 % 537 $ 488 12 10
Outsidethe U.S. 9.6 8.6 6.9 12 25
Total $ 695 $ 623 $ 55.7 12 12
Average loans (billions)
us. $ 551  $ 490 $ 444 12 10
Outsidethe U.S. 8.9 74 6.8 20 9
Total $ 640 $ 564 $ 51.2 13% 10%
Lending Credit Metrics:
us.
Net write-off rate— principal only ® 2.1% 1.8% 1.5%
Net write-off rate— principal, interest and fees ® 2.5% 2.1% 1.8%
30+ days past due as a % of total 1.4% 1.3% 1.1%
Outside the U.S.
Net write-off rate— principal only ® 2.1% 2.1% 2.0%
Net write-off rate — principal, interest and fees ® 2.6% 2.5% 2.5%
30+ days past due as a % of total 1.6% 1.4% 1.6%
Total
Net write-off rate— principal only ® 2.1% 1.8% 1.6%
Net write-off rate— principal, interest and fees ® 2.5% 2.2% 1.9%
30+ days past due as a % of total 1.5% 1.3% 1.2%
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Change Change
(Millions, except per centages and wher e indicated) 2018 2017 2016 2018 vs. 2017 2017 vs. 2016
Card Member receivables: (billions)
us $ 13.7 $ 131 % 123 5% 7%
Outsidethe U.S. 7.8 7.8 6.0 — 30
Total receivables $ 21.5 $ 29 $ 18.3 3% 14%
Charge Credit Metrics:
us.
Net write-off rate— principal only ® 1.3% 1.3% 1.4%
Net write-off rate— principa and fees ® 1.5% 1.4% 1.6%
30+ days past due as a % of total 1.1% 1.1% 1.2%
Outsidethe U.S.
Net write-off rate— principal only ® 2.1% 2.0% 2.0%
Net write-off rate— principa and fees ® 2.3% 2.1% 2.2%
30+ days past due as a % of total 1.3% 1.3% 1.3%
Total
Net write-off rate— principal only ® 1.6% 1.5% 1.6%
Net write-off rate — principa and fees ® 1.8% 1.7% 1.8%
30+ days past due as a % of total 1.2% 1.2% 1.2%

(@ During 2018, we changed the methodol ogy used to all ocate certain corporate overhead costs and interest income and expense to the operating segments, and made minor changes to the
intercompany settlement process. Prior period amounts have been revised to conform to the current period presentation.

(b) Refer to Table 7 footnote (b).
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TABLE 11: GCSG NET INTEREST YIELD ON AVERAGE CARD MEMBER LOANS

Asof or for the Y ears Ended December 31,

(Millions, except percentages and wher e indicated) 2018 2017 2016
us.
Net interest income $ 58% 491 $ 4,476
Exclude:
Interest expense not attributable to our Card Member |oan portfolio® 202 164 133
Interest income not attributable to our Card Member loan portfolio® (178) (101) (24)
Adjusted net interest income© $ 5919 $ 5024 $ 4,585
Average Card Member loans including HFS loan portfolios (billions) $ 55.1 $ 89 $ 49.4
Net interest income divided by average Card Member loans®© 10.7% 10.1% 9.1%
Net interest yield on average Card Member |oans(© 10.7% 10.3% 9.3%
Outsidethe U.S.
Net interest income $ 886 $ 781 $ 701
Exclude:
Interest expense not attributable to our Card Member loan portfolio® 70 54 38
Interest income not attributable to our Card Member loan portfolio® (8) (8) 1
Adjusted net interest income© $ 948 3% 827 $ 740
Average Card Member loans (billions) $ 8.9 $ 74 % 6.8
Net interest income divided by average Card Member loans© 10.0% 10.6% 10.3%
Net interest yield on average Card Member |oans© 10.6% 11.1% 10.9%
Total
Net interest income $ 678 $ 5742 $ 5177
Exclude:
Interest expense not attributable to our Card Member |oan portfolio® 272 218 171
Interest income not attributable to our Card Member loan portfolio® (186) (110) (23)
Adjusted net interest income® $ 6867 $ 5850 $ 5,325
Average Card Member loans including HFS loan portfolios (billions) $ 64.0 $ 564 $ 56.2
Net interest income divided by average Card Member loans®© 10.6% 10.2% 9.2%
Net interest yield on average Card Member |oans© 10.7% 10.4% 9.5%

(8) Refer to Table 8 footnote (a).

(b) Refer to Table 8 footnote (b).
(c) Refer to Table 8 footnote ().
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GLOBAL COMMERCIAL SERVICES

TABLE 12: GCSSELECTED INCOME STATEMENT DATA

Y ears Ended December 31, Change Change
(Millions, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 2018 vs. 2017 2017 vs. 2016
Revenues
Non-interest revenues $ 11882 $ 10942 $ 10373 $_ 940 9% 569 5%
Interest income 1,621 1,361 1,209 260 19 152 13
Interest expense 827 595 472 232 39 123 26
Net interest income 794 766 737 28 4 29 4
Total revenues net of interest expense 12,676 11,708 11,110 968 8 598 5
Provisionsfor losses 899 743 604 156 21 139 23
Total revenues net of interest expense after provisions for losses 11,777 10,965 10,506 812 7 459 4
Expenses
Marketing, business development, rewards and Card Member services 5,853 5311 4,866 542 10 445 9
Salaries and employee benefits and other operating expenses 3,029 2811 2,707 218 8 104 4
Total expenses 8.882 8122 7573 760 9 549 7
Pretax segment income 2,895 2,843 2,933 52 2 (90) ?3)
Income tax provision 555 914 1,032 (359) (39) (118) (12)
Segment income $ 2340 3 1929 3 1901 $ 411 21% $ 28 1%
Effective tax rate 19.2% 32.1% 35.2%

GCS primarily issues awide range of proprietary corporate and small business cards and provides payment and expense management services globally. In addition, GCS provides commercial
financing products.

TOTAL REVENUESNET OF INTEREST EXPENSE

Non-interest revenues increased in 2018 compared to 2017, reflecting a9 percent increase in discount revenue, primarily driven by growth in billed business from small and medium sized
businesses, partially offset by adecline in the average discount rate.

Net interest income increased in 2018 compared to 2017, primarily driven by an increase in average Card Member loans and higher yields, partially offset by higher interest expense, reflecting an
increasein the cost of funds.

Total revenues net of interest expense increased in 2017 compared to 2016, primarily driven by higher discount revenue due to increases in billed business, higher net card fees and higher other
fees and commissions, primarily due to growth in the U.S. small business Platinum portfolio and higher delinquency fees, respectively.

PROVISIONSFOR LOSSES

Provisionsfor losses increased in both periods. The increase in 2018 compared to 2017 was primarily driven by growth in Card Member loans and receivables and the commercial financing
portfolio, aswell as higher net write-offs across both corporate and small business portfolios. The increase in 2017 compared to 2016 was primarily due to growth in both Card Member receivables
and loans, aswell asincreasesin net write-off and delinquency rates, all of which were partially offset by improving credit performance in the commercial financing portfolio.

EXPENSES

Marketing, business development, rewards and Card Member services expenses increased in 2018 compared to 2017, primarily driven by Card Member rewards expense, which increased 9 percent
reflecting higher spending volumes, and marketing and business devel opment expense, which increased primarily due to an increase in spending on growth initiatives.

Salaries and employee benefits and other operating expenses increased in 2018 compared to 2017, primarily driven by higher technology and other servicing-related costs.

Total expensesincreased in 2017 compared to 2016, primarily driven by increased Card Member rewards expense due to the Platinum rewards enhancements and higher spending volumes, and
the prior-year gains on the sales of the HFS portfolios.

Income tax provision decreased in 2018 compared to 2017, primarily reflecting the resolution of certain prior years' tax audits and the reduction in the U.S. federal statutory tax rate as aresult of
the Tax Act.
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TABLE 13: GCSSELECTED STATISTICAL INFORMATION

Asof or for the Y ears Ended December 31, Change Change
(Millions, except per centages and wher e indicated) 2018 2017 2016 2018 vs. 2017 2017 vs. 2016
Proprietary billed business (billions) $ 4862 3 4381 $ 408.0 11% %
Proprietary cards-in-force 14.5 14.0 136 4 3
Average Card Member spending (dollars) $ 34,058 $ 31,729 $ 28515 7 11
Total segment assets (billions)® $ 518 $ 491 $ 433 5 13
Card Member loans (billions) $ 124 % 11 $ 95 12 17
Card Member receivables (billions) $ 34.4 $ 331 $ 29.0 4 14
GSBS Card Member loans:®)

Total loans (billions) $ 124  $ 110 $ 9.5 13 16

Average loans (billions) $ 11.7  $ 103 $ 86 14% 20%

Net write-off rate - principal only(© 1.7% 1.6% 1.4%

Net write-off rate - principal, interest and fees® 2.0% 1.9% 17%

30+ days past due as a % of total 1.3% 1.2% 1.1%
Calculation of Net Interest Yield on Average Card Member Loans:

Net interest income $ 794 % 76 $ 737

Exclude:

Interest expense not attributable to our Card Member |oan portfolio©@ 609 461 380
Interest income not attributable to our Card Member |oan portfolio®© (161) (114) (114)

Adjusted net interest income” $ 1242 % 1113 $ 1,003

Average Card Member loans including HFS loan portfolios (billions) $ 11.8 $ 103 $ 9.7

Net interest income divided by average Card Member loans® 6.7% 7.4% 7.6%

Net interest yield on average Card Member loans® 10.5% 10.8% 10.4%
GCP Card Member receivables:

Total receivables (billions) $ 177 3 170 % 14.8 4% 15%

90+ days past billing as a % of total©@ 0.7% 0.9% 0.9%

Net loss ratio (as a % of charge volume)®™ 0.11% 0.10% 0.09%
GSBS Card Member receivables:

Total receivables (billions) $ 167 $ 161 $ 14.3 4% 13%

Net write-off rate - principal only®© 1.7% 1.6% 15%

Net write-off rate - principal and fees® 2.0% 1.8% 17%

30+ days past due as a % of total 1.6% 1.6% 1.6%

(a) During 2018, we changed the methodol ogy used to allocate certain corporate overhead costs and interest income and expense to the operating segments. Prior period amounts have been
revised to conform to the current period presentation.

(b) EffectiveJduly 1, 2017, GSBS|oans and associated metrics reflect worl dwide small business services|loans. Prior to Julél, 2017, dueto certain system limitations, small business services|oans
outside the U.S. and associated credit metrics are reflected within GCSG, and were not significant to either GCSG or GCS.

(c) Referto Table 7 footnote (b).

(d) Referto Table 8 footnote (a).

(e) Refer to Table 8 footnote (b).

(f) Refer to Table 8 footnote (c).

(9) Refer to Table 7 footnote (c).

(h) Representsthe ratio of GCP charge card write-offs, consisti ng oEprinci pal gesulti ng from authorized transactions) and fee components, less recoveries, on Card Member receivables
expressed as a percentage of groSs amounts billed to corporate Card Members.
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GLOBAL MERCHANT AND NETWORK SERVICES

TABLE 14: GMNSSELECTED INCOME STATEMENT AND OTHER DATA

Y ears Ended December 31, Change Change
(Millions, except percentages and wher e indicated) 2018 2017 2016 2018 vs. 2017 2017 vs. 2016
Revenues
Non-interest revenues $ 6.069 6,025 6003 $ 44 1% $_ (68) D)%
Interest income 30 2 37 (12) (29) 5 14
Interest expense (294) (188) (133) (106) 56 (55) 41
Net interest income 324 230 170 94 41 60, 35
Total revenues net of interest expense 6,393 6,255 6,263 138 2 8 —
Provisionsfor losses 22 16 24 6 38 (8) (33)
Total revenues net of interest expense after provisions for losses 6,371 6,239 6,239 132 2 — —
Expenses
Marketing, business development, rewards and Card Member services 1,250 1,227 1,549 23 2 (322 (21)
Salaries and employee benefits and other operating expenses 2,277 2,367 2,299 (90) (4) 68 3
Total expenses 3,527 3,594 3,848 (67) (%) (254) )
Pretax segment income 2,844 2,645 2,391 199 8 254 11
Income tax provision 704 857 861 (153) (18) (4 —
Segment income $ 2140 $ 178 $ 1530 $ 352 20 258 17
Effective tax rate 24.8% 32.4% 36.0%
Total segment assets (billions)® $ 445 $ 306 $ 259 $ 139 45%_$ 5 18%

(a) During 2018, we changed the methodol ogy used to allocate certain corporate overhead costs and interest income and expense to the operating segments, and made minor changes to the
intercompany settlement process. Prior period amounts have been revised to conform to the current period presentation.

GMNS operates a global payments network that processes and settles card transactions, acquires merchants and provides multi-channel marketing programs and capabilities, services and data
analytics, leveraging our global integrated network. GMNS manages our partnership relationships with third-party card issuers, merchant acquirers and a prepaid rel oadable and gift card program
manager, licensing the American Express brand and extending the reach of the global network. GMNS also manages |loyalty coalition businessesin certain countries.

TOTAL REVENUESNET OF INTEREST EXPENSE

Non-interest revenues increased in 2018 compared to 2017, primarily driven by an increase in discount revenue, which reflected growth in hilled business, partialy offset by
adecline in the average discount rate and a modification of one of our GNS arfangements.

Net interest income increased in 2018 compared to 2017, reflecting a higher interest expense credit relating to internal transfer pricing and funding rates, which resulted in a net benefit for GMNS
due to its merchant payables.

Total revenues net of interest expense was flat in 2017 compared to 2016, primarily driven by a decrease in non-interest revenues reflecting a prior-year contractual payment from a GNS partner,
offset by an increase in net interest income reflecting a higher interest expense credit.

EXPENSES

Marketing, business development, rewards and Card Member services expenses increased in 2018 compared to 2017, primarily driven by payments related to a new
partnership agreement with our prepaid reloadable and gift card program manager, partially offset by lower levels of spending on growth initiatives.

Salaries and employee benefits and other operating expense decreased in 2018 compared to 2017, primarily driven by prior-year charges related to our U.S. loyalty coalition and prepaid
businesses, partially offset by a prior-year benefit from a changein the liability related to non-delivery of goods and services by merchants.

Total expenses decreased in 2017 compared to 2016, primarily driven by lower marketing and business development expenses, reflecting lower levels of spending on growth initiatives, partially
offset by anincrease in operating expenses reflecting charges related to the US. loyalty coalition and prepaid businesses.

Income tax provision decreased in 2018 compared to 2017, primarily reflecting the resolution of certain prior years tax audits and the reduction in the U.S. federal statutory tax rate as aresult of
the Tax Act.
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CORPORATE & OTHER

Corporate functions and certain other businesses are included in Corporate & Other.

Corporate & Other net expense was $0.6 billion, $3.6 billion and $1.1 billion in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. The decrease in 2018 compared to 2017 was primarily driven by the 2017 Tax Act
charge and unrealized gains on certain equity investments, partially offset by aloss on atransaction involving the operations of our prepaid reloadable and gift card business and aforeign
exchange | oss related to the devaluation of the Argentine peso, which was deemed a highly inflationary currency as of July 1, 2018. Theincreasein 2017 compared to 2016 was primarily driven by
the Tax Act charge, partially offset by higher restructuring chargesin 2016.
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CONSOLIDATED CAPITAL RESOURCESAND LIQUIDITY

Our balance sheet management objectives are to maintain:

» A solid and flexible equity capital profile;
A broad, deep and diverse set of funding sources to finance our assets and meet operating requirements; and

« Liquidity programs that enable usto continuously meet expected future financing obligations and business requirements for at least a twelve-month period in the event we are unable to
continue to raise new funds under our traditional funding programs during a substantial weakening in economic conditions.

CAPITAL STRATEGY

Our objectiveisto retain sufficient levels of capital generated through earnings and other sources to maintain a solid equity capital base and to provide flexibility to support future business
growth. We believe capital allocated to growing businesses with areturn on risk-adjusted equity in excess of our costs will generate shareholder value.

Thelevel and composition of our consolidated capital position are determined through our Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process, which takes into account our business activities, as
well as marketplace conditions and requirements or expectations of credit rating agencies, regulators and shareholders, among others. Our consolidated capital position is also influenced by
subsidiary capital requirements. As abank holding company, we are also subject to regulatory requirements administered by the U.S. federal banking agencies. The Federal Reserve has
established specific capital adequacy guidelines that involve quantitative measures of assets, liabilities and certain off-balance sheet items.

We report our capital ratios using the Basel |11 capital definitions and the Basel 111 standardized approach for calculating risk-weighted assets. The Basel 111 minimum requirements were fully
phased in as of January 1, 2018 and the Basel 111 buffers were fully phased in as of January 1, 2019.

We also report capital adequacy standards on a parallel basis to regulators under Basel requirements for advanced approaches institutions. The parallel period will continue until we receive
regulatory approval to exit parallel reporting, at which point we will begin publicly disclosing regulatory risk-based capital ratios using both the standardized and advanced approaches, and will
be required to use the lower of the regulatory risk-based capital ratios based on the standardized or advanced approaches to determine whether we are in compliance with minimum capital
requirements. Asdescribed in Part I, Item 1. " Supervision and Regulation," the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act and related proposed rules may exempt certain
banking organizations, such as us, from the advanced approaches requirements.

The following table presents our regulatory risk-based capital ratios and leverage ratios as of December 31, 2018. Effective April 1, 2018, our bank subsidiaries, American Express Centurion Bank
and American Express Bank, FSB, were merged to become American Express National Bank (AENB). Refer to Note 23 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information.

TABLE 15: REGULATORY RISK-BASED CAPITAL AND LEVERAGE RATIOS

Basel |11 Ratios as of
Standards 2018@® December 31, 2018

Risk-Based Capital

Common Equity Tier 1 6.4%
American Express Company 11.0%
American Express National Bank 121
Tier1 7.9
American Express Company 12.0
American Express National Bank 121
Total 9.9
American Express Company 13.6
American Express National Bank 142
Tier 1Leverage 4.0
American Express Company 104
American Express National Bank 9.9
Supplementary L everage Ratio 3.0%
American Express Company 89
American Express National Bank 8.2%

(a) Basel 11l minimum capital requirement and additional transitional capital conservation buffer as defined by the Federal Reserve for calendar year 2018 for advanced approachesinstitutions.
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TABLE 16: REGULATORY RISK-BASED CAPITAL COMPONENTSAND RISK-WEIGHTED ASSETS

merican Express Company December 31,
(@1 Billions 2018
Risk-Based Capital

Common Equity Tier 1 $ 175

Tier 1 Capital 19.1

Tier 2 Capital®@ 26

Total Capital 217
Risk-Weighted Assets 158.8
Average Total Assetsto calculatethe Tier 1 Leverage Ratio 1832
Total Leverage Exposureto calculate supplementary leverageratio $ 2144

() Tier 2 capital isthe sum of the allowance for loan and receivable losses (limited to 1.25 percent of risk-weighted assets) and $600 million of subordinated notes adjusted for capital held by
insurance subsidiaries.

We seek to maintain capital levels and ratios in excess of the minimum regulatory requirements and finance such capital in a cost efficient manner; failure to maintain minimum capital levels at
American Express or AENB could affect our status as afinancial holding company and cause the regulatory agencies with oversight of American Express or AENB to take actions that could limit
our business operations.

Our primary source of equity capital has been the generation of net income. Capital generated through net income and other sources, such as the exercise of stock options by employees, is used
to maintain a strong balance sheet, support asset growth and engage in acquisitions, with excess available for distribution to shareholders through dividends and share repurchases. We
currently expect that the portion of generated capital we allocate to support asset growth will be greater going forward than it has been historically due to projected asset growth.

We maintain certain flexibility to shift capital across our businesses as appropriate. For example, we may infuse additional capital into subsidiariesto maintain capital at targeted levelsin
consideration of debt ratings and regulatory requirements. These infused amounts can affect the capital profile and liquidity levels at the American Express parent company level.

Thefollowing are definitions for our regulatory risk-based capital ratios and leverage ratio, which are calculated as per standard regulatory guidance:

Risk-Weighted Assets — Assets are weighted for risk according to aformulaused by the Federal Reserve to conform to capital adequacy guidelines. On- and off-balance sheet items are weighted
for risk, with off-balance sheet items converted to balance sheet equivalents, using risk conversion factors, before being allocated arisk-adjusted weight. Off-bal ance sheet exposures comprise a
minimal part of the total risk-weighted assets.

Common Equity Tier 1 Risk-Based Capital Ratio — Calculated as Common Equity Tier 1 capital (CET1), divided by risk-weighted assets. CET1 is the sum of common shareholders’ equity,
adjusted for ineligible goodwill and intangible assets, certain deferred tax assets, as well as certain other comprehensive income items as follows: net unrealized gains/losses on securities and
derivatives, and net unrealized pension and other postretirement benefit/losses, al net of tax.

Tier 1 Risk-Based Capital Ratio — Calculated as Tier 1 capital divided by risk-weighted assets. Tier 1 capital isthe sum of CET1, our perpetual preferred stock and third-party non-controlling
interests in consolidated subsidiaries adjusted for capital held by insurance subsidiaries and deferred tax assets from net operating losses not deducted from CET 1. The minimum requirement for
the Tier 1 risk-based capital ratio is 1.5 percent higher than the minimum for the CET1 risk-based capital ratio. We have $1.6 billion of preferred shares outstanding to help address a portion of the
Tier 1 capital requirementsin excess of common equity requirements.

Total Risk-Based Capital Ratio — Calculated as the sum of Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital, divided by risk-weighted assets. Tier 2 capital isthe sum of the allowance for loan and receivable
losses (limited to 1.25 percent of risk-weighted assets), a portion of the unrealized gains on equity securities and $600 million of subordinated notes, adjusted for capital held by insurance
subsidiaries.

Tier 1 Leverage Ratio — Calculated by dividing Tier 1 capital by our average total consolidated assets for the most recent quarter.

Supplementary Leverage Ratio — Calculated by dividing Tier 1 capital by total leverage exposure under Basel 111. Total leverage exposure reflects average total consolidated assets with
adjustmentsfor Tier 1 capital deductions, average off-balance sheet derivative exposures, average securities purchased under agreements to resell, and average credit equivalents of conditionally
and unconditionally cancellable undrawn commitments.
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In December 2018, federal banking regulatorsissued afinal rule that would provide an optional three-year phase-in period for the day-one adverse regulatory capital effects upon adopting the
Current Expected Credit Losses (CECL) model pursuant to new accounting guidance for the recognition of credit losses on financial instruments, effective January 1, 2020. The Federal Reserve
also released a statement indicating that it plans to maintain the current framework for calculating credit loss allowances on loans in supervisory stress tests through the 2021 stress test cycle.
See Note 1 to our “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for further information about CECL.

SHARE REPURCHASES AND DIVIDENDS

We return capital to common shareholders through dividends and share repurchases. The share repurchases reduce common shares outstanding and more than offset the
issuance of new shares as Bart of employee comPensm on plans. We suspended our share buyback program for the first half of 2018 in order to rebuild our capital levels
and ratios pursuant to the 2018 CCAR Capital plan process.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, we returned $2.9 billion to our shareholdersin the form of common stock dividends of $1.3 billion and share repurchases of $1.6 billion. We repurchased
15 million common shares at an average price of $104.09 in 2018. These dividend and share repurchase amounts collectively represent approximately 41 percent of total capital generated during
theyear.

In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2018, we paid $80 million in dividends on $1.6 billion of non-cumulative perpetual preferred shares outstanding. For additional information on our
preferred shares, refer to Note 17 and Note 22 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements.”

FUNDING STRATEGY

Our principal funding objectiveisto maintain broad and well-diversified funding sources to allow us to meet our maturing obligations, cost-effectively finance current and future asset growth in
our global businesses, aswell asto maintain astrong liquidity profile. The diversity of funding sources by type of instrument, by maturity and by investor base, among other factors, provides
additional insulation from the impact of disruptionsin any one type of instrument, maturity or investor. The mix of our funding in any period will seek to achieve cost efficiency consistent with
both maintaining diversified sources and achieving our liquidity objectives. While we diversify our funding sources by maintaining scale and relevance in unsecured debt, asset securitizations
and deposits, we currently expect that the Personal Savings High Yield Savings Account program will become alarger proportion of our funding over time. Our funding strategy and activities are
integrated into our asset-liability management activities. We have in place afunding policy covering American Express Company and all of our subsidiaries.

Our proprietary card businesses are the primary asset-generating businesses, with significant assets in both domestic and international Card Member lending and receivable activities. Our
financing needs are in large part a consequence of our proprietary card-issuing businesses, and the maintenance of aliquidity position to support all of our business activities, such as merchant
payments. We generally pay merchants for card transactions prior to reimbursement by Card Members and therefore fund the merchant payments during the period Card Member |oans and
receivables are outstanding. We also have additional financing needs associated with general corporate purposes.

FUNDING PROGRAMSAND ACTIVITIES

We meet our funding needs _throu]glh avariety of sources, including direct and third-party distributed deposits and debt instruments, such as senior unsecured debentures,
asset securitizations; borrowings through secured borrowing facilities and a long-term committed bank borrowing facility.

We had the following consolidated debt and customer deposits outstanding as of December 31.:

TABLE 17: SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED DEBT AND CUSTOMER DEPOSITS

(Billions) 2018 2017
Short-term borrowings $ 31 % 33
Long-term debt 58.4 55.8
Total debt 61.5 59.1
Customer deposits 70.0 64.5
Total debt and customer deposits $ 1315 $ 1236
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We may redeem from time to time certain debt securities within 31 days prior to the original contractual maturity dates in accordance with the optional redemption provisions of those debt
securities.

Our funding plan for the full year 2019 includes, among other sources, approximately $6 billion to $13 billion of unsecured term debt issuance and approximately $4 billion to $11 billion of secured
term debt issuance. Our funding plans are subject to various risks and uncertainties, such as future business growth, the impact of global economic, political and other events on market capacity,
demand for securities offered by us, regulatory changes, ability to securitize and sell receivables, and the performance of receivables previously sold in securitization transactions. Many of these
risks and uncertainties are beyond our control.

Our equity capital and funding strategies are designed, among other things, to maintain appropriate and stable unsecured debt ratings from the major credit rating agencies: Moody’s | nvestor
Services (Moody’s), Standard & Poor’s (S& P) and Fitch Ratings (Fitch). Such ratings help support our access to cost-effective unsecured funding as part of our overall funding strategy. Our
asset securitization activities are rated separately.

TABLE 18: UNSECURED DEBT RATINGS

Credit Agency American Express Entity Short-Term Ratings Long-Term Ratings Outlook
Fitch All rated entities F1 A Stable
Moody’'s TRS and rated operating subsidiaries® Prime-1 A2 Stable
Moody's American Express Company Prime-2 A3 Stable
S&P TRS®@ N/A A- Stable
S&P Other rated operating subsidiaries A-2 A- Stable
S&P American Express Company A-2 BBB+ Stable

(8) American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc.

Downgrades in the ratings of our unsecured debt or asset securitization program securities could result in higher funding costs, as well as higher fees related to borrowings under our unused
lines of credit. Declinesin credit ratings could also reduce our borrowing capacity in the unsecured debt and asset securitization capital markets. We believe our funding mix, including the
proportion of U.S. retail depositsinsured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), should reduce the impact that credit rating downgrades would have on our funding capacity and
costs.

SHORT-TERM FUNDING PROGRAMS

Short-term borrowings, such as commercia paper, are defined as any debt with an original maturity of twelve months or less, aswell as interest-bearing overdrafts with banks. Our short-term
funding programs are used primarily to meet working capital needs, such as managing seasonal variationsin receivables balances. The amount of short-term borrowingsissued in the future will
depend on our funding strategy, our needs and market conditions. As of December 31, 2018, we had $0.8 billion in commercial paper outstanding and we had an average of $0.23 billionin
commercial paper outstanding during 2018. Refer to Note 9 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for afurther description of these borrowings.

DEPOSIT PROGRAMS

We offer deposits within our U.S. bank subsidiary, AENB. These funds are currently insured up to $250,000 per account holder through the FDIC. Our ability to obtain deposit funding and offer
competitive interest rates is dependent on the capital level of AENB. We, through AENB, have adirect retail deposit program, American Express Personal Savings, which is our primary deposit
product channel. The direct retail program makes FDIC-insured certificates of deposit (CDs) and high-yield savings account products available directly to consumers. We also source deposits
through third-party distribution channels as needed to meet our overall funding objectives. As of December 31, 2018 we had $70.0 billion in customer deposits. Refer to Note 8 to the
“Consolidated Financial Statements” for afurther description of these deposits.

LONG-TERM DEBT AND ASSET SECURITIZATION PROGRAMS

As of December 31, 2018, we had $58.4 billion in long-term debt outstanding. During 2018, we and our subsidiaries issued $15.9 billion of unsecured debt and asset-backed securities with
maturities ranging from 2 to 7 years. Refer to Note 9 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for afurther description of these borrowings.

We periodically securitize Card Member |oans and receivables arising from our card business, as the securitization market provides us with cost-effective funding. Securitization of Card Member
loans and receivablesis accomplished through the transfer of those assets to atrust, which in turn issues securities collateralized by the transferred assets to third-party investors. The proceeds
from issuance are distributed to us, through our wholly-owned subsidiaries, as consideration for the transferred assets. Refer to Note 6 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for afurther
description of these borrowings.
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Our 2018 long-term debt and asset securitization issuances were as follows:

TABLE 19: DEBT ISSUANCES

(Billions) 2018
American Express Company:
Fixed Rate Senior Notes (weighted-average coupon of 3.63%) $ 6.6
Floating Rate Senior Notes (3-month LIBOR plus 61 basis points) 2.7
American Express Credit Account Master Trust:
Fixed Rate Class A Certificates (weighted-average coupon of 2.97%) 4.4
Fixed Rate Class B Certificates (weighted-average coupon of 3.35%) _
Floating Rate Class A Certificates (1-month LIBOR plus 35 basis points) 21
Floating Rate Class B Certificates (1-month LIBOR plus 57 basis points) 0.1
Total $ 15.9

LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT

Our liquidity objective isto maintain access to a diverse set of on- and off-balance sheet liquidity sources. We seek to maintain liquidity sourcesin amounts sufficient to meet our expected future
financial obligations and business requirements for liquidity for aperiod of at |east twelve monthsin the event we are unable to raise new funds under our regular funding programs during a
substantial weakening in economic conditions.

Our liquidity management strategy includes a number of elements, including, but not limited to:

* Maintaining diversified funding sources (refer to the “Funding Strategy” section for more details);

« Maintaining unencumbered liquid assets and off-bal ance sheet liquidity sources;

¢ Projecting cash inflows and outflows under a variety of economic and market scenarios;

o Establishing clear objectives for liquidity risk management, including compliance with regulatory requirements; and
« Incorporating liquidity risk management as appropriate into our capital adequacy framework.

We seek to maintain access to adiverse set of on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet liquidity sources, including cash and other liquid assets, committed bank credit facilities and asset
securitization conduit facilities. Through our U.S. bank subsidiary, AENB, we al'so hold collateral eligible for use at the Federal Reserve’s discount window.

The amount and type of liquidity resources we maintain can vary over time, based upon the results of stress scenarios required under Dodd Frank and other various regulatory liquidity
requirements, such as the Liquidity Coverage Ratio, aswell as additional stress scenarios required under our liquidity risk policy. These stress scenarios possess distinct characteristics, varying
by cash flow assumptions, time horizon and qualifying liquidity sources, among other factors. Scenarios under our liquidity risk policy include market-wide, firm-specific and combined liquidity
stresses. The LCR rule prescribes cash flow assumptions over a 30-day period and establishes qualifying criteriafor high-quality liquid assets. We consider other factorsin determining the
amount and type of liquidity we maintain, such as economic and financial market conditions, seasonality in business operations, growth in our businesses, potential acquisitions or dispositions,
the cost and availability of alternative liquidity sources and credit rating agency guidelines and requirements.

The investment income we receive on liquidity resources is less than the interest expense on the sources of funding for these balances. The net interest costs to maintain these resources have
been substantial. The level of future net interest costs depends on the amount of liquidity resources we maintain and the difference between our cost of funding these amounts and their
investment yields.

Securitized Borrowing Capacity

As of December 31, 2018, we maintained our committed, revolving, secured borrowing facility, with amaturity date of July 15, 2020, which gives us the right to sell up to $3.0 billion face amount of
eligible AAA notes from the American Express I ssuance Trust |1 (the Charge Trust). We a so maintained our committed, revolving, secured borrowing facility, with a maturity date of September
15, 2020, which gives usthe right to sell up to $2.0 billion face amount of eligible AAA certificates from the American Express Credit Account Master Trust (the Lending Trust). Both facilities are
used in the ordinary course of business to fund seasonal working capital needs, aswell asto further enhance our contingent funding resources. As of December 31, 2018, $1.5 billion was drawn
on the Charge Trust facility, which was subsequently repaid on January 15, 2019. No amounts were drawn on the Lending Trust facility.
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Feder al Reserve Discount Window

Asan insured depository institution, AENB may borrow from the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco, subject to the amount of qualifying collateral that it may pledge. The Federal Reserve
has indicated that both credit and charge card receivables are aform of qualifying collateral for secured borrowings made through the discount window. Whether specific assets will be
considered qualifying collateral and the amount that may be borrowed against the collateral, remain at the discretion of the Federal Reserve.

We had approximately $70.5 billion as of December 31, 2018 in U.S. credit card loans and charge card receivables that could be sold over time through our securitization trusts or pledged in return
for secured borrowings to provide further liquidity, subject in each case to applicable market conditions and eligibility criteria

Committed Bank Credit Facility

In addition to the secured borrowing facilities described above, we maintained acommitted syndicated bank credit facility as of December 31, 2018 of $3.5 billion, with amaturity date of October

16, 2020. The availability of this credit line is subject to our compliance with certain financial covenants, principally the maintenance by American Express Credit Corporation (Credco) of acertain
ratio of combined earnings and fixed charges to fixed charges. As of December 31, 2018, we were in compliance with each of our covenants. As of December 31, 2018, no amounts were drawn on

the committed credit facility. The capacity of the facility mainly served to further enhance our contingent funding resources.

Our committed bank credit facility does not contain amaterial adverse change clause, which might otherwise preclude borrowing under the credit facility, nor isit dependent on our credit rating.

CASH FLOWS

The following table summarizes our cash flow activity, followed by a discussion of the major driversimpacting operating, investing and financing cash flows.

TABLE 20: CASH FLOWS

(Billions) 2018 2017 2016
Total cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ 89 $ 135 $ 83
Investing activities (19.6) (18.2) 18
Financing activities 5.1 12.2 (7.6)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash, cash equival ents and restricted cash 0.1 0.3 (0.2
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ (55 $ 78 _ $ 2.3

Cash Flowsfrom Operating Activities

Our cash flows from operating activities primarily include net income adjusted for (i) non-cash itemsincluded in net income, such as provisions for losses, depreciation and amortization, deferred
taxes and stock-based compensation and (ii) changes in the balances of operating assets and liabilities, which can vary significantly in the normal course of business due to the amount and
timing of payments.

The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities was driven by the amount and timing of payments of accounts payable and other liabilities, partially offset by an increase in net income
from normal business operations.

Cash Flowsfrom Investing Activities

Our cash flows from investing activities primarily include changesin Card Member receivables and loans, as well as changesin our available-for-sale investment securities portfolio.

Theincrease in net cash used in investing activities was driven by alarger net increase in the investment securities portfolio, partially offset by less growth in Card Member receivables and
loans.

Cash Flowsfrom Financing Activities

Our cash flows from financing activities primarily include changesin customer deposits, long-term debt and short-term borrowings, as well as dividend payments and share repurchases.

The decrease in net cash provided by financing activities was primarily driven by alower increase in customer deposits and long-term debt, partially offset by alower level of share repurchases.
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTSAND CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

We have identified both on- and off-balance sheet transactions, arrangements, obligations and other relationships that may have amaterial current or future effect on our financial condition,
changesin financial condition, results of operations, or liquidity and capital resources.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The table below identifies transactions that represent our contractually committed future obligations. Purchase obligations include our agreements to purchase goods and services that are
enforceable and legally binding and that specify significant terms, including: fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; and the approximate timing
of the transaction.

TABLE 21: COMMITTED FUTURE OBLIGATIONSBY YEAR

Payments due by year®
. 2024 and
(Millions) 2019 2020-2021 2022-2023 thereafter Total
Long-term debt $ 11,315 $ 21342 $ 14611 $ 6284 $ 50,552
Interest payments on long-term debt® 1,661 2,157 1,002 1,450 6,270
Certificates of deposit 4,748 6,159 2,595 — 13,502
Other long-term liabilities® @ 295 61 6 17 379
Operating lease obligations 140 213 143 832 1,328
Purchase obligations® 384 310 26 4 724
Deemed repatriation tax® 148 268 268 1,005 1,689
Total $ 18691  $ 36510 $ 18651 $ 9592 $ 83444

(a) Thetable above excludes approximately $0.7 billion of tax liabilities related to the uncertainty in income taxes asinherent complexities and the number of tax years currently. gf)en for
%gr{]l nag anl n mgtIAtl plejurisdictions do not permit reasonable estimates of payments, if any, to be made over arange of years. Refer to Note 21 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for
itional information.

(b) Estimated interest payments were calculated using the effective interest rates as of December 31, 2018, and includes the effect of existing interest rate swaps. Actual cash flows may differ
from estimated payments.

(c) Asof December 31, 2018, there were no minimum rﬁui red contributions, and no contributions are currently planned, for the U.S. American Express Retirement Plan. For the U.S. American
Express Retirement Restoration Plan and non-U.S. defined benefit pension and postretirement benefit plans, contributions in 2019 are anticipated to be approximately $46 million, and this
amount has been included within other long-term liabilities. Remaining obligations under defined benefit pension and postretirement benefi %I.ar)s ag rﬁqail ng $517 million have not been
included in the table above as the timing of such Obll%atl onsis not determinable. Additionally, other_loglg—term liahilities do not include $8.4 hillion of Membership Rewards liabilities, which
gréts not, cgglg dered long-term liabilitiesas Card Members in good standing can redeem pointsimmediately, without restrictions, and because the timing of point redemption is not

erminable.

(d) Asof December 31, 2018, we had committed to é)rov.i de funding related to certain tax credit investments resulting in @ $237 million unfunded commitment included in other long-term liabilities.
In addition to this amount, there was afurther $59 million of contractual off-balance sheet obligations that have not been included in the table above as the timing of such obligationsis not
determinable. Refer to Note 7 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information.

(e) The purchase obl igaii on amounts represent either the early termination fees or non-cancelable minimum contractual obligations, as applicable, by period under contracts that were in effect as
of December 31, 2018.

(f) Represents our estimated obligation under the Tax Act to pay the deemed repatriation tax on certain non-US earnings over eight years. Refer to Note 21 to the “ Consolidated Financial
Statements” for additional information.

In addition to the contractual obligations noted in Table 21, we have financial commitments related to agreements with certain cobrand partners under which we are required to make acertain level
of minimum payments over thelife of the agreement, generally ranging from five to eight years. We make payments to such cobrand partners primarily based on Card Members' spending

and earning rewards on their cobrand cards and as we acquire new Card Members. In the event these payments do not fully satisfy the commitment, we will pay the cobrand partner up to the
amount of the commitment in exchange for an equivalent value of reward points. As of December 31, 2018, we had $5.0 billion in such commitments outstanding.

We also have off-balance sheet arrangements that include guarantees, indemnifications and certain other off-balance sheet arrangements.
GUARANTEES

As of December 31, 2018, we had guarantees and indemnifications totaling approximately $1 billion related primarily to real estate and business dispositionsin the ordinary course of business.
Refer to Note 16 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for further discussion regarding our guarantees.
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CERTAIN OTHER OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As of December 31, 2018, we had approximately $302 billion of unused credit outstanding as part of established lending product agreements. Total unused credit does not represent potential
future cash requirements, as a significant portion of this unused credit will likely not be drawn. Our charge card products generally have no pre-set limit, and therefore are not reflected in unused
credit available to Card Members.

We provide Card Member protection plans that cover |osses associated with purchased products. The maximum potential liability related to these plansis the portion of annual billed business for
which timely and valid disputes may be raised under applicable law and relevant customer agreements. However, based on historical experience, we believe that thistotal amount is not
representative of our actual potential |oss exposure. The actual amount of the potential exposure cannot be quantified as the billed business volumes which may include or result in claims under
these plans are not sufficiently estimable. Losses related to these protection plans were immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.

Refer to Notes 7 and 13 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for discussion regarding our other off-balance sheet arrangements.

RISK MANAGEMENT

GOVERNANCE

We use our comprehensive Enterprise-wide Risk Management (ERM) program to identify, aggregate, monitor, and manage risks. The program also defines our risk appetite, governance, culture
and capabilities. The implementation and execution of the ERM program is headed by our Chief Risk Officer.

Risk management is overseen by our Board of Directors through three Board committees: the Risk Committee, the Audit and Compliance Committee, and the Compensation and Benefits
Committee. Each committee consists entirely of independent directors and provides regular reports to the full Board regarding matters reviewed at their committee. The committees meet regularly
in private sessions with our Chief Risk Officer, the Chief Compliance & Ethics Officer, the Chief Audit Executive and other senior management with regard to our risk management processes,
controls, talent and capabilities. The Board monitors the “tone at the top,” our risk culture, and oversees emerging and strategic risks.

The Risk Committee of our Board of Directors provides oversight of our enterprise-wide risk management framework, processes and methodol ogies. The Risk Committee approves our ERM
policy. The ERM policy governsrisk governance, risk oversight and risk appetite for risks, including individua credit risk, institutional credit risk, market risk, liquidity risk, operational risk,
reputational risk, compliance risk, model risk, asset/liability risk and strategic and businessrisk. Risk appetite defines the authorized risk limitsto control exposures within our risk capacity and
risk tolerance, including stressed forward-looking scenarios. In addition, it establishes principles for risk taking in the aggregate and for each risk type, and is supported by a comprehensive
system for monitoring limits, escalation triggers and assessing control programs.

The Risk Committee reviews and concurs in the appointment, replacement, performance and compensation of our Chief Risk Officer and receives regular updates from the Chief Risk Officer on
key risks, transactions and exposures.

The Risk Committee reviews our risk profile against the tolerances specified in the Risk Appetite Framework, including significant risk exposures, risk trendsin our portfolios and major risk
concentrations.

The Risk Committee also provides oversight of our compliance with Basel capital and liquidity standards, our Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process, including its Comprehensive
Capital Analysisand Review (CCAR) submissions, and resolution planning.

The Audit and Compliance Committee of our Board of Directors reviews and approves compliance policies, which include our Compliance Risk Tolerance Statement. In addition, the Audit and
Compliance Committee reviews the effectiveness of our Corporate-wide Compliance Risk Management Program. More broadly, this committee isresponsible for assisting the Board in its
oversight responsibilities relating to the integrity of our financial statements and financial reporting process, internal and external auditing, including the qualifications and independence of the
independent registered public accounting firm and the performance of our internal audit services function, and the integrity of our systems of internal controls.

The Audit and Compliance Committee provides oversight of our Internal Audit Group. The Audit and Compliance Committee reviews and concurs in the appointment, replacement, performance

and compensation of our Chief Audit Executive and approves Internal Audit’s annual audit plan, charter, policies and budget. The Audit and Compliance Committee also receives regular updates
on the audit plan’s status and results including significant reportsissued by Internal Audit and the status of our corrective actions.
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The Compensation and Benefits Committee of our Board of Directors works with the Chief Risk Officer to ensure our overall compensation programs, as well as those covering our risk-taking
employees, appropriately balance risk with business incentives and how business performance is achieved without taking imprudent or excessive risk. Our Chief Risk Officer isactively involved
in setting goal's. Our Chief Risk Officer also reviews the current and forward-looking risk profiles of each business unit, and providesinput into performance evaluation. The Chief Risk Officer
meets with the Compensation and Benefits Committee and attests whether performance goal s and results have been achieved without taking imprudent risks. The Compensation and Benefits
Committee uses arisk-balanced incentive compensation framework to decide on our bonus pools and the compensation of senior executives.

There are several internal management committees, including the Enterprise-wide Risk Management Committee (ERMC), chaired by our Chief Risk Officer. The ERMC isthe highest-level
management committee to oversee al firm-wide risks and is responsible for risk governance, risk oversight and risk appetite. It maintains the enterprise-wide risk appetite framework and monitors
compliance with limits and escal ations defined in it. The ERMC oversees implementation of risk policies company-wide. The ERMC reviews key risk exposures, trends and concentrations,
significant compliance matters, and provides guidance on the steps to monitor, control and report major risks.

Asdefined in the ERM policy, we follow the “three lines of defense” approach to risk management. The first line of defense comprises functions and management committees directly initiating
risk taking. Business unit presidents, our Chief Credit Officer, Chief Market Risk Officer and Functional Risk Officer are part of thefirst line of defense. The second line comprises independent
functions overseeing risk-taking activities of thefirst line. The Chief Risk Officer, the Chief Compliance & Ethics Officer, the Chief Operational Risk Officer and certain control groups, both at the
enterprise level and within regulated entities, are part of the second line of defense. The global risk oversight team oversees the policies, strategies, frameworks, models, processes and
capabilities deployed by thefirst line teams and provides challenges and independent assessments on how the first line of defense is managing risks. In addition, the Asset Liability Committee,
chaired by our Chief Financial Officer, isresponsible for managing market, liquidity and asset/liability risk, capital and resolution planning.

Our Internal Audit Group constitutes the third line of defense, and providesindependent assessments and effective challenge of the first and second lines of defense.
CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

Credit risk isdefined as |oss due to obligor or counterparty default or changesin the credit quality of a counterparty or security. Our credit risks are divided into two broad categories: individual
and institutional . Each has distinct risk management capabilities, strategies, and tools. Business units that create individual or institutional credit risk exposures of significant importance are
supported by dedicated risk management teams, each led by a Chief Credit Officer.

INDIVIDUAL CREDIT RISK

Individual credit risk arises from consumer and small business charge cards, credit cards, lines of credit, and term loans. These portfolios consist of millions of customers
across multiple geographies, industries and levels of net worth. We benefit from the high-quality profile of our customers, which is driven by our brand, premium customer
servicing, product features and risk management capabilities, which span underwriting, customer management and collections. Externally, the risk in these portfoliosis
generally correlated to broad economic trends, such as unemployment rates and gross domestic product (GDP) growth.

The business unit leaders and their Chief Credit Officers take the lead in managing the credit risk process. These Chief Credit Officers are guided by the Individua Credit Risk Committee (ICRC),
which is responsible for implementation and enforcement of the Individual Credit Risk Management Policy. The ICRC ensures compliance with ERMC guidelines and procedures and escal ates to
the ERMC as appropriate. The Individual Credit Risk Management Policy is further supported by subordinate policies and operating manual s covering decision logic and processes of credit
extension, including prospecting, new account approval s, point-of-sal e authorizations, credit line management and collections. The subordinate risk policies and operating manuals are designed
to ensure consistent application of risk management principles and standardized reporting of asset quality and loss recognition.

Credit risk management is supported by sophisticated proprietary scoring and decision-making models that use up-to-date information on prospects and customers, such as spending and
payment history and data feeds from credit bureaus. We have devel oped data-driven economic decision logic for customer interactions to better serve our customers.

INSTITUTIONAL CREDIT RISK
Institutional credit risk arises principally within our GCS, GMS, GNS and Foreign Exchange Services businesses, as well asinvestment and liquidity management activities. Unlikeindividua credit

risk, institutional credit risk is characterized by alower loss frequency but higher severity. It is affected both by general economic conditions and by client-specific events. The absence of large
lossesin any given year or over several yearsis not necessarily representative of the level of risk of institutional portfolios, given the infrequency of loss eventsin such portfolios.
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Similar to Individual Credit Risk, business units taking institutional credit risks are supported by Chief Credit Officers. These officers are guided by the Institutional Risk Management Committee
(IRMC), which is responsible for implementation and enforcement of the Institutional Credit Risk Management Policy and for providing guidance to the credit officers of each business unit with
substantial institutional credit risk exposures. The committee, along with the business unit Chief Credit Officers, makesinvestment decisionsin core risk capabilities, ensures proper
implementation of the underwriting standards and contractual rights for risk mitigation, monitors risk exposures, and determines risk mitigation actions. The IRMC formally reviews large
institutional risk exposures to ensure compliance with ERMC guidelines and procedures and escal ates them to the ERMC as appropriate. At the same time, the IRMC provides guidance to the
business unit risk management teams to optimize risk-adjusted returns on capital. A centralized risk rating unit provides risk assessment of our institutional obligors.

ExposuretotheAirlineand Travel Industry

We have multiple important cobrand, rewards, merchant acceptance and corporate payments arrangements with airlines. The ERM program eval uates the risks posed by our airline partners and
the overall airline strategy companywide through comprehensive business analysis of global airlines, and the travel industry more broadly, including cruise lines, travel agencies and tour
operators. Our largest airline partner is Delta, and this rel ationship includes exclusive cobrand credit card partnerships and other arrangements including Membership Rewards redemption,
merchant acceptance, travel and corporate payments. See " We face intense competition for partner relationships, which could result in aloss or renegotiation of these arrangements that could
have a material adverse impact on our business and results of operations" under “Risk Factors” for additional information.

Debt Exposure

As part of our ongoing risk management process, we monitor our financial exposure to both sovereign and non-sovereign customers and counterparties, and measure and manage concentrations
of risk by geographic regions, aswell as by economic sectors and industries. A primary focus areafor monitoring is credit deterioration due to weaknesses in economic and fiscal profiles. We
evaluate countries based on the market assessment of the riskiness of their sovereign debt and our assessment of the economic and financial outlook and closely monitor those deemed high risk.
As of December 31, 2018, we considered our gross credit exposures to government entities, financial institutions and corporationsin those countries deemed high risk to be individually and
collectively not material.

OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

We define operational risk astherisk of not achieving business objectives due to inadequate or failed processes, people, or information systems, or the external environment, including failuresto
comply with laws and regulations. Operational risk isinherent in all business activities and can impact an organization through direct or indirect financial loss, brand damage, customer
dissatisfaction, or legal and regulatory penalties.

To appropriately measure and manage operational risk, we have implemented a comprehensive operational risk framework that is defined in the Operational Risk Management Policy approved by
the Risk Committee. The Operational Risk Management Committee (ORMC), chaired by the Chief Operationa Risk Officer, coordinates with all control groups on effective risk assessments and
controls and oversees the preventive, responsive and mitigation efforts by Operational Excellence teamsin the business units and staff groups.

We use the operational risk framework to identify, measure, monitor and report inherent and emerging operational risks. This framework, supervised by the ORMC, consists of (a) operational risk
event capture, (b) aproject office to coordinate i ssue management and control enhancements, (c) key risk indicators, and (d) process and entity-level risk assessments.

The framework requires the assessment of operational risk events to determine root causes, impact to customers and/or us, and resolution plan accountability to correct any defect, remediate
customers, and enhance controls and testing to mitigate future issues. Theimpact is assessed from an operational, financial, brand, regulatory compliance and legal perspective.

INFORMATION AND CYBER SECURITY

We have implemented an | nformation Security Program and Operating Model that is designed to protect the confidentiality, integrity and availability of information and information systems from
unauthorized access, use, disclosure, disruption, modification or destruction.

Our Information Security Program and Operating Model are based on the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Cybersecurity Common Standards Framework, which consist of
controls designed to identify, protect, detect, respond and recover from information and cyber security incidents. The framework defines risks and associated controls which are embedded in our
processes and technology. Those controls are measured and monitored by a combination of subject matter experts and a security operations center with our integrated cyber detection, response
and recovery capabilities.

Chaired by the Chief Information Security Officer, our Information Security Risk Management Committee, a sub-committee of the ORMC, provides governance for our information security risk
management program. The Information Security and Technology Oversight team provides independent challenge and assessment of the information, cyber security and technology risk
management programs.

See“ A major information or cyber security incident or an increasein fraudulent activity could lead to reputational damage to our brand and significant legal, regulatory and financial
exposure, and could reduce the use and acceptance of our charge and credit cards’ under “Risk Factors’ for additional information.
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PRIVACY AND DATA GOVERNANCE

Our Privacy Framework and Operating Model follow a similar structure. Chaired by the Chief Privacy Officer, our Privacy Risk Management Committee, a sub-committee of the ORMC, provides
oversight and governance for our privacy program. The committee is responsible for the governance over the collection, notice, use, sharing, transfer, confidentiality and retention of personal
data.

Our Enterprise Data Governance Framework and Policy defines governance requirements for data used in critical processes.
COMPLIANCE RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

We define compliancerisk astherisk of legal or reputational harm, fines, monetary penalties and payment of damages or other forms of sanction as aresult of non-compliance with applicable
laws, regulations, rules or standards of conduct.

We view our ability to effectively mitigate compliance risk as an important aspect of our business model. Our Global Compliance and Ethics organization is responsible for establishing and
maintaining our corporate-wide Compliance Risk Management Program. Pursuant to this program, we seek to manage and mitigate compliance risk by assessing, controlling, monitoring,
measuring and reporting the legal and regulatory risks to which we are exposed. The Compliance Risk Management Committee (CRMC), chaired by the Chief Compliance and Ethics Officer, is
responsible for identifying, evaluating, managing, and escalating compliance risks. The CRMC has adual reporting relationship directly to both the ERMC and the Audit and Compliance
Committee.

We have a comprehensive Anti-Money Laundering program that monitors and reports suspi cious activity to the appropriate government authorities. As part of that program, the Global Risk
Oversight team provides independent risk assessment of the rules used by the Anti-Money Laundering team. In addition, the Internal Audit Group reviews the processes for practices consistent
with regulatory guidance.

REPUTATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

We define reputational risk astherisk that negative stakeholder reaction to our products, services, client and partner relationships, business activities and policies, management and workplace
culture, or our response to unexpected events, could cause sustained, critical media coverage, adeclinein revenue or investment, talent attrition, litigation, or government or regulatory scrutiny.

We view protecting our reputation for excellent customer service, trust, security and high integrity as core to our vision of providing the world’ s best customer experience and fundamental to our
long-term success.

Our business |eaders are responsible for considering the reputational risk implications of business activities and strategies and ensuring the relevant subject matter experts are engaged as
needed. The ERMC isresponsible for ensuring reputational risk considerations are included in the scope of appropriate subordinate risk policies and committees and properly reflected in al
decisions escalated to the ERMC.

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

Market risk istherisk to earnings or asset and liability values resulting from movementsin market prices. Our market risk exposuresinclude interest rate risk and foreign exchange risk. Interest
rate risk isdriven by the relationship between interest rates on assets (such as loans, receivables and investment securities) and interest rates on liabilities (such as debt and deposits). Foreign
exchange risk arises from transactions, funding, investments and earningsin currencies other than the U.S. dollar.

Our Asset-Liability Management (ALM) and Market Risk policies establish the framework that guides and governs market risk management, including quantitative limits and escalation triggers.
These policies are approved by the Risk Committee of the Board of Directors or Market Risk Management Committee.

Market risk is managed by the Market Risk Management Committee. The Market Risk Oversight Officer provides an independent risk assessment and oversight over the policies and exposure
management for market risk and ALM activities, aswell as overseeing compliance with the Volcker Rule and other regulatory requirements. Market risk management is also guided and governed
by policies covering the use of derivative financial instruments, funding, liquidity and investments.

We analyze avariety of interest rate scenarios to inform us of the potential impacts from interest rate changes on earnings and the value of assets, liabilities and the economic value of equity. Our
interest rate exposure can vary over time as aresult of, among other things, the proportion of our total funding provided by variable-and fixed-rate debt and deposits compared to our Card
Member loans and receivables. Interest rate swaps are used from time to time to effectively convert debt issuances to (or from) variable-rate, from (or to) fixed-rate. We do not engage in derivative
financial instruments for trading purposes other than with respect to our Foreign Exchange International Payments business activities. Refer to Note 14 to the “ Consolidated Financial

Statements” for further discussion of our derivative financial instruments.
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As of December 31, 2018, a hypothetical, immediate 100 basis point increase in market interest rates would have a detrimental effect on our annual net interest income of approximately $177
million. This measure first projects net interest income over the following twelve-month time horizon considering forecasted business growth and anticipated future market interest rates. The
detrimental impact from arate increase is then measured by instantaneously increasing the anticipated future interest rates by 100 basis points. It is further assumed that our interest-rate sensitive
assets and the majority of our liabilities that reprice within the twelve-month horizon generally reprice by 100 basis points. Our estimated repricing risk assumes that certain deposit liabilities
reprice at alower magnitude than benchmark rate movements consistent with historical deposit repricing experience in the industry and within our own portfolio. Actual changesin our net
interest income will depend on many factors, and therefore may differ from our estimated risk to changes in market interest rates.

In addition to parallel rate changes, our net interest income is subject to changes in the relationship between market benchmark rates. For example, movementsin Prime rate change theyield on a
large portion of our variable-rate U.S. lending receivables and loans, while LIBOR rates determine the effective interest rate on asignificant portion of our outstanding funding. Differencesin the
rate of change of these two benchmark indices, commonly referred to as basis risk, would thus impact our net interest income. The detrimental effect on our net interest income of a hypothetical
10 basis point decrease in the spread between Prime and LIBOR over the next twelve monthsis estimated to be $27 million. We currently have approximately $45 billion of Prime-based, variable-
rate U.S. lending receivables and loans and $27 billion of LIBOR-indexed debt, including asset securitizations. The replacement of LIBOR as a benchmark rate can have afurther detrimental impact
on our LIBOR-indexed debt if rates suddenly rise as new market activity transfers to other benchmark curves, such as the Secured Overnight Financing Rate.

Foreign exchange exposures arise in four principal ways: 1) Card Member spending in currencies that are not the billing currency, 2) cross-currency transactions and balances from our funding
activities, 3) cross-currency investing activities, such asin the equity of foreign subsidiaries, and 4) revenues generated and expenses incurred in foreign currencies, which impact earnings.

These foreign exchange risks are managed primarily by entering into foreign exchange spot transactions or hedged with foreign exchange forward contracts when the hedge costs are
economically justified and in notional amounts designed to offset pretax impacts from currency movements in the period in which they occur. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, foreign currency
derivative instruments with total notional amounts of approximately $29 billion and $30 billion were outstanding, respectively.

With respect to Card Member spending and cross-currency transactions, including related foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding, a hypothetical 10 percent strengthening of the U.S.
dollar would result in an immaterial impact to projected earnings as of December 31, 2018. With respect to translation exposure of foreign subsidiary equity balances, including related foreign
exchange forward contracts outstanding, a hypothetical 10 percent strengthening of the U.S. dollar would result in an immaterial reduction in other comprehensive income and equity as of
December 31, 2018. With respect to earnings denominated in foreign currencies, the adverse impact on pretax income of a hypothetical 10 percent strengthening of the U.S. dollar related to
anticipated overseas operating results for the next twelve months would be approximately $140 million as of December 31, 2018. We refined our process to forecast future earnings denominated in
foreign currencies that resulted in areclassification of certain forecasted expenses from U.S. dollar to foreign currencies. The same sensitivity analysis as of December 31, 2017, using the refined
process, would have been approximately $154 million.

To amuch lesser extent, we are also subject to market risk arising from activities conducted by our Foreign Exchange I nternational Payments business. We aim to minimize market risk from these
activities through hedging, where appropriate, and the establishment of limits to define and protect the company from excessive exposure.

The actual impact of interest rate and foreign exchange rate changes will depend on, among other factors, the timing of rate changes, the extent to which different rates do not move in the same
direction or in the same direction to the same degree, changes in the cost, volume and mix of our hedging activities and changesin the volume and mix of our businesses.

FUNDING & LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

Liquidity risk isdefined as our inability to meet our ongoing financial and business obligations as they become due at a reasonabl e cost.

Our Board-approved Liquidity Risk Policy establishes the framework that guides and governs liquidity risk management.

Liquidity risk is managed by the Funding and Liquidity Committee. In addition, the Market Risk Oversight Officer provides independent oversight of liquidity risk management. We manage
liquidity risk by maintaining accessto a diverse set of cash, readily-marketable securities and contingent sources of liquidity, such that we can continuously meet our business requirements and
expected future financing obligations for at least a twelve-month period in the event we are unable to raise new funds under our regular funding programs during a substantial weakening in
economic conditions. We consider the trade-offs between maintaining too much liquidity, which can be costly and limit financial flexibility, and having inadequate liquidity, which may result in
financial distress during aliquidity event.

Liquidity risk is managed at an aggregate consolidated level aswell as at certain subsidiariesin order to ensure that sufficient and accessible liquidity resources are maintained. The Funding and

Liquidity Committee reviews forecasts of our aggregate and subsidiary cash positions and financing requirements, approves funding plans designed to satisfy those requirements under normal
and stressed conditions, establishes guidelines to identify the amount of liquidity resources required and monitors positions and determines any actions to be taken.
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MODEL RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

We define model risk as therisk of adverse consequences, such as financial loss, poor business and strategic decision making, or damage to our reputation, from decisions based on incorrect or
misused model outputs and reports.

We manage model risk through acomprehensive model governance framework, including policies and procedures for model development, independent model validation and change management
capabilities that seek to minimize erroneous model methodol ogy, outputs and misuse. We al so assess model performance on an ongoing basis.

STRATEGIC AND BUSINESSRISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS

Strategic and businessrisk istherisk related to our inability to achieve our business objectives due to poor strategic decisions, including decisions related to mergers, acquisitions, and
divestitures, poor implementation of strategic decisions or declining demand for our products and services.

Strategic decisions are reviewed and approved by business |eaders and various committees and must be aligned with company policies. We seek to manage strategic and business risks through
risk controls embedded in these processes as well as overall risk management oversight over business goals. Existing product performanceis reviewed periodically by committees and business
leaders. Mergers, acquisitions and divestitures can only be approved following Deal Committee due diligence, a comprehensive risk assessment by operational, market, credit and oversight
leaders provided to the Chief Risk Officer and approval by either the Chief Risk Officer or appropriate risk committees. All new products and material changesin business processes are reviewed
and approved by the New Products Committee and appropriate credit or risk committees.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Refer to Note 1 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for asummary of our significant accounting policies. Certain of our accounting policies requiring significant management assumptions
and judgments are as follows:

RESERVESFOR CARD MEMBER LOSSES
Reserves for Card Member |osses represent our best estimate of the probable losses inherent in our outstanding portfolio of Card Member loans and receivables, as of the balance sheet date.

In estimating these | osses, we use statistical and analytical models that analyze portfolio performance and reflect our judgment regarding the quantitative components of the reserve. The models
take into account several factors, including delinquency-based |oss migration rates, |oss emergence periods and average | osses and recoveries over an appropriate historical period. We also
consider whether to adjust the quantitative reserve for certain external and internal qualitative factors that may increase or decrease the reserves for losses on Card Member |oans and receivables.
Refer to Note 4 to the "Consolidated Financial Statements" for additional information.

The process of estimating these reserves reguires a high degree of judgment. To the extent historical credit experience, updated for any external and internal qualitative factors such as
environmental trends, is not indicative of future performance, actual losses could differ significantly from our judgments and expectations, resulting in either higher or lower future provisionsfor
Card Member lossesin any quarter.

As of December 31, 2018, a 10 percent increase in our estimate of losses inherent in the outstanding portfolio of Card Member loans and receivables, evaluated collectively for impairment, would
increase reserves for |osses with a corresponding change to provisions for |osses by approximately $271 million. This sensitivity analysisis provided as a hypothetical scenario to assess the
sensitivity of the provisions for losses. It does not represent our expectations for losses in the future, nor does it include how other portfolio factors such as delinquency-based loss migration
rates or recoveries, or the amount of outstanding bal ances, may impact the level of reserves for losses and the corresponding impact on the provisions for losses.

LIABILITY FOR MEMBERSHIP REWARDS

The Membership Rewards program is our largest card-based rewards program. Card Members can earn points for purchases charged on their enrolled card products. A significant portion of our
cards, by their terms, allow Card Membersto earn bonus points for purchases at merchants in particular industry categories. Membership Rewards points are redeemable for abroad variety of
rewards, including travel, shopping, gift cards, and covering eligible charges. Points typically do not expire, and thereis no limit on the number of points a Card Member may earn. Membership
Rewards expense is driven by charge volume on enrolled cards, customer participation in the program and contractual arrangements with redemption partners.

We record a Membership Rewards liability that represents the estimated cost of points earned that are expected to be redeemed by Card Membersin the future. The Membership Rewards liability
isimpacted over time by enrollment levels, attrition, the volume of points earned and redeemed, and the associated redemption costs. We estimate the Membership Rewards liability by
determining the URR and the WAC per point, which are applied to the points of current enrollees. Refer to Note 10 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information.

The URR assumption is used to estimate the number of points earned by current enrollees that will ultimately be redeemed in future periods. We use statistical and actuarial models to estimate the
URR of points earned to date by current Card Members based on redemption trends, card product type, enrollment tenure, card spend levels and credit attributes. The WAC per point assumption
is used to estimate future redemption costs and is primarily based on redemption choices made by Card Members, reward offerings by partners, and Membership Rewards program changes. The
WAC per point is derived from the previous 12 months of redemptions and is adjusted as appropriate for certain changes in redemption costs that are not representative of future cost
expectations.

We periodically evaluate our liability estimation process and assumptions based on devel opments in redemption patterns, cost per point redeemed, partner contract changes and other factors.

The process of estimating the Membership Rewards liability includes a high degree of judgment. Actual redemptions and associated redemption costs could differ significantly from our
estimates, resulting in either higher or lower Membership Rewards expense.

Changesin the Membership Rewards URR and WAC per point have the effect of either increasing or decreasing the liability through the current period Membership Rewards expense by an
amount estimated to cover the cost of all points previously earned but not yet redeemed by current enrollees as of the end of the reporting period. As of December 31, 2018, anincreasein the
estimated URR of current enrollees of 25 basis points would increase the Membership Rewards liability and corresponding rewards expense by approximately $113 million. Similarly, anincreasein
the WAC per point of 1 basis point would increase the Membership Rewards liability and corresponding rewards expense by approximately $106 million.
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GOODWILL RECOVERABILITY

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost of an acquired business over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Goodwill isnot amortized but is tested for impairment at
thereporting unit level annually or when events or circumstances arise, such as adverse changes in the business climate, that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit
below its carrying value. Our methodology for conducting this goodwill impairment testing contains both a qualitative and quantitative assessment.

We have the option to initially perform an assessment of qualitative factorsin order to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of areporting unit is less than its carrying
amount. The qualitative factors may include, but are not limited to, economic conditions, industry and market considerations, cost factors, overall financial performance of the reporting unit and
other company and reporting unit-specific events. If we determine that it is more likely than not that the fair value of areporting unit isless than its carrying amount, we then perform the
impairment eval uation using a more detailed quantitative assessment. We could also directly perform this quantitative assessment for any reporting unit, bypassing the qualitative assessment.

Our methodology for conducting the quantitative goodwill impairment testing is fundamentally based on the measurement of fair value for our reporting units, which inherently entails the use of
significant management judgment. For valuation, we use a combination of the income approach (discounted cash flows) and market approach (market multiples) in estimating the fair value of our
reporting units.

When preparing discounted cash flow models under the income approach, we estimate future cash flows using the reporting unit’sinternal multi-year forecast, and aterminal value calculated
using agrowth rate that we believe is appropriate in light of current and expected future economic conditions. To discount these cash flows we use our expected cost of equity, determined using
acapital asset pricing model. When using the market method under the market approach, we apply comparable publicly traded companies multiples (e.g., earnings, revenues) to our reporting
units’ actual results. The judgment in estimating forecasted cash flows, discount rates and market comparables is significant, and imprecision could materially affect the fair value of our reporting
units.

We could be exposed to an increased risk of further goodwill impairment if future operating results or macroeconomic conditions differ significantly from management’s current assumptions.
INCOME TAXES
We are subject to the income tax laws of the United States, its states and municipalities and those of the foreigr;i)uri sdictions in which we operate. These tax laws are

complex, and the manner in which they apply to the taxpayer’s facts is sometimes open to interpretation. In establishing a provision for income tax expense, we must make
judgments about the application of inherently complex tax laws.

In particular, the Tax Act iscomplex and requiresinterpretation of certain provisions to estimate the impact on our income tax expense. The estimates are based on the information available and
our current interpretation of the Tax Act, and may change due to changes in interpretations and assumptions we make and additional guidance or context from the Internal Revenue Service, the
U.S. Treasury Department, the Financial Accounting Standards Board or others regarding the Tax Act. Refer to Note 21 to the "Consolidated Financial Statements" for additional information.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits

We establish aliability for unrecognized tax benefits, which are the differences between atax position taken or expected to be taken in atax return and the benefit recognized in the financial
statements.

In establishing aliability for an unrecognized tax benefit, assumptions may be made in determining whether, and the extent to which, atax position should be sustained. A tax positionis
recognized only when it is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by the relevant taxing authority, based on its technical merits. The amount of tax benefit recognized is the largest
benefit that we believe is more likely than not to be realized on ultimate settlement. As new information becomes available, we evaluate our tax positions and adjust our unrecognized tax benefits,
as appropriate.

Tax benefits ultimately realized can differ from amounts previously recognized due to uncertainties, with any such differences generally impacting the provision for income tax.

Deferred Tax Asset Realization

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using the enacted tax rates expected to be in effect
for the yearsin which the differences are expected to reverse.

Since deferred taxes measure the future tax effects of items recognized in the Consolidated Financial Statements, certain estimates and assumptions are required to determine whether it is more
likely than not that all or some portion of the benefit of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. In making this assessment, we analyze and estimate the impact of future taxable income, reversing
temporary differences and available tax planning strategies. These assessments are performed quarterly, taking into account any new information.

Changesin facts or circumstances can lead to changes in the ultimate realization of deferred tax assets due to uncertainties.
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OTHER MATTERS

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Refer to the Recently Issued Accounting Standards section of Note 1 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements.”

GLOSSARY OF SELECTED TERMINOLOGY

Adjusted net interest income — A non-GAAP measure that represents net interest income attributable to our Card Member loans and loans HFS (which includes, on aGAAP basis, interest that is
deemed uncollectible), excluding theimpact of interest expense and interest income not attributable to our Card Member loans. We believe adjusted net interest income is useful to investors
because it represents the interest expense and interest income attributable to our Card Member loan portfolio and it is acomponent of net interest yield on average Card Member |oans.

Asset securitizations — Asset securitization involves the transfer and sale of 1oans or receivables to a special-purpose entity created for the securitization activity, typically atrust. Thetrust, in
turn, issues securities, commonly referred to as asset-backed securities that are secured by the transferred loans and receivables. The trust uses the proceeds from the sale of such securitiesto
pay the purchase price for the underlying loans or receivables. The loans and receivables of our Lending Trust and Charge Trust (collectively, the Trusts) securitized are reported as assets and
the securities issued by the Trusts are reported as liabilities on our “ Consolidated Balance Sheets.”

Average discount rate— This calculation is generally designed to reflect the average pricing at all merchants accepting American Express cards and represents the percentage of proprietary and
GNS billed business retained by us from merchants we acquire, or from merchants acquired by third parties on our behalf, net of amounts retained by such third parties.

Billed business — Represents transaction volumes (including cash advances) on cards and other payment productsissued by American Express (proprietary billed business) and cards issued
under network partnership agreements with banks and other institutions, including joint ventures (GNS billed business). In-store spending activity within GNS retail cobrand portfolios, from
which we earn no revenue, is not included in billed business. Billed businessis reported as in the United States or outside the United States based on the location of the issuer.

Capital ratios— Represents the minimum standards established by the regul atory agencies as a measure to determine whether the regulated entity has sufficient capital to absorb on- and off-
balance sheet |osses beyond current loss accrual estimates. Refer to the Capital Strategy section under “ Consolidated Capital Resources and Liquidity” for further related definitions under Basel
1.

Cards-in-force — Represents the number of cards that are issued and outstanding by American Express (proprietary cards-in-force) and cards issued and outstanding under network partnership
agreements with banks and other institutions, including joint ventures (GNS cards-in-force), except for GNSretail cobrand cards that had no out-of-store spending activity during the prior twelve
months. Basic cards-in-force excludes supplemental cardsissued on consumer accounts.

Card Member — Theindividual holder of an issued American Express-branded charge, credit and certain prepaid cards.

Card Member |oans — Represents the outstanding amount due from Card Members for charges made on their American Express credit cards, aswell as any interest charges and card-related
fees. Card Member loans also include revolving balances on certain American Express charge card products.

Card Member loans and receivables HFS— Beginning as of December 1, 2015 and continuing until the sales were completed, represents Card Member |oans and receivables related to our
cobrand partnerships with Costco in the United States and JetBlue. The JetBlue and Costco portfolio sales were completed on March 18 and June 17, 2016, respectively.

Card Member receivables — Represents the outstanding amount due from Card Members for charges made on their American Express charge cards, aswell as any card-related fees, other than
revolving balances on certain American Express charge cards with Pay Over Time features. Such revolving balances are included within Card Member loans.

Charge cards — Represents cards that generally carry no pre-set spending limits and are primarily designed as a method of payment and not as a means of financing purchases. Charge Card
Members generally must pay the full amount billed each month. No finance charges are assessed on charge cards. Each charge card transaction is authorized based on itslikely economics
reflecting a Card Member’s most recent credit information and spend patterns. Some charge card accounts have additional Pay Over Time feature(s) that allow revolving of certain charges.

Cobrand cards— Cards issued under cobrand agreements with selected commercial firms. Pursuant to the cobrand agreements, we make payments to our cobrand partners, which can be
significant, based primarily on the amount of Card Member spending and corresponding rewards earned on such spending and, under certain arrangements, on the number of accounts acquired
and retained. The partner isthen liable for providing rewards to the Card Member under the cobrand partner’s own loyalty program.
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Credit cards — Represents cards that have arange of revolving payment terms, grace periods, and rate and fee structures.

Discount revenue — Primarily represents revenue earned from fees charged to merchants who have entered into a card acceptance agreement. The discount fee is generally deducted from our
payment for Card Member purchases.

Interest expense — Includesinterest incurred primarily to fund Card Member loans and receivables, general corporate purposes and liquidity needs, and is recognized asincurred. I nterest
expenseisdivided principally into two categories: (i) deposits, which primarily relates to interest expense on deposits taken from customers and institutions, and (ii) debt, which primarily relates
to interest expense on our long-term financing and short-term borrowings, (e.g., commercial paper, federal funds purchased, bank overdrafts and other short-term borrowings), as well asthe
realized impact of derivatives hedging interest rate risk on our long-term debt.

Interest income — Includes (i) interest on loans, (ii) interest and dividends on investment securities and (iii) interest income on deposits with banks and other.

Interest on loans — Assessed using the average daily balance method for Card Member loans and loans HFS. Unless the loan is classified as non-accrual, interest is recognized based upon the
principal amount outstanding in accordance with the terms of the applicable account agreement until the outstanding balanceis paid or written off.

Interest and dividends on investment securities — Primarily relates to our performing fixed-income securities. Interest incomeis recognized as earned using the effective interest method, which
adjusts the yield for security premiums and discounts, fees and other payments, so a constant rate of return is recognized on the outstanding balance of the related investment security
throughout its term. Amounts are recognized until securitiesarein default or when it islikely that future interest payments will not be made as scheduled.

Interest income on deposits with banks and other — Recognized as earned, and primarily relates to the placement of cash in excess of near-term funding requirements in interest-bearing time
deposits, overnight sweep accounts, and other interest-bearing demand and call accounts.

Liquidity Coverage Ratio — Represents the minimum standards established by the regul atory agencies as ameasure to determine whether the regulated entity has sufficient liquidity to meet
liquidity needsin periods of financial and economic stress.

Merchant acquisition — Represents our process of entering into agreements with merchants to accept American Express-branded cards.

Net card fees— Represents the card membership fees earned during the period. These fees are recognized as revenue over the covered card membership period (typically one year), net of the
provision for projected refunds for Card Membership cancellation and deferred acquisition costs.

Net interest yield on average Card Member loans— A non-GAAP measure that is computed by dividing adjusted net interest income by average Card Member |oans, computed on an
annualized basis. Reserves and net write-offs related to uncollectible interest are recorded through provisions for losses, and are thus not included in the net interest yield calculation. We believe
net interest yield on average Card Member loansis useful to investors because it provides ameasure of profitability of our Card Member [oan portfolio.

Net loss ratio — Represents the ratio of GCP charge card write-offs, consisting of principal (resulting from authorized transactions) and fee components, |ess recoveries, on Card Member
receivables expressed as a percentage of gross amounts billed to corporate Card Members.

Net write-off rate— principal only — Represents the amount of proprietary consumer or small business Card Member loans or receivables written off, consisting of principal (resulting from
authorized transactions), less recoveries, as a percentage of the average |oan or receivables balance during the period.

Net write-off rate— principal, interest and fees— Includes, in the calculation of the net write-off rate, amounts for interest and fees in addition to principal for Card Member loans and feesin
addition to principal for Card Member receivables.

Operating expenses — Represents salaries and employee benefits, professional services, occupancy and equipment, and other expenses.

Return on aver age equity — Calculated by dividing one-year period net income by one-year average total shareholders’ equity.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Thisreport includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, which are subject to risks and uncertainties. The forward-looking
statements, which address our current expectations regarding business and financial performance, among other matters, contain words such as “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,”
“am,” “will,” “may,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “likely,” and similar expressions. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of
the date on which they are made. We undertake no obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause actual resultsto differ materially from these forward-
looking statements, include, but are not limited to, the following:

o our ability to grow earnings per share in the future, which will depend in part on revenue growth, credit performance and the effective tax rate remaining consistent with current expectations,
the company’ s ability to control operating expense growth and generate operating leverage, and the company’s ability to continue executing its share repurchase program, any of which
could beimpacted by, among other things, the factorsidentified in the subsequent paragraphs as well as the following: issuesimpacting brand perceptions and our reputation; the impact of
any future contingencies, including, but not limited to, litigation-related settlements, judgments or expenses, the imposition of fines or civil money penalties, increasesin Card Member
reimbursements, restructurings, impairments and changes in reserves; the amount we spend on customer engagement and our inability to drive growth from such investments; changesin
interest rates beyond current expectations (including the impact of hedge ineffectiveness and deposit rate increases); a greater impact from new or renegotiated cobrand agreements than
expected, which could be affected by spending volumes and customer engagement; and the impact of regulation and litigation, which could affect the profitability of our business activities,
limit our ability to pursue business opportunities, require changes to business practices or alter our relationships with partners, merchants and Card Members;

e our ability to grow revenues net of interest expense, which could be impacted by, among other things, weakening economic conditionsin the United States or internationally, adeclinein
consumer confidence impacting the willingness and ability of Card Membersto sustain and grow spending and revolve balances, growth in Card Member loans and the yield on Card
Member loans not remaining consistent with current expectations, a greater decline of the average discount rate than expected, the strengthening of the U.S. dollar beyond expectations, the
willingness of Card Membersto pay higher card fees, lower spending on new cards acquired than estimated, and our inability to address competitive pressures and implement our strategies
and business initiatives, including within the premium consumer segment, commercial payments, the global network and digital environment;

e changesin the substantial and increasing worldwide competition in the payments industry, including competitive pressure that may impact the prices we charge merchants that accept
American Express cards, competition for new and existing cobrand relationships, competition from new and non-traditional competitors and the success of marketing, promotion and rewards
programs;

o theaverage discount rate changing by agreater amount than anticipated, including as aresult of changesin the mix of spending by location and industry, merchant negotiations (including
merchant incentives, concessions and volume-related pricing discounts), pricing initiatives, competition, pricing regulation (including regulation of competitors' interchange ratesin the
European Union and elsewhere) and other factors;

e our delinquency and write-off rates and growth of provisions for losses being higher or lower than current expectations, which will depend in part on changesin the level of loan and
receivable balances and delinquencies generally, as well as macroeconomic factors, the mix of balances, newer vintages and balance transfers, loans and receivables related to new Card
Members and other borrowers performing as expected, credit performance of new and enhanced lending products, unemployment rates, the volume of bankruptcies, collections capabilities
and recoveries of previously written-off loans and receivables;

« our ability to continue to grow loans, which may be affected by increasing competition, brand perceptions and reputation, our ability to manage risk, the behavior of Card Members and their
actual spending and borrowing patterns, and our ability to issue new and enhanced card products, offer attractive non-card lending products, capture a greater share of existing Card
Members' spending and borrowings, reduce Card Member attrition and attract new customers;

e our netinterest yield on average Card Member loans not remaining consistent with current expectations, which will be influenced by, among other things, the difference between the prime
rate and our cost of funds, changesin consumer behavior that affect loan balances (such as paydown rates), our Card Member acquisition strategy, product mix, credit actions, including line
size and other adjustments to credit availability, changesin thelevel of loans at promotional rates and other pricing changes, which could be impacted by, among other things, changesin
benchmark interest rates, competitive pressure and regulatory constraints;

« theactual amount to be spent on customer engagement, which will be based in part on management’s assessment of competitive opportunities; overall business performance and changesin
macroeconomic conditions; our ability to cost effectively enhance card products and services to make them attractive to Card Members; Card Member behavior asit relates to their spending
patterns (including the level of spend in bonus categories) and the redemption of rewards and offers, aswell as the degree of interest of Card Membersin the value propositions we offer; the
costs related to reward point redemptions, advertising and Card Member acquisition; our ability to continue to shift Card Member acquisition to digital channels; new and renegotiated
contractual obligations with business partners; and the pace and cost of the expansion of our global lounge collection;

69




Table of Contents

e our ability to control operating expense growth, which could be impacted by the need to increase significant categories of operating expenses, such as consulting or professional fees,
including as aresult of increased litigation, compliance or regulatory-related costs, or cyber or fraud costs; higher than expected employee levels; an inability to innovate efficient channels of
customer interactions, such as chat supported by artificial intelligence, or customer acquisition; the impact of changesin foreign currency exchange rates on costs; the payment of civil
money penalties, disgorgement, restitution, non-income tax assessments and litigation-related settlements; impairments of goodwill or other assets; management’s decision to increase or
decrease spending in such areas as technology, business and product development and sales forces; greater -than -expected inflation; and the level of M& A activity and related expenses;

o our ability to satisfy our commitments to certain of our cobrand partners as part of the ongoing operations of the business, which will be impacted in part by competition, brand perceptions
and reputation, and our ability to develop and market value propositions that appeal to current cobrand Card Members and new customers and offer attractive services and rewards
programs, which will depend in part on ongoing investments, new product innovation and development, Card Member acquisition efforts and enrollment processes, including through digital
channels, and infrastructure to support new products, services and benefits;

o changes affecting our plans regarding the return of capital to shareholders through dividends and share repurchases, which will depend on factors such as our capital levels and regulatory
capital ratios; changes in the stress testing and capital planning process and the continued non-objection by our primary regulators to our capital plans; the amount of capital required to
support asset growth; the amount we spend on acquisitions of companies; and our results of operations and financial condition; and the economic environment and market conditionsin any
given period;

e oOur tax rate not remaining consistent with current expectations, which could be impacted by, among other things, the company’s geographic mix of income, further changesin tax laws and
regulation, unfavorable tax audits and other unanticipated tax items;

o afailurein or breach of our operational or security systems, processes or infrastructure, or those of third parties, including as aresult of cyberattacks, which could compromise the
confidentiality, integrity, privacy and/or security of data, disrupt our operations, reduce the use and acceptance of American Express cards and lead to regulatory scrutiny, litigation,
remediation and response costs, and reputational harm;

¢ our deposit ratesincreasing faster or slower than current expectations and changes affecting our ability to grow Personal Savings deposits due to market demand, changes in benchmark
interest rates, competition or regulatory restrictions on our ability to obtain deposit funding or offer competitive interest rates, which could affect our net interest yield and ability to fund our
businesses;

¢ our funding plan being implemented in a manner inconsistent with current expectations, which will depend on various factors such as future business growth, the impact of global economic,
political and other events on market capacity, demand for securities we offer, regulatory changes, ability to securitize and sell receivables and the performance of receivables previously sold
in securitization transactions,

¢ changesin global economic and business conditions, consumer and business spending generally, the availability and cost of capital, unemployment rates, geopolitical conditions, Brexit,
prolonged or recurring government shutdowns, trade policies, foreign currency rates and interest rates, all of which may significantly affect demand for and spending on American Express
cards, delinquency rates, loan and receivable balances and other aspects of our business and results of operations;

¢ changesin capital and credit market conditions, which may significantly affect our ability to meet our liquidity needs, expectations regarding capital and liquidity ratios, access to capital and
cost of capital, including changesin interest rates, changes in market conditions affecting the valuation of our assets; or any reduction in our credit ratings or those of our subsidiaries,
which could materially increase the cost and other terms of our funding or restrict our access to the capital markets;

¢ legal and regulatory developments, which could require us to make fundamental changes to many of our business practices, including our ability to continue certain cobrand and agent
relationshipsin their current form; exert further pressure on the average discount rate and GNS volumes; result in increased costs related to regulatory oversight, litigation-related
settlements, judgments or expenses, restitution to Card Members or the imposition of fines or civil money penalties; materially affect our capital or liquidity requirements, results of operations
or ability to pay dividends or repurchase stock; or result in harm to the American Express brand;

« changesinthefinancial condition and creditworthiness of our business partners, such as bankruptcies, restructurings or consolidations, including merchants that represent a significant
portion of our business, such asthe airlineindustry, or our partnersin GNS or financial institutions that we rely on for routine funding and liquidity, which could materially affect our financial
condition or results of operations; and

« factorsbeyond our control such asfire, power loss, disruptionsin telecommunications, severe weather conditions, natural disasters, health pandemics or terrorism, any of which could
significantly affect demand for and spending on American Express cards, delinquency rates, loan and receivable balances and other aspects of our business and results of operations or
disrupt our global network systems and ability to process transactions.

A further description of these uncertainties and other risks can be found in “Risk Factors’ above and our other reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Refer to “Risk Management” under “MD&A” for quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTSAND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting.

Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP), and includes those policies and procedures that:

Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and dispositions of assets;

Provide reasonabl e assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statementsin accordance with GAAP, and that our receipts and expenditures are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

Provide reasonabl e assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have amaterial effect on the financial
statements.

Because of itsinherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivenessto future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changesin conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018. In making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal Control —Integrated Framework (2013).

Based on management’s assessment and those criteria, we conclude that, as of December 31, 2018, our internal control over financial reporting is effective.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LL P, our independent registered public accounting firm, has issued an audit report appearing on the following page on the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2018.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS OF AMERICAN EXPRESS COMPANY::
Opinionson the Financial Statementsand Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of American Express Company and its subsidiaries ("the Company") as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, cash flows and shareholders’ equity for each of the three yearsin the period ended December 31, 2018, including the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “ consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company'sinternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three yearsin the period ended December 31, 2018 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Alsoin our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effectiveinternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal
Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basisfor Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility isto express
opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company’sinternal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with
the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securitieslaws
and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our auditsin accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonabl e assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statementsincluded performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on atest basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included eval uating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, and testing and eval uating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide areasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’sinternal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’sinternal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have amaterial effect on the financial statements.
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Because of itsinherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

New York, New Y ork

February 13, 2019

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2005.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTSOF INCOME

Y ears Ended December 31 (Millions, except per share amounts) 2018 2017 2016
Revenues
Non-interest revenues
Discount revenue $ 24721 $ 22890 $ 22,377
Net card fees 3,441 3,090 2,886
Other fees and commissions 3,153 2,990 2,718
Other 1,360 1457 1678
Total non-interest revenues 32,675 30,427 29,659
Interest income
Interest on loans 9,941 8,148 7,214
Interest and dividends on investment securities 118 89 131
Deposits with banks and other 547 326 139
Total interest income 10,606 8,563 7484
Interest expense
Deposits 1,287 779 598
Long-term debt and other 1,656 1,333 1,107
Total interest expense 2,943 2112 1,705
Net interest income 7,663 6.451 5779
Total revenues net of interest expense 40,338 36,878 35,438
Provisionsfor losses
Charge card 937 795 696
Card Member loans 2,266 1,868 1,235
Other 149 97 96
Total provisionsfor losses 3,352 2,760 2,027
Total revenues net of interest expense after provisions for losses 36.986 34,118 33411
Expenses
Marketing and business devel opment 6,470 5,722 6,249
Card Member rewards 9,696 8,687 7,819
Card Member services 1,777 1,392 1,100
Salaries and employee benefits 5,250 5,258 5,259
Other, net 5,671 5,634 4,942
Total expenses 28,864 26,693 25,369
Pretax income 8,122 7,425 8,042
Income tax provision 1,201 4,677 2,667
Net income $ 6921 $ 2748 $ 5375
Earnings per Common Share — (Note 22)(a)
Basic $ 793 % 300 $ 5.63
Diluted $ 791 $ 29 $ 5.61
Average common shares outstanding for earnings per common share:
Basic 856 883 933
Diluted 859 886 935

a) Represents net income less (i) earnings allocated to participating share awards of $54 million, $21 million and $43 million for the c}/ears ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively,

and (ii) dividends on preferred shares of $80 million, $81 million and $80 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Y ears Ended December 31 (Millions) 2018 2017 _____ 2016
Net income $ 6921 $ 2,748  $ 5,375
Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Net unrealized securities |osses, net of tax ) 7 (51)
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax (172) 301 (218)
Net unrealized pension and other postretirement benefits, net of tax 11 62 19
Other comprehensive (loss) income: 356 (250
Comprehensive income

)
$ 6752 $ 3104 $ 5125

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31 (Millions, except share data) 2018 2017
Assets
Cash and cash eguivalents
Cash and due from banks $ 3,253 $ 5,148
Interest-bearing deposits in other banks (includes securities purchased under resale agreements: 2018, $64; 2017, $48) 24,026 27,709
Short-term investment securities 166 70
Total cash and cash equivalents 27,445 32,927
Accountsreceivable
Card Member receivables ggcl udes gross receivables available to settle obligations of aconsolidated variable interest entity: 2018, $8,539; 2017, $8,919), less
reserves. 2018, $573; 2017, $521 55,320 53,526
Other receivables, lessreserves: 2018, $25; 2017, $31 2,907 3,209
L
0Canarsd Member |loans £i ncludes gross |oans available to settle obligations of aconsolidated variable interest entity: 2018, $33,194; 2017, $25,695), |ess reserves:
2018, $2,134; 2017, $1,706 79,720 71,693
Other loans, less reserves: 2018, $124; 2017, $80 3,676 2,607
Investment securities 4,647 3,159
Premises and equipment, less accumulated depreciation and amortization: 2018, $6,015; 2017, $5,455 4,416 4,329
Other assets (includes restricted cash of consolidated variable interest entities: 2018, $70; 2017, $62) 10.471 9,746
Total assets $ 188,602 $ 181,196
Liabilitiesand Shareholders Equity
Liabilities
Customer deposits $ 69,960 $ 64,452
Travelers Cheques and other prepaid products 2,295 2,555
Accounts payable 12,255 14,657
Short-term borrowings 3,100 3,278
L ong-term debt (includes debt issued by consolidated variable interest entities: 2018, $19,509; 2017, $18,560) 58,423 55,804
Other ligbilities 20,279 22,189
Totd liabilities $ 166,312 $ 162,935
Contingencies and Commitments (Note 13)
Shareholders Equity
Preferred shares, $1.667° par value, authorized 20 million shares; issued and outstanding 1,600 shares as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 (Note 17) _ —
Common shares, %0.20 par value, authorized 3.6 billion shares; issued and outstanding 847 million shares as of December 31, 2018 and 859 million shares as of
December 31, 201 170 172
Additional paid-in capital 12,218 12,210
Retained earnings 12,499 8,307
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Net unrealized securities losses, net of tax of: 2018,$(1); 2017, $1 ® _
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax of: 2018, $(300); 2017, $(363) (2,133) (1,961)
Net unrealized pension and other postretirement benefits, net of tax of: 2018, $(170); 2017, $(179) (456) (467)
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss (2.597) (2.428)
Total shareholders’ equity 22,290 18.261
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 188,602 3% 181,196

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTSOF CASH FLOWS

Y ears Ended December 31 (Millions) 2018 2017 2016
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income $ 6,921 $ 2,748 $ 5,375
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Provisions for losses 3,352 2,760 2,027
Depreciation and amortization 1,293 1,321 1,095
Deferred taxes and other 455 782 (1,066)
Stock-based compensation 283 282 254
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects of acquisitions and dispositions:
Other receivables 248 475 (332
Other assets 743 (77) 206
Accounts payable and other liabilities (4,121) 5,506 1,180
Travelers Cheques and other prepaid products (244) (257) (448)
Net cash provided by operating activities 8,930 13,540 8291
Cash Flowsfrom Investing Activities
Sales of available-for-sale investment securities 4 2 88
Maturities and redemptions of available-for-sale investment securities 3,499 2,494 2,429
Sales of other investments — — 10
Purchases of investments (5,434) (2,612) (2,162)
Net (increase) decrease in Card Member loans and receivables, including held for sale® (15,854) (16,853) 3,220
Purchase of premises and equipment, net of sales: 2018, $1; 2017, $1; 2016, $2 (1,310) (1,062) (1,375)
Acquisitions/dispositions, net of cash acquired (520) (211) (487)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (19.,615) (18.242) 1723
Cash Flowsfrom Financing Activities
Net increase (decrease) in customer deposits 5,542 11,385 (1,935)
Net (decrease) increase in short-term borrowings (148) (2,300) 888
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 21,524 32,764 8,824
Payments of long-term borrowings (18,895) (24,082) (9,848)
Issuance of American Express common shares 87 129 177
Repurchase of American Express common shares and other (1,685) (4,400) (4,498)
Dividends paid (1.324) (1.251) (1.207)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 5,101 12,245 (7.599)
Effect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 129 226 (160)
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (5,455) 7,769 2,255
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 33,263 25,494 23,239
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $ 27,808 3 33263 $ 25,494

(a) Refer to Note 2 for additional information.

Supplemental cash flow information

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reconciliation Dec-18 Dec-17 Dec-16
Cash and cash equivalents per Consolidated Balance Sheets $ 27,445 $ 329027 % 25,208
Restricted cash included in Other assets per Consolidated Balance Sheets 363 336 286
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 27808  $ 33263 $ 25494

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

. Accumulated
Additional Other .

L Preferred Common d-in Comprehensive Retained
(Millions, except per share amounts) Total __Shares =~ __Shares —_loss = _Eanings
Balances as of December 31, 2015 $ 20673 $ —  $ 194 $ 13348 $ (2534) $ 9665

Cumulative effect of achangein accounting principle - Revenue Recognition 55 — — — — 55
Net income 5,375 — — — — 5,375
Other comprehensive loss (250) — — — (250) —
Repurchase of common shares (4,421) — (14) (924) — (3,483)
Other changes, primarily employee plans 308 — 1 309 — 2
Cash dividends declared preferred Series B, $52.00 per share (39) — — — — (39)
Cash dividends declared preferred Series C, $49.00 per share (42) — — — — (41)
__Cash dividends declared common, $1.22 per share —(1137) — — = —  _ (1137)
Balances as of December 31, 2016 20,523 — 181 12,733 (2,784) 10,393
Net income 2,748 — — — — 2,748
Other comprehensive income 356 — — — 356 —
Repurchase of common shares (4,314) — (10) (742) — (3,562)
Other changes, primarily employee plans 212 — 1 219 — ()]
Cash dividends declared preferred Series B, $52.00 per share (39) — — — — (39)
Cash dividends declared preferred Series C, $49.00 per share (42) — — — — (42)
__Cash dividends declared common, $1.34 per share (1.183) = = = = (1.183)
Balances as of December 31, 2017 18,261 — 172 12,210 (2,428) 8,307
Net income 6,921 — — — — 6,921
Other comprehensive loss (169) — — — (169) —
Repurchase of common shares (1,570) — (©)) (216) — (1,351)
Other changes, primarily employee plans 200 — 224 — (25)
Cash dividends declared preferred Series B, $52.00 per share (39) — — — — (39)
Cash dividends declared preferred Series C, $49.00 per share (41) — — — — (41)
_ Cash dividends declared common, $1.48 per share (1213 = = = = (1213
Balances as of December 31, 2018 $ 22290 $ — 3 170 $ 12218 $ (2597) $ 12,499

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTESTO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
THE COMPANY

American Express Company is aglobally integrated payments company that provides customers with access to products, insights and experiences that enrich lives and build business success.
Our principal products and services are charge and credit card products and travel-related services offered to consumers and businesses around the world. Business travel-related services are
offered through the non-consolidated joint venture, American Express Global Business Travel (the GBT JV). Our various products and services are sold globally to diverse customer groups,
including consumers, small businesses, mid-sized companies and large corporations. These products and services are sold through various channels, including mobile and online applications,
direct mail, in-house sal es teams, third-party vendors and direct response advertising.

Effective for the second quarter of 2018, we realigned our reportabl e operating segments to reflect the organizational changes announced during the first quarter of 2018. Prior periods have been
revised to conform to the new reportabl e operating segments, which are asfollows:

¢ Global Consumer Services Group (GCSG), which primarily issues awide range of proprietary consumer cards globally. GCSG also provides services to consumers, including travel services
and non-card financing products, and manages certain international joint ventures and our partnership agreementsin China.

¢ Globa Commercial Services (GCS), which primarily issues awide range of proprietary corporate and small business cards and provides payment and expense management services globally.
In addition, GCS provides commercial financing products.

¢ Globa Merchant and Network Services (GMNS), which operates a global payments network that processes and settles card transactions, acquires merchants and provides multi-channel
marketing programs and capabilities, services and data analytics, leveraging our global integrated network. GMNS manages our partnership rel ationships with third-party card issuers,
merchant acquirers and a prepaid reloadable and gift card program manager, licensing the American Express brand and extending the reach of the global network. GMNS al so manages loyalty
coalition businessesin certain countries around the world.

Corporate functions and certain other businesses and operations are included in Corporate & Other.
PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). Significant intercompany transactions
are eliminated.

We consolidate entitiesin which we hold a“ controlling financial interest.” For voting interest entities, we are considered to hold a controlling financial interest when we are able to exercise
control over the investees' operating and financial decisions. For variable interest entities (VIEs), the determination of which is based on the amount and characteristics of the entity’s equity, we
are considered to hold a controlling financial interest when we are determined to be the primary beneficiary. A primary beneficiary isthe party that has both: (1) the power to direct the activities
that most significantly impact that VIE's economic performance, and (2) the obligation to absorb the losses of, or the right to receive the benefits from, the VIE that could potentially be significant
tothat VIE.

Entitiesin which our voting interest in common equity does not provide it with control, but allows us to exert significant influence over operating and financial decisions, are accounted for under
the equity method. We also have investments in equity securities where our voting interest is below the level of significant influence, including investments that we make in non-public
companiesin the ordinary course of business. Such investments areinitially recorded at cost and adjusted to fair value through earnings for observable price changesin orderly transactions for
identical or similar transactions of the same company or if they are determined to beimpaired. See Note 5 for the accounting policy for our marketable equity securities.

FOREIGN CURRENCY

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars based upon exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period; non-monetary assets
and liabilities are translated at the historic exchange rate at the date of the transaction; revenues and expenses are translated at the average month-end exchange rates during the year. Resulting
translation adjustments, along with any related qualifying hedge and tax effects, are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (AOCI), acomponent of shareholders equity.
Translation adjustments, including qualifying hedge and tax effects, are reclassified to earnings upon the sale or substantial liquidation of investmentsin foreign operations. Gains and |osses
related to transactions in a currency other than the functional currency are reported net in Other expenses, in our Consolidated Statements of Income.
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AMOUNTSBASED ON ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

Accounting estimates are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements. These estimates are based, in part, on management’s assumptions concerning future events. Among the more
significant assumptions are those that relate to reserves for Card Member losses on loans and receivables, Membership Rewards liability, goodwill and income taxes. These accounting estimates
reflect the best judgment of management, but actual results could differ.

INCOME STATEMENT

Discount Revenue

Discount revenue primarily represents the amount we earn on transactions occurring at merchants that have entered into a card acceptance agreement with us, or a Global Network Services (GNS)
partner or other third-party merchant acquirer, for facilitating transactions between the merchants and Card Members. The amount of fees charged for accepting our cards as payment for goods
or services, or merchant discount, varies with, among other factors, the industry in which the merchant conducts business, the merchant’s overall American Express-related transaction volume,
the method of payment, the settlement terms with the merchant, the method of submission of transactions and, in certain instances, the geographic scope of the card acceptance agreement
between the merchant and us (e.g., local or global) and the transaction amount. The merchant discount is generally deducted from the payment to the merchant and recorded as discount revenue
at the time the Card Member transaction occurs.

The card acceptance agreements, which include the agreed-upon terms for charging the merchant discount fee, vary in duration. Our contracts with small- and medium-sized merchants generally
have no fixed contractual duration, while those with large merchants are generally for fixed periods, which typically range from three to seven yearsin duration. Our fixed-period agreements may
include auto-renewal features, which may allow the existing terms to continue beyond the stated expiration date until anew agreement isreached. We satisfy our obligations under these
agreements over the contract term, often on adaily basis, including through the processing of Card Member transactions and the availability of our payment network.

In cases where the merchant acquirer isathird party (which isthe case, for example, under our OptBlue program, or with certain of our GNS partners), we receive anetwork rate feein our
settlement with the merchant acquirer, which isindividually negotiated between us and that merchant acquirer and is recorded as discount revenue at the time the Card Member transaction
occurs. In our role as the operator of the American Express network, we also settle with merchants on behalf of our GNS card issuing partners, who in turn receive an issuer rate that is
individually negotiated between that issuer and us and is recorded as expense in Marketing and business devel opment (see below) or as contra-revenue in Other revenue.

Net Card Fees

Net card fees represent revenue earned from annual card membership fees, which vary based on the type of card and the number of cards for each account. These fees, net of acquisition costs
and areserve for projected refunds for Card Member cancellations, are deferred and recognized on a straight-line basis over the twelve-month card membership period as Net card feesin the
Consolidated Statements of Income. The unamortized net card fee balance is reported in Other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets (refer to Note 10).

Other Feesand Commissions

Other fees and commissions includes certain fees charged to Card Members, including delinquency fees and foreign currency conversion fees, which are primarily recognized in the period in

which they are charged to the Card Member. Other fees and commissions also includes Membership Rewards program fees, which are deferred and recognized over the period covered by the fee,

typically one year, the unamortized portion of which isincluded in Other liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. In addition, Other fees and commissionsincludes loyalty coalition-related

;eesadtcrjavel glo_mfmissi ons and fees and service fees earned from merchants, that are recognized when the service s performed, which is generally in the period the fee s charged. Refer to Note 19
or additional information.

Contra-revenue

Payments made pursuant to contractual arrangements with our merchants, GNS partners, and other customers are classified as contra-revenue, except where we receive goods, services or other
benefits for which the fair value is determinable and measurable, in which case they are recorded as expense.
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Interest Income

Interest on Card Member loans is assessed using the average daily balance method. Unless the loan is classified as non-accrual, interest is recognized based upon the principal amount
outstanding, in accordance with the terms of the applicable account agreement, until the outstanding balance is paid, or written off.

Interest and dividends on investment securities primarily relate to our performing fixed-income securities. Interest income is recognized as earned using the effective interest method, which
adjusts theyield for security premiums and discounts, fees and other payments, so that a constant rate of return is recognized on the investment security’s outstanding balance. Amounts are
recognized until securities are in default or when it becomes likely that future interest payments will not be made as scheduled.

Interest on deposits with banks and other is recognized as earned, and primarily relates to the placement of cash, in excess of near-term funding requirements, in interest-bearing time deposits,
overnight sweep accounts, and other interest-bearing demand and call accounts.

Interest Expense

Interest expense includes interest incurred primarily to fund Card Member loans and receivables, general corporate purposes and liquidity needs, and is recognized as incurred. Interest expenseis
divided principally into two categories: (i) deposits, which primarily relates to interest expense on deposits taken from customers and institutions, and (ii) debt, which primarily relates to interest
expense on our long-term debt and short-term borrowings, as well as the realized impact of derivatives used to hedge interest rate risk on our long-term debt.

Marketing and Business Development

Asfurther described below under “ Recently Adopted Accounting Standards,” effective January 1, 2018, in conjunction with the adoption of the new revenue recognition standard, the
previously disclosed “Marketing and promotion” line on the Consolidated Statements of Income was changed to “Marketing and business development” to reflect theinclusion of certain
reclassified costs from contra-discount revenue and Other expenses. Marketing and business devel opment provides a more comprehensive view of costs related to building and growing our
business, including the reclassified costs.

Marketing and business devel opment expense includes costs incurred in the development and initial placement of advertising, which are expensed in the year in which the advertising first takes
place. Also included in Marketing and business devel opment expense are Card Member statement credits for qualifying charges on eligible card accounts, corporate incentive payments earned
on achievement of preset targets, and certain payments to GNS card issuing partners. These costs are generally expensed asincurred.

Card Member Rewards

We issue charge and credit cards that allow Card Members to participate in various rewards programs (e.g., Membership Rewards, cobrand and cash back). Rewards expenseisrecognized in the
period Card Members earn rewards, generally by spending on their enrolled card products. We record a Card Member rewards liability that represents the estimated cost of points earned that are
expected to be redeemed. Pursuant to cobrand agreements, we make payments to our cobrand partners based primarily on the amount of Card Member spending and corresponding rewards
earned on such spending and, under certain arrangements, on the number of accounts acquired and retained. The partner is then liable for providing rewards to the Card Member under the
cobrand partner’s own loyalty program. Card Member rewards liabilities are impacted over time by enrollment levels, attrition, the volume of points earned and redeemed, and the associated
redemption costs. Changesin the Card Member rewards liabilities during the period are taken as an increase or decrease to the Card Member rewards expense in the Consolidated Statement of
Income.

Effective January 1, 2018, in conjunction with the adoption of the new revenue recognition standard, Card Member rewards al so includes cash-back rewards, which were reclassified from contra
discount revenue.

BALANCE SHEET
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalentsinclude cash and amounts due from banks, interest-bearing bank balances, including securities purchased under resale agreements, and other highly liquid
investments with original maturities of 90 days or less.
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost of an acquired business over the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed. We all ocate goodwill to our reporting units for the
purpose of impairment testing. A reporting unit is defined as an operating segment, or abusiness that is one level below an operating segment, for which discrete financial information is regularly
reviewed by the operating segment manager.

We evaluate goodwill for impairment annually as of June 30, or more frequently if events occur or circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of one or more of our
reporting units below its carrying value. Prior to completing the assessment of goodwill for impairment, we also perform arecoverability test of certain long-lived assets. We have the option to
perform aqualitative assessment of goodwill impairment to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of areporting unit islessthan its carrying value. Alternatively, we can
perform amore detailed quantitative assessment of goodwill impairment.

This qualitative assessment entails the evaluation of factors such as economic conditions, industry and market considerations, cost factors, overall financial performance of the reporting unit and
other company and reporting unit-specific events. If we determine that it is more likely than not that the fair value of areporting unit isless than its carrying amount, we then perform the
impairment evaluation using the quantitative assessment.

Under the quantitative assessment, the first step identifies whether thereis a potential impairment by comparing the fair value of areporting unit to the carrying amount, including goodwill. If the
carrying amount of areporting unit exceeds thefair value, then atest is performed to determine the implied fair value of goodwill. An impairment lossis recognized based on the amount that the
carrying amount of goodwill exceeds theimplied fair value.

When measuring the fair value of our reporting unitsin the quantitative assessment, we use widely accepted val uation techniques, applying a combination of the income approach (discounted
cash flows) and market approach (market multiples). When preparing discounted cash flow models under the income approach, we use internal forecasts to estimate future cash flows expected to
be generated by the reporting units. To discount these cash flows, we use the expected cost of equity, determined by using a capital asset pricing model. We believe the discount rates used
appropriately reflect the risks and uncertainties in the financial markets generally and specifically in our internally-devel oped forecasts. When using market multiples under the market approach,
we apply comparable publicly traded companies’ multiples (e.g., earnings or revenues) to our reporting units' actual results.

For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, we performed a qualitative assessment in connection with our annual goodwill impairment evaluation and determined that it was more likely than
not that the fair values of our reporting units exceeded their carrying values.

Premises and Equipment

Premises and equipment, including leasehold improvements, are carried at cost less accumul ated depreciation. Costs incurred during construction are capitalized and are depreciated once an
asset isplaced in service. Depreciation is generally computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from 3 to 10 years for equipment, furniture
and building improvements, and from 40 to 50 years for premises, which are depreciated based upon their estimated useful life at the acquisition date.

L easehold improvements are depreciated using the straight-line method over the lesser of the remaining term of the leased facility, or the economic life of theimprovement, and ranges from 5 to 10
years. We maintain operating leases worldwide for facilities and equipment. Rent expense for facility leasesis recognized ratably over the lease term, and includes adjustments for rent
concessions, rent escal ations and leasehol d improvement allowances. We recognize lease restoration obligations at the fair value of the restoration liabilities when incurred and amortize the
restoration assets over the lease term.

Certain costs associated with the acquisition or development of internal-use software are al so capitalized and recorded in Premises and equipment. Once the softwareis ready for itsintended use,

these costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the software’s estimated useful life, generally 5 years. We review these assets for impairment using the same impairment methodology used
for our intangible assets.
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OTHER SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following tableidentifies our other significant accounting policies, along with the related Note and page number where the Note can be found.

Significant Accounting Policy N”r(r)ltt?er Note Title Page
Accounts Receivable Note3 Loansand Accounts Receivable Page 86
Loans Note3 Loansand Accounts Receivable Page 86
Reserves for Losses Note4 Reservesfor Losses Page 92
Investment Securities Note5 Investment Securities Page 94
Asset Securitizations Note6 Asset Securitizations Page 96
Membership Rewards Note10 Other Liabilities Page 103
Stock-based Compensation Note 11 Stock Plans Page 104
Retirement Plans Note12 Retirement Plans Page 106
Legal Contingencies Note 13 Contingencies and Commitments Page 106
Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities Note14 Derivatives and Hedging Activities Page 108
Fair Vaue Measurements Note15 Fair Values Page 111
Income Taxes Note21 Income Taxes Page 119
Regulatory Matters and Capital Adequacy Note 23 Regulatory Matters and Capital Adequacy Page 123
Reportable Operating Segments Note 25 Reportable Operating Segments and Geographic Operations Page 126

CLASSIFICATION OF VARIOUSITEMS

Certain reclassifications of prior period amounts have been made to conform to the current period presentation, including the reclassification of certain business devel opment expenses from
Other expenses to Marketing and business devel opment, that were not directly attributable to the adoption of the new revenue recognition guidance.

RECENTLY ISSUED AND ADOPTED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Recently I ssued Accounting Standards

In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued new accounting guidance on leases. The accounting standard, effective January 1, 2019, requires virtually all leasesto
be recognized on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Beginning with the quarter ending March 31, 2019, our financial statementswill reflect the adoption of this standard using the modified
retrospective method. We have elected the package of practical expedients and transition provisions allowing us to bring our existing operating leases onto the Consolidated Balance Sheet
without adjusting comparative periods.

We have operating |leases worldwide for facilities and equipment, which will be recorded as |ease-rel ated assets and liabilities upon adoption of the new guidance for those |eases with terms
greater than 12 months. Under the guidance, we have also elected to not separate |ease and non-lease components in the recognition of the assets and liabilities, aswell astherelated lease
expense. Lease-related assets, or right-of-use assets, will be recognized at the lease commencement date at amounts equal to the respective |lease liabilities, adjusted for prepaid |ease payments,
and initial direct costs, and offset by lease incentives received. Lease-related liabilities will be recognized at the present value of the remaining contractual fixed lease payments, discounted using
the Company’sincremental borrowing rate. Operating |lease expense will continue to be recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term, while variable |ease payments will continue to be
expensed asincurred.

The adoption of the standard will have the impact of increasing consolidated assets and liabilities by approximately $700 million and will not have amaterial impact on our financial position,
results of operations, cash flows or regulatory risk-based capital. In conjunction with the adoption, we are upgrading our |ease administration software and modifying our business processes and
internal controls.

In June 2016, the FASB issued new accounting guidance for the recognition of credit losses on financial instruments, effective January 1, 2020, with early adoption permitted on January 1, 2019.
We do not intend to early adopt the new standard. The guidance introduces a new credit reserving model known as the Current Expected Credit Loss (CECL) model, which is based on expected
losses, and differs significantly from theincurred loss approach used today. The CECL model requires measurement of expected credit losses not only based on historical experience and current
conditions, but also by including reasonable and supportabl e forecasts incorporating forward-looking information. In addition, for available-for-sal e debt securities, the new guidance replaces the
other-than-temporary impairment model, and requires the recognition of an allowance for reductionsin a security’s fair value attributable to declinesin credit quality, instead of adirect write-
down of the security, when avaluation decline is determined to be other-than-temporary. The guidance al so requires a cumul ative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of
the reporting period of adoption. We continue to eval uate the impact the new guidance will have on our financial position, results of operations, cash flows, credit ratings and regulatory risk-
based capital. We expect that the CECL model will alter the assumptions used in estimating credit |osses on Card Member loans and receivables, and may result in material increases to our credit
reserves as the new guidance involves earlier recognition of expected losses for the life of the assets. However, the extent of the impact will depend on the characteristics of our loan portfolio,
macroeconomic conditions and forecasted information at the date of adoption. We continue to be actively engaged in cross-functional implementation efforts and are in the process of
developing and implementing CECL models that satisfy the requirements of the new standard, along with appropriate business processes and controls.

In February 2018, as aresult of the enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the Tax Act), the FASB issued new accounting guidance on the reclassification of certain tax effects from AOCI to
retained earnings. The optional reclassification is effective January 1, 2019. We are evaluating the new guidance, along with any impacts on our financial position, results of operations and cash
flows, none of which are expected to be material.
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Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

Effective January 1, 2018, we adopted new revenue recognition guidance issued by the FASB related to contracts with customers. The scope of the new guidance excludes financial instruments
such as credit and charge card arrangements. We elected to adopt the standard using the full retrospective method, which we believe is most useful to our investors. Under the full retrospective
method, we are applying the standard back to January 1, 2016. As shown below, the most significant impacts of adoption are changes to the classification of certain revenues and expenses,
including certain credit and charge card related costs previously netted against discount revenue, such as Card Member cash-back reward costs and statement credits, corporate incentive
payments, as well as payments to third-party GNS card issuing partners. Under the new revenue standard, these costs are not considered components of the transaction price of our card
acceptance agreements with merchants and thus are not netted against discount revenue, but instead are recognized as expenses. Our payments to third-party GNS card issuing partners are
presented net of related revenues earned from the partners.

Theimpact to the 2017 fiscal quarters and years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

Increase (Decrease)

ended _Year Ended December

(Millions) Decembey 8y September 0 Juneso, 2017 Mach AL, 2017 2016
Revenues

Discount revenue $ 9%l $ 930 $ 928 $ 868 $ 3707 $ 3,699

Other (78) (71) (64) (65) (278) (253)
Expenses

Marketing and business devel opment 617 591 593 549 2,350 2,420

Card Member rewards $ 286 $ 268 $ 2711 $ 264 $ 1079 $ 1,026

In addition, the cumulative impact to our retained earnings on January 1, 2016 was an increase of $55.2 million.

The adoption of the new guidance also resulted in changes to the recognition timing of certain revenues, theimpact of which is not material to net income. Similarly, the adoption did not have a
material impact on our financial position or cash flows. We had no material contract assets, contract liabilities or deferred contract costs recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2018 and 2017. Contract assets and liabilities are reported in anet position on a contract-by-contract basis at the end of each reporting period. In adopting the guidance, we
implemented changes to our accounting policies, business processes, systems and internal controls to support the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements under the new
standard. Such changes were not material.

In January 2016, the FASB issued new accounting guidance on the recognition and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, which was effective and adopted by us as of January
1, 2018. The guidance makes targeted changes to GAAP; specifically to the classification and measurement of equity securities, and to certain disclosure requirements associated with the fair
value of financial assets and liabilities. This appliesto investments we make in non-public companiesin the ordinary course of business, which historically were recognized under the cost method
of accounting. These investments will be prospectively adjusted through earnings for observable price changes upon the identification of identical or similar transactions of the same company.
The adoption of the guidance did not have amaterial impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows. We implemented changes to our accounting policies, business
processes and internal controlsin support of the new guidance. Such changes were not material.

In August 2017, the FASB issued new accounting guidance providing targeted improvements to the accounting for hedging activities, effective January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted in
any interim period or fiscal year before the effective date. The guidance introduces a number of amendments, several of which are optional, that are designed to simplify the application of hedge
accounting, improve financial statement transparency and more closely align hedge accounting with an entity’s risk management strategies. Effective January 1, 2018, we adopted the guidance,
with no material impact on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows, along with associated changes to our accounting policies, business processes and internal controlsin
support of the new guidance. Such changes were not material.
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NOTE 2

BUSINESSEVENTS

LOANSAND RECEIVABLESPORTFOLIO DISPOSITIONS

During the fourth quarter of 2015, it was determined we would sel| the Card Member |oans and receivables related to our cobrand partnerships with JetBlue Ai rwg?/s
Corporation (JetBlue) and Costco Wholesale Corporation (Costco) in the United States ﬁthe HFS portfolios). As aresult, the HFS portfolios were presented as held for
sale (HFS) on the Consolidated Balance Sheets within Card Member loans and receivables HFS as of December 31, 2015. During the first half of 2016, we completed the
sales of substantialy all of these outstanding Card Member [oans and recelvables HFS and recognized gains, as an expense reduction in Other expenses, of $127 million
and $1.1 billion during the three months ended March 31, 2016 and June 30, 2016, respectively. The impact of the sales, includi nlq the recognition of the proceeds received
and the reclassification of the retained Card Member loans and receivables, was r(?ported_ within the investing section of the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows as a net
decrease in Card Member receivables and loans, including HFS. From the point of classification as HFS through the sale completion dates, we continued to recognize
discount revenue, interest income, other revenues and expenses related to the HFS portfolios in the respective line items on the Consolidated Statements of Income, with
changes in the valuation of the HFS portfolios recognized in Other expenses.

LOAN PORTFOLIO ACQUISITION
During thefirst quarter of 2018, we acquired the portion of the Hilton Worldwide Holdings Inc. cobrand credit card loan portfolio that we did not previously own (the acquired Hilton portfolio).
The acquired Hilton portfolio had an outstanding principal and interest balance of approximately $1 billion at acquisition. None of the credit card loans acquired were considered purchased credit

impaired at acquisition date. The cash outflows related to this acquisition are reported within the investing section of the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows primarily asanet increasein
Card Member receivables and loans.
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NOTE 3

LOANSAND ACCOUNTSRECEIVABLE

Our lending and charge payment card products result in the generation of Card Member loans and Card Member receivables, respectively.

CARD MEMBER AND OTHER LOANS

Card Member loans are recorded at the time a Card Member enters into a point-of-sal e transaction with amerchant and represent revolving amounts due on lending card products, as well as
amounts due from charge Card Members who utilize the Pay Over Time features on their account and elect to revolve a portion of the outstanding balance by entering into arevolving payment
arrangement with us. These loans have arange of terms such as credit limits, interest rates, fees and payment structures, which can be revised over time based on new information about Card
Members, and in accordance with applicable regulations and the respective product’s terms and conditions. Card Members holding revolving loans are typically required to make monthly
payments based on pre-established amounts and the amounts that Card Members choose to revolve are subject to finance charges.

Card Member loans are presented on the Consolidated Balance Sheets net of reserves for losses (refer to Note 4), and include principal and any related accrued interest and fees. Our policy
generally isto cease accruing interest on a Card Member loan at the time the account is written off, and establish reserves for interest that we believe will not be collected.

Card Member loans by segment and Other loans as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 consisted of:

(Millions) 2018 2017
Global Consumer Services Group®@ $ 69458 $ 62319
Global Commercial Services 12,396 11,080
Card Member loans 81,854 73,399
Less: Reserve for |osses 2,134 1,706
Card Member loans, net $_ 79720 $ 71693
Other loans, net® $ 3676 % 2,607

(@ Includes approximately $33.2 billion and $25.7 billion of gross Card Member |oans available to settle obligzati ons of aconsolidated VIE as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The
balance as of Decembér 31, 2018 also includesloans related to the acquired Hilton portfolio (refer to Note2).

(b) Other loans primarily represent consumer and commercial non-card financing products. Other loans are presented net of reserves for losses of $124 million and $80 million as of December 31,
2018 and 2017, respéctively.

CARD MEMBER AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Card Member receivables are also recorded at the time a Card Member entersinto a point-of-sal e transaction with amerchant and represent amounts due on charge card products. Each charge
card transaction is authorized based on its likely economics, a Card Member's most recent credit information and spend patterns. Additionally, global spend limits are established to limit our
maximum exposure.

Charge Card Members generally must pay the full amount billed each month. Card Member receivable balances are presented on the Consolidated Balance Sheets net of reserves for losses (refer
to Note 4), and include principal and any related accrued fees.

Card Member accounts receivable by segment and Other receivables as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 consisted of:

(Millions) 2018 2017
Global Consumer Services Group @ $ 21,455 $ 20,946
Global Commercial Services 34,438 33,101
Card Member receivables 55,893 54,047
Less: Reserve for losses 573 521
Card Member receivables, net $ 55320 $ 53526
Other receivables, net ® $ 2907 $ 3,209

(@ Includes $8.5 billion and $8.9 billion of gross Card Member receivables available to settle obligations of aconsolidated VIE as of both December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(b) Other receivables primarily reyf)raent amountsrelated to (i) GNS partners for items such as royalty and franchisefees, (ii) tax-related receivables, (i iQ certain merchants for billed discount
revenue, and (1v) onalt)()ecroall 10on partners for pointsissuéd, as well as program participation’and servicing fees. Other receivables are presented net of reserves for losses of $25 million and
$31 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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CARD MEMBER LOANSAND CARD MEMBER RECEIVABLESAGING

Generally, aCard Member account is considered past due if payment is not received within 30 days after the billing statement date. The following table presents the aging of Card Member loans
and receivables as of December 31, 2018 and 2017:

30-59 60-89 90+
. Days Past Days Past Days Past
2018 (Millions) Current Due Due Due Total
Card Member Loans:
Globa Consumer Services Group $ 68442 $ 290 $ 220 $ 506 $ 69,458
Global Commercial Services
Global Small Business Services 12,195 51 32 73 12,351
Global Corporate Payments® (b) (b) (b) — 45
Card Member Receivables:
Global Consumer Services Group 21,207 80 50 118 21,455
Global Commercial Services
Global Small Business Services $ 16460 $ 101 $ 53 % 114 $ 16,728
Global Corporate Payments® (b) (b) b $ 129 $ 17,710
30-59 60-89 90+
o Days Past Days Past Days Past
2017 (Millions) Current Due Due Due Total
Card Member Loans:
Global Consumer Services Group $ 61491 $ 238 3% 190 $ 400 $ 62319
Global Commercial Services
Global Small Business Services 10,892 43 31 59 11,025
Global Corporate Payments® (b) (b) (b) — 55
Card Member Receivables:
Globa Consumer Services Group 20,696 82 54 114 20,946
Global Commercial Services
Global Small Business Services $ 15868 $ 91 $ 54 $ 106 $ 16119
Global Corporate Payments® (b) (b) (b $ 148 $ 16,982

(a) For Global Corporate Psyments (GC,P?, Card Member Joans and receivablesin GCS, delinquency datais tracked based on days past biIIin? status rather than days past due. A Card Member
account Is considered 90 days past billing if payment has not been received within 90 days of the Card Member’s billing statement date. Tn addition, if we initiate collection procedures on an
account prior to the account becoming 90 days past billing, the associated Card Member1oan or receivable balance is classified as 90 days past billing. These amounts are shown above as
90+ Days Past Due for presentation purposes. also (b?.

(b) Delinquency datafor periods other than 90+ days p%s[ billing is not available due to system constraints. Therefore, such data has not been utilized for risk management purposes. The
balancesthat are current to 89 days past due can be derived as the difference between the Total and the 90+ Days Past Due balances.

CREDIT QUALITY INDICATORS FOR CARD MEMBER LOANS AND RECEIVABLES

The following tables present the key credit quality indicators as of or for the years ended December 31:

2018 2017
Net Write-Off Rate 0+ Net Write-Off Rate 0+
Principal | nﬁ’rérrgp% Days PastoD ue Principal | nﬁr&r&pi Days PastoD ue
Card Member Loans:
Global Consumer Services Group 2.1% 2.5% 1.5% 1.8% 2.2% 1.3%
Global Small Business Services 1.7% 2.0% 1.3% 1.6% 1.9% 1.2%
Card Member Receivables:
Global Consumer Services Group 1.6% 1.8% 1.2% 1.5% 1.7% 1.2%
Global Small Business Services 1.7% 2.0% 1.6% 1.6% 1.8% 1.6%
2018 2017
Net Loss Net Loss
Ratio as .90+ Ratio as .90+
a% of Days Past Billin a% of Days Past Billin
Charge asa% ol Charge asa% ol
Volume Receivables Volume Receivables
Card Member Receivables:
Global Corporate Payments 0.11% 0.7% 0.10% 0.9%

(@ W%'present anet write-off rate based on pri ncifpal losses only (i.e., excluding interest and/or fees) to be consistent with industry convention. In addition, because we consider uncollectible
interest and/or feesin estimating our reserves for credit |0ssés, a net write-oft rate including princCipal, interest and/or feesis alSo presented.

Refer to Note 4 for additional indicators, including external environmental qualitative factors, management considersin its monthly evaluation process for reserves for losses.
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IMPAIRED CARD MEMBER LOANSAND RECEIVABLES

Impaired Card Member loans and receivables are individual larger balance or homogeneous pools of smaller balance loans and receivables for which it is probable that we will be unable to collect
all amounts due according to the original contractual terms of the Card Member agreement. We consider impaired |oans and receivables to include: (i) loans over 90 days past due still accruing
interest, (i) nonaccrual loans and (iii) loans and receivables modified as troubled debt restructurings (TDRs).

In instances where the Card Member is experiencing financial difficulty, we may modify, through various programs, Card Member |oans and receivables in order to minimize losses and improve
collectability, while providing Card Members with temporary or permanent financial relief. We have classified Card Member |oans and receivablesin these modification programs as TDRs and
continue to classify Card Member accounts that have exited a modification program as a TDR, with such accounts identified as“ Out of Program TDRs.”

Such modifications to the loans and receivables primarily include (i) temporary interest rate reductions (possibly aslow as zero percent, in which case the loan is characterized as non-accrual in
our TDR disclosures), (ii) placing the Card Member on afixed payment plan not to exceed 60 months and (iii) suspending delinquency fees until the Card Member exits the modification program.
Upon entering the modification program, the Card Member’s ability to make future purchasesis either cancelled, or in certain cases suspended until the Card Member successfully exits the
modification program. In accordance with the modification agreement with the Card Member, loans may revert back to the original contractual terms (including the contractual interest rate) when
the Card Member exits the modification program, which is (i) when all payments have been made in accordance with the modification agreement or, (ii) when the Card Member defaults out of the
modification program. We establish areserve for Card Member interest charges and fees considered to be uncollectible.

Reserves for Card Member loans and receivables modified as TDRs are determined as the difference between the cash flows expected to be received from the Card Member (taking into
consideration the probability of subsequent defaults), discounted at the original effective interest rates, and the carrying value of the related Card Member |oan or receivables balance. We
determine the original effective interest rate as the interest rate in effect prior to the imposition of any penalty interest rate. All changesin the impairment measurement are included in Provisions
for lossesin the Consolidated Statements of Income.
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The following tables provide additional information with respect to our impaired Card Member |oans and receivables as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. Impaired Card Member loans and
receivables outside the U.S. are not significant as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016; therefore, such loans and receivables are not included in the following tables unless otherwise noted.

As of December 31, 2018
Accounts Classified

asaTDR© )
Over 90 days Past Due  Non-Accruals Out of Program - Unpaid  a|jjgwance for
(Millions) & Accruing Interest® ®  InProgram® (@ Tota Impaired Frincipal TDRs
Card Member Loans:
Global Consumer Services Group® $ 344  $ 236 $ 313 $ 131 $ 1,024 $ 923 % 80
Global Commercial Services 43 43 59 29 174 161 14
Card Member Receivables:
Global Consumer Services Group — — 29 13 42 42 2
Global Commercial Services — — 61 25 86 86 5
Totdl $ 387 __$ 279§ 462 $ 198 % 1326 $ 1212 $ 101
As of December 31, 2017
Accounts Classified
asaTDR© ]
Over 90 days Past Due  Non-Accruals Out of Program : unpaid A owance for
(Millions) & Accruing Interest® ®»  InProgram® © Totd Irgg%gg Pé'a'}%’(% TDRs
Card Member Loans:
Global Consumer Services Group(® $ 289 $ 168 $ 178  $ 131 $ 766 $ 694 $ 49
Global Commercial Services 38 31 31 27 127 118 8
Card Member Receivables:
Global Consumer Services Group — — 15 9 24 24 1
Global Commercial Services — — 37 19 56 56 2
Total $ 27 $ 19 $ 261 $ 186 _$ 973 % 82 $ 60
As of December 31, 2016
Accounts Classified
asaTDR©
Over 90 days Past Due  Non-Accruals Out of Program ; unpaid A owance for
(Millions) & Accruing Interest@ (b) In Program©@ (e) Total lgg%(e:g ngglﬁgé TDRs
Card Member Loans:
Global Consumer Services Group® $ 230 $ 139 $ 165 $ 129 $ 663 $ 609 $ 51
Global Commercial Services 30 30 26 26 112 103 9
Card Member Receivables:
Global Consumer Services Group — — 1 6 17 17 7
Global Commercial Services — — 28 10 38 38 21
Tota $ 260 $ 169 $ 230 % 71 $ 830 % 767 $ 88

(8 Our policy isgenerally to accrue interest through the date of write-off (typically 180 days past due). We establish reserves for interest that we believe will not be collected. Amounts
presented exclude Card Member loans classified asa TDR.

(b) Non-accrual loans not in modification programs primari I)ﬁi nclude certain Card Member loans placed with outside collection agencies for which we have ceased accruing interest. Amounts
presented exclude Card Member loansclassified asa TDR.

(c) Accountsclassified asaTDR include $17 million, $15 million and $20 million that are over 90 days past due and accruing interest and $6 million, $5 million and $11 million that are non-
accruals as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

(d) InProgram TDRsinclude Card Member accounts that are currently enrolled in amodification program.

(e) Out of Program TDRsinclude $148 million, $141 mi]lion and $132 million of Card Member accounts that have successfully completed a modification program and $50 million, $45 million and
$39 million of Card Member accounts that were not in compliance with the terms of the modification programs as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

(f) GCSG includes balances outside the U.S. of $69 million, $56 million and $52 million that are over 90 days and accruing interest and $68 million, $55 million and $51 million in unpaid principa as
of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
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The following table provides information with respect to our average balances and interest income recognized from impaired Card Member |oans and the average balances of impaired Card

Member receivables for the years ended December 31:

Interest Income

2018 (Millions) Average Balance Recognized

Card Member Loans:

Global Consumer Services Group $ 878 $ 109

Global Commercial Services 150 21

Card Member Receivables:

Global Consumer Services Group 33 —

Global Commercial Services 73 —

Total $ 1,134 130
Interest Income

2017 (Millions) Average Balance Recognized

Card Member Loans:

Global Consumer Services Group $ 699 $ 85

Global Commercial Services 120 17

Card Member Receivables:

Globa Consumer Services Group 20 —

Global Commercial Services 45 —

Total $ 884 $ 102

2016 (Millions)

Interest Income

Average Balance Recognized

Card Member Loans:

Global Consumer Services Group $ 612 $ 68
Global Commercial Services 103 13
Card Member Receivables:
Globa Consumer Services Group 14 —
Global Commercial Services 28 —
Total $ 757 % 81
CARD MEMBER LOANSAND RECEIVABLESMODIFIED ASTDRS
The following table provides additional information with respect to Card Member |oans and receivables modified as TDRs for the years ended December 31:
Outstanding Balances Average Interest Rate Average Payment Term
Number of Accounts in milli Reduction Extensions
2018 in thousands) ($inmillions) @ (% Dcﬁ nts) (# of mont?”l§)_
Troubled Debt Restructurings:
Card Member Loans 51 % 377 12 (b)
Card Member Receivables 6 110 (c) 28
Total 57 § 487
Outstanding Balances Average Interest Rate Average Payment Term
Number of Accounts ($inmillions) @ Reduction Extensions
2017 (in thousands) (% points) (# of months)
Troubled Debt Restructurings:
Card Member Loans B $ 224 10 (b)
Card Member Receivables 6 83 ©) 28
Total 9 3% 307
Outstanding Balances Average Interest Rate Average Payment Term
Number of Accounts ($inmillions) @ uction Extensions
2016 (in thousands) (% points) (#.of months)
Troubled Debt Restructurings:
Card Member Loans 31 $ 220 9 (b)
Card Member Receivables 9 123 (c) 18
Total 0 3% 343

@ (F%epresents the outstanding bal ance immedi gtely prior to modification. The outstanding balance includes principal, fees and accrued interest on Card Member loans and principal and feeson

ard Member receivables.”Modifications did not reduce the principal balance.

(b) For Card Member |loans, there have been no payment term extensions.

(c) Wedo not offer interest rate reduction programs for Card Member receivables as the receivables are non-interest bearing.
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The following table provides information with respect to Card Member loans and receivables modified as TDRs that subsequently defaulted within 12 months of modification for the years ended
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016. A Card Member is considered in default of amodification program after one and up to two missed payments, depending on the terms of the modification

program. For all Card Members that defaulted from a modification program, the probability of default isfactored into the reserves for Card Member |oans and receivables.

'Aggregated

Outstanding Balances

Number of Accounts Upon Default®

2018 (thousands) (millions)
Troubled Debt Restructurings That Subsequently Defaulted:

Card Member Loans 8 $ 46

Card Member Receivables 4 11

Total 12 3 57

Outstandi réggggleg%g

Number of Accounts Upon Default®

2017 (thousands) (millions)
Troubled Debt Restructurings That Subsequently Defaulted:

Card Member Loans 6 $ 39

Card Member Receivables 3 7

Total 9 % 46

Outstandi ﬁgggglegna%%é

Number of Accounts Upon Default@®

2016 (thousands) (millions)
Troubled Debt Restructurings That Subsequently Defaulted:

Card Member Loans 7 9% 41

Card Member Receivables 3 4

Total 10 _$ 45

(8 The outstanding balances upon default include principal, fees and accrued interest on Card Member loans, and principal and fees on Card Member receivables.
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NOTE 4

RESERVES FOR LOSSES

Reserves for losses relating to Card Member |oans and receivables represent management’s best estimate of the probable inherent lossesin our outstanding portfolio of loans and receivables, as
of the balance sheet date. Management’s eval uation process requires certain estimates and judgments.

Reserves for losses are primarily based upon statistical and analytical models that analyze portfolio performance and reflect management’ s judgment regarding the quantitative components of the
reserve. The models take into account several factors, including delinquency-based |oss migration rates, |oss emergence periods and average |osses and recoveries over an appropriate historical
period. Management considers whether to adjust the quantitative reserves for certain external and internal qualitative factors, which may increase or decrease the reserves for losses on Card
Member loans and receivables. These external factorsinclude employment, spend, sentiment, housing and credit, and changesin the legal and regulatory environment, while the internal factors
include increased risk in certain portfolios, impact of risk management initiatives, changesin underwriting requirements and overall process stability. As part of this evaluation process,
management also considers various reserve coverage metrics, such as reserves as a percentage of past due amounts, reserves as a percentage of Card Member |oans or receivables, and net write-
off coverageratios.

Card Member loans and receivabl es balances are written off when management considers amounts to be uncollectible, which is generally determined by the number of days past due and is
typically no later than 180 days past due. Card Member |oans and receivables in bankruptcy or owed by deceased individuals are generally written off upon notification.

CHANGESIN CARD MEMBER LOANS RESERVE FOR LOSSES

The following table presents changes in the Card Member loans reserve for losses for the years ended December 31:

(Millions) 2018 2017 2016
Balance, January 1 $ 1,706 $ 1223  $ 1,028
Provisions® 2,266 1,868 1,235
Net write-offs ®)
Principal (1,539) (1,181) (930)
Interest and fees (304) (227) (175)
Other(© 5 23 65
Balance, December 31 $ 2134 % 1706 $ 1,223

(8 Provisionsfor principal, interest and fee reserve components.

(b) Principal write-offs are presented | ess recoveries of $444 million, $409 million and $379 million for the 6ears ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectiveli/. Recoveries of interest and
ﬁg evgf,_rednot significant. Amountsinclude net (write-offs) recoveries from TDRs of $(33) million, $(30) million and $(34) million, for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016,
ively.
(¢) Includesforel %n currency translation adjustments of g@ll) million, $8 milljon and $(1(25million, and other adjustments %f %16 million, $15 million and $8 million for the years ended December 31,
2018, 2017 and 2016, r%)ectlvely. The year ended Detember 31, 2016 included reservés of $67 million associated with $265 million of retained Card Member loans reclassified from HFS to
held for investment as aresult of retaining certain loansin connection with the respective sales of JetBlue and Costco cobrand card portfolios.

CARD MEMBER LOANSEVALUATED INDIVIDUALLY AND COLLECTIVELY FOR IMPAIRMENT

The following table presents Card Member loans evaluated individually and collectively for impairment and related reserves as of December 31:

(Millions) 2018 2017 2016
Card Member loans eval uated individually for impairment @ $ 532 $ 367 $ 346
Related reserves® $ 94 $ 57 __$ 60
Card Member loans eval uated collectively for impairment ® $ 81,322 $ 73032 3% 64,919
Related reserves® $ 2040 $ 1649  $ 1163

(8 Representsloans modified asa TDR and related reserves.

(b) Represents current loans and |oans less than 90 da){s past due, loans over 90 days past due and accruing interest, and non-accrual loans. The reserves include the quantitative results of
analytical modelsthat are specific to individual pools of loans, and reserves for internal and external qualitative risk factors that apply to loansthat are collectively evaluated for impairment.
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CHANGESIN CARD MEMBER RECEIVABLESRESERVE FOR LOSSES

The following table presents changes in the Card Member receivables reserve for losses for the years ended December 31:

(Millions) 2018 2017 2016
Balance, January 1 $ 521 $ 467 % 462
Provisions® 937 795 696
Net write-offs® (859) (736) (674)
Other(® (26) (5) (17)
Balance, December 31 $ 573  $ 521 3 467

(8 Provisionsfor principal and fee reserve components.

(b) Net write-offs are presented |ess recoveries of $367 million, $366 million and $394 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Amountsinclude net recoveries
(write-offs) from TDRs of nil, $2 million and $(16) million, for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

¢) Includesforeign currency tranglation adjustments of $(6) million, $12 million and $(12) million, and other adjustments of $(20) million, $(17) million and $(5) million for the years ended
© December 31,%018, 201%’ and 2016, r tively. () %12 ! %20 an &) y

CARD MEMBER RECEIVABLESEVALUATED INDIVIDUALLY AND COLLECTIVELY FOR IMPAIRMENT

The following table presents Card Member receivables evaluated individually and collectively for impairment and related reserves as of December 31:

(Millions) 2018 2017 2016
Card Member receivables evaluated individually for impairment@ $ 128 $ 80 $ 55
Related reserves® $ 73 3 3 28
Card Member receivables evaluated collectively for impairment $ 55,765 $ 53967 $ 47,253
Related reserves® $ 566 $ 518 % 439

(8) Representsreceivablesmodified asa TDR and related reserves.

(b) Thereservesinclude the quantitative results of analytical models that are specific to individual pools of receivables, and reserves for internal and external qualitative risk factors that apply to
receivablesthat are collectively evaluated for impairment.

94




Table of Contents

NOTE 5
INVESTMENT SECURITIES

Investment securities principally include available-for-sale debt securities carried at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, with unrealized gains and losses recorded in AOCI, net of
income taxes. Realized gains and | osses are recognized upon disposition of the securities using the specific identification method.

Investment securities also include equity securities carried at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Effective January 1, 2018, the unrealized gains and |osses on equity securities are
recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income; prior to January 1, 2018, the unrealized gains and |osses on equity securities were recorded in AOCI, net of income taxes.

Refer to Note 15 for adescription of our methodology for determining the fair value of investment securities.

Thefollowing isasummary of investment securities as of December 31:

2018 2017 2016

Description of Securities (Millions) Unre% [9% Unreg |r9§ Esi mﬂgﬁ Unregﬂ’gg Unre& f?% Esti m:ﬂg(? Unreg .f%% Unreg {?% Bt m?_tglt?
_Cost ans  losses  Vaue _Cost  Gans  losses  Vaue _Cost  Gans  losses  Vaue

Available-for-sale debt securities:
State and municipal obligations $ 594 $ 4 3 2 $ 59 $1,369 $ 11 $ 3 $ 1377 $2019 $ 28 $ (11) $ 2,036
U.S. Government agency obligations 10 _ — 10 11 — — 11 12 — — 12
U.S. Government treasury obligations 3,452 5 a7 3,440 1,051 3 ) 1045 465 3 ®) 460
Corporate debt securities 28 — — 28 28 — — 28 19 — — 19
Mortgage-backed securities @ 50 1 = 51 67 2 = 69 Y] 3 = 95
Foreign government bonds and obligations 474 — — 474 581 — — 581 486 1 @ 486
Equity securities ® 51 — (3) 48 51 — 3) 48 51 — ) 49
Total $4659 $ 10 $  (22) $ 4647 $3158 § 16 $ (15) $ 3150 $3144 $ B $ (220 $ 3157

(8 Represents mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac or Ginnie Mae.

(b) Equity securities comprise investments in common stock and mutual funds.

The following table provides information about our investment securities with gross unrealized losses and the length of time that individual securities have been in an unrealized loss position as
of December 31:

2018 2017
L ess than 12 months 12 months or more L ess than 12 months 12 months or more

Gross ross Gross Gross

L . - Estimated Fair Unredlized Estimated Fair Unrealized Estimated Fair Unredlized Estimated Fair Unrealized
Description of Securities (Millions) Vaue L osses Value L osses Value L osses Vaue L osses
State and municipal obligations $ — % — % 82 3 @ % 157 $ 3 $ = —
U.S. Government treasury obligations 224 ) 791 (15) 650 ?3) 175 (6)
Equity securities (a) (a) (a) (@) — — 36 (2
Totdl $ 224 $ (2 3 873 % (16) $ 807 _$ 6 _$ 211 $ (8)

(a) Effective %anuary 1, 2018, the unrealized gains and losses on equity securities are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income and are no longer assessed for other-than-temporary
impairment.

The following table summarizes the gross unrealized |osses due to temporary impairments by ratio of fair value to amortized cost as of December 31:

L ess than 12 months 12 months or more Total

. . . Gross . Gross . Gross
Ratio of Fair Value to o Number of Estimated Unrealized Number of Estimated Unrealized Number of Estimated  Unredized
Amortized Cost (Dollarsin millions) Securities Far Value L osses Securities Far Vaue L osses Securities Far Vaue L osses
2018:
90%-100% 2 % 224 3% (2) 29 % 873 $ (16) 31 $ 1097 $ (18)
Total as of December 31, 2018 2 % 224 3% (2) 29 % 873 $ (16) 31 $ 1097 $ (18)
2017:
90%-100% 7} 807 $ (6) 13 3 211 3 (8) 47 3 1018 $ (14)
Total as of December 31, 2017 A 3 807 $ (6) 13 $ 211 $ (8) 47 % 1018 $ (14)
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The gross unrealized losses for available-for-sale debt securities are attributed to wider credit spreads for specific issuers, adverse changesin benchmark interest rates, or a combination thereof,
all compared to those prevailing when the investment securities were purchased.

Overall, for the available-for-sal e debt securitiesin gross unrealized loss positions, (i) we do not intend to sell the securities, (ii) it is more likely than not that we will not be required to sell the
securities before recovery of the unrealized losses, and (iii) we expect that the contractual principal and interest will be received on the securities. As aresult, we recognized no other-than-
temporary impairment during the periods presented.

Weighted average yields and contractual maturities for investment securities with stated maturities as of December 31, 2018 were as follows:

Due after 5 years
- . Due after 1 year but . ut
(Millions) Duewithin 1 year within 5 years within 10 years Due after 10 years Total
State and municipal obligations® $ 13  $ 47 % 66 $ 470  $ 596
U.S. Government agency obligations _ _ — 10 10
U.S. Government treasury obligations 1,773 1,534 131 2 3,440
Corporate debt securities 2 26 — — 28
M ortgage-backed securities® — — — 51 51
Foreign government bonds and obligations 474 _ — — 474
Total Estimated Fair Vaue $ 2262 $ 1,607 $ 197§ 533  $ 4,509
Total Cost $ 2261 $ 1617 $ 199 $ 531 $ 4,608
Weighted average yields® 2.81% 2.15% 3.49% 3.53% 2.69%

(8 Theexpected pagments on state and municipal obligations and mortgage-backed securities may not coincide with their contractual maturities because the issuers have theright to call or
prepay certain obligations.

(b) Averﬁe yields for investment securities have been calcul ated using the effective yield on the date of purchase. Yields on tax-exempt investment securities have been computed on atax-
equivalent basis using the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 21 percent.
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NOTE 6
ASSET SECURITIZATIONS

We periodically securitize Card Member loans and receivables arising from our card businesses through the transfer of those assets to securitization trusts, American Express Credit Account
Master Trust (the Lending Trust) and American Express Issuance Trust |1 (the Charge Trust and together with the Lending Trust, the Trusts). The Trusts then issue debt securities collateralized
by the transferred assets to third-party investors.

The Trusts are considered VIEs as they have insufficient equity at risk to finance their activities, which are to issue debt securities that are collateralized by the underlying Card Member loans
and receivables. Refer to Note 1 for further details on the principles of consolidation. We perform the servicing and key decision making for the Trusts, and therefore have the power to direct the
activities that most significantly impact the Trusts' economic performance, which are the collection of the underlying Card Member loans and receivables. In addition, we hold all of the variable
interestsin both Trusts, with the exception of the debt securitiesissued to third-party investors. As of December 31, 2018, our ownership of variable interests was $15.5 billion and $7 billion for
the Lending Trust and the Charge Trust, respectively. These variableinterests held by us provide us with the right to receive benefits and the obligation to absorb losses, which could be
significant to both the Lending Trust and the Charge Trust. Based on these considerations, we are the primary beneficiary of the Trusts and therefore consolidate the Trusts.

The debt securities issued by the Trusts are non-recourse to us. The securitized Card Member |oans and receivables held by the Lending Trust and the Charge Trust, respectively, are available
only for payment of the debt securities or other obligationsissued or arising in the securitization transactions (refer to Note 3). The long-term debt of each Trust is payable only out of collections
on their respective underlying securitized assets (refer to Note 9).

The following table provides information on the restricted cash held by the Trusts as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, included in Other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets:

(Millions) 2018 2017
Lending Trust $ 67 $ 55
Charge Trust 3 7
Tota $ 70 % 62

These amounts relate to collections of Card Member |oans and receivables to be used by the Trusts to fund future expenses and obligations, including interest on debt securities, credit |osses
and upcoming debt maturities.

Under the respective terms of the Lending Trust and the Charge Trust agreements, the occurrence of certain triggering events associated with the performance of the assets of each Trust could
result in payment of trust expenses, establishment of reserve funds, or, in aworst-case scenario, early amortization of debt securities. During the year ended December 31, 2018, no such triggering
events occurred.
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NOTE 7

OTHER ASSETS

Thefollowing isasummary of Other assets as of December 31:

(Millions) 2018 2017
Goodwill $ 3072 $ 3,009
Deferred tax assets, net® 1,480 1,637
Prepaid expenses® 1,458 684
Tax credit investments 1,043 1,023
Derivative assets® 396 124
Restricted cash(© 363 336
Other intangible assets, at amortized cost® 275 899
Other 2,384 2,034
Tota $ 10471 $ 9,746

(a) Refer to Notes 14 and 21 for adiscussion of derivative assets and deferred tax assets, net. For 2018 and 2017, $174 million and $98 million, respectively, of foreign deferred tax liabilitiesis
reflected in Other liabilities. Derivative assets reflect the impact of master netting agreements and cash collateral.

(b) Asof September 30, 2018, $796 million of net assets previously included within Other intangible assets were reclassified to Prepaid expenses.

(o) {/nl%lgdes restricted cash available to settle obligations related to certain Card Member credit balances and customer deposits, as well as coupon and maturity obligations of consolidated

GOODWILL

The changesin the carrying amount of goodwill reported in our reportable operating segments were as follows:

(Millions) GCSG GCS GMNS Total
Balance as of December 31, 2016 $ 50 $ 1711 $ 626 $ 2,927
Acquisitions 19 — — 19
Dispositions — — — —
Other® 28 13 22 63
Balance as of December 31, 2017 $ 637 $ 1724 $ 648 $ 3,009
Acquisitions 90 — — 90
Dispositions — — — —
Other®@ (20) (6) (1) (27)
Balance as of December 31, 2018 $ 707 $ 1718 $ 647 $ 3072

(a) Primarily includes foreign currency translation.

Accumulated impairment |osses were $221 million and $220 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 1 to 22 years. We review long-lived assets and asset groups, including intangible assets, for impairment
whenever events and circumstances indicate their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment is recognized if the carrying amount is not recoverable and exceeds the asset or asset
group’sfair value.

The gross carrying amount for other intangible assets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 was $702 million and $2,105 million, respectively, with accumulated amortization of $427 million and $1,206
million, respectively. As of September 30, 2018, certain assets previously classified within Other intangible assets were reclassified to Prepaid expenses.

Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $212 million, $207 million and $194 million, respectively.
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TAX CREDIT INVESTMENTS

We account for our tax credit investments, including Qualified Affordable Housing (QAH) investments, using the equity method of accounting. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, we had $1,043
million and $1,023 million in tax credit investments, respectively, included in Other assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, of which $1,006 million and $1,018 million, respectively, specifically
related to QAH investments. Included in QAH investments as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, we had $936 million and $933 million, respectively, specifically related to investmentsin
unconsolidated VIEs for which we do not have a controlling financial interest.

Asof December 31, 2018, we had committed to provide funding related to certain of these QAH investments, which is expected to be paid between 2019 and 2033, resulting in a$237 million
unfunded commitment reported in Other liabilities, of which $228 million specifically related to unconsolidated VIEs.

In addition, we had contractual off-balance sheet obligations, which were not deemed probable of being drawn, to provide additional funding up to $59 million for these QAH investments as of
December 31, 2018, fully related to unconsolidated VIEs.

During the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, we recognized equity method losses related to our QAH investments of $126 million and $112 million, respectively, which were recognized in
Other, net expenses; and associated tax credits of $97 million and $74 million, respectively, recognized in Income tax provision.
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NOTE 8

CUSTOMER DEPOSITS

As of December 31, customer deposits were categorized as interest-bearing or non-interest-bearing as follows:

(Millions) 2018 2017
U.S.:
Interest-bearing $ 69,144 $ 63,666
Non-interest-bearing (includes Card Member credit balances of: 2018, $376 million; 2017, $358 million) 412 395
Non-U.S.:
Interest-bearing 28 34
Non-interest-bearing (includes Card Member credit balances of: 2018, $367 million; 2017, $344 million) 376 357
Total customer deposits $ 69960 $ 64,452
Customer deposits by deposit type as of December 31 were as follows:
(Millions) 2018 2017
U.S. retail deposits:
Savings accounts — Direct $ 39491 $ 31915
Certificates of deposit:®
Direct 817 290
Third-party (brokered) 12,667 16,684
Sweep accounts —Third-party (brokered) 16,169 14,777
Other deposits:
U.S. non-interest bearing deposits 36 37
Non-U.S. deposits 37 47
Card Member credit balances — U.S. and non-U.S. 743 702
Total customer deposits $ 69,960 $ 64452
(a) Theweighted average remaini n%malurity and weighted average interest rate at issuance on the total portfolio of U.S. retail certificates of deposit issued through direct and third-party
programs were 47 months and 2.38 percent, respectively, as of December 31, 2018.
The scheduled maturities of certificates of deposit as of December 31, 2018 were as follows:
(Millions) u.s. Non-U.S. Total
2019 $ 4730 $ 18 $ 4748
2020 4,290 — 4,290
2021 1,869 — 1,869
2022 2,278 — 2,278
2023 317 — 317
After 5 years — — —
Total $ 13484 % 18 $ 13502
As of December 31, certificates of deposit in denominations of $250,000 or more, in the aggregate, were asfollows:
(Millions) 2018 2017
(VESY $ 276 $ 114
Non-U.S. 9 11
Total $ 285§ 125
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NOTE 9

DEBT

SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

Our short-term borrowings outstanding, defined as borrowings with original contractual maturity dates of less than one year, as of December 31 were asfollows:

2018 2017
Year-End Stated Year-End Stated
Outstanding  Interest Rate on Outstanding Interest Rate on
(Millions, except percentages) Balance Debt® Balance Debt®
Commercia paper® $ 752 271% $ 1,168 154%
Other short-term borrowings'® 2,348 194 2110 2.34
Total $ 3100 213% $ 3278 2.05%

(a) For floating-rate issuances, the stated interest rates are weighted based on the outstanding principal balances and interest ratesin effect as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.

(b) Average commercia paper outstanding was $228 million and $1,076 million in 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(c) Primarily includes book overdrafts with banks due to timing differences arising in the ordinary course of business.

We maintained athree-year committed, revolving, secured borrowing facility that gives us the right to sell up to $2.0 billion face amount of eligible certificates issued from the Lending Trust at

any time through September 15, 2020. The facility was undrawn as of both December 31, 2018 and 2017.

We paid $7.8 million and $9.2 million in fees to maintain the secured borrowing facility in 2018 and 2017, respectively. The committed facility does not contain amaterial adverse change clause,

which might otherwise preclude borrowing under the facility, nor isit dependent on our credit rating.
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LONG-TERM DEBT

Our long-term debt outstanding, defined as debt with original contractual maturity dates of one year or greater, as of December 31 was as follows:

2018 2017
Origina ) Year-End Year-End i Yea-End  Yea-End
Contractual  Outstanding Interest Interest Outstanding Interest Interest
o Maturity Balance® Rateon Rate with Balance@ Rateon Rate with
i X
(Parent Com['))any only) pany 2019
Fixed Rate Senior Notes 2%%2 $ 14,043 3.48% 364% $ 10377 3.85% 3.17%
Floati ng Rate Senior Notes 2023 3,600 3.17 1,750 1.93 —
SUbOI’.dI nated Notes : ) 2024 598 3.63 3.66 598 3.63 2.66
American Express Credit Corporation
) ’ 2019 -
Fixed Rate Senior Notes 2%%7 16,677 2.28 3.06 19,652 2.24 2.27
Floating Rate Senior Notes 2022 3,800 331 — 4,550 2.09 —
American Express National Bank (@
Floating Rate Senior Notes — — — 125 1.89 —
American ExpressLending Trust
) . 2019 -
Fixed Rate Senior Notes 2%%3 12,474 2.28 — 8,099 1.90 —
Floating Rate Senior Notes 2%%3 5,125 2.80 _ 5,800 203 —
Fixed Rate Subordinated Notes 2%%2 240 237 — 206 221 —
Floating Rate Subordinated Notes 2023 167 2.96 — 192 2.05 —
American ExpressCharge Trust |1
Floating Rate Senior Notes 2020 1,535 2.89 — 4,200 179 —
Floating Rate Subordinated Notes — — — 87 211 —
Other
o 2021 -
Capitalized Leases L3933 19 554 — 23 559 —
Floating Rate Borrowings 2021 262 0.42 —% 256 0.42 —%
Unamortized Underwriting Fees (117) (111)
Total Long-Term Debt $ 58423 2.77% $ 55804 2.44%
@

(b)
©

(d)

The outstanding balancesinclude (i) unamortized discount, (eI(I) theimpact of movementsin exchan?e rates on foreign currency denominated debt and (iii) the impact of fair value hedge
accounting on certain fixed-rate notes that have been swapped to floating rate through the use of interest rate swaps. Refer to Note 14 for more details on our treatment of fair value hedges.
For floating-rate issuances, the stated interest rate on debt is weighted based on the outstanding principal balances and interest rates in effect as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.

Interest rates with swaps are only presented when swaps are in place to hedge the underlyi ng debt. Theinterest rates with swaps are weighted based on the outstanding principal balances
and the interest rates on the floating leg of the swapsin effect as of December 31, 2018 and 2017.

2017 balances are those of American Express Centurion Bank prior to the merger of two former bank entitiesinto anew single bank entity effective April 1, 2018. As of December 31, 2017,
American Express Centurion Bank was the only legacy entity of American Express National Bank (AENB) to have debt securities outstanding.
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Aggregate annual maturities on long-term debt obligations (based on contractual maturity or anticipated redemption dates) as of December 31, 2018 were asfollows:

(Millions) 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 Thereafter Total
American Express Company (Parent Company only) $ 641 $ 2000 $ 4,250 3,525 4350 $ 4273 $ 19,039
American Express Credit Corporation 7,150 6,600 2,890 2,050 — 2,000 20,690
American Express Lending Trust 3,488 6,924 2,909 2,001 2,685 — 18,007
American Express Charge Trust |1 — 1,535 — — — — 1,535
Other 36 90 144 — — 11 281
$ 11315 $ 17149 $ 10,193 7,576 7035 $ 6284 $ 59,552
Unamortized Underwriting Fees (117)
Unamortized Discount and Premium (771)
Impacts due to Fair Vaue Hedge Accounting (241)
Total Long-Term Debt $ 58423

We maintained abank line of credit of $3.5 billion as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, al of which was undrawn as of the respective dates. These undrawn amounts support contingent funding
needs. The availability of the credit line is subject to our compliance with certain financial covenants, principally the maintenance by American Express Credit Corporation (Credco) of a1.25 ratio

of combined earnings and fixed charges, to fixed charges. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, we were not in violation of any of our debt covenants.

Additionally, we maintained a three-year committed, revolving, secured borrowing facility that gives us the right to sell up to $3.0 billion face amount of eligible notes issued from the Charge
Trust at any time through July 15, 2020. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, $1.5 billion and $3.0 billion, respectively, were drawn on this facility.

We paid $14.2 million and $16.3 million in fees to maintain these linesin 2018 and 2017, respectively. These committed facilities do not contain material adverse change clauses, which might

otherwise preclude borrowing under the credit facilities, nor are they dependent on our credit rating.

We paid total interest, primarily related to short- and long-term debt, corresponding interest rate swaps and customer deposits, of $2.7 billion, $2.0 billion and $1.7 billion in 2018, 2017 and 2016,

respectively.
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NOTE 10

OTHER LIABILITIES

Thefollowing isasummary of Other liabilities as of December 31:

(Millions) 2018 2017
Membership Rewards liability $ 8414 $ 7,751
Employee-related liabilities® 2,164 2,277
Deferred card and other fees, net 1,759 1,554
Repatriation tax liability® 1,689 1,703
Card Member rebate and reward accrual s© 1,596 1,564
Book overdraft balances 1,028 2,837
Other@ 3.629 4,503
Total $ 20279 $ 22,189

(a) Employee-related liabilities include employee benefit plan obligations and incentive compensation.

(b) Refer to Note 21 for additional information.
(c) Card Member rebate and reward accrual s include payments to third-party reward partners and cash-back rewards.

(d) Other includes accruals for general o]peraiin expenses, client incentives, merchant rebates, payments to third-party card-issuing partners, marketing and business development, restructuring
and reengineering reserves, QAH unfunded commitments and derivatives.

MEMBERSHIP REWARDS

The Membership Rewards program allows enrolled Card Members to earn points that can be redeemed for abroad range of rewards including travel, shopping, gift cards, and covering eligible
charges. We record a balance sheet liability that represents management’s best estimate of the cost of points earned that are expected to be redeemed in the future. The weighted average cost
(WAC) per point and the Ultimate Redemption Rate (URR) are key assumptions used to estimate the Membership Rewards liability. We use statistical and actuarial models to estimate the URR
based on redemption trends, card product type, enrollment tenure, card spend levels and credit attributes.

The expense for Membership Rewards pointsisincluded in Card Member rewards expense. We periodically evaluate our liability estimation process and assumptions based on developmentsin
redemption patterns, cost per point redeemed, partner contract changes and other factors.

DEFERRED CARD AND OTHER FEES, NET

The carrying amount of deferred card and other fees, net of deferred direct acquisition costs and reserves for membership cancellations as of December 31, was asfollows:

(Millions) 2018 2017
Deferred card and other fees® $ 2208 $ 1,996
Deferred direct acquisition costs (282) (280)
Reserves for membership cancellations (167) (162)
Deferred card and other fees, net $ 1759 $ 1554

(8 Includesdeferred fees for Membership Rewards program participants.
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NOTE 11

STOCK PLANS

STOCK OPTION AND AWARD PROGRAMS

Under our 2016 I ncentive Compensation Plan and previously under our 2007 Incentive Compensation Plan, awards may be granted to employees and other key individuals who perform services
for us and our participating subsidiaries. These awards may be in the form of stock options, restricted stock awards or units (RSAS/RSUSs), portfolio grants (PGs) or other incentives, and similar
awards designed to meet the requirements of non-U.S. jurisdictions.

For our Incentive Compensation Plans, there were atotal of 12 million, 14 million and 17 million common shares unissued and available for grant as of December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016,
respectively, as authorized by our Board of Directors and shareholders.

A summary of stock option and RSA/RSU activity as of December 31, 2018, and changes during the year, is presented below:

Stock Options RSAS/RSUs

Weighted- Weighted-

. Average Average Grant

(Shares in thousands) Shares _ Exercise Price Shares Price

Outstanding as of December 31, 2017 7262 % 58.92 7215 $ 70.29

Grantgd 282 98.47 2,221 98.20

Exerci sed/vested (1,844) 46.95 (2,407) 77.41

Forfeited (216) 65.36 (463) 78.80

Expired — — — —

Outstanding as of December 31, 2018 5,484 64.73 6566 $ 76.52
Options vested and expected to vest as of December 31, 2018 5.473 64.73
Options exercisable as of December 31, 2018 3230 % 57.04

We recognize the cost of employee stock awards granted in exchange for employee services based on the grant-date fair value of the award, net of expected forfeitures. Those costs are
recognized ratably over the vesting period.

STOCK OPTIONS

Each stock option has an exercise price equal to the market price of our common stock on the date of grant. Stock options generally vest 100 percent on the third anniversary of the grant date and
have acontractual term of 10 years from the date of grant.

The weighted-average remaining contractual life and the aggregate intrinsic value (the amount by which the fair value of our stock exceeds the exercise price of the option) of the stock options
outstanding, exercisable, vested, and expected to vest as of December 31, 2018, were as follows:

Vested and

i . Expected to

Outstanding Exercisable Vest

Weighted-average remaining contractua life (in years) 5.6 4.0 5.6
Aggregate intrinsic value (millions) $ 169 $ 124 3 168

Theintrinsic value of options exercised during 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $104 million, $197 million and $51 million, respectively, (based upon the fair value of our stock price at the date of exercise).
Cash received from the exercise of stock optionsin 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $87 million, $130 million and $175 million, respectively.

Effective January 1, 2017, we adopted new accounting guidance for employee share-based payments and accordingly, income tax benefits related to stock option exercises were recognized in our

Consolidated Statements of Income in the amount of $18 million and $59 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Previously, such benefits were recorded in
Additional paid-in capital. The tax benefit realized from income tax impacts of stock option exercises, which was recorded in Additional paid-in capital, in 2016 was $4 million.
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Thefair value of each option is estimated on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model. The following weighted-average assumptions were used for options granted in
2018, 2017 and 2016:

2018 2017 2016
Dividend yield 1.4% 1.8% 1.9%
Expected volatility® 22% 24% 25%
Risk-freeinterest rate 2.7% 2.3% 1.5%
Expected life of stock option (in years)® 7.1 6.9 6.3
Weighted-average fair value per option $ 2317  $ 1818  $ 13.67

(8 The expected volatility is based on both weighted historical and implied volatilities of our common stock price.

(b) The expected life of stock options was determined using both historical data and expectations of option exercise behavior.

On October 31, 2017, certain senior executives were awarded stock options with aterm of seven years, and include a three-year service condition, as well as performance and market conditions.
Therefore, the fair values of these options were estimated at the grant date using a Monte Carlo Valuation model with the following assumptions:

October 31,
2017
Dividend yield 1.58%
Expected volatility® 21.41%
Risk-freeinterest rate 2.26%
Expected life of stock option (in years) 7
Fair value per option $ 1918

(8 The expected volatility is based on both weighted historical and implied volatilities of our common stock price.

RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDSAND UNITS

RSASs/RSUs are valued based on the stock price on the date of grant and contain either a) service conditions or b) both service and performance conditions. RSAS/RSUs containing only service
conditions generally vest 25 percent per year beginning with the first anniversary of the grant date. RSAs/RSUs containing both service and performance conditions generally vest on the third
anniversary of the grant date, and the number of shares earned depends on the achievement of predetermined Company metrics. All RSA/RSU holders receive non-forfeitabl e dividends or
dividend equivalents. Thetotal fair value of shares vested during 2018, 2017 and 2016, was $239 million, $180 million and $171 million, respectively (based upon our stock price at the vesting
date).

The weighted-average grant date fair value of RSAS/RSUs granted in 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $98.20, $77.80 and $55.55, respectively.

LIABILITY-BASED AWARDS

Certain employees are awarded PGs and other incentive awards that can be settled with cash or equity shares at our discretion, and final Compensation and Benefits Committee payout approval.
These awards earn value based on performance, market and/or service conditions, and vest over periods of one to three years.

PGs and other incentive awards are generally settled with cash and thus are classified asliabilities; therefore, the fair valueis determined at the date of grant and remeasured quarterly as part of
compensation expense over the vesting period. Cash paid upon vesting of these awardsin 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $56 million, $48 million and $41 million, respectively.

SUMMARY OF STOCK PLAN EXPENSE

The components of our total stock-based compensation expense (net of forfeitures) for the years ended December 31 are asfollows:

(Millions) 2018 2017 2016
Restricted stock awards® $ 181 % 170 $ 178
Stock options®@ 19 21 14
Liability-based awards 88 92 60
Total stock-based compensation expense ® $ 288 3 283 $ 252

a) Asof December 31, 2018, the total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested RSA/RSUs and options of $179 million and $12 million, respectively, will be recognized ratably over
the weighted-average remaining vesting périod of 2.1 years and 1.6 years, respectively.

(b) Thetotal income tax benefit recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Income for stock-based compensation arrangements for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $69
million, $102 million and $89 million, respectively.
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NOTE 12
RETIREMENT PLANS

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION RETIREMENT PLANS

We sponsor defined contribution retirement plans, the principal plan being the Retirement Savings Plan (RSP), a401(k) savings plan with a profit-sharing component. The RSP is a tax-qualified
retirement plan subject to the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 and covers most employeesin the United States. The total expense for all defined contribution retirement plans
globally was $272 million, $349 million and $234 million in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

Our primary defined benefit pension plans that cover certain employeesin the United States and United Kingdom are closed to new entrants and existing participants do not accrue any additional
benefits. Most employees outside the United States and United Kingdom are covered by local retirement plans, some of which are funded, while other employees receive payments at the time of
retirement or termination under applicable labor laws or agreements. We comply with minimum funding requirementsin all countries. We sponsor unfunded other postretirement benefit plans that
provide health care and life insurance to certain retired U.S. employees. For these plans, the total net benefit was $0.4 million in 2018, and the total net expense was $25 million and $24 millionin
2017 and 2016, respectively.

We recognize the funded status of our defined benefit pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans, measured as the difference between the fair value of the plan assets and the projected
benefit obligation, in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, the unfunded status related to the defined benefit pension plans and other postretirement benefit plans
was $563 million and $626 million, respectively, and is recorded in Other liabilities.

NOTE 13
CONTINGENCIESAND COMMITMENTS

CONTINGENCIES

In the ordinary course of business, we and our subsidiaries are subject to various pending and potential legal actions, arbitration proceedings, claims, investigations, examinations, information
gathering requests, subpoenas, inquiries and matters relating to compliance with laws and regul ations (collectively, legal proceedings). We disclose our material legal proceedings under Part |,
Item 3. “Legal Proceedings.”

In addition to the matters disclosed under “Legal Proceedings,” we are being challenged in anumber of countries regarding our application of value-added taxes (VAT) to certain of our
international transactions, which are in various stages of audit, or are being contested in legal actions (collectively, VAT matters). While we believe we have complied with all applicable tax laws,
rules and regulationsin the relevant jurisdictions, the tax authorities may determine that we owe additional VAT. In certain jurisdictions where we are contesting the assessments, we were
required to pay the VAT assessments prior to contesting.

Our legal proceedings range from cases brought by a single plaintiff to class actions with millions of putative class members. These legal proceedingsinvolve various lines of business and a
variety of claims (including, but not limited to, common law tort, contract, application of tax laws, antitrust and consumer protection claims), some of which present novel factual allegations and/or
unique legal theories. While some matters pending against us specify the damages claimed by the plaintiff or class, many seek an unspecified amount of damages or are at very early stages of the
legal process. Even when the amount of damages claimed against us are stated, the claimed amount may be exaggerated and/or unsupported. As aresult, some matters have not yet progressed
sufficiently through discovery and/or development of important factual information and legal issues to enable us to estimate an amount of loss or arange of possible loss, while other matters
have progressed sufficiently such that we are able to estimate an amount of loss or arange of possible loss.

We have accrued for certain of our outstanding legal proceedings. An accrual isrecorded when it is both (&) probable that aloss has occurred and (b) the amount of loss can be reasonably

estimated. There may be instances in which an exposure to |0ss exceeds the accrual. We evaluate, on a quarterly basis, developmentsin legal proceedings that could cause an increase or
decrease in the amount of the accrual that has been previously recorded, or arevision to the disclosed estimated range of possible losses, as applicable.
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For those disclosed material legal proceedings and VAT matters where aloss is reasonably possible in future periods, whether in excess of arecorded accrual for legal or tax contingencies or
where thereis no such accrual, and for which we are able to estimate arange of possible |oss, the current estimated range is zero to $400 million in excess of any accruals related to those matters.
This range represents management’s estimate based on currently available information and does not represent our maximum |oss exposure; actual results may vary significantly. As such legal
proceedings evolve, we may need to increase our range of possible loss or recorded accruals. In addition, it is possible that significantly increased merchant steering or other actionsimpairing
the Card Member experience as aresult of an adverse resolution in one or any combination of the merchant cases disclosed in Part I, Item 3. "Legal Proceedings" could have a material adverse
effect on our business.

Based on our current knowledge, and taking into consideration our litigation-related liabilities, we believe we are not a party to, nor are any of our properties the subject of, any legal proceeding
that would have amaterial adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition or liquidity. However, in light of the uncertainties involved in such matters, it is possible that the outcome of
legal proceedings, including the possible resolution of merchant claims, could have a material impact on our results of operations.

COMMITMENTS

We lease certain facilities and equipment under non-cancelable and cancel able agreements, for which total rental expense was $142 million, $151 million and $169 million in 2018, 2017 and 2016,
respectively.

Asof December 31, 2018, the minimum aggregate rental commitment under all non-cancelable operating leases (net of subleases of $14 million) was as follows:

(Millions)

2019 $ 140
2020 118
2021 95
2022 78
2023 65
Thereafter 832
Total $ 1,328

As of December 31, 2018, our future minimum lease payments under capital leases or other similar arrangementsis approximately $4 million in each of 2019 and 2020, $1 million in each of 2021 and
2022, $2 million in 2023 and $8 million in aggregate thereafter.

As of December 31, 2018, we had $5.0 billion in commitments related to agreements with certain cobrand partners under which we make payments based primarily on the amount of Card Member
spending and corresponding rewards earned on such spending and, under certain arrangements, on the number of accounts acquired and retained.
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NOTE 14

DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

We use derivative financial instruments to manage exposures to various market risks. These instruments derive their value from an underlying variable or multiple variables, including interest
rates, foreign exchange rates, and an equity index or price, and are carried at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. These instruments enable end users to increase, reduce or alter
exposure to various market risks and, for that reason, are an integral component of our market risk management. We do not transact in derivatives for trading purposes.

Market risk isthe risk to earnings or asset and liability values resulting from movementsin market prices. Our market risk exposuresinclude:

* Interest rate risk due to changesin the relationship between interest rates on our assets (such as|oans, receivables and investment securities) and interest rates on our liabilities (such as debt
and deposits); and

« Foreign exchangerisk related to earnings, funding, transactions and investments in currencies other than the U.S. dollar.

We centrally monitor market risks using market risk limits and escalation triggers as defined in our Asset/Liability Management Policy. Our market exposures are in large part by-products of the
delivery of our products and services.

Interest rate risk primarily arises through the funding of Card Member receivables and fixed-rate loans with variable-rate borrowings, as well as through the risk to net interest margin from
changes in the rel ationship between benchmark rates such as Prime, LIBOR and the overnight indexed swap rate. Interest rate exposure within our charge card and fixed-rate lending productsis
managed by varying the proportion of total funding provided by short-term and variable-rate debt and deposits compared to fixed-rate debt and deposits. In addition, interest rate swaps are used
from time to time to economically convert fixed-rate debt obligations to variable-rate obligations, or to convert variable-rate debt obligations to fixed-rate obligations. We may change the mix
between variable-rate and fixed-rate funding based on changes in business volumes and mix, among other factors.

Foreign exchangerisk is generated by Card Member cross-currency spend, foreign currency balance sheet exposures, foreign subsidiary equity and foreign currency earningsin entities outside
the United States. Our foreign exchange risk is managed primarily by entering into agreements to buy and sell currencies on a spot basis or by hedging this market exposure, to the extent it is
economical, through various means, including the use of derivatives such as foreign exchange forwards and cross-currency swap contracts.

Derivatives may giverise to counterparty credit risk, which istherisk that a derivative counterparty will default on, or otherwise be unable to perform pursuant to, an uncollateralized derivative
exposure. We manage this risk by considering the current exposure, which is the replacement cost of contracts on the measurement date, as well as estimating the maximum potential value of the
contracts over the next 12 months, considering such factors as the volatility of the underlying or reference index. To mitigate derivative credit risk, counterparties are required to be pre-approved
by us and rated as investment grade, and counterparty risk exposures are centrally monitored.

Additionally, in order to mitigate the bilateral counterparty credit risk associated with derivatives, we havein certain instances entered into master netting agreements with our derivative
counterparties, which provide aright of offset for certain exposures between the parties. A majority of our derivative assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are subject to such
master netting agreements with our derivative counterparties, and there are no instances in which management makes an accounting policy election to not net assets and liabilities subject to an
enforceable master netting agreement on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. To further mitigate counterparty credit risk, we exercise our rights under executed credit support agreements with the
respective derivative counterparties for most of our bilateral interest rate swaps and select foreign exchange contracts. These agreements require that, in the event the fair value changein the net
derivatives position between the two parties exceeds certain dollar thresholds, the party in the net liability position posts collateral to its counterparty. All derivative contracts cleared through a
central clearinghouse are collateralized to the full amount of the fair value of the contracts.

In relation to our credit risk, certain of our bilateral derivative agreementsinclude provisionsthat allow our counterparties to terminate the agreement in the event of adowngrade of our debt
credit rating below investment grade and settle the outstanding net liability position. As of December 31, 2018, these derivatives were not in anet liability position. We have no individually
significant derivative counterparties and therefore, no significant risk exposure to any single derivative counterparty. Based on our assessment of the credit risk of our derivative counterparties
as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, no credit risk adjustment to the derivative portfolio was required.

Our derivatives are carried at fair value on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The accounting for changesin fair value depends on the instruments’ intended use and the resulting hedge
designation, if any, as discussed below. Refer to Note 15 for a description of our methodology for determining the fair value of derivatives.
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The following table summarizesthe total fair value, excluding interest accruals, of derivative assets and liabilities as of December 31:

Other Assets Fair Value Other Liabilities Fair Value
(Millions) 2018 2017 2018 2017
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments:

Fair value hedges - I nterest rate contracts® $ 34 $ 1 $ 74 $ 34

Net investment hedges - Foreign exchange contracts 222 117 61 89
Total derivatives designated as hedging instruments 256 128 135 123
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments:

Foreign exchange contracts, including certain embedded derivatives® 258 82 79 95
Total derivatives, gross 514 210 214 218
Less: Cash collateral netting© @ (28) (6) (78) (45)

Derivative asset and derivative liability netting® (90) (80) (90) (80)
Total derivatives, net $ 3% $ 124 $ 46 $ 93

(a) For our centrally cleared derivatives, variation margin payments are legally characterized as settlement payments as opposed to collateral.
(b) Includesforeign currency derivatives embedded in certain operating agreements.

(c) Representsthe offsetting of the fair value of bilateral interest rate contracts and certain foreign exchange contracts with the right to cash collateral held from the counterparty or cash
collateral posted with the counterparty.

(d) We posted $84 million and $146 million as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, asinitial margin on our centrally cleared interest rate swaps; such amounts are recorded within Other
receivables on the Consolidated Balance Sheets and are not netted against the derivative balances.
(e) Representsthe amount of netting of derivative assets and derivative liabilities executed with the same counterparty under an enforceable master netting arrangement.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS THAT QUALIFY FOR HEDGE ACCOUNTING

Derivatives executed for hedge accounting purposes are documented and designated as such when we enter into the contracts. In accordance with our risk management policies, we structure our
hedges with terms similar to those of the item being hedged. We formally assess, at inception of the hedge accounting relationship and on aquarterly basis, whether derivatives designated as
hedges are highly effective in offsetting the fair value or cash flows of the hedged items. These assessments usually are made through the application of aregression analysis method. If itis
determined that aderivativeis not highly effective as ahedge, we will discontinue the application of hedge accounting.

FAIR VALUE HEDGES

A fair value hedge involves a derivative designated to hedge our exposure to future changesin the fair value of an asset or aliability, or an identified portion thereof, that is attributable to a
particular risk.

Interest Rate Contracts

We are exposed to interest rate risk associated with our fixed-rate long-term debt obligations. At the time of issuance, certain fixed-rate debt obligations are designated in fair value hedging
relationships, using interest rate swaps, to economically convert the fixed interest rate to afloating interest rate. We have $24.0 billion and $23.8 billion of fixed-rate debt obligations designated in
fair value hedging relationships as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Gains or losses on the fair value hedging instrument principally offset the losses or gains on the hedged item attributabl e to the hedged risk. The changesin the fair value of the derivative and
the changes in the hedged item may not fully offset due to differences between a debt obligation’s interest rate and the benchmark rate, primarily due to credit spreads at inception of the hedging
relationship that are not reflected in the fair value of the interest rate swap. Furthermore, the difference may be caused by changesin 1-month LIBOR, 3-month LIBOR and the overnight indexed
swap rate, as spreads between these ratesimpact the fair value of the interest rate swap without an exact offsetting impact to the fair value of the hedged debt.

The following table presents the gains and losses associated with the fair value hedges of our fixed-rate long-term debt for the years ended December 31:

Gains (losses)
(Millions) 2018 2017 2016
Interest
expense@ Other expenses  Other expenses
Fixed-rate long-term debt $ 59 % 206 $ 163
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments (43) (246) (184)
Total $ 16 $ (40 _$ (21)

We adopted new accounting guidance providing targeted improvements to the accounting for hedging activities effective January 1, 2018. In compliance with the standard, amounts
B et
previously recorded in Other expenses have been prospectively recorded in Total interest expense. Refer to Note 1 for additional information.

110




Table of Contents

The carrying values of the hedged liabilities, recorded within Long-term debt on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, were $23.7 billion and $23.6 hillion as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, including offsetting amounts of $241 million and $182 million for the respective periods, related to the cumulative amount of fair value hedging adjustments.

We recognized anet increase of $51 million in Interest expense on Long-term debt for the year ended December 31, 2018, and net reductions of $133 million and $224 million for the years ended
December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, primarily related to the net settlements (interest accruals) on our interest rate derivatives designated as fair value hedges.

NET INVESTMENT HEDGES

A net investment hedge is used to hedge future changes in currency exposure of anet investment in aforeign operation. We primarily designate foreign currency derivatives, typically foreign
exchange forwards, and on occasion foreign currency denominated debt, as hedges of net investmentsin certain foreign operations. These instruments reduce exposure to changesin currency
exchange rates on our investmentsin non-U.S. subsidiaries. We had notionals of approximately $9.6 billion and $9.5 billion of foreign currency derivatives designated as net investment hedges as
of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. The gain or loss on net investment hedges, net of taxes, recorded in AOCI as part of the cumulative translation adjustment, was a gain of $328 million,
aloss of $370 million and again of $281 million for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Accumulated gains within AOCI of $1 million for the year ended December 31,
2018, and losses of $31 million and $5 million for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, were reclassified into Other expenses upon investment sales or liquidations.

DERIVATIVESNOT DESIGNATED ASHEDGES

We have derivatives that act as economic hedges, but are not designated as such for hedge accounting purposes. Foreign currency transactions from time to time may be partially or fully
economically hedged through foreign currency contracts, primarily foreign exchange forwards. These hedges generally mature within one year. Foreign currency contracts involve the purchase
and sale of designated currencies at an agreed upon rate for settlement on a specified date.

We also have certain operating agreements containing payments that may be linked to amarket rate or price, primarily foreign currency rates. The payment components of these agreements may
meet the definition of an embedded derivative, in which case the embedded derivative is accounted for separately and is classified as aforeign exchange contract based on its primary risk
exposure.

The changesin thefair value of derivativesthat are not designated as hedges are intended to offset the related foreign exchange gains or losses of the underlying foreign currency exposures.
The changesin the fair value of the derivatives and the related underlying foreign currency exposures resulted in anet gain of $60 million, anet loss of $29 million and anet gain of $1 million for
the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, and are recognized in Other expenses.

The changesin thefair value of an embedded derivative resulted in losses of $11 million and nil for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and again of $9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2016, and are recognized in Card Member services expense.
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NOTE 15
FAIR VALUES

Fair value is defined as the price that would be required to sell an asset or paid to transfer aliability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, based on the
principal or, in the absence of a principal, most advantageous market for the specific asset or liability.

GAAP providesfor athree-level hierarchy of inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value, defined as follows:

. Level 1 — Inputs that are quoted prices (unadjusted) for identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the entity can access.

. Level 2 — Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or
ligbility, including:

- Quoted pricesfor similar assets or liabilitiesin active markets;

- Quoted pricesfor identical or similar assets or liabilitiesin markets that are not active;

- Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; and
- Inputsthat are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or other means.

o Level 3 — Inputs that are unobservable and reflect our own estimates about the estimates market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on the best information
availablein the circumstances (e.g., internally derived assumptions surrounding the timing and amount of expected cash flows). We did not measure any financial instruments presented on
the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value on arecurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (L evel 3) during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, although the
disclosed fair value of certain assetsthat are not carried at fair value, as presented later in this Note, are classified within Level 3.

We monitor the market conditions and evaluate the fair value hierarchy levels at least quarterly. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, there were no Level 3 transfers.

FINANCIAL ASSETSAND FINANCIAL LIABILITIESCARRIED AT FAIR VALUE

The following table summarizes our financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on arecurring basis, categorized by GAAP sfair value hierarchy (as described in the preceding
paragraphs), as of December 31:

2018 2017

(Millions) Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Investment securities: @

Equity securities $ 48 % 1 % 47 % — 3 8 3 1 $ 47  $ —

Debt securities 4,599 — 4,599 — 3,111 1,045 2,066 —
Derivatives, gross® 514 — 514 — 210 — 210 —
Total Assets 5,161 1 5,160 — 3,369 1,046 2,323 —
Liabilities:
Derivatives, gross® 214 — 214 — 218 — 218 —
Total Liabilities $ 214 % = $ 214  $ = 3 218 — 218 —

(a) Refer to Note 5 for the fair values of investment securities and to Note 14 for the fair values of derivative assets and liabilities, on afurther disaggregated basis.
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VALUATION TECHNIQUESUSED IN THE FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETSAND FINANCIAL LIABILITIESCARRIED AT FAIR VALUE

For the financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on arecurring basis (categorized in the valuation hierarchy table above), we apply the following val uation techniques:

Investment Securities

When available, quoted prices of identical investment securities in active markets are used to estimate fair value. Such investment securities are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

When quoted prices of identical investment securities in active markets are not available, the fair values for our investment securities are obtained primarily from pricing services engaged by us,
and we receive one price for each security. Thefair values provided by the pricing services are estimated using pricing models, where the inputs to those models are based on observable market
inputs or recent trades of similar securities. Such investment securities are classified within Level 2 of thefair value hierarchy. The inputs to the val uation techniques applied by the pricing
services vary depending on the type of security being priced but are typically benchmark yields, benchmark security prices, credit spreads, prepayment speeds, reported trades and broker-deal er
quotes, all with reasonable levels of transparency. The pricing services did not apply any adjustments to the pricing models used. In addition, we did not apply any adjustmentsto prices received
from the pricing services.

We reaffirm our understanding of the valuation techniques used by our pricing services at least annually. In addition, we corroborate the prices provided by our pricing services by comparing
them to alternative pricing sources. In instances where price discrepancies are identified between different pricing sources, we eval uate such discrepancies to ensure that the prices used for our
valuation represent the fair value of the underlying investment securities. Refer to Note 5 for additional fair value information.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Thefair value of our derivative financial instrumentsis estimated internally by using third-party pricing models, where the inputs to those models are readily observable from actively quoted
markets. The pricing models used are consistently applied and reflect the contractual terms of the derivatives as described below. We reaffirm our understanding of the valuation techniques at
least annually and validate the valuation output on a quarterly basis. Our derivative instruments are classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Thefair value of our interest rate swaps is determined based on a discounted cash flow method using the following significant inputs: the contractual terms of the swap such as the notional
amount, fixed coupon rate, floating coupon rate and tenor, as well as discount rates consistent with the underlying economic factors of the currency in which the cash flows are denominated.

Thefair value of foreign exchange forward contracts is determined based on a discounted cash flow method using the following significant inputs: the contractual terms of the forward contracts
such as the notional amount, maturity dates and contract rate, as well asrelevant foreign currency forward curves, and discount rates consistent with the underlying economic factors of the
currency in which the cash flows are denominated.

Credit valuation adjustments are necessary when the market parameters, such as a benchmark curve, used to value derivatives are not indicative of our credit quality or that of our counterparties.
We consider the counterparty credit risk by applying an observable forecasted default rate to the current exposure. Refer to Note 14 for additional fair value information.
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FINANCIAL ASSETSAND FINANCIAL LIABILITIESCARRIED AT OTHER THAN FAIR VALUE

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of our financial assets and financial liabilities that are measured at amortized cost, and not required to be carried at fair value on a
recurring basis, as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. Thefair values of these financial instruments are estimates based upon the market conditions and perceived risks as of December 31, 2018 and
2017, and require management’s judgment. These figures may not be indicative of future fair values, nor can our fair value be estimated by aggregating the amounts presented.

Carrying Corresponding Fair Value Amount
2018 (Billions) Value Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Financial Assets:
Financial assets for which carrying values equal or
approximate fair value

Cash and cash equivalents® $ 27 $ 27 $ 26 $ 1 3 —

Other financial assets® 58 58 — 58 —
Financial assets carried at other than fair value

Loans, net© 83 84 — — 84

Financial Liabilities:
Financial liabilities for which carrying values equal or

approximate fair value 81 81 — 81 —
Financial liabilities carried at other than fair value
Certificates of deposit® 13 13 — 13 —
L ong-term debt(© $ 58 % 59 $ — % 59 $ —
Carrying Corresponding Fair Value Amount
2017 (Billions) Value Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial Assets:
Financial assets for which carrying values equal or
approximate fair value

Cash and cash equivalents® $ 3B 3% 3 3 32 3 1 $ —

Other financial assets® 57 57 — 57 —
Financial assets carried at other than fair value

Loans, net© 74 75 — — 75

Financial Liabilities:
Financial liabilities for which carrying values equal or

approximate fair value 76 76 — 76 —
Financial liabilities carried at other than fair value

Certificates of deposit® 17 17 — 17 —

Long-term debt© $ 56 3 57 % =3 57 % =

(8 Level 2 amountsreflect time deposits and short-term investments.

(b) Includes Card Member receivables (including fair values of Card Member receivables of $8.5 billion and $8.9 billion held by a consolidated VIE as of December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively), Other receivables, restricted cash and other miscellaneous assets.

(c) Balancesinclude amounts held by a consolidated VIE for which the fair values of Card Member loans were $33.0 billion and $25.6 billion as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and
the fair values of Long-term debt were $19.4 billion and $18.6 billion as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

(d) Presented as acomponent of Customer deposits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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VALUATION TECHNIQUESUSED IN THE FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETSAND FINANCIAL LIABILITIESCARRIED AT OTHER THAN FAIR VALUE

For the financial assets and liabilities that are not required to be carried at fair value on arecurring basis (categorized in the valuation hierarchy table), we apply the following valuation techniques
to measurefair value:

Financial Assets For Which Carrying Values Equal Or Approximate Fair Value

Financial assets for which carrying values equal or approximate fair value include cash and cash equivalents, Card Member receivables, accrued interest and certain other assets. For these assets,
the carrying values approximate fair value because they are short term in duration, have no defined maturity or have amarket-based interest rate.

Financial AssetsCarried At Other Than Fair Value
Loans, net

Loans are recorded at historical cost, less reserves, on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. In estimating the fair value for our loans, we use a discounted cash flow model. Due to the lack of a
comparable whole [oan sales market for similar loans and the lack of observable pricing inputs thereof, we use variousinputs to estimate fair value. Such inputs include projected income, discount
rates and relevant credit losses. The valuation does not include economic value attributable to future receivables generated by the accounts associated with the loans.

Financial Liabilities For Which Carrying Values Equal Or Approximate Fair Value

Financial liabilities for which carrying values equal or approximate fair value include accrued interest, customer deposits (excluding certificates of deposit, which are described further below),
Travelers Cheques and other prepaid products outstanding, accounts payable, short-term borrowings and certain other liabilities for which the carrying values approximate fair value because
they are short term in duration, have no defined maturity or have a market-based interest rate.

Financial LiabilitiesCarried At Other Than Fair Value

Certificates of Deposit

Certificates of deposit (CDs) are recorded at their historical issuance cost on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Fair value is estimated using a discounted cash flow methodology based on the
future cash flows and the discount rate that reflects the current market rates for similar types of CDs within similar markets.

Long-term Debt

Long-term debt isrecorded at historical issuance cost on the Consolidated Balance Sheets adjusted for (i) unamortized discount and unamortized fees, (ii) the impact of movementsin exchange
rates on foreign currency denominated debt and (iii) the impact of fair value hedge accounting on certain fixed-rate notes that have been swapped to floating rate through the use of interest rate
swaps. Thefair value of our long-term debt is measured using quoted offer prices when quoted market prices are available. If quoted market prices are not available, thefair value is determined by
discounting the future cash flows of each instrument at rates currently observed in publicly-traded debt markets for debt of similar terms and credit risk. For long-term debt, where there are no
rates currently observablein publicly traded debt markets of similar terms and comparable credit risk, we use market interest rates and adjust those rates for necessary risks, including our own
credit risk. In determining an appropriate spread to reflect our credit standing, we consider credit default swap spreads, bond yields of other long-term debt offered by us, and interest rates
currently offered to us for similar debt instruments of comparable maturities.

NONRECURRING FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

We have certain assets that are subject to measurement at fair value on anonrecurring basis. For these assets, measurement at fair value in periods subsequent to their initial recognitionis
applicableif they are determined to be impaired or where there are observable price changes for equity investments without readily determinable fair values. During the years ended December 31,
2018 and 2017, we did not have any material assets that were measured at fair value due to impairment. Equity investments previously held at cost that are adjusted through earnings for
observable price changes are not material.
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NOTE 16

GUARANTEES

As of December 31, 2018, the maximum potential undiscounted future payments and related liability resulting from guarantees and indemnifications provided by usin the ordinary course of
business were $1 billion and $46 million, respectively, and related primarily to our real estate and business dispositions. As of December 31, 2017, the maximum potential undiscounted future
payments and related liability were $1 billion and $52 million, respectively.

To date, we have not experienced any significant losses related to guarantees or indemnifications. Our recognition of these instrumentsisat fair value. In addition, we establish reserves when a
lossis probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated.

NOTE 17

COMMON AND PREFERRED SHARES

The following table shows authorized shares and provides a reconciliation of common shares issued and outstanding for the years ended December 31:

(Millions, except where indicated) 2018 2017 2016
Common shares authorized (billions)@ 3.6 36 3.6
Sharesissued and outstanding at beginning of year 859 904 969
Repurchases of common shares (15) (50) (70)
Other, primarily stock option exercises and restricted stock awards granted 3 5 5
Shares issued and outstanding as of December 31 847 859 904

(a) Of the common shares authorized but unissued as of December 31, 2018, approximately 24 million shares are reserved for issuance under employee stock and employee benefit plans.

On September 26, 2016, the Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of 150 million of common shares over time in accordance with our capital distribution plans submitted to the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the Federal Reserve) and subject to market conditions. This authorization replaces all prior repurchase authorizations. During 2018, 2017 and 2016, we
repurchased 15 million common shares with a cost basis of $1.6 billion, 50 million common shares with a cost basis of $4.3 billion, and 70 million common shares with a cost basis of $4.4 billion,
respectively. The cost basis includes commissions paid of $2.2 million, $2.9 million and $1.2 million in 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. As of December 31, 2018, we had approximately 70 million
common shares remaining under the Board share repurchase authorization. Such authorization does not have an expiration date.

Common shares are generally retired by us upon repurchase (except for 2.7 million, 2.9 million and 3.0 million shares held as treasury shares as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively);
retired common shares and treasury shares are excluded from the shares outstanding in the table above. The treasury shares, with a cost basis of $207 million, $217 million and $197 million as of
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, areincluded as areduction to Additional paid-in capital in Shareholders’ equity on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
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PREFERRED SHARES

The Board of Directors s authorized to permit usto issue up to 20 million Preferred Shares at a par value of $1.66%% without further shareholder approval. We have the following perpetual Fixed
Rate/Floating Rate Noncumul ative Preferred Share seriesissued and outstanding as of December 31, 2018:

Series B SeriesC
Issuance date November 10, 2014 March 2, 2015
Securities issued 750 Preferred Shares; represented by 750,000 depositary 850 Preferred Shares; reprﬁsented by 850,000 depositary
ares shares
Adggregate liquidation preference $750 million $850 million
Fixed dividend rate per annum 5.20% 4.90%
Semi-annual fixed dividend payment dates Beginning May 15, 2015 Beginning September 15, 2015
Floating dividend rate per annum 3 month LIBOR+ 3.428% 3 month LIBOR+ 3.285%
Quarterly floating dividend payment dates Beginning February 15, 2020 Beginning June 15, 2020
Fixed to floating rate conversion date(® November 15, 2019 March 15, 2020

(8 The date on which dividends convert from afixed-rate cal culation to a floating rate cal culation.

In the event of the voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the preferred stock then outstanding takes precedence over our common stock for the
payment of dividends and the distribution of assets out of fundslegally available for distribution to shareholders. Each outstanding series of Preferred Shares has aliquidation price of $1 million
per Preferred Share, plus any accrued but unpaid dividends. We may redeem these Preferred Shares at $1 million per Preferred Share (equivalent to $1,000 per depositary share) plus any declared
but unpaid dividendsin whole or in part, from time to time, on any dividend payment date on or after the respective fixed to floating rate conversion date, or in whole, but not in part, within 90
days of certain bank regulatory changes.

There were no warrants issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016.
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NOTE 18

CHANGESIN ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

AOCI isabalance sheet item in Shareholders” equity on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. It is comprised of items that have not been recognized in earnings but may be recognized in earningsin
the future when certain events occur. Changes in each component for the three years ended December 31 were as follows:

] Foreign Currency Net Unredlized
Net Unrealized ) ransglation Pension and Other Accumulated Other
. Losses) Gainson  Adjustment (Losses)  Postretirement Benefit Comprehensive
(Millions), net of tax Investment Securities Gans (L osses) Gains L oss) Income
Balances as of December 31, 2015 $ 58 $ (2044) 3 (548) $ (2.534)
Net unrealized losses (45) — — (45)
(Decrease) increase due to amounts reclassified into earnings (6) 4 — 2
Net translation losses on investmentsin foreign operations — (503) — (503)
Net gains related to hedges of investments in foreign operations — 281 — 281
Pension and other postretirement benefits — — 19 19
Net change in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (51) (218) 19 (250)
Balances as of December 31, 2016 7 (2.262) (529) (2.784)
Net unrealized losses @) — — (7)
Decrease due to amounts reclassified into earnings — (7) — (7)
Net translation gains on investments in foreign operations® — 678 — 678
Net losses related to hedges of investmentsin foreign operations — (370) — (370)
Pension and other postretirement benefits — — 62 62
Net change in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income () 301 62 356
Balances as of December 31, 2017 — (1.961) (467) (2.428)
Net unrealized losses (10) — — (10)
Net translation losses on investments in foreign operations — (500) — (500)
Net gains related to hedges of investments in foreign operations — 328 — 328
Pension and other postretirement benefits — — 11 11
Other® 2 — — 2
Net change in accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income (8) (172) 11 (169)
Balances as of December 31, 2018 $ 8) $ (2133 $ (456) $ (2,597)

(@ Includes $289 million of recognized tax benefitsin the year ended December 31, 2017 (refer to Note 21).

(b) Represents unrealized gains pertaining to e?\lljity securities moved from AOCI to retained earnings as of January 1, 2018, due to the prospective adoption of the financial instruments
(o}

guidance effective January 1, 2018 (refer to Note 1).

The following table shows the tax impact for the years ended December 31 for the changes in each component of AOCI presented above:

Tax expense (benefit)

(Millions) 2018 2017 2016
Net unrealized investment securities $ @2 $ @4 3 (27)
Net translation on investments in foreign operations® (44) (172) (15)
Net hedges of investmentsin foreign operations 107 (215) 139
Pension and other postretirement benefits 9 7 37
Total tax impact $ 70 % (384 3 134

(@ Includes $289 million of recognized tax benefitsin the year ended December 31, 2017 (refer to Note 21).

The following table presents the effects of reclassifications out of AOCI and into the Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31:

Gains (losses) recognized in
earnings

Description (Millions) Income Statement Line Item 2018 2017
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Reclassification of translation adjustments and related hedges Other expenses $ 1 3 (7)
Related income tax Income tax provision (1) 14
Reclassification of foreign currency translation adjustments $ =9 7
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NOTE 19
OTHER FEESAND COMMISSIONS, OTHER REVENUES AND OTHER EXPENSES

Thefollowing isadetail of Other fees and commissions for the years ended December 31:

(Millions) 2018 2017 2016
Fees charged to Card Members:
Delinquency fees $ 959 $ 888 $ 762
Foreign currency conversion fee revenue 921 851 809
Other customer fees:
Loyalty coalition-related fees 461 452 409
Travel commissions and fees 395 364 332
Service fees and other® 417 435 406
Total Other fees and commissions $ 3153 $ 29%0 $ 2,718

(a) Other includes Membership Rewards program fees that are not related to contracts with customers.

Thefollowing isadetail of Other revenues for the years ended December 31:

(Millions) 2018 2017 2016
Global Network Services partner revenues $ 260 $ 327 % 350
Other@® 1,100 1,130 1,328

Total Other revenues $ 1360 $ 1457 % 1678

(8 Other includes revenues arising from net revenue earned on cross-border Card Member spending, merchant-related fees, insurance premiums earned from Card Member travel and other
insurance programs, revenues related to the GBT JV transition services agreement, prepaid card and Travelers Cheque-related revenues, earnings from equity method investments (including
the GBT JV), “and other miscellaneous revenue and fees.

Revenue expected to be recognized in future periods related to contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or less and contracts with variable consideration (e.g. discount
revenue) are not required to be disclosed. Non-interest revenue expected to be recognized in future periods through remaining contracts with customersis not material.

Thefollowing is adetail of Other expenses for the years ended December 31:

(Millions) 2018 2017 2016
Professional services $ 2125 % 2040 $ 2,508
Occupancy and equipment 2,033 2,018 1,837
Gain on sale of HFS portfolios® — — (1,218)
Other® 1,513 1,576 1815

Total Other expenses $ 5671 % 5634 $ 4,942

(a) Refer to Note 2 for additional information.

(b) Other expense includes (};eneral operati rB; expenses, communication expenses, Card and merchant-related fraud losses, forei t%? currency-related gains and losses, and gains on the sale of
e

equity investments. For the year ended December 31, 2018, Other. expense also includes the loss on a transaction involvi ng operations of our prepaid reloadable and LPi ft card business
and unr .S. loyalty coalition

ealized gains on certain equity investments previously carried at cost. For the year ended December 31, 2017, Other expense also includes charges related to our
and prepaid businesses.

NOTE 20

RESTRUCTURING

We periodically initiate restructuring programs to support new business strategies and to enhance our overall effectiveness and efficiency. In connection with these programs, we will typically
incur severance and other exit costs.

We had $69 million, $199 million and $383 million accrued in total restructuring reserves as of December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. New charges, including net revisionsto existing
restructuring reserves, which primarily relate to the redeployment of displaced colleagues to other positions, were $(23) million, $42 million and $329 million, for the years ended December 31, 2018,
2017 and 2016, respectively. Cumulatively, we recognized $554 million relating to the restructuring programs that were in progress during 2018 and initiated at various dates between 2011 and
2018, the majority of which has been reflected within Corporate & Other.
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NOTE 21

INCOME TAXES

The Tax Act, enacted by the U.S. government on December 22, 2017, made broad and complex changes to the U.S. tax code which required time to interpret. The SEC issued Staff Accounting
Bulletin No. 118 (SAB 118) in December, 2017, to provide guidance on accounting for the effects of the Tax Act. SAB 118 provides for a measurement period of up to one year from the Tax Act
enactment date for companies to complete their assessment of and accounting for those effects of the Tax Act required under ASC 740 “ Implementation Guidance on Accounting for Uncertainty
inIncome Taxes” to be reported in the period of enactment. Under SAB 118, acompany must first reflect the income tax effects of the Tax Act for which the accounting is complete in the period of
the date of enactment. To the extent the accounting for other income tax effects isincomplete, but a reasonable estimate can be determined, companies must record a provisional estimate to be
included in their financia statements. For any income tax effect for which areasonable estimate cannot be determined, an entity must continue to apply ASC 740 based on the provisions of the
tax lawsin effect immediately prior to the Tax Act being enacted until such time as a reasonabl e estimate can be determined.

In 2017, we recorded a net discrete tax charge of $2.6 billion related to the Tax Act that was accounted for as a provisional estimate under SAB 118. We have completed our assessment of and
accounting for the Tax Act, and recorded a net discrete tax benefit of $0.1 billion in the current period which represents the final adjustment to our 2017 provisional estimate, which is further
explained below.

o Impacts of Deemed Repatriation: In 2017, we recorded a provisional tax charge of $1.7 billion related to the one-time transition tax on unrepatriated post-1986 accumul ated earnings and
profits (E&P) of certain foreign subsidiaries. We have completed our assessment of the transition tax, which resulted in no material changeto our original estimate of $1.7 billion. We
also recorded a provisional deferred tax liability of $0.3 billion to account for the state income and foreign withholding tax on potential future cash dividends paid from such E&P. We
have completed our assessment and reduced the deferred tax liability for state income and foreign withholding taxes related to certain foreign subsidiaries, which resulted in a discrete tax
benefit adjustment of $0.1 billion to our origina provisional estimate.

¢ Remeasurement of Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities: In 2017, we recorded a provisional deferred tax charge of $0.6 billion related to the remeasurement of our U.S. federal net deferred
tax assets to reflect the change in the corporate tax rate from 35 percent to 21 percent, as well as other provisions of the Tax Act. We have completed our assessment of the
remeasurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities, which resulted in no material change to our original estimate.

The global intangible low tax income (GILTI) provisions of the Tax Act impose aminimum tax on foreign incomein excess of adeemed return on tangible assets. We have elected to account for
GILTI asacurrent period expense when incurred.

The components of income tax expense for the years ended December 31 included in the Consolidated Statements of Income were as follows:

(Millions) 2018 2017 2016
Current income tax expense:
U.S. federal $ 70 % 3408 $ 2,180
U.S. state and local 150 259 272
Non-U.S. 681 387 340
Total current income tax expense 901 4,054 2,792
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense:
U.S. federal 276 544 (63)
U.S. state and local 78 (12) (10)
Non-U.S. (54) 91 (52)
Total deferred incometax (benefit) expense 300 623 (125)
Total income tax expense $ 1201  $ 4677  $ 2,667
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A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory rate of 21 percent as of December 31, 2018, and 35 percent as of both December 31, 2017 and 2016, to our actual income tax rate on continuing

operations was as follows:

2018 2017 2016

U.S. statutory federal income tax rate 21.0% 35.0% 35.0%

(Decrease) increase in taxes resulting from:

Tax-exempt income 1.7) 17 .7
State and local income taxes, net of federal benefit 2.8 2.3 2.7
Non-U.S. subsidiaries' earnings® (0.5) (5.7) (2.0)
Tax settlements® (1.9) 0.7) (0.6)
U.S. Tax Act© (1.2) 348 —
U.S. Tax Act - related adjustments'® (32 — —
Other (0.6) (1.0) (0.2)

Actual tax rates 14.8% 63.0% 33.2%

(8 Resultsfor 2017 and 2016 pri marig, included tax benefits associated with the undistributed earnings of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries that were previously deemed to be reinvested indefinitely.
i

In addition, 2017 included tax ben

(b) Resultsfor 2018 relate to the settlement of the IRS examination for tax years 2008-2014, as well as the resol ution of certain tax mattersin various jurisdictions.
(c) Relatesto the $2.6 hillion provisional charge for the impacts of the Tax Act in 2017 and the adjustments thereto in 2018.
(d) Relatesto changesto the tax method of accounting for certain expenses.

tsof $156 million, which decreased the actual tax rate by 2.1 percent, related to the realization of certain foreign tax credits.

We record adeferred income tax (benefit) provision when there are differences between assets and liabilities measured for financial reporting and for income tax return purposes. These temporary
differences result in taxable or deductible amountsin future years and are measured using the tax rates and laws that will be in effect when such differences are expected to reverse. In particular,

the 2017 balances were reduced to reflect the remeasurement of certain federal net deferred tax assets due to the enacted lower federal tax rate of 21 percent.

The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31 are reflected in the following table:

(Millions) 2018 2017
Deferred tax assets:
Reserves not yet deducted for tax purposes 2612 $ 2,724
Employee compensation and benefits 360 403
Other 431 409
Gross deferred tax assets 3,403 3,536
Valuation allowance (61) (46)
Deferred tax assets after valuation allowance 3,342 3490
Deferred tax liabilities:
Intangibles and fixed assets 1,083 1,057
Deferred revenue 435 306
Deferred interest 171 183
Investment in joint ventures 137 137
Other 210 269
Gross deferred tax liabilities 2,036 1,952
Net deferred tax assets 1306 % 1538

A valuation allowance is established when management determines that it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the benefit of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The valuation
allowances as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 are associated with net operating losses and other deferred tax assetsin certain non-U.S. operations.

Accumulated earnings of certain non-U.S. subsidiaries, which totaled approximately $0.7 billion as of December 31, 2018, are intended to be permanently reinvested outside the U.S. We do not
provide for state income and foreign withholding taxes on foreign earnings intended to be permanently reinvested outside the U.S. Accordingly, state income and foreign withholding taxes,

which would have aggregated to approximately $0.1 billion as of December 31, 2018, have not been provided on those earnings.
Net income taxes paid by us during 2018, 2017 and 2016, were approximately $2.0 billion, $1.4 billion and $3.0 billion, respectively. These amounts include estimated tax payments and cash

settlementsrelating to prior tax years.
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We are subject to the income tax laws of the United States, its states and municipalities and those of the foreign jurisdictionsin which we operate. These tax laws are complex, and the manner in
which they apply to the taxpayer’s facts is sometimes open to interpretation. Given these inherent complexities, we must make judgmentsin ng the likelihood that atax position will be
sustained upon examination by the taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the tax position. A tax position is recognized only when, based on management’s judgment regarding the
application of income tax laws, it ismore likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon examination. The amount of benefit recognized for financial reporting purposesis based on
management’s best judgment of the largest amount of benefit that is more likely than not to be realized on ultimate settlement with the taxing authority given the facts, circumstances and
information available at the reporting date. We adjust the level of unrecognized tax benefits when there is new information available to assess the likelihood of the outcome.

We are under continuous examination by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) and tax authoritiesin other countries and states in which we have significant business operations. The tax years
under examination and open for examination vary by jurisdiction. In 2018 we settled our US federal income tax audits for tax years 2008-2014, and the statute of limitations for these years remain
open through 2019. Tax years from 2015 onwards are open for examination by the IRS.

The following table presents changes in unrecognized tax benefits:

(Millions) 2018 2017 2016
Balance, January 1 $ 821 % 974 $ 870
Increases:
Current year tax positions 152 200 167
Tax positionsrelated to prior years 47 39 117
Decreases:
Tax positions related to prior years® (74) (289) (81)
Settlements with tax authorities® (192) (77) (76)
Lapse of statute of limitations (44) (26) (22)
Effects of foreign currency translations (9) — 1)
Balance, December 31 $ 701 $ 821 3 974

(a) Decreasein 2017 due to the resolution with the IRS of an uncertain tax position in January 2017, which resulted in the recognition of $289 millionin AOCI.
(b) 2018 relates to the settlement of the IRS examination for tax years 2008-2014, as well as the resolution of certain tax mattersin various jurisdictions.

Included in the unrecognized tax benefits of $0.7 billion, $0.8 billion and $1.0 billion for December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, are approximately $599 million, $723 million and $516 million,
respectively, that, if recognized, would favorably affect the effective tax rate in afuture period.

We believeit isreasonably possible that our unrecognized tax benefits could decrease within the next 12 months by as much as $151 million, principally as aresult of potential resolutions of prior
years' tax itemswith various taxing authorities. The prior years' tax itemsinclude unrecognized tax benefits relating to the deductibility of certain expenses or losses and the attribution of taxable

incometo aparticular jurisdiction or jurisdictions. Of the $151 million of unrecognized tax benefits, approximately $127 million relates to amountsthat, if recognized, would impact the effective tax
rate in afuture period.

Interest and penalties relating to unrecognized tax benefits are reported in the income tax provision. For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, we recognized benefits of approximately $18
million and $90 million, respectively, for interest and penalties. For the year ended December 31, 2016, we recognized approximately $9 million in expenses for interest and penalties. The interest
expense benefit in 2017 includes approximately $56 million related to the resolution of an uncertain tax position with the IRS in January 2017, which had no net impact on theincome tax provision.

We had approximately $65 million and $83 million accrued for the payment of interest and penalties as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.
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NOTE 22
EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE (EPS)

The computations of basic and diluted EPS for the years ended December 31 were as follows:

(MiTTions, except per share amounts)
2018 2017 2016
Numerator:
Basic and diluted:
Net income $ 6921 $ 2,748  $ 5,375
Preferred dividends (80) (81) (80)
Net income available to common shareholders 6,841 2,667 5,295
Earnings allocated to participating share awards® (54) (21) (43)
Net income attributabl e to common shareholders $ 6787 $ 2646 $ 5252
Denomi nator:(a)
Basic: Weighted-average common stock 856 883 933
Add: Weighted-average stock options® 3 3 2
Diluted 859 886 935
Basic EPS $ 793 % 300 $ 5.63
Diluted EPS $ 791 % 29 3 5.61

(8 Our unvested restricted stock awards, which include the ri_%ht to receive non-forfeitable dividends or dividend equivalents, are considered participating securities. Cal culations of EPS under
the two-class method exclude from the numerator any dividends paid or owed on participating securities and any undistributed earnings considered to be attributable to participating
securities. The related participating securities are similarly excluded from the denominator.

(b) Thedilutive effect of unexercised stock options excludes from the computation of EPS 0.7 million, 0.6 million and 2.4 million of options for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016,
respectively, because inclusion of the options would have been anti-dilutive.
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NOTE 23
REGULATORY MATTERSAND CAPITAL ADEQUACY

We are supervised and regul ated by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System (the Federal Reserve) and are subject to the Federal Reserve's requirements for risk-based capital and
leverage ratios. Our U.S. bank subsidiary, AENB, isthe surviving entity that resulted from the conversion of American Express Centurion Bank, a Utah state-chartered industrial bank, into a
national banking association, and the subsequent merger of American Express Bank, FSB, afederal savings bank, into the successor entity as of April 1, 2018. AENB is subject to supervision and
regulation, including regulatory capital and leverage requirements, by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC).

Under the risk-based capital guidelines of the Federal Reserve, we are required to maintain minimum ratios of CET1, Tier 1 and Total (Tier 1 plus Tier 2) capital to risk-weighted assets, aswell asa
minimum Tier 1 leverageratio (Tier 1 capital to average adjusted on-balance sheet assets) and a supplementary leverage ratio (Tier 1 capital to both on-balance sheet and certain off-balance sheet
exposures).

Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory, and possibly additional, discretionary actions by regulators, that, if undertaken, could have adirect material effect on
our operating activities.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, we met all capital requirements to which we were subject and maintained regulatory capital ratiosin excess of those required to qualify aswell capitalized.

The following table presents the regulatory capital ratios:

Tier1
o CET 1 ) . . _ CET1 Tier 1 capital Total capital leverage  Supplementary
%LLLLLLQns._exmgtfmemagﬁ)— _ capital Tierlcapital Total capita _Capital ratio ratio ratio rafio  LeverageRatio
ecember 31, 20 8:( )
a)
American Express Company $ 17498 $ 19070 $ 21,653 11.0% 12.0% 13.6% 10.4% 8.9%
American Express National Bank $ 11564 $ 11,564 $ 13574 12.1% 12.1% 14.2% 9.9% 8.2%
December 31, 2017:@ .
American Express Company $ 13189 $ 14721 $ 17142 9.0% 10.1% 11.8% 86% % Eb;
American Express Centurion Bank $ 594 $ 5954 $ 6,547 12.7% 12.7% 14.0% 102% % .
American Express Bank, FSB $ 6065 $ 6065 $ 6,653 12.9% 12.9% 14.2% 117% % ()
Well-capitalized ratios® 6.5% 8.0% 10.0% 5.0% N/A
Basel 111 Standards 2018 6.4% 7.9% 9.9% 4.0% 3.0%
Minimum capital ratios® 4.5% 6.0% 8.0% 4.0% 3.0%

(8 AsaBasdl Il advanced apgroachesinstitution in parallel run, capital ratios are reported using Basel |11 capital definitions, inclusive of transition provisions for the capital ratios and risk-
weighted assets using the Basel 111 standardized approach.

(b) The minimum supplementary leverage ratio (SLR) requirement of 3 percent became effective January 1, 2018.

(c) Represents reIcE]_LIJ_irementst[ banking subsidiaries to be considered “wel| capitalized” pursuant to regulationsissued under the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation |mprovement Act.
Thereisno CET1 capital ratio, Tier Ileverageratio or SLR requirement for a bank holding company to be considered “well capitalized.”

d) Basel Il minimum capital requirement and additional transitional capital conservation buffer as defined by the Federal Reserve and OCC for calendar year 2018 for advanced approaches
institutions. The additional capital conservation buffer does not apply to Tier 1 leverageratio or SLR.

(e) Asdefined by the regulationsissued by the Federal Reserve and OCC.

RESTRICTED NET ASSETS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Certain of our subsidiaries are subject to restrictions on the transfer of net assets under debt agreements and regulatory requirements. These restrictions have not had any effect on our
shareholder dividend policy and management does not anticipate any impact in the future. Procedures exist to transfer net assets between the Company and its subsidiaries, while ensuring
compliance with the various contractual and regulatory constraints. As of December 31, 2018, the aggregate amount of net assets of subsidiaries that are restricted to be transferred was
approximately $8.8 billion.
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BANK HOLDING COMPANY DIVIDEND RESTRICTIONS

We are limited in our ability to pay dividends by the Federal Reserve, which could prohibit a dividend that would be considered an unsafe or unsound banking practice. It isthe policy of the
Federal Reserve that bank holding companies generally should pay dividends on preferred and common stock only out of net income available to common sharehol ders generated over the past
year, and only if prospective earnings retention is consistent with the organization’s current and expected future capital needs, asset quality and overall financial condition. Moreover, bank
holding companies are required by statute to be a source of strength to their insured depository institution subsidiaries and should not maintain dividend levels that undermine their ability to do
s0. On an annual basis, we are required to develop and maintain a capital plan, which includes planned dividends over atwo-year horizon. We may be limited in our ability to pay dividendsif the
Federal Reserve objectsto our capital plan.

In addition, the Capital Rulesinclude a capital conservation buffer of 1.875 percent as of December 31, 2018. The Capital Rules also include a countercyclical capital buffer, which is currently set
at zero but which could be increased by the Federal Reservein the future. These buffers can be satisfied only with CET1 capital. If our risk-based capital ratios were to fall below the applicable
buffer levels, we would be subject to certain restrictions on dividends, stock repurchases and other capital distributions, aswell as discretionary bonus payments to executive officers.

BANK DIVIDEND RESTRICTIONS
In the year ended December 31, 2018, American Express National Bank paid dividends from retained earnings to its parent of $5.9 billion.

AENB islimited in its ability to pay dividends by banking statutes, regulations and supervisory policy. In general, applicable federal and state banking laws prohibit, without first obtaining
regulatory approval, insured depository institutions, such as AENB, from making dividend distributions if such distributions are not paid out of available retained earnings or would cause the
institution to fail to meet capital adequacy standards. AENB must maintain acapital conservation buffer (and countercyclical buffer if in effect). If AENB'srisk-based capital ratios do not satisfy
minimum requirements plus the combined capital conservation buffer (and the countercyclical capital buffer, if applicable), it will face graduated constraints on dividends and other capital
distributions based on the amount of the shortfall. As of December 31, 2018, AENB's retained earnings available for the payment of dividends was $3.9 billion. In determining the dividends to pay
its parent, AENB must also consider the effects on applicable risk-based capital and leverage ratio requirements, aswell as policy statements of the federal regulatory agencies. In addition,
AENB's banking regulators have authority to limit or prohibit the payment of adividend by AENB under a number of circumstances, including if, in the banking regulator’s opinion, payment of a
dividend would constitute an unsafe or unsound banking practice in light of the financial condition of the banking organization.
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NOTE 24

SIGNIFICANT CREDIT CONCENTRATIONS

Concentrations of credit risk exist when changesin economic, industry or geographic factors similarly affect groups of counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure is material in relation to
American Express' total credit exposure. Our customers operate in diverse industries, economic sectors and geographic regions.

Thefollowing table detail s our maximum credit exposure of the on-balance sheet assets by category as of December 31:

(Billions) 2018 2017
On-balance sheet:

Individuals@ $ 123 $ 112
Institutions® 20 20
Financial Services© 30 35
U.S. Government and agencies'® 4 3
Total on-balance sheet $ 177 $ 170

(8 Primarily reflectsloans and receivables from global consumer and small business Card Members, which are governed by individual credit risk management.

(b) Primarily reflects loans and receivables from global corporate Card Members, which are governed by institutional credit risk management.
(c) Represents banks, broker-dealers, insurance companies and savings and |oan associations.
(d) Represent debt obligations of the U.S. Government and its agencies, states and municipalities and government-sponsored entities.

As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, our most significant concentration of credit risk was with individuals, including Card Member loans and receivabl es. These amounts are generally advanced on
an unsecured basis. However, we review each potential customer’s credit application and evaluate the applicant’s financial history and ability and willingness to repay. We also consider credit
performance by customer tenure, industry and geographic location in managing credit exposure.

The following table details our Card Member loans and receivables exposure (including unused lines-of-credit available to Card Members as part of established lending product agreements) in
the United States and outside the United States as of December 31

(Billions) 2018 2017
On-balance sheet:

us $ 11 $ 102
Non-U.S. 27 25
On-balance sheet 138 127
Unused lines-of -credit:®

us. 249 224
Non-U.S. 53 49
Total unused lines-of-credit $ 302 $ 273

(a) Total unused credit available to Card Members does not represent potential future cash requirements, as a significant portion of this unused credit will likely not be drawn. Because our
((::haragl\e/I cargeeroducts generally have no preset spending limit, the associated credit limit on charge products is not quantifiable, and thereforeis not reflected in unused credit available to
ard Members.
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NOTE 25

REPORTABLE OPERATING SEGMENTS AND GEOGRAPHIC OPERATIONS

REPORTABLE OPERATING SEGMENTS

We are aglobal services company that is principally engaged in businesses comprising three reportabl e operating segments: GCSG, GCS and GMNS.

We consider a combination, of factors when evaluating the coergpositi on of our reportable operating segments, including the results reviewed by the chief operating decision
maker, economic characteristics, products and services offered, classes of customers, product distribttion channels, ~ )
geographic considerations (primarily United States versus outside the United States), and regulatory environment considerations.

Thefollowing isabrief description of the primary business activities of our three reportable operating segments:

¢ GCSGissuesawiderange of proprietary consumer cards globally. GCSG also provides services to consumers, including travel services and non-card financing products, and manages
certain international joint ventures and our partnership agreementsin China.

¢ GCSissuesawiderange of proprietary corporate and small business cards and provides payment and expense management services globally. In addition, GCS provides commercial financing
products.

o GMNSoperates aglobal payments network that processes and settles card transactions, acquires merchants and provides multi-channel marketing programs and capabilities, services and
data analytics, leveraging our global integrated network. GMNS manages our partnership relationships with third-party card issuers, merchant acquirers and a prepaid reloadable and gift card
program manager, licensing the American Express brand and extending the reach of the global network. GMNS also manages loyalty coalition businesses in certain countries.

Corporate functions and certain other businesses and operations are included in Corporate & Other. During 2018, we changed the methodol ogy used to allocate certain corporate overhead costs
and interest income and expense to the operating segments, and made minor changes to the intercompany settlement process. Prior period amounts have been revised to conform to the current
period presentation.
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The following table presents certain selected financial information for our reportable operating segments and Corporate & Other as of or for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016:

Corporate &

(Millions, except where indicated) GCSG GCS GMNS Other® Consolidated
2018
Non-interest revenues 14,675 11,882 6,069 49 32,675

Revenue from contracts with customers® 10,294 10,309 5,988 16 26,607
Interest income 8,323 1,621 30 632 10,606
Interest expense 1,542 827 (294) 868 2,943
Total revenues net of interest expense 21,456 12,676 6,393 (187) 40,338
Total provisions 2,430 899 22 1 3,352
Pretax income (loss) from continuing operations 3,714 2,895 2,844 (1,331) 8,122
Income tax provision (benefit) 637 555 704 (695) 1,201
Net income (loss) 3,077 2,340 2,140 (636) 6.921
Total assets (billions) 151 52 45 (59) 189
2017
Non-interest revenues 13,378 10,942 6,025 82 30,427

Revenue from contracts with customers® 9,448 9,471 5,846 15 24,780
Interest income 6,789 1,361 2 371 8,563
Interest expense 1,047 595 (188) 658 2,112
Total revenues net of interest expense 19,120 11,708 6,255 (205) 36,878
Total provisions® 1,996 743 16 5 2,760
Pretax income (loss) from continuing operations 3,645 2,843 2,645 (1,708) 7,425
Income tax provision 1,053 914 857 1,853 4,677
Net income (loss) 2,592 1,929 1,788 (3.561) 2,748
Total assets (billions) 124 49 31 (23) 181
2016
Non-interest revenues 12,993 10,373 6,093 200 29,659

Revenue from contracts with customers® 9,386 8,918 5,826 105 24,235
Interest income 6,005 1,209 37 233 7,484
Interest expense 828 472 (133) 538 1,705
Total revenues net of interest expense 18,170 11,110 6,263 (105) 35,438
Total provisions® 1,390 604 24 9 2,027
Pretax income (loss) from continuing operations 4,508 2,933 2,391 (1,790) 8,042
Income tax provision (benefit) 1,469 1,032 861 (695) 2,667
Net income (loss) 3,039 1,901 1,530 (1.095) 5375
Total assets (billions) 114 43 26 (24) 159

(a) Corporate & Other includes adjustments and eliminations for intersegment activity.

(b) Includes discount revenue, certain other fees and commissions and other revenues from customers.

Total Revenues Net of Interest Expense

We allocate discount revenue and certain other revenues among segments using atransfer pricing methodology. Within the GCSG and GCS segments, discount revenue generally reflects the
issuer component of the overall discount revenue generated by each segment’s Card Members; within the GMNS segment, discount revenue generally reflects the network and acquirer

component of the overall discount revenue.

Net card fees and other fees and commissions are directly attributable to the segment in which they are reported.

Interest and fees on loans and certain investment income is directly attributable to the segment in which it is reported. Interest expense represents an allocated funding cost based on a

combination of segment funding requirements and internal funding rates.

Provisionsfor L osses

The provisions for losses are directly attributable to the segment in which they are reported.
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Expenses

Marketing and business devel opment expense is included in each segment based on the actual expensesincurred. Global brand advertising is primarily reflected in Corporate & Other and may be
allocated to the segments based on the actual expense incurred. Rewards and Card Member services expenses are included in each segment based on the actual expenses incurred within the
segment.

Salaries and employee benefits and other operating expenses reflect expenses such as professional services, occupancy and equipment and communications incurred directly within each

segment. In addition, expenses related to support services, such as technology costs, are allocated to each segment primarily based on support service activities directly attributable to the
segment. Certain other overhead expenses are allocated from Corporate & Other to the segments based on the relative levels of revenue and Card Member loans and receivables.

Income Taxes

Anincome tax provision (benefit) is allocated to each reportable operating segment based on the effective tax rates applicable to various businesses that comprise the segment. The charge of
$2.6 billion related to the Tax Act in the fourth quarter of 2017 was allocated in full to Corporate & Other.
GEOGRAPHIC OPERATIONS

The following table presents our total revenues net of interest expense and pretax income (Ioss) from continuing operations in different geographic regions based, in part, upon internal
allocations, which necessarily involve management’s judgment:

(Millions) United States EMEA® JAPA® LACC®@ Other Unallocated® Consolidated

2018
Total revenues net of interest

exgtens_e o 29,864 $ 4419 % 3656 $ 2584 % (185) $ 40,338
Pretax income (loss) from continuing

operations 6,696 1,212 764 782 (1,332 8,122
2017

Total revenues net of interest

expense L 27187 % 3927 % 3464 $ 2505 $ (205) $ 36,878
Pretax income (loss) from continuing

operations 6,412 1,150 763 806 (1,706) 7,425
2016

Total revenues net of interest

expense L 26339 $ 3570 $ 3215 % 2360 $ (106) $ 35,438
Pretax income (loss) from continuing

operations 7,943 698 556 635 (1.790) 8042

() EMEA represents Europe, the Middle East and Africa; JAPA represents Japan, Asia/Pacific and Australia; and LACC represents Latin America, Canada and the Caribbean.

(b) Other Unallocated includes net costs which are not directly allocable to specific geographic regions, including costs related to the net negative interest spread on excess liquidity funding
and executive office operations expenses.
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NOTE 26

PARENT COMPANY

PARENT COMPANY — CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Y ears Ended December 31 (Millions) 2018 2017 2016
Revenues

Non-interest revenues

Other $ 426 $ 338 $ 391
Total non-interest revenues 426 358 391
Interest income 422 258 196
Interest expense 615 493 515
Total revenues net of interest expense 233 123 72
Expenses

Salaries and employee benefits 336 362 388

Other 607 553 510
Total expenses 943 915 898
Pretax loss (710) (792) (826)
Income tax benefit 179 (354) (327)
Net loss before equity in net income of subsidiaries and affiliates (531) (438) (499)
Equity in net income of subsidiaries and affiliates 7.452 3,186 5874
Net income $ 6921 $ 2748 $ 5375
PARENT COMPANY — CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31 (Millions) 2018 2017
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3287 $ 4,726
Equity in net assets of subsidiaries and affiliates 22,298 18,225
Loansto subsidiaries and affiliates 17,945 11,664
Due from subsidiaries and affiliates 1,783 1,962
Other assets 297 361
Total assets 45,610 36,938
Liabilitiesand Shareholders Equity
Liabilities
Accounts payable and other liabilities 1,961 3,076
Dueto subsidiaries and affiliates 577 175
Short-term debt of subsidiaries and affiliates 2,591 2,731
Long-term debt 18,191 12,695

Total liabilities 23,320 18,677
Shareholders Equity

Total shareholders’ equity 22,290 18,261
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 45610 $ 36938
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PARENT COMPANY — CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Y ears Ended December 31 (Millions) 2018 2017 2016
Cash Flowsfrom Operating Activities
Net income $ 6,921 $ 2748 $ 5,375
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:

Equity in net income of subsidiaries and affiliates (7,452) (3,186) (5,870)

Dividends received from subsidiaries and affiliates 3,222 5,755 4,999

Other operating activities, primarily with subsidiaries and affiliates (257) 659 (102)
Net cash provided by operating activities 2,434 5976 4,402
Cash Flowsfrom Investing Activities
Purchase of premises and equipment — — 1)
Loansto subsidiaries and affiliates (6,281) (4,044) 4,142
Investments in subsidiaries and affiliates (30) — (25)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (6.311) (4,044) 4116
Cash Flowsfrom Financing Activities
Proceeds from long-term debt 9,350 5,900 —
Payments on long-term debt (3,850) (1,500) (1,350)
Short-term debt of subsidiaries and affiliates (140) (1,313) (2.879)
Issuance of American Express common shares and other 87 129 176
Repurchase of American Express common shares (1,685) (4,400) (4,430)
Dividends paid (1.324) (1.251) 1.206
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 2,438 (2.435) (9.689)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (1,439) (503) (1,171)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4,726 5229 6.400
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 3287 $ 4726  $ 5,229
NOTE 27
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
(Millions, except per share amounts) 2018 2017
Quarters Ended 12/31 9/30 6/30 3/31 12/31 9/30 6/30 3/31
Total revenues net of interest expense $ 10474 $ 10,144 $ 10,002 $ 9,718 $ 9707 $ 9290 $ 9172  $ 8,709
Pretax income 1,831 2,118 2,001 2,082 1,798 1,831 1,957 1,839
Net income (loss) 2,010 1,654 1,623 1,634 (1,206) 1,359 1,344 1,251
Earnings Per Common Share — Basic:

Net income attributable to common

sharehol ders® 2.33 1.89 1.85 1.86 (1.42) 151 148 1.36

Earnings Per Common Share — Diluted:

Net income attributable to common

sharehol ders® 2.32 1.88 1.84 1.86 (1.42) 151 147 135

S L e B s eI $ 039 $ 039 $ 035 $ 035 $ 035 $ 035 $ 032 $ 03

(8) Represents netincome, less (i) earnings allocated to participating share awards of $16 million, $13 million, $12 million and $13 million for the quarters ended December 31, September 30, June

0 and March 31, 2018, respectively, and $2 million, $11 million, $11 million and $10 million for the quarters ended December 31,
na o1y $19 m?l_%ion, $20 million, $20 million and $21 million for the quarters end

(i) dividends on preferred shares C
million, $21 million, $19 million and $21 million
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTSWITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLSAND PROCEDURES

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls
and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(€) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Report. Based on such evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of such period, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective and designed to ensure that the
information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the requisite time periods specified in the
applicable rules and forms, and that it is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

There have not been any changes in the Company’sinternal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the
Company’s fourth quarter that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’sinternal control over financial reporting.

“Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting,” which sets forth management’s evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, and the “ Report of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm” on the effectiveness of the Company’ sinternal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 are set forth in “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Not applicable.
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PART 11

We expect to file with the SEC in March 2019 (and, in any event, not later than 120 days after the close of our last fiscal year), adefinitive proxy statement, pursuant to SEC Regulation 14A in
connection with our Annual Meeting of Shareholdersto be held May 7, 2019, which involves the election of directors. The following information to be included in such proxy statement is
incorporated herein by reference:

« Information included under the caption “ Corporate Governance at American Express — Our Corporate Governance Framework — Our Board's Independence”
« Information included under the caption “ Corporate Governance at American Express — Our Board Committees — Board Committee Responsibilities’

¢ Information included under the caption “ Corporate Governance at American Express — Our Corporate Governance Framework — Director Attendance”

« Information included under the caption “ Corporate Governance at American Express — Compensation of Directors’

o Information included under the caption “ Stock Ownership Information”

o Information included under the caption “ Corporate Governance at American Express — Item 1 — Election of Directorsfor aTerm of One Year”

« Information included under the caption “ Executive Compensation”

¢ Information under the caption “ Corporate Governance at American Express — Certain Relationships and Transactions”

¢ Information under the caption “ Stock Ownership Information — Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance”

In addition, the information regarding executive officers called for by Item 401(b) of Regulation S-K may be found under the caption “ Executive Officers of the Company” in this Report.

We have adopted a set of Corporate Governance Principles, which together with the charters of the six standing committees of the Board of Directors (Audit and Compliance; Compensation and
Benefits; Innovation and Technology; Nominating and Governance; Public Responsibility; and Risk), our Code of Conduct (which constitutes our code of ethics) and the Code of Business
Conduct for the Members of the Board of Directors, provide the framework for our governance. A complete copy of our Corporate Governance Principles, the charters of each of the Board
committees, the Code of Conduct (which applies not only to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Controller, but also to al our other employees) and the Code of Business
Conduct for the Members of the Board of Directors may be found by clicking on the “ Corporate Governance” link found on our Investor Relations website at http://ir.americanexpress.com. We
also intend to disclose any amendments to our Code of Conduct, or waivers of our Code of Conduct on behalf of our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer or Controller, on our website.
Y ou may also access our Investor Relations website through our main website at www.americanexpress.com by clicking on the “ About American Express’ link, which islocated at the bottom of
the Corr]neggny’ s homepage. (Information from such sitesis not incorporated by reference into this Report.) Y ou may also obtain free copies of these materials by writing to our Corporate Secretary
at our quarters.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEESAND SERVICES

The information set forth under the heading “1tem 2 — Ratification of Appointment of | ndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm — PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Fees and Services,”
which will appear in our definitive proxy statement in connection with our Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 7, 2019, isincorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITI(Ea)M 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

1. Financial Statements:

See the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements’ under “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
2. Financial Statement Schedules:

All schedules are omitted since the required information is either not applicable, not deemed material, or shown in the Consolidated Financial Statements.
3. Exhibits:

Thelist of exhibits required to be filed as exhibits to this Report islisted on pages E-1 through E-4 hereof under “ Exhibit Index.”

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

AMERICAN EXPRESS COMPANY
/Y JEFFREY C. CAMPBELL
Jeffrey C. Campbell
Chief Financial Officer

February 13, 2019

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the Company and in the capacities and on the date

indicated.

/s/ STEPHEN J. SQUERI

Stephen J. Squeri
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Director

/sl JEFFREY C. CAMPBELL

Jeffrey C. Campbell
Chief Financial Officer

/s RICHARD PETRINO

Richard Petrino
Executive Vice President and Corporate Controller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

/sl CHARLENE BARSHEFSKY

Charlene Bar shefsky
Director

/s/ JOHN J. BRENNAN

John J. Brennan
Director

/s PETER CHERNIN

Peter Chernin
Director

/s RALPH DE LA VEGA

Ralph delaVega
Director

/sl ANNE LAUVERGEON

Anne L auvergeon
Director

February 13, 2019

/Y MICHAEL O. LEAVITT

Michael O. Leavitt
Director

/s THEODORE J. LEONSIS

TheodoreJ. Leonsis
Director

/' RICHARD C. LEVIN

Richard C. Levin
Director

/s SAMUEL J. PALMISANO

Samuel J. Palmisano
Director

/s DANIEL L. VASELLA

Daniel L. Vasella
Director

/Y RONALD A. WILLIAMS

Ronald A. Williams
Director

/s CHRISTOPHER D. YOUNG

Christopher D. Young
Director
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Appendix

GUIDE 3—-STATISTICAL DISCLOSURE BY BANK HOLDING COMPANIES

The accompanying supplemental information should be read in conjunction with the “MD&A”, “ Consolidated Financial Statements” and notes thereto. The disclosures presented are excluding
amounts associated with Card Member loans and receivables HFS, unless otherwise indicated. Refer to Note 2 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information.

Certain reclassifications of prior period amounts have been made to conform to the current period presentation, including amounts restated in conjunction with the adoption of the new revenue
recognition standard. These reclassifications did not have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations. Refer to Note 1 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for
additional information.

Distribution of Assets, Liabilities, and Shareholders Equity; Interest Ratesand Interest Differential
The following tables provide a summary of our consolidated average balances including major categories of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities along with an analysis of net

interest earnings. Consolidated average balances, interest, and average yields are segregated between U.S. and non-U.S. offices. Assets, liabilities, interest income and interest expense are
attributed to the United States and outside the United States based on the location of the office recording such items.

2018 2017 2016
Y ears Ended December 31, Average Interest Average Average Interest Average Average Interest Average
I nter est-ear ning assets
Interest-bearing deposits in other banks (b)
us. $ 25001 $ 491 20% $ 24510 $ 277 11% $ 21,282 $ 116 0.5%
Non-U.S. 1,830 33 18 1,773 17 1.0 1,884 11 0.6
Federal funds sold and securities purchased
under agreements to resell
Non-U.S. 58 7 12.1 80 6 75 110 5 45
Short-term investment securities
us <} — — 182 1 0.5 170 — —
Non-U.S. 149 1 0.7 1,070 7 0.7 551 4 0.7
Card Member loans, including loans HFS (c)(d)
us. 66,620 8,387 12.6 58,853 6,894 117 58,900 6,169 105
Non-U.S. 9,136 1,206 13.2 7,847 1,038 132 6,828 907 133
Other loans (c)
us. 3,110 312 10.0 1,887 195 10.3 1,077 110 10.2
Non-U.S. 145 36 24.8 148 27 18.2 150 28 18.7
Taxable investment securities (€)
us. 3,025 68 2.2 1,216 24 20 721 12 17
Non-U.S. 562 23 41 547 17 31 543 15 28
Non-taxable investment securities (€)
us. 855 25 3.7 1,510 48 49 2,390 104 6.9
Other assets (f)
Primarily U.S. 1 17 n.m 1 12 nm 1 3 nm
__ Totalinterest-earningassets(g) $ 110495 $ 10606 __ 969 $ 99624 $ 8563 86w $ 94607 $ 7484 8.0%
us. 98,615 9,300 88,159 7,451 84,541 6,514
Non-U.S 11.880 1,306 11465 1112 10,066 970,

n.m. Denotes rates determined to not be meaningful.

(@  Averagesbased on month-end balances.

(b)  Amountsinclude (i) average interest-bearing restricted cash balances of $ 663 million, $868 million and $358 million for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively, which are included in other assets
on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and (ii) the associated interest income.

(¢)  Average non-accrua loanswere included in the average Card Member loan balancesin amounts of $230 million, $187 million and $173 millionin U.S. for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Average other loan balances for U.S. include average non-accrua |oans of $4 million, $3 million and $5 million for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Average non-accrual loans are
considered to determine the average yield on loans.

(d)  Amountsfor 2018 includes average Card Member loans related to the acguired Hilton portfolio. Amounts for 2016 include average Card Member loans HFS of %5,828 million and the
associated interest income. During thefirst half of 2016, we completed the sales of substantially all of our outstanding Card Member loans HFS. Refer to Note 2 to the “ Consolidated
Financial Statements” for additional information.

() Averageyieldsfor both taxable and non-taxable investment securities have been cal culated using amortized cost balances and do not include changes in fair value recorded in other
?grmbgiﬁh%ﬁ va% Idozssdléverage yield on non-taxable investment securitiesis calculated on a tax-equivalent basis using the U.S. federal statutory tax rate of 21 percent for 2018 and 35 percent

(f)  Amountsinclude (i) average equity securities balances, which are included in investment securities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and (ii) the associated income.

(9) Theaverageyield on total interest-earning assets is adjusted for the impacts of the items mentioned in footnote ().
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2018 2017 2016
Average Average Average
Y ears Ended December 31, (Millions, except percentages) Balance @ Balance @ Balance @
Non-inter est-ear ning assets
Cash and due from banks
us. $ 2793 $ 2393 % 2,653
Non-U.S. 527 489 478
Card Member receivables, net, including receivables HFS®)
U.S. 26,435 21,262 22,622
Non-U.S. 27,100 27,621 22,102
Other receivables, net
us. 1,591 1,756 1,753
Non-U.S. 1,241 1,111 1,115
Reserves for Card Member and other loans |osses
us. (1,740) (1,264) (961)
Non-U.S. (217) 77) (150)
Other assets
us. 10,760 10,706 10,165
Non-U.S. 3,836 3,889 3931
Total non-inter est-ear ning assets 72,326 67,786 63,708
us. 39,839 34,853 36,232
Non-U.S. 32,487 32,933 27,476
Total assets $ 182821 $ 167410 $ 158315
uUs. 138,454 123,012 120,773
Non-U.S. 44,367 44,398 37,542
Per centage of total average assets attributableto non-U.S. activities 24.3% 26.5% 23.7%

(@  Averages based on month-end balances.

(b)  Amountsfor 2016 include average Card Member receivables HFS of $51 million. During the first half of 2016, we completed the sale of substantially all of our outstanding Card Member
receivables HFS. Refer to Note 2 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information.

(c)  Includes premises and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization.
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2018 2017 2016
Y ears Ended December 31, Average Interest Average Average Interest Average  Average Interest Average
Balance Balance Balance
(Millions, except percentages) Expense Rate Expense Rate Expense Rate
Interest-bearing liabilities
Customer deposits
us.
Savings $ 50499 $ 919 18% $ 42134 $ 471 11% $ 399755 $ 334 0.8%
Time 15,975 357 2.2 14,701 301 20 13,450 258 19
Demand 285 6 21 215 3 14 162 1 0.6
Non-U.S.
Other time and savings 21 1 4.8 17 1 59 10 1 10.0
Other demand 12 4 33.3 18 3 16.7 74 4 54
Short-term borrowings
us. 274 14 51 1,188 15 13 1,017 6 0.6
Non-U.S. 2,106 19 0.9 2,145 18 0.8 2,048 19 0.9
Long-term debt and other (b)
us. 54,631 1,613 3.0 51,366 1,281 25 46,521 1,058 23
Non-U.S. 390 10 2.6 725 19 2.6 931 24 26
Total interest-bearing liabilities $124193 $ 2943 24% $112509 $ 2112 19% $104188 $ 1705 1.6%
us. 121,664 2,909 109,604 2,071 101,125 1,657
Non-U.S. 2,529 34 2,905 41 3,063 48
Non-interest-bearing liabilities
Travelers Cheques and other prepaid products
us. 2,240 2,453 2,733
Non-U.S. 76 76 84
Accounts payable
usS. 7,120 6,788 7,005
Non-U.S. 6,064 5,254 4,757
Customer Deposits ()
us. 377 351 372
Non-U.S. 370 331 311
Other ligbilities
uUs. 16,379 13,913 13,445
Non-U.S. __ 5352 4878 4570
Total non-inter est-bearing liabilities __ 37978 34,044 _ 33277
us. 26,116 23,505 23,555
Non-U.S. 11,862 10,539 9.722
Total liabilities 162171 146553 137,465
us. 147,780 133,109 124,680
Non-U.S. 14,391 13444 12,785
Total shareholders' equity __ 20,650 _ 20857 20,850
Total liabilitiesand shareholders equity $182.821 $ 167.410 $ 158315
Per centage of total average liabilities
attributableto non-U.S. activities 8.9% 9.2% 9.3%
Interest rate spread 7.2% 6.7% 6.4%
Net interest income and net averageyield
on inter est-ear ning assets (d) $ 7.663 6.9% $ 6451 6.5% $ 5779 6.2%

(a) Averages based on month-end balances.

(b) Interest expense primarily reflectsinterest on long-term financing and interest incurred on derivative instruments in qualifying hedging rel ationships on the hedged debt

instruments. Additionally, we adopted new accounting guidance providing targeted improvements to the accounting for hedging activities effective Janu
d, amounts previously recorded in Other expenses have been prospectively recorded in Total interest expense. Refer to

standard, a
additional information.

ote 1 to the “ Consolidat:

1, 2018. In compliance with the
Financial Statements” for

() U.S. non-interest-bearing Customer depositsinclude average Card Member credit balances of $ 342 million, $314 million and $328 million for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Non-U.S. non-

interest-bearing Customer depositsinclude average Card Member credit balances of $ 359 million, $318 million and $297 million for 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively.

(d) Netaverageyield oninterest-earning assets is defined as net interest income divided by average total interest-earning assets as adjusted for the items mentioned in footnote (e) from the

previoustable.
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Changesin Net Interest Income— Volume and Rate Analysis (a)

The following table presents the amount of changes in interest income and interest expense due to changes in both average volume and average rate. Major categories of interest-earning assets
and interest-bearing liabilities have been segregated between U.S. and non-U.S. offices. Average volume/rate changes have been allocated between the average volume and average rate
variances on a consistent basis based upon the respective percentage changes in average balances and average rates.

2018 Versus 2017 2017 Versus 2016
Increase (Decrease) Increase (Decrease)
dueto changein: dueto changein:
Average Average Net Average Average Net
Y ears Ended December 31, (Millions) Volume Rate Change Volume Rate Change
Inter est-ear ning assets
Interest-bearing deposits in other banks
us. $ 6 $ 208 $ 214 $ 18 % 143 3 161
Non-U.S. 1 15 16 (1) 7 6
Federal funds sold and securities purchased
under agreements to resell
Non-U.S. 2 8 1 1) 2 1
Short-term investment securities
us. (1) — 1) — 1 1
Non-U.S. (6) — (6) 4 (1) 3
Card Member loans, including loans HFS
UsS. 910 583 1,493 (5) 730 725
Non-U.S. 170 2 168 135 (4) 131
Other loans
UsS. 126 ) 117 83 2 85
Non-U.S. (1) 10 9 — (1) 1)
Taxableinvestment securities
uUsS. 36 8 44 9 3 12
Non-U.S. 1 5] 6 — 2 2
Non-taxable investment securities
us. 17) (6) (23) 37) (19) (56)
Other assets
Primarily U.S. — 5 5 — 9 9
Changein interest income 1223 820 2,043 205 874 1,079
Interest-bearing liabilities
Customer deposits
us.
Savings 94 354 448 18 119 137
Time 26 30 56 24 19 43
Demand 1 2 3 — 2 2
Non-U.S.
Other time and savings — — — 1 (1) —
Other demand (1) 2 1 ) 2 1)
Short-term borrowings
us. (12) 11 (1) 1 8 9
Non-U.S. — 1 1 1 (2 1)
Long-term debt and other
uUs. 81 251 332 110 113 223
Non-U.S. (9) — (9) (5) — (5)
Changein interest expense 180 651 831 147 260 407
Changein net inter est income $ 1043 $ 169 $ 1212 $ 58 % 614 $ 672
@ Refer to footnotes from “ Distribution of Assets, Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity” for additional information.
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Loansand Card Member Receivables Portfolios

The following table presents gross loans and Card Member receivables by customer type, segregated between U.S. and non-U.S., based on the domicile of the borrowers. Refer to Notes 3 and 4
to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information.

December 31, (Millions) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Loans (a) (b)
U.S. loans
Card Member (c) $ 72,007 $ 64542 $ 58242 $ 51,446 $ 62,592
Other (d) 3,666 2,554 1,350 1,073 726
Non-U.S. loans
Card Member (c) 9,847 8,857 7,023 7,127 7,793
Other (d) 134 133 111 201 206
Total loans $ 85654 $ 76086 $ 66726 $ 59847 $ 71317

Card Member receivables (a) (b)
U.S. Card Member receivables

Consumer (€) 27,558 26,754 24,768 23,255 22,468
Commercia (f) 11,478 10,868 9,685 8,961 9,082
Non-U.S. Card Member receivables
Consumer (e) 10,625 10,311 7,772 7,101 7,800
Commercial (f) 6232 6114 ___ 5083 ____ 4816 _____ 5501
Total Card Member receivables $ 55,8903 % 54,047 $ 47308 $ 4133  $ 44,851

(a) Asof December 31, 2018, we had approximately $302 billion of unused credit available to Card Members as part of established |ending product agreements. Total unused credit available to
Card Members does not (epresen(etdpotentlal future cash requirements, as a significant Portl on of thisunused credit will likely not be drawn. Our charge card products generally have no preset
spending limit, the associated credit limit on charge productsis not quantifiable, and thereforeis not reflected in unused créedit available to Card Members.

(b) Asof December 31, 2018, our exposure to any concentration of gross loans and Card Member receivabl es combined, which exceeds 10 percent of total loans and Card Member receivablesis
further split between $123 billion for individuals and $19 billion for commercial. Loans and Card Member receivables concentrations are defined as |oans and Card Member receivables due

from multiple borrowers engaged in similar activities that would cause these borrowers to be impacted similarly to certain economic or other related conditions. Refer to Note 24 to the
“Consolidated Financial Statements’ for additional information on concentrations.

(c) Primarily representsloansto individuals and small businesses.

(d) Other loans primarily represent consumer and commercial non-card financing products.
(e) Representsreceivables from individual and small business charge card customers.

(f) Representsreceivablesfrom corporate charge card clients.
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Maturitiesand Sensitivitiesto Changesin Interest Rates

The following table presents contractual maturities of loans and Card Member receivables by customer type, and segregated between U.S. and non-U.S. borrowers, and distribution between fixed
and floating interest rates for |oans due after one year based upon the stated terms of the loan agreements.

December 31, (Millions) 2018
1Within l-5b After
y?gg @ yea{rcs)( ) 5 years (c) Total
Loans
U.S. loans
Card Member $ 71,800 $ 207 % — $ 72,007
Other 1,326 2,147 193 3,666
Non-U.S. loans
Card Member 9,846 1 — 9,847
Other 73 61 — 134
Total loans $ 83045 $ 2416 $ 193 $ 85654
Loans due after one year at fixed interest rates $ 2348 % 75 $ 2423
Loans due after one year at variable interest rates 68 118 186
Total loans $ 2416 $ 193 $ 2609
Card Member receivables
U.S. Card Member receivables
Consumer $ 27507 $ 51 $ — $ 27558
Commercial 11,478 — — 11,478
Non-U.S. Card Member receivables
Consumer 10,625 — — 10,625
Commercial 6,232 — — 6,232
Total Card Member receivables $ 55842 $ 51 $ — $ 55893

(8 Card Member loans have no stated maturity and are therefore included in the due within one %/ear category. However, many of our Card Memberswill revolve their balances, which may
extend their repayment period beyond one year for balances outstanding as of December 31, 2018.

(b) Card Member receivables areimmediately due gt;%on recei fpt of Card Member statements, have no stated interest rate and are included within the due within one year category. Receivables
due after one year represent modification programs classified as Troubled Debt Restructurings (TDF;?, wherein the terms of areceivable have been modified fof Card M ersthat are
experiencing financial difficulties and along-term concession gmore than 12 months) has been granted to the borrower.

(c) Card Membeér and other loans due after one'year primarily represent installment loans and TDRS.
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Risk Elements

The following table presents the amounts of non-performing loans and Card Member receivables that are either non-accrual, past due, or restructured, segregated between U.S. and non-U.S.
borrowers. Past due loans are |oans that are contractually past due 90 days or more as to principal or interest payments. Restructured loans and Card Member receivables are those that meet the
definition of aTDR.

December 31, (Millions) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Loans
Non-accrual loans (a)
us. $ 286 $ 208 % 173 $ 154 $ 241
Total non-accrual loans 286 203 173 154 241
L oans contractually 90 days past-due and still accruing interest (b)
us. 321 273 208 164 162
Non-U.S. 69 56 52 52 58
Total loans contractually 90 days past-due and still accruing interest 390 329 260 216 220
Restructured loans (c)
u.s. 532 367 346 279 286
Total restructured loans 532 367 346 279 286
Total non-performing loans $ 1208 $ 89 $ 7 3 649 $ 747

Card Member receivables
Restructured Card Member receivables (c)

Us. 128 80 55 33 48

Total restructured Card Member receivables $ 128 $ 80 $ 5 % 3B 3 48

@

(b)
©

Non-accrual loans not in modification programs primari I% include certain Card Member loans placed with outside collection agencies for which we have ceased accruing interest. Amounts
presented exclude Card Member loans classified asa TDR.

Our polégy isgenerally to accrue interest through the date of write-off (typically 180 days past due). We establish reserves for interest that we believe will not be collected. Amounts
presented exclude loans classified asa TDR.

In instances where the Card Member is experiencing financial difficulty, we may modify, through various programs, Card Member |oans and receivablesin order to minimize |osses and
improve coll ectability, while providing Card Members with temporary or permanent financial rélief. We have classified Card Member loans and receivables in these modification programs as
TDRs and continue to cllassf_*/ Card Member accounts that have exited a modification program as a TDR, with such accountsidentified as“ Out of Program TDRs.” Such modificationsto the
loans and receivables primarily include (i) temporary interest rate reductions (possibly as low as zero percent, in which case the loan is characterized as non-accrual in our TDR disc| osur&st),
(11) placing the Card Member 0n afixed payment plan not to exceed 60 months and (1i1) suspending delinquency fees until the Card Member exits the modification program. Refer to Note 3 to
the " Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information.

A-7
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Impact of Non-performing Loans on Interest Income

Thefollowing table presents the gross interest income for both non-accrual and restructured loans for 2018 that would have been recognized if such loans had been current in accordance with
their original contractual terms and had been outstanding throughout the period or since origination if held for only part of 2018. The table also presents the interest income related to these loans
that was actually recognized for the period. These amounts are segregated between U.S. and non-U.S. borrowers.

2018
Year Ended December 31, (Millions) U.S. Non-U.S. Total
Gross amount of interest income that would have been recorded
in accordance with the original contractual terms (a) $ % $ - 8 96
Interest income actually recognized 24 — 24
Total interest revenueforegone $ 2 3% - $ 72

(8 Wedeterminetheoriginal effectiveinterest rate as the interest rate in effect prior to the imposition of any penalty interest rate.

Potential Problem L oans and Receivables

This disclosure presents outstanding amounts as well as specific reserves for certain loans and receivables where information about possible credit problems of the borrowers causes
management to have serious doubts as to the ability of such borrowers to comply with the present repayment terms. At December 31, 2018, we did not identify any potential problem loans or
receivables within the Card Member [oans and receivables portfolio that were not already included in the “ Risk Elements” section.

A-8
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Cross-border Outstandings

Cross-border disclosure is based upon the Federal Financial Institutions Examinations Council’s (FFIEC) guidelines governing the determination of cross-border risk.

The followi ng% table presents the a%g[regate amount of cross-border outstandings from borrowers or counterparties for each foreign country that exceeds 1 percent of
of thé periods reported below.

consolidated

otal assets for any

The table separately presents the amounts of cross-border outstandings by type of borrower including Governments and official institutions, Banks and other financial institutions, Non-Bank
Financial Institutions (NBFIs) and Other.

Banks and Gross Total
Governments other Total foreign- exposure
Y ears Ended . . . ;
December 31, and official financial cross-border office (net of Cross-border
- RO T outstandings . . .
(Millions) institutions institutions NBFls Other @ liabilities liabilities) commitments
Australia 2018 2 $ 207 — 3,633 $ 3,842 $ 366 $ 3,476 $ 6,948
— 201259 — 3,594 3,853 504 3,349 6,635
2016 — 389 — 2,986 3,375 453 2,922 5,567
Canada 2018 346 $ 676 41 2,706 $ 3,769 $ 465 $ 3,304 $ 9,970
355 201992 40 2,730 4,117 1,032 3,085 12,174
2016 1284 1,028 35 2,408 4,755 977 3,778 11,590
United Kingdom 2018 42 $ 1,807 9 5,012 $ 6,870 $ 3,928 $ 2,942 $ 18,234
68 201,286 86 4,568 6,008 3,884 2,124 15,578
2016 77 2213 63 3,390 5,743 3222 2,521 11,919
Mexico 2018 85 $ 237 40 2,512 $ 2,874 $ 665 $ 2,209 $ 1,254
85 201797 7 2,229 2,418 556 1,862 1,125
2016 106 167 6 1,820 2,099 531 1,568 961
Japan 2018 2 $ 298 226 3,729 $ 4,255 $ 3,890 $ 365 $ 2,924
4 201774 177 3,082 3,337 3,106 231 2,290
2016 5 55 130 2,504 2,694 2,526 168 87
Other countries
(b) 2018 209 $ 200 10 2,980 $ 3,399 $ 300 $ 3,099 $ 720
154 201740 14 3,077 3,385 504 2,881 682
2016 135 134 13 2161 2443 415 2,028 562

(a) Total cross-border outstandingsinclude loans, receivables, interest-bearing deposits with other banks, other interest-bearing investments, derivative contracts and other monetary assets.

(b) Cross-border outstandings between 0.75
year presented are included for all years.

Eercent and 1.0

ountriesincluded are France and Italy.

ercent of consolidated total assets are included in Other Countries. For comparability, countries that meet the threshold for any
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Summary of Loan L oss Experience— Analysis of the Allowance for L oan L osses

The following table summarizes the changes to our allowance for Card Member |oan losses. The table segregates such changes between U.S. and non-U.S. borrowers.

Y ears Ended December 31, (Millions, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

Card Member loans
Allowance for loan losses at beginning of year

U.S. loans 1,507 1068 $ 882 $ 1036 $ 1,083

Non-U.S. loans 199 155 146 165 178
Total allowance for losses 1,706 1,223 1,028 1,201 1,261
Card Member lending provisions (a)

U.S. loans 2,003 1,655 1,056 1,032 944

Non-U.S. loans 263 213 179 158 194
Total Card Member lending provisions 2,266 1.868 1235 1,190 1,138
Write-offs

U.S. loans (2,002) (1572 (1,262) (1,321) (1,346)

Non-U.S. loans (285) (245) (222) (226) (269)

Total write-offs (2,287) (1.817) (1.484) (1.547) (1.615)

Recoveries

U.S. loans 391 356 325 359 356

Non-U.S. loans 53 53 54 59 72

Total recoveries 444 409 379 418 428

Net write-offs (b) (1,843) (1.408) (1.105) (1.129) (1.187)
Transfer of reserveson HFSloans portfolios

U.S. loans — — — (224) —
Other (c)

U.S. loans — = 67 = @

Non-U.S. loans 5 23 (2) (10) (10
Total other 5 23 65 (10) (11)
Allowance for loan losses at end of year

U.S. loans 1,899 1,507 1,068 882 1,036

Non-U.S. loans 235 199 155 146 165
Total allowance for losses 2,134 1706 $ 1223 $ 1028 $ 1201
Principal only net write-offs/ average Card Member loans

outstanding (d) () 2.0% 1.8% 1.6% 1.4% 15%
Principal, interest and fees net write-offs/ average Card Member

loans outstanding (d) (€) 2.4% 2.1% 1.8% 17% 1.8%

Net write-offsinclude principal, interest and fees balances. . o . . L .

Includesforei fgn currenﬁ/ trandlation adjustments and other items. The %/ear ended December 31, 2016, included reserves of $67 million associated with $265 million of retained Card Member
loans reclassified from HFS to held for investment as aresult of retaini g certain loans in connection with the respective sales of JetBlue and Costco cobrand card portfolios. The year ended
December 31, 2014, included an adjustment related to reserves for card rélated fraud losses of $(6) million, which was reclassified to Other liabilities. . .

(d) The net write-off rate presented is on aworldwide basis and is based on principal lossesonly (i.€., excl udl_ng interest and fees) to be consistent with industry convention. In addition, because
we consider uncollectible interest and fees in estimating our reserves for credit losses, a net'write-off rate including principal, interest and fees is a so presented. The year ended December 31,
2015, reflected the impact of a change in the timing of charge-offs for Card Member loansin certain modification programs from 180 days past due to 120 days past due, which was fully
recognized during the three months'ended March 31, 2015.

(e) Average Card Member |oans outstanding are based on month-end balances.

g% Refer to Note 4 to the “ Consolidated Financial Statements” for a discussion of management’s process for evaluating the allowance for |oan | osses.
C
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The following table summarizes the changes to our allowance for other oan losses. The table segregates such changes between U.S. and non-U.S. borrowers.

Y ears Ended December 31, (Millions, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Other loans
Allowance for loan losses at beginning of year
U.S. loans $ 78 $ 3/ % 7 3 8 $ 8
Non-U.S. loans 2 3 3 4 5
Total allowancefor losses 80 42 20 12 13
Provisionsfor other loan losses (a)
U.S. loans 121 71 56 21 5
Non-U.S. loans 1 1 1 1 3
Total provisionsfor other loan losses 122 72 57 22 8
Write-offs
U.S. loans (82) 37) (39) (15) @)
Non-U.S. loans (2 (3) (2 (3) (7)
Total write-offs (84) (40) (41) (18) (14)
Recoveries
U.S. loans 5 5 5 3 2
Non-U.S. loans 1 1 1 1 3
Total recoveries 6 6 6 4 5
Net write-offs (78) (34) (35) (14) (9)
Allowancefor loan losses at end of year
U.S. loans 122 78 39 17 8
Non-U.S. loans 2 2 &l 3 4
Total allowancefor losses $ 124 $ 80 $ 2 $ 20 3% 12
Net write-offs/aver age other loans outstanding (b) 2.4% 1.7% 2.9% 1.3% 1.2%

(&) Provisionsfor other loan losses are determined based on a specific identification methodology and models that analyze specific portfolio statistics.
(b) The net write-off rate presented is on aworldwide basis and is based on write-offs of principal, interest and fees. Average other |oans outstanding are based on month-end balances.
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The following table summarizes the changes to our allowance for Card Member receivables losses. The table segregates such changes between U.S. and non-U.S. borrowers.

Y ears Ended December 31, (Millions, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Card Member receivables
Allowance for losses at beginning of year
U.S. receivables
Consumer $ 2717 % 266 $ 268 % 216 $ 216
Commercial 73 53 51 53 35
Total U.S. receivables 350 319 319 329 251
Non-U.S. receivables
Consumer 119 95 93 93 98
Commercial 52 53 50 43 37
Total non-U.S. receivables 171 148 143 136 135
Total allowancefor losses 521 467 462 465 386
Provisionsfor losses (a)
U.S. receivables
Consumer 471 413 366 420 451
Commercial 92 114 69 76 98
Total U.S. provisions 563 527 435 496 549
Non-U.S. receivables
Consumer 245 201 176 169 172
Commercial 129 67 85 72 71
Total non-U.S. provisions 374 268 261 241 243
Total provisionsfor losses 937 795 696 737 792
Write-offs
U.S. receivables
Consumer (659) (633) (637) (698) (618)
Commercial (151) (139) (112 (123) (120)
Total U.S. write-offs (810) (772) (749) (821) (738)
Non-U.S. receivables
Consumer (278) (233) (218) (204) (2112)
Commercial (138) 97) (101) (89) (92
Total non-U.S. write-offs (416) (330) (319 (293) (303)
Total write-offs $  (1226) $ (1102) $ (1.068) $ (1114) $ (1.041)

(a) Refer to Note 4 to the “Consolidated Financial Statements” for a discussion of management’s process for evaluating the allowance for receivable | osses.
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Years Ended December 31, (Millions, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Card Member receivables
Recoveries
U.S. receivables
Consumer $ 210 $ 233 $ 269 $ 211 $ 230
Commercial 56 45 43 45 41
Total U.S. recoveries 266 278 312 316 271
Non-U.S. receivables
Consumer 70 63 59 57 58
Commercial 31 25 23 28 29
Total non-U.S. recoveries 101 83 82 85 87
Total recoveries 367 366 394 401 358
Net write-offs (a) (859) (736) (674) (713) (683)
Other (b)
U.S. receivables
Consumer = 2 = (€] 3)
Commercial — — 2 — 1)
Total U.S. other = (@) 2 @ O]
Non-U.S. receivables
Consumer (21) @ (15) (22) (24)
Commercial (5) 4 4) (4) 2
Total non-U.S. other (26) 3) (19) (26) (26)
Total other (26) (5) an (27) (30)

Allowancefor losses at end of year
U.S. receivables

Consumer 299 271 266 268 276
Commercial 70 73 53 51 53
Total U.S. receivables 369 350 319 319 329
Non-U.S. receivables

Consumer 135 119 95 93 93
Commercial 69 52 53 50 43
Total non-U.S. receivables 204 171 148 143 136

Total allowancefor losses $ 573 $ 521 $ 467  $ 462 $ 465

Net write-offs/ average Card Member receivables outstanding (c) (d) 1.6% 1.5% 15% 1.6% 15%

(8 Netwrite-offsinclude principal and fees balances.

(b) Incl ud&sfor%ign currency transl ation adjustments and other adjustments. Additionally, 2015 included the impact of transfer of the HFS receivables portfolio, which was not significant and
2014, included an adjustment related to reserves for card-related fraud losses of ?1(7) million, which was reclassified to Other liahilities. ) . e

(c) Thenet write-off raté presented ison aworldwide basis and is based on write-offs ofJ)n ncipal and fees. The year ended December 31, 2015, reflected the impact of a change in the timing of
charge-offs for Card Member receivables in certain modification programs from 180 days past due to 120 days past due, which wasfufly recognized during the three months ended March 31,

(d) Averages Card Member receivables outstanding are based on month-end balances.
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Allocation of Allowancefor L osses

The following table presents an allocation of the allowance for loans and Card Member receivables and the percentage of allowance for losses on loans and Card Member receivables in each
category, to the total allowance, respectively, by customer type. The table segregates allowance for losses on loans and Card Member receivables between U.S. and non-U.S. borrowers.

December 31,
(Millions, except percentages) 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
Allowancefor losses
. Percentage Percentage Percentage Percentage Percentage
at end of year applicableto Amount @ = Amount ___@ ~  Amount ___®@ = Amount ___®@ = Amount ___@
Loans
U.S. loans
Card Member $ 1,899 84% $ 1,507 85% $ 1,068 85% $ 882 84% $ 1,036 85%
Other 122 5 78 4 39 3 17 2 8 1
Non-U.S. loans
Card Member 235 11 199 11 155 12 146 14 165 14
Other 2 2 — 3 3 4

$ 2258 __ 100% $ 1786 __ 100% $ 1265 __ 100% $ 1048 ___ 100% $ 1213 ___ 100%

Card Member receivables
U.S. Card Member receivables

Consumer $ 299 52% $ 277 53% $ 266 57% $ 268 58% $ 276 59%
Commercial 70 12 73 14 53 1 51 11 53 12
Non-U.S. Card Member receivables
Consumer 135 24 119 23 95 21 93 20 93 20
Commercial 69 12 52 10 53 11 50 1 43 9
$ 573 100% _$ 521 100% $ 467 100% $ 462 100% $ 465 100%
@ Percentage of allowance for losses on loans and Card Member receivables in each category to the total allowance.

Time Certificates of Deposit of $100,000 or More

The following table presents the amount of time certificates of deposit of $100,000 or moreissued by usin our U.S. offices, further segregated by time remaining until maturity.

By remaining maturity as of December 31, 2018

3 months Over 3 months Over 6 months Over
o but within 6 but within 12
(Millions) or less months months 12 months Total
U.S. time certificates of deposit ($100,000 or more) $ 61 $ 9 $ 53 % 430  $ 553

As of December 31, 2018, time certificates of deposit and other time depositsin amounts of $100,000 or more issued by non-U.S. offices was $12 million.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

The following exhibits are filed as part of this Annual Report. The exhibit numbers preceded by an asterisk (*) indicate exhibits electronically filed herewith. All other exhibit numbersindicate
exhibits previously filed and are hereby incorporated herein by reference. Exhibits numbered 10.1 through 10.42 are management contracts or compensatory plans or arrangements.

31 Company's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation as amended through February 27, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the quarter ended March 31, 2015).
32 Company's By-L aws, as amended through September 26, 2016 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 1-765

dated September 26, 2016).

41 The instruments defining the rights of holders of long-term debt securities of the Company and its subsidiaries are omitted pursuant to Section (b)(4)(iii)(A) of Item 601 of
Regulation S-K. The Company hereby agrees to furnish copies of these instruments to the SEC upon request.

10.1 American Express Company Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors and Advisors, as amended and restated effective April 1, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of
the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the quarter ended March 31, 2018).

10.2 American Express Company 2007 Pay-for-Performance Deferral Program Document (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K

(Commission File No. 1-7657), dated November 20, 2006 (filed November 22, 2006)).

10.3 Description of amendments to 19942006 Pay-for-Performance Deferral Programs (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K
(Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2006).

104 American Express Company 2006 Pay-for-Performance Deferral Program Guide (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission

File No. 1-7657), dated November 21, 2005 (filed November 23, 2005)).

10.5 American Express Company 2005 Pay-for-Performance Deferral Program Guide (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K
(Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2004).

106 Description of American Express Compan: -for-Performance Deferral Program (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K

(Commission File No. 1-7657), dated November 22, 2004 (filed January 28, 2005)).

10.7 Amendment to the Pre-2008 Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plans of American Express Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of the Company's Annual Report
on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2008).

10.8 American Express Company Retirement Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K
(Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 1988).

109 Certificate of Amendment of the American Express Company Retirement Plan for Non-Employee Directors dated March 21, 1996 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 1995).

10.10 American Express Key Executive Life Insurance Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-
7657) for the fisca year ended December 31, 1991).

10.11 Amendment to American Express Company Key Executive Life Insurance Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
(Commission File No. 1-7657) for the quarter ended September 30, 1994).

10.12 Amendment to American Express Company Key Executive Life Insurance Plan, effective as of January 22, 2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of the Company's Annual
Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2006).

E-1




Table of Contents

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

*10.28

10.29

Amendment to American Express Company Key Executive Life Insurance Plan, effective as of January 1, 2011 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 of the Company's Annual
Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2010).

American Express Key Employee Charitable Award Program for Education (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of the Company's Annua Report on Form 10-K (Commission
File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 1990).

American Express Directors' Charitable Award Program (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for
the year ended December 31, 1990).

American Express Company Salary/Bonus Deferral Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for
the year ended December 31, 1988).

Amendment to American Express Company Salary/Bonus Deferral Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File
No. 1-7657) for the quarter ended September 30, 1994).

American Express Senior Executive Severance Plan, as amended and restated effective May 1, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the quarter ended June 30, 2018).

Amendments of (i) the American Express Salary/Bonus Deferral Plan and (ii) the American Express Key Executive Life Insurance Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 of
the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 1997).

Second Amendment and Restatement of the American Express Retirement Restoration Plan (f/k/a Supplemental Retirement Plan) (as amended and restated effective as of January 1
2012) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2011).

Third Amendment to the American Express Retirement Restoration Plan (f/k/a Supplemental Retirement Plan) (dated March 29, 2012) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the quarter ended March 31, 2012).

Fourth Amendment to the American Express Retirement Restoration Plan (f/k/a Supplemental Retirement Plan) (dated October 24, 2012) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 of
the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2012).

Fifth Amendment to the American Express Retirement Restoration Plan (f/k/a Supplemental Retirement Plan) (dated May 1, 2013) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the quarter ended March 31, 2013).

Sixth Amendment to the American Express Retirement Restoration Plan (f/k/a Supplemental Retirement Plan) (dated August 16, 2013) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the quarter ended September 30, 2013).

Seventh Amendment to the American Express Retirement Restoration Plan (f/k/a Supplemental Retirement Plan) (dated tember 26, 2013) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2
of the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the quarter ended September 30, 2013).

Eighth Amendment to the American Express Retirement Restoration Plan (f/k/a Supplemental Retirement Plan) (dated December 1, 2013) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 of
the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2013).

Ninth Amendment to the American Express Retirement Restoration Plan (f/k/a Supplemental Retirement Plan) (dated December 14, 2016) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.30 of
the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2016).

Tenth Amendment to the American Express Retirement Restoration Plan (f/k/a Supplemental Retirement Plan) (dated December 17, 2018).

American Express Company 2003 Share Equivalent Unit Plan for Directors, as amended and restated, effective January 1, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 of the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2015).
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10.31

10.32

10.35

10.36

10.39

10.40

1041

10.42

10.43

10.44

Description of Compensation Payable to Non-Management Directors effective January 1, 2015 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 of the Company's Annual Report on
Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2014).

7657), dated April 23, 2007 (filed April 27, 2007)).

American Express Company 2007 I ncentive Compensation Plan Master Agreement (as amended and restated effective January 1, 2011) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of
the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2010).

American Express Company 2007 I ncentive Compensation Plan Master Agreement (as amended and restated effective January 23, 2012) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 1-7657), dated January 23, 2012 (filed January 27, 2012)).

Form of nonqualified stock option award agreement for executive officers under the American Express Company 2007 | ncentive Compensation Plan (for awards made after
January 26, 2016) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2015).

Form of restricted stock unit award agreement for executive officers under the American Express Company 2007 Incentive Compensation Plan (for awards made after January 26.
2016) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2015).

Form of award agreement for executive officers in connection with Portfolio Grant awards under the American Express Company 2007 | ncentive Compensation Plan (for awards made
after January 29, 2013) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31

2012).

American Express Company 2016 Incentive Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 1-

7657), dated May 2, 2016).

Form of nonqualified stock option award agreement for executive officers under the American Express Company 2016 I ncentive Compensation Plan (for awards made after May 2
2016) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2016).

Form of restricted stock unit award agreement for executive officers under the American Express Company 2016 Incentive Compensation Plan (for awards made after May 2, 2016)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2016).

Form of award reement for executive officersin connection with Performance Grant awards alk/a Executlve Annual Incentlve Awards) under the American Ex ress Com an 2016

7657) for the year ended December 31, 2016).

Form of award agreement for executive officersin connection with Portfolio Grant awards under the American Express Company 2016 Incentive Compensation Plan (for awards made
after May 2, 2016) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2016).

Post-employment Arrangements with Kenneth |. Chenault (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657

for the year ended December 31, 2017).

Agreement dated February 27, 1995 between the Company and Berkshire Hathaway Inc., on behalf of itself and its subsidiaries (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 of the
Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 1994).

Agreement dated July 20, 1995 between the Company and Berkshire Hathaway Inc. and its subsidiaries (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the quarter ended September 30, 1995).
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Amendment dated September 8, 2000 to the agreement dated February 27, 1995 between the Company and Berkshire Hathaway Inc., on behalf of itself and its subsidiaries
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 1-7657), dated January 22, 2001 (filed January 22, 2001)).

Amendment dated January 29, 2018 to the agreement dated February 27, 1995 between the Company and Berkshire Hathaway Inc., on behalf of itself and its subsidiaries
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission File No. 1-7657), dated January 29, 2018 (filed January 30, 2018)).

Time Sharing Agreement, dated February 13, 2018, by and between American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. and Stephen J. Squeri (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.48 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission File No. 1-7657) for the year ended December 31, 2017).

Subsidiaries of the Company.
Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopersLLP.

Certification of Stephen J. Squeri, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a-14 romulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Certification of Jeffrey C. Campbell, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Rule 13a 14 romulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

Certification of Jeffrey C. Campbell, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
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EXHIBIT 10.28

TENTH AMENDMENT
TOTHE
AMERICAN EXPRESSRETIREMENT RESTORATION PLAN

WHEREAS, pursuant to its delegation powers, the Compensation and Benefits Committee (the "CBC") of the Board of Directors of American Express Company (the "Company") has
authorized the Executive Vice President, Global Total Rewards and Medical of the Company to amend the American Express Retirement Restoration Plan (the "Plan”) to make administrative
changes that do not materially change the level of benefits under the Plan; and

WHEREAS, the undersigned Executive Vice President, Global Total Rewards and Medical deemsit reasonably necessary and appropriate to amend the Plan to update the Claims Procedures
for revised Department of Labor regulations addressing claims procedures for disability-related benefits; now

THEREFORE, the Plan is hereby amended as set forth below:

1. Section 10.2(a)(iv) of the Plan isamended in itsentirety, effectiveimmediately, to read asfollows:

(iv) appropriate information as to the steps to be taken if the claimant wishes to submit the claim for review, including an explanation of the claimant's right to access and receive
copies of relevant documents;

2. Section 10.2(b) of the Plan isamended in itsentirety, effectiveimmediately, to read asfollows:

(b) If the claim is aclaim that requires a determination regarding whether a Participant is disabled to be made by the Administrator (and not by some party other than the
Administrator or the Plan for purposes other than a benefit determination under the Plan), the Administrator will respond to the claim within areasonable period of time and in any case
within 45 days (provided that the Administrator may utilize up to two 30-day extension periods, in each case to the extent that the Administrator determines that circumstances beyond
the control of the Plan so require, and shall in each case provide the claimant with an advance notice setting forth the reasons for the extension and the date by which the Administrator
expectsto render adecision, the standards on which entitlement to Benefits is based, the unresolved issues that prevent a decision on the claim, and the additional information needed
to resolve such issues). In the event that additional information is necessary to resolve a claim requiring the Administrator to rule on the Participant's disabled status, the claimant shall
be afforded at |east 45 days to provide the information (during which time the periods to provide notice and a decision on the claim shall be tolled).

3. Section 10.2(c) of the Plan isamended in itsentir ety, effectiveimmediately, to read asfollows:

(c) In the event of aclaim requiring the Administrator to rule on the Participant's disabled status, the Administrator's written notice of claim denial shall provide the claimant (in
addition to the items described in Section 10.2(a)) with (i) adiscussion of the decision, including an explanation of the basis for disagreeing with or not following the views presented by
the claimant to the Administrator of health care professional s treating the claimant and vocational professionals who evaluated the claimant, the views of medical or vocational experts
whose advice was obtained on behalf of the Plan in connection with the claim denial, without regard to whether the advice was relied upon by the Administrator in denying the claim,
and a determination of disability by the Social Security Administration presented by the claimant to the Administrator, (ii) acopy of any internal rule, guideline, protocol or other similar
criterion relied upon during the claims process or a statement that no such internal rules, guidelines, protocols or other similar criteriaexist, and (iii) if amedical necessity or experimental
treatment or similar exclusion or limit wasimposed, the Administrator will provide an explanation of the scientific or clinical judgment for the determination (applying the terms of the Plan
to the claimant's medical circumstances) or a statement that such an explanation will be provided free of charge upon request.




4. Section 10.3(b) of the Plan isamended in itsentirety, effectiveimmediately, to read asfollows:

(b) In the event of aclaim requiring the Administrator to make a determination regarding the Participant's disabled status, the claimant shall have 180 days after receipt of the written
explanation described above to request in writing that the determination be reviewed, and shall be barred and estopped from challenging the determination if he or she does not request a
review of theinitia determination within such 180-day period.

5. Section 10.4(a) of the Plan isamended in itsentirety, effectiveimmediately, to read asfollows:

(a) After considering all materials presented by the claimant, the Administrator will render awritten decision, setting forth the specific reasons for the decision and containing
specific references to the relevant provisions of the Plan on which the decision isbased. The decision on review shall normally be made within 60 days after the Administrator's receipt
of the claimant's claim or request. |f an extension of time isrequired for ahearing or other special circumstances, the claimant shall be notified of the reasons for the extension and the
date as of which the Administrator expects to make adecision, and the time limit shall be 120 days. If additional information is needed, the deadline for the Administrator's response will
be tolled for the time period granted to the claimant to provide the information (or the date that the claimant actually provides the information, if earlier). The decision shall beinwriting
using language cal cul ated to be understood by the claimant, and shall set forth:

(i) the specific reason or reasons for such denial;
(i) the specific reference to relevant provisions of the Plan on which such denial is based;

(iii) astatement that the claimant is entitled, upon request and free of charge, to receive reasonable access to and copies of all documents, records and other information
relevant to the claimant's claim (subject to attorney-client, attorney work-product and other applicable privilege rules unless otherwise required by ERISA); and

(iv) the claimant's right to bring an action under Section 502 of ERISA now that the claim has been denied on appeal (subject to Section 10.5) and, in the case of adecision
regarding the Participant's disabled status, the applicable limitations period under Section 10.1(b) that applies to the claimant's right to bring such an action, including the calendar
date on which the claimant's right to bring such an action expires.

6. Section 10.4(b) of the Plan isamended in itsentirety, effectiveimmediately, to read asfollows:

(b) In the event of aclaim requiring the Administrator to make a determination regarding the Participant's disabled status, the Administrator shall ensure that no deferenceis
afforded to the prior determination, that the persons who made the initial determination on behalf of the Administrator shall not be involved in the review, and that the persons who make
the decision on review on behalf of the Administrator are not subordinates of the original decision-makers. The Administrator shall not consider, generate or rely upon any new or
additional information, or issue an appeal denial based on any new or additional rationale, without first providing the claimant, free of charge, with the new or additional evidence or
rationale. Theinformation shall be provided as soon as possible and sufficiently in advance of the deadline for the Administrator to render a decision on review so that the claimant will
have areasonable opportunity to respond prior to that date. Inthe event that amedical judgment isrequired, the persons conducting the review shall consult with a health care
professional of appropriate training and experiencein the relevant field of medicine and shall identify any medical or vocational experts consulted to the claimant. No health care
professional consulted in the course of the review shall be a person consulted in the course of the original determination (or a subordinate of such person). The claim determination on
review of aclaim requiring the Administrator to make a determination regarding the Participant's disabled status shall be provided within 45 days (90 days, if the Administrator determines
that special circumstances require an extension and so informs the claimant). If additional information is needed, the deadline for the Administrator's response will be tolled for the time
period granted to the claimant to provide the information (or the date that the claimant actually provides the information, if earlier). Inthe event of such aclaim denial, in addition to the
items required above, the Administrator shall provide (i) adiscussion of the decision, including an explanation of the basis for disagreeing with or not following the views presented by
the claimant to the Administrator of health care professional s treating the claimant and vocational professionals who evaluated the claimant, the views of medical or vocational experts
whose advice was obtained on behalf of the Plan in connection with the claim denial, without regard to whether the advice was relied upon by the Administrator in denying the claim,
and a determination of disability by the Social Security Administration presented by the claimant to the Administrator, (ii) acopy of any internal rule, guideline, protocol or other similar
criterion relied upon during the claims process or a statement that no such internal rules, guidelines, protocols or other similar criteriaexist, and (iii) if amedical necessity or experimental
treatment or similar exclusion or limit wasimposed, the Administrator will provide an explanation of the scientific or clinical judgment for the determination (applying the terms of the Plan
to the claimant's medical circumstances) or a statement that such an explanation will be provided free of charge upon request.
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7. Thefirst sentence of Section 10.5 of the Plan isamended in itsentirety, effectiveimmediately, to read asfollows:

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, and except with respect to a claim which requires the Administrator to make a determination with respect to the Participant's
disabled status (unless the Participant consents to binding arbitration of such claim), upon completion of the claims process set forth in this Article 10, the Administrator or a claimant
will have the right to compel binding arbitration with respect to any claim involving the Plan.

Dated: 12/17/18 American Express Company

By: /g David Kasiarz
Its: EVP, Global Total Rewards and Medical
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EXHIBIT 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF AMERICAN EXPRESS COMPANY
as of December 31, 2018

Unlessotherwiseindicated by an asterisk (*), all of the voting securities of these subsidiariesaredirectly or indirectly owned by theregistrant. Theindentation reflectsthe principal parent of
each subsidiary.

Name Country Name Jurisdiction
American Express Company United States New York
56th Street AXP CampusLLC United States Arizona
American ExpressBank LLC Russian Federation Russia
American Express Banking Corp. United States New York
American Express Travel Related Services Company, Inc. United States New York
Accertify, Inc. United States Delaware
American Express Bank (Mexico) SA. Institucion de BancaMultiple Mexico Mexico
| American Express Bank Services, SA. deC.V. Mexico Mexico
American Express Company (Mexico) SA.deC.V. Mexico Mexico
American Express Insurance Services, Agente de Seguros, SA.deC.V. Mexico Mexico
American Express Servicios Profesionales, S. deR.L. deC.V. Mexico Mexico
American Express Credit Corporation United States Delaware
American Express Credit Mexico, LLC United States Delaware
| Fideicomiso Empresarial Amex Mexico Mexico
American Express Luxembourg S.ar.l. Luxembourg Luxembourg
American Express Overseas Credit Corporation Limited Jersey Jersey
AEOCC Funding Australia Limited Jersey Jersey
AEOCC Management Company Limited Jersey Jersey
American Express Funding (L uxembourg) S.ar.l. Luxembourg Luxembourg
American Express Overseas Credit Corporation N.V. Netherlands Antilles Netherlands Antilles
AE Hungary Holdings Limited Liability Company Hungary Hungary
| American Express Canada Credit Corporation Canada Nova Scotia
American Express Netherlands B.V. Netherlands Netherlands
| American Express Canada Finance ULC Canada British Columbia
Credco Receivables Corp. United States Delaware
American Express International (NZ), Inc. United States Delaware
American Express Limited United States Delaware
American Express (Malaysia) SDN. BHD. Malaysia Malaysia
American Express Brasil Assessoria Empresarial Ltda Brazil Brazil
American Express European Holdings B.V. Netherlands Netherlands
AlphaCard S.C.R.L/C.V.B.A. Belgium Belgium
| AlphaCard Merchant ServicesS.C.R.L/CV.B.A. Belgium Belgium
American Express International, Inc. United States Delaware
AE Exposure Management Limited Jersey Jersey
American Express (India) Private Limited India India
| American Express Business Solutions (India) Private Limited India India
American Express (Thai) Company Limited Thailand Thailand
American Express Advanced Services Europe Limited United Kingdom England and Wales
American Express AsiaNetwork Consulting (Beijing) Limited Company China China
American Express Continental, LLC United States Delaware
American Express AustraliaLimited Australia Victoria
| Centurion Finance Limited New Zealand New Zealand
American Express Dutch Capital, LLC United States Delaware
-1-
Name Country Name Jurisdiction
American Express Holdings Limited United Kingdom England and Wales
| American Express Services Europe Limited United Kingdom England and Wales
American Express de Espana, S.A. (Sociedad Unipersonal) Spain Spain
American Express Europe, SA. Spain Spain
| Bansamex, SA. Spain Spain
American Express Vigjes, S.A. (Sociedad Unipersonal) Spain Spain
Amex Asesores de Seguros, S.A. (Sociedad Unipersonal) Spain Spain




| Cake TechnologiesLtd
American Express Travel Holdings Netherlands B.V.
| American Express, spol. sr.0.
Amex Funding Management (Europe) Limited
Loyalty Partner GmbH
Loyalty Partner Solutions GmbH
LP Management Verwaltung GmbH
Payback GmbH
emnos GmbH
emnos |beriaS.L.
emnosSar.l.
emnos UK Ltd.
emnos USA Corp.
Loyalty Partner Polska Sp. z 0.0.
| Loyalty Partner Polska Sp. z 0.0. Sp. komandytowa
PAYBACK Austria GmbH
Amex Funding Management Holdings Limited
Amex (Middle East) B.S.C. (closed)*
American Express Saudi Arabia (C) JSC*
Amex Al OmaniaLLC*
Amex Egypt Company Limited Liability Company*
Amex Global HoldingsC.V.
Amex NL Holdings 99, LLC
| American Express Holdings Netherlands CV
Loyalty Partner Holdings B.V.
Loyalty Partner Singapore Pte Ltd.
| Loyalty Solutions & Research Pte Ltd.*
PAYBACK ItaliaSr.l.
Loyalty Partner ServicesMexico, S.deR.L.deC.V.
Payback Mexico S. deR.L.deC.V.
American Express Europe LLC
American Express Group Services Limited
American Express International (Taiwan), Inc.
American Express International Holdings, LLC
| American Express ArgentinaS.A.

Name

American Express Holdings (France) SAS

American Express France SAS

American Express CanadaHoldings B.V.
American Express Holding AB

| GBTHIBV.*
Amex AgenziaAssicurativaSir.l.
Amex Canadalnc.
American Express Carte France SA
American Express Management
| American Express France Finance SNC
American Express Japan Co., Ltd.
American Express Payment Services Limited
American Express Services India Private Limited
American Express Swiss Holdings GmbH
| Swisscard AECS GmbH*
American Express TLSHK Limited
Amex General Insurance Agency, Inc.
Amex Life Insurance Marketing, Inc.
Amex Taiwan Trust
PT American Express Indonesia
American Express Marketing & Development Corp.
American Express National Bank
| American Express Receivables Financing Corporation 11 LLC
American Express Prepaid Card Management Corporation
American Express Receivables Financing Corporation 1

American Express Receivables Financing Corporation VIII LLC
Amex Bank of Canada
Amex Services, Inc.
Asesorias e Inversiones American Express Chile Limitada
Cavendish Holdings, Inc.
InAuth, Inc.
| InAuth UK Ltd.
Mez Mobile, Inc.
| Mezi Commerce Private Limited
Travellers Cheque Associates Limited*
AMEX Assurance Company
Amexco | nsurance Company
Rexport, Inc.
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American Express Travel Holdings Netherlands Cooperatief U.A.

3

United Kingdom
Netherlands
Czech Republic
Jersey
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany

Spain

France

United Kingdom
United States
Poland

Poland

Austria

Jersey

Bahrain

Saudi Arabia
Oman

Egypt
Netherlands
United States
Netherlands
Netherlands
Singapore
India

Italy

Mexico

Mexico

United States
United Kingdom
Taiwan

United States
Argentina

Country Name
France
France
Netherlands
Sweden
Netherlands
Netherlands
Italy

Canada
France
France
France

Japan

United Kingdom
India
Switzerland
Switzerland
Hong Kong
Taiwan
Taiwan
United States
Indonesia
United States
United States
United States
United States
United States

United States
Canada

United States
Chile

United States
United States
United Kingdom
United States
India

United Kingdom
United States
United States
United States

England and Wales
Netherlands
Czech Republic
Jersey
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany
Germany

Spain

France
England and Wales
United States
Poland

Poland

Austria

Jersey

Bahrain

Saudi Arabia
Oman

Egypt
Netherlands
Delaware
Netherlands
Netherlands
Singapore
India

Italy

Mexico

Mexico
Delaware
England and Wales
Taiwan
Delaware
Argentina

Jurisdiction
France
France
Netherlands
Sweden
Netherlands
Netherlands
Italy
Ontario
France
France
France
Japan
England and Wales
India
Switzerland
Switzerland
Hong Kong
Taiwan
Taiwan
Delaware
Indonesia
Delaware
Utah
Delaware
Arizona
Delaware

Delaware

Federal, Canada
Delaware

Chile

Delaware

Delaware

England and Wales
Delaware

India

England and Wales
Illinois

Vermont

Delaware



EXHIBIT 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 33-53801, 333-211159, and 333-142710) and Form S-3 (Nos. 2-89469, 333-32525 and 333-
223581) of American Express Company of our report dated February 13, 2019 relating to the consolidated financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
which appearsin this Form 10-K.

/< PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New Y ork
February 13, 2019
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION

1, Stephen J. Squeri, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of American Express Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of amaterial fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respectsthe financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in thisreport;

4. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which thisreport is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonabl e assurance
regarding thereliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposesin accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or isreasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 13, 2019

/s/ Stephen J. Squeri
Stephen J. Squeri
Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION

1, Jeffrey C. Campbell, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of American Express Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of amaterial fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respectsthe financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-
15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which thisreport is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonabl e assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth
fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or isreasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have asignificant role in the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 13, 2019

/9 Jeffrey C. Campbell
Jeffrey C. Campbell
Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of American Express Company (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “ Report”), Stephen J. Squeri, as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) Theinformation contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/sl Stephen J. Squeri



Name: Stephen J. Squeri
Title:  Chief Executive Officer
Date: February 13, 2019

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and is not being “filed” as part of
the Form 10-K or as a separate disclosure document for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act”), or otherwise subject to liability under
that section. This certification shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act except to the extent that this
Exhibit 32.1 is expressly and specifically incorporated by referencein any such filing.

A signed original of thiswritten statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.
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EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of American Express Company (the “ Company”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “ Report”), Jeffrey C. Campbell, as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) Theinformation contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

1</ Jeffrey C. Campbell

Name: Jeffrey C. Campbell
Title:  Chief Financial Officer
Date: February 13, 2019

The foregoing certification is being furnished solely pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and is not being “filed” as part of
the Form 10-K or as a separate disclosure document for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act”), or otherwise subject to liability under
that section. This certification shall not be deemed to be incorporated by referenceinto any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act except to the extent that this
Exhibit 32.2 is expressly and specifically incorporated by reference in any such filing.

A signed original of thiswritten statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange
Commission or its staff upon request.
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